
REPORTS  
FOR THE 

57th General Council 
OF THE 

REFORMED EPISCOPAL CHURCH 
 

 
 
 

MEETING IN COUNCIL  
THE FRANCIS MARION HOTEL 

CHARLESTON, SC  
 

June 7-9, 2023 





Committee on Program  0A - 1 

REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM 
 
Dear Brethren: 
 
On behalf of the Diocese of the Southeast and the Program Committee, we welcome all of you to Charleston, 
SC. We pray that your presence and participation in this 150th anniversary celebration of the Reformed Episcopal 
Church will be a blessing to all.  In putting our program together, we have tried to balance our time between 
worship, learning, and meetings whilst allowing extra time for fellowship and, perhaps, visiting parts of this 
beautiful and historic city.  
 
I should probably have started with the words, “We finally made it!” As many are aware, we were originally 
scheduled to be in Charleston for our 2020 General Council. Plans had been made, hotels contracted, 
registrations received - only to have the pandemic undo all the work that had been done and to result in a Zoom 
General Council in 2021.  But, alas, the Diocese of the Southeast graciously extended another invitation to host 
this General Council and we can joyfully say ‘We finally made it!”   

 
We would like to thank the Diocese of the Southeast for their warm welcome to us and for hosting us this week. 
In particular, we thank Bishops Al Gadsden and William White, both of whom helped with the original planning 
for General Council 2020 and the transitions that occurred when we had to cancel it. We also thank the current 
Bishop Ordinary of the Southeast, Bishop Willie Hill, his staff, the members of St. John’s Reformed Episcopal 
Church, and the many other volunteers who have labored and planned for this Council. I believe there are over 
25 different individuals who have committed their time and labors in these preparations. Your kindness and 
service to the Lord and His church is certainly beyond measure.  
 
We would also like to thank Archbishop Foley Beach and our fellow Bishops and brethren in the Anglican Church 
of North America for rejoicing with us in our opening Eucharist. In particular, we thank Bishop Chip Edgar, 
Bishop of the Anglican Diocese of South Carolina, and Dean Peet Dickinson, Dean of the Cathedral Church of 
St. Luke and St. Paul, for allowing us to worship in their beautiful cathedral. We thank Mr. Chris Walchesky, 
director of music at St. Philip’s Anglican Church - Charleston, for lending his incredible talents on the pipe organ 
and for coordinating the music and brass accompaniment during our opening Communion service. Finally, we 
thank Fr. Brian Foos and those of St. Andrew’s Academy & College for blessing us with their choir during the 
opening service. They drove all the way across the country from Northern California to be with us today.   
 
It is most appropriate at this 150th anniversary that we devote a portion of our attention to some of the history 
of the Reformed Episcopal Church. Bishop Sutton extended an invitation to the Primus of the Free Church of 
England, the Most Rev. Dr. John Fenwick, to lead us in two sessions on “The Context and Vision of George David 
Cummins, the founding Bishop of the Reformed Episcopal Church”. Deaconess Barbara West, third-generation 
Reformed Episcopalian and previous President of the Board of Foreign Missions, has prepared a short video and 
presentation on the history and impact of REC foreign missions. Finally, the Diocese of the Southeast has 
prepared a special presentation for our banquet dinner on Wednesday evening in honor of the ministry and 

General Council begins with the Communion Service 
 

Cathedral of St. Luke & St. Paul (ACNA) 
Wednesday morning – June 7 – 9:00am sharp 

Clergy requested to vest and process (see instructions below) 
 

Early Registration Check-in at the hotel – 7pm – 9pm - Tuesday evening 



Committee on Program  0A - 2 

work of this particular Diocese. Three days is not sufficient to cover a full history of the Reformed Episcopal 
Church and to also complete all of our business and activities, but we do pray that these teachings and short 
history presentations coupled with the reports of our current mission and ministries will encourage you as we 
celebrate this great anniversary together. We remember the original call of Bishop Cummins in 1873 to “Restore 
the Old Paths” as we now “continue those old paths in a post-Christian world” one-hundred fifty years later.    
 
Attached to this report are several items – all of which are considered a part of this report and recommended 
for adoption by the Council.  
 

• Important Details & Instructions.  
Please read this as it will provide most answers for you, including a schedule of events and important times. 

• Order of Business  
• Rules of Order 

 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 

 
The Very Rev. Canon Jason R. Grote 
Program Committee Chairman 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Program Committee - Instructions  0B - 1 

PROGRAM COMMITTEE 
IMPORTANT DETAILS & INSTRUCTIONS 

 
KEY LOCATIONS & ADDRESSES 

Francis Marion Hotel 
 387 King Street 
 Charleston, SC 29403 
 

Cathedral Church of St. Luke and St. Paul 
126 Coming Street 
Charleston, SC 29403 

 
St. John’s Reformed Episcopal Church 

 91 Anson St.  
 Charleston, SC 29401 
 
 Harbor Cruise address (if purchased for Thursday night) – Boarding at 6:30pm.  
 Charleston Maritime Center 
 10 Wharfside St. 
 Charleston, SC 29401 
 
PARKING & ARRIVALS 

There is parking available in the city parking garage adjacent to the hotel on King Street. This can be 
used for overnight parking of hotel guests as well as for those needing day parking. Note: It is very 
probable that this parking garage will fill up based on the size of our group. If you are driving in locally 
for the day, you should leave additional time in case you need to find another parking area and walk a 
block or two.  

 
If you are arriving at Charleston Airport, you can save money by not booking a car rental. The taxi ride 
or Uber from the airport is only about $30 each way. The hotel is also within about a 1 mile radius of 
most downtown locations (for walking). If you rent a vehicle, you will not only have the rental cost but 
you will also incur between $25-$35 per day for parking at the hotel, if there is space available. Please 
see this link for possible solutions of traveling to/from the hotel and airport:  
https://www.charleston-airport.com/taxi.php  

 
SHUTTLES FOR WORSHIP 

The Cathedral and St. John’s are both about .3 miles from the Francis Marion and walkable in about 
15 minutes. The expectation is that most can walk and/or drive. If you are unable to walk on either 
Wednesday or Thursday, the Diocese of the Southeast will be providing small shuttle vans to help 
transport you. These are not intended to transport everyone and if everyone asks to take the shuttle, 
it will beyond the ability of the Diocese to provide it.  

The shuttles for clergy needing a ride to the Cathedral on Wednesday should be in the lobby of the 
hotel by 8am and look for the Council Transportation Volunteer to direct you.  

The shuttles for all others on both Wednesday and Thursday morning will begin at 8:15am. You need 
to be in the lobby and check in with a Council Transportation Volunteer who will direct you.  

If you need to take a shuttle van, please email J2Grote@rechurch.org in advance of Council so we can 
gauge an approximate need in advance.   

https://www.charleston-airport.com/taxi.php
mailto:J2Grote@rechurch.org


 
Program Committee - Instructions  0B - 2 

GENERAL COUNCIL REGISTRATION CHECK-IN 
Registration check-in will be available at the special registration desk in the hotel at the following times. 
Please note this is NOT the main registration desk where you check in. It is a specially designated area 
outside of the conference rooms. The hotel staff and signs can direct you to the location.  

• Tuesday evening 7pm to 9pm  
• Wednesday 7am-8am  
• Wednesday Noon until 1pm  

 
For those only coming to the banquet dinner, we will have a check-in at 6:15pm outside the Carolina 
Ballroom.  

 
We encourage you to check in on Tuesday evening to help limit the line on Wednesday morning. At 
check-in you will receive your badge, and those who paid a full registration fee will also receive a General 
Council welcome bag.   

 
YOUR ALL-IMPORTANT BADGE! 

The badge you receive will indicate key items aside from your name and your representative status. The 
private breakfast each morning (Wed-Fri) is offered only to those who purchased it with a “Full General 
Council” registration or selected it as a part of your partial registration. Your badge will indicate whether 
or not you are eligible to enter the room and buffet line each morning. Likewise, the badge will indicate 
which sandwich choice you made for the Wednesday lunch. This will help provide you with the proper 
sandwich selection. Our sandwich orders are based on what your badge says. Do NOT take a different 
sandwich than that which your badge indicates. Your badge will indicate whether you purchased the 
Wednesday dinner banquet at the hotel as well as the special cruise dinner on Thursday evening. Finally, 
included on your badge is a QR code that you can scan to quickly visit the General Council webpage 
which will have much of this information and quick resources designed for a cell phone.    

 
CLERGY VESTING FOR WORSHIP  
 

All clergy and deaconesses are invited to vest and process for the Wednesday morning Communion 
service.  

• Bishops - rochet and chimere with red stole 
• Other Clergy - cassock/surplice with red stole 
• Deaconesses - blue cassock.  

 
You should arrive at the Cathedral by 8:15a for vesting and instruction. You will gather in the large room 
in the Parish Hall adjacent to the Sanctuary building (Note: Bishops will vest in the Library in the Diocesan 
House). Immediately following the service, we will ask that you remain vested so we can take a group 
photo.  

 
At all other services, only the participating clergy and worship participants will vest. A 
separate and direct communication will be made to those participating in those service.  

 
  



 
Program Committee - Instructions  0B - 3 

WORSHIP OFFERINGS 
The offerings during each morning worship service will be designated for the support of a particular 
ministry and/or project in the Reformed Episcopal Church. The Council of Bishops have approved the 
Wednesday morning offering for the Women’s Day Project 2023. The Thursday morning offering will 
be in support of the Board of Foreign Missions. The Friday morning offering will support the three 
REC seminaries.  
 
We will “pass the plate” during each of these services. If you would like to donate by check, we would 
ask that you make checks payable to “St. John’s”. Their financial team will be responsible for 
processing the offerings and distributing them according to their purpose.  
 
If you would like to donate electronically, you can do so with the QR code. It is 
included here but it will also be included in the bulletin each day. A button will also 
be available in the General Council web page (you’ll see it after getting your badge). 
These donations will be processed using the Diocese of Mid-America’s PayPal 
account. The Diocese will account for these electronic offerings and will disburse 
them according to their purpose after General Council.  
 

EXPECTED DRESS CODES 
For Breakfast – casual (but appropriate for public) 
For Worship and Daily Sessions – Sunday dress 
For Wednesday Banquet – Sunday dress 
For Thursday Cruise Dinner (if purchased) – Business Casual – Clericals not necessary. 
 

CRUISE DINNER 
For those who purchased a cruise dinner ticket for Thursday evening (your badge will tell you), the cruise 
dinner will begin to board at 6:30pm at the harbor. The address is in the top section of this report. The 
harbor is less than a mile from the Francis Marion if you would like to walk. Leave appropriate time. 
Parking is also free on Concord and Charlotte streets near the harbor starting after 6pm. There is also a 
parking garage at 24 Calhoun Street and you can walk along the waterfront approximately 1/4 mile.  
 
Two shuttle busses (25 person bus) will be provided by the harbor cruise company and will begin at the 
hotel at 5:45pm.  We anticipate there will be two or three round-trips made by each of the cruise shuttle 
busses taking about 10-15 minutes for each trip. The last shuttle is scheduled to leave the Francis 
Marion at 6:20 for arrival by 6:30pm. The shuttle busses will also provide shuttles back to the hotel after 
the cruise ends. We will not be checking to make sure you make shuttle bus on time. If you are late, you 
will have to walk or find another way to the harbor on time. 
 
The boat will leave port at 7:00pm with or without you. We will not be monitoring to see whether 
everyone has arrived. If you miss the boat, there will be no refunds as they are paid for in advance. 
Likewise, there are no refunds for illness or other reasons of non-attendance. 
 
Dress code for the boat cruise is business casual. It is intended to be a relaxed dinner on the water. You 
do not have to wear your clerical collars, unless you really want to. 
 
Note: There will be a cash-bar on the cruise. However, they don’t actually accept cash. They 
only accept credit cards.  

 
  



 
Program Committee - Instructions  0B - 4 

REPORT PACKET 
We will distribute reports electronically via email and on our website. These will also be available on the 
General Council site during our event. Digital availability of reports and email is scheduled for May 22nd. 
 
For those who purchased a printed binder of reports, we will provide these reports and the journal in a 
binder and mail them USPS priority box mail. These will be mailed by May 22nd such that they should 
arrive to you by May 25, two weeks prior to General Council. 
 
We have learned from recent General Councils that we can significantly reduce our time in business 
sessions and devote ourselves to more learning and fellowship when everyone has read the reports and 
formed their questions in advance.  
 
Please make sure you READ THESE REPORTS BEFORE GENERAL COUNCIL! We will entertain 
motions to file many of the reports without presenting them orally. If you have questions that could be 
answered in advance, feel free to email me (J2Grote@rechurch.org) and I might be able to provide you 
with answers. Otherwise, note them and ask when the time comes during the business sessions.   
 
The primary reports being presented at General Council will be our Presiding Bishop exhortation and 
other reports pertaining to ministry and mission of the Reformed Episcopal Church (REC100, Board of 
Foreign Missions, Women of the Church, etc). We will also hear those reports pertaining to the 
governance and financial aspects of the Church (Sustentation Fund, Pensions/Relief, Constitution & 
Canons, etc). Diocesan summaries and other non-elected committees that do not have 
recommendations will be filed. The expectation is that you will have already read them and be prepared 
for such action.  
 
While many reports are listed in the Order of Business, some of them will not actually have reports 
because there was nothing to report. Likewise, some reports may be shorter than normal because it has 
only been 2 years since our last General Council instead of 3 years.  
 
Please have your report packets available on your electronic devices or in print (if desired) during the 
meetings. While the conference room should have Wi-Fi available, it may be unreliable when nearly 300 
people are using it. It is best if you download your reports to your device prior to your arrival and/or 
while in your hotel room.  
 
Presiding Bishop Report – Note that the Presiding Bishop report is divided into two parts. The first part 
is included with your report packet. This part contains pertinent information regarding his activities 
since that last General Council. This portion will not be read at General Council. The second part of the 
report is his exhortation. This is NOT in your report packet. It will be printed and distributed to all 
attendees at the time of his oral delivery on Wednesday after lunch.  
 
Journal – It is not necessary to have the Journal of the 56th General Council (Zoom 2021) printed or 
available at this Council, unless you so desire. The chair will entertain a motion to dispense with the 
reading of these minutes and to simply approve them. If you note any changes that need to be made in 
the Journal, please have them ready to announce to the Secretary at that time.   

 
 
  



 
Program Committee - Instructions  0B - 5 

DISPLAY TABLES 
We have several display tables set up around the conference room and exhibitor hallways. We encourage 
you to visit these tables and to learn about many different ministries and missions during our scheduled 
breaks and/or meal times. Those tables are as follows: 

• Reformed Episcopal History Display 
• Anglican School Association & Alfred Rex Publications 
• St. Andrew’s Academy & College 
• Cranmer Theological House seminary 
• Cummins Theological Seminary 
• Reformed Episcopal Seminary 
• REC Board of Foreign Missions 
• Society of Anglican Missionaries & Senders (SAMS) 
• New Wineskins 
• Free Church of England 
• Deaconess Association / Daughters of the Holy Cross 

 
CONTACT INFORMATION 

If you need additional help at any time, please see a Diocese of the Southeast volunteer or you may 
contact Jason Grote via text or phone at (832) 264-3483. You may also email him at 
J2Grote@rechurch.org  

 
  

mailto:J2Grote@rechurch.org


 
Program Committee - Instructions  0B - 6 

CONDENSED SCHEDULE 
  
WEDNESDAY, JUNE 7 
 7:00a – 8:00a Breakfast at hotel (for those who purchased)  
 8:15a –  8:45a Clergy arrival and vesting (@ Cathedral) 
   9:00a –  11:15a    Holy Communion service (@ Cathedral) 

Archbishop Foley Beach, preaching 
Offering designated for the Women of the Church Project 

 11:15a -  11:30a Pictures & Clergy changing (@ Cathedral) 
 12:00p –    1:30p Lunch & Women of the Church & ASA meeting 
  1:45p –    3:00p Business Session #1  
 3:00p -  3:15p Break  
 3:15p -  4:15p Bp. Fenwick Teaching #1 (45 min + 15 min Q&A) 
    4:15p - 4:30p Break  
 4:30p –    5:15p Business Session #2  
    5:15p –    6:30p Break to get ready for Banquet (clear room so they can reset) 
    6:30p –  9:30p Banquet Dinner (@ Hotel) 
    DSE Special Presentation 
 
THURSDAY, JUNE 8   
   7:00a –  8:00a Breakfast at hotel (for those who purchased) 
 9:00a – 10:30a Morning Prayer (@ St. John’s REC) 
    The Rev. Tory Liferidge, preaching 
    Offering designated for the Board of Foreign Missions  
 10:30a –  11:15a  Greetings (@ St. John’s Nave)  
 11:15a - 12:00p Return to Hotel 
 12:00p – 1:15p Lunch (@ hotel) 
 1:30p - 3:00p Business Session #3 
 3:00p -  3:15p Break 
 3:15p -  4:30p Business Session #4 
 4:30p –  Adjourn for the day (Dinner on your own unless you paid for the cruise dinner) 
 5:45p –  Begin shuttle bus to Dinner Cruise (for those who purchased) 
 
FRIDAY, JUNE 9TH  
 7:00a –  8:00a Breakfast at hotel (for those who purchased) 
 9:00a – 10:45a Morning Prayer (@ hotel) 
    Fenwick Presentation #2 (serves in place of sermon) 
 10:45a –  11:00a Break 
 11:00a –  finish  Business Session #5 (@ Hotel) 
When done (12pm)    Adjourn (no group lunch) 
 
Note: Adjournment will occur after all business has been completed. This may be earlier or later than 
scheduled depending on the Business Sessions. 
 
 
  



 
Program Committee - Instructions  0B - 7 

DETAILED SCHEDULED WITH EXPLANATIONS 
 
WEDNESDAY – JUNE 7 

• Breakfast Buffet – 7:00am - Carolina Ballroom at the Francis Marion hotel – only for those who purchased 
(your badge will indicate yes or no). Breakfast is only served from 7am to 8am.  

• Holy Communion Worship @ 9:00am – at the Cathedral of St. Luke & St. Paul. Clergy to arrive by 8:15a 
to vest (see instructions above). All others should arrive by 8:45am to get settled. Following worship, the 
clergy will gather for a group photo, change,  return to the hotel for lunch. It will take about 15 minutes to 
walk from the hotel to the Cathedral. Please leave time for this walk. If you are driving locally, there is a free 
parking lot directly across from the Cathedral entrance which offers some parking (but not a lot). Leave time 
to find parking and to walk, if needed. If you can’t walk, please be in the lobby of the hotel (clergy @ 8am, 
others at 8:15am) so volunteers can transport you.  

• Lunch - Women’s Day Lunch and Meeting / Anglican School Association - @ Noon – Francis Marion Hotel. 
The Women of the Church will receive their lunch outside the GOLD room and then meet in the Gold Room 
during lunch.  The men will receive their lunches outside the Carolina ballroom. The Anglican School 
Association will offer a special meeting during that lunch time in the Carolina ballroom. You are welcome to 
stay for that presentation, if desired.  

• Afternoon Sessions – all sessions will be in the Carolina Conference room at the Francis Marion. We will 
end our sessions by 5:15p and leave the conference room such that the hotel staff can set the room for the 
banquet dinner.  

• Wednesday evening banquet – 6:30pm - Carolina Conference Room at the Francis Marion. A cash bar will 
be available for the reception time beginning at 6:30pm. The buffet will start around the 7:00pm hour.  After 
a time of eating and fellowship, we will have a special presentation made by the Diocese of the Southeast 
(starting around 8:00pm).  

 
THURSDAY – JUNE 8 

• Breakfast Buffet – 7:00am - Carolina Ballroom at the Francis Marion hotel – only for those who purchased 
(your badge will indicate yes or no). Breakfast is served only between 7am and 8am.  

• Morning Prayer Worship @ 9:00am – at St. John’s Reformed Episcopal Church. Only participating clergy 
will vest. It will take about 15 minutes to walk. Please leave the hotel with appropriate time to arrive. For 
those driving locally, there is some parking on the streets and there is a city parking garage near the church 
and Arts center which can also be used. Following worship, we will have short greetings from our guests of 
New Wineskins, SAMS, and the Free Church of England. We will also have greetings from the Mayor of 
Charleston. We plan to finish by 11:15am such that you can visit St. John’s special memorial garden and 
stroll your way back to the hotel for a noon-time lunch. If you can’t walk, please be in the lobby of the hotel 
(8:15am) so volunteers can help transport you. 

• Lunch (Noon) @ hotel (for those who purchased). Everyone will eat in the Carolina ballroom. It will be a 
hot buffet.   

• Afternoon sessions  - all session in the Carolina Ballroom at the Francis Marion Hotel. We will adjourn 
our afternoon sessions by 4:30pm so you can have some free-time.  

• Dinner on Thursday – if you did not purchase a ticket for the boat cruise dinner then you are on your own 
for dinner. You may do as you please. If you did purchase a cruise ticket (your badge will tell), then you 
should be at the Harbor to board the boat no later than 6:30pm. Shuttles will begin at 5:45p from the lobby.   



 
Program Committee - Instructions  0B - 8 

FRIDAY – JUNE 9 

• Breakfast Buffet – 7:00am - Carolina Ballroom at the Francis Marion hotel – only for those who 
purchased (your badge will indicate yes or no). Breakfast will be served from 7am to 8am.  

• Morning Prayer worship @ 9am – Carolina Ballroom at the Francis Marion hotel. Only participating 
clergy will vest. Vestment needs will be communicated separately to those participating. All other clergy 
will sit at their tables. This will be a said service followed by the final teaching of Bishop Fenwick, which 
will serve in place of a sermon.  

• Final Business Session – Carolina Ballroom. We will take a short break following the final teaching of 
Bishop Fenwick and then begin our final business session. This session will finish all remaining business. 
Following the completion of all business, we will adjourn. We anticipate this to be by 1pm, although we 
hope that it will be finished by noon. 

• There is NO GROUP LUNCH on Friday. Once we adjourn, you are free to do as you please.  

 
 
 



 
Order of Business  0C - 1 

ORDER OF BUSINESS 
 
The report numbers listed correspond to the page numbers on the bottom of printed report pages. For example, 
report 1C, will correspond to the report whose page numbers are listed 1C-1, 1C-2, etc. Although each report is 
assigned a report number, there may not actually be a printed report provided. 
 
0. ITEMS FROM THE COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM  

A. Welcome 0A 
B. Detailed Instructions & Schedule  0B 
C. Order of Business 0C 
D. Rules of Order 0D 

 
 
1. BUSINESS SESSION #1 (Wed – after lunch in hotel) 

A. Committee on Credentials   1A 
B. Program Committee (see above) 
C. Report on Corresponding Members 1C 
D. Election of Officers (President, Vice-President, Secretary, Treasurer) 1D 
E. Minutes from the Previous General Council Journal 
F. Presiding Bishop Report – Statistical 1F 
G. Presiding Bishop Report – Exhortation (handed out at Council) 1G 

  
2. BUSINESS SESSION #2 (Wed - late afternoon in hotel) 

A. REC100 Canon Missioner   2A 
 

3. BUSINESS SESSION #3 (Thu – after lunch in hotel) 
A. Board of Foreign Missions President   3A 
B. Board of Foreign Missions Treasurer 3B 
C. Committee on Women’s Ministry - President 3C 
D. Committee on Women’s Ministry – Treasurer 3D 
E. Order of Deaconesses  3E 
F. Christian Education / Anglican School Association 3F 
G. Young People’s Work 3G 

 
4. BUSINESS SESSION #4 (Thu – late afternoon hotel) 

A. Report of the General Committee  4A 
B. Report of the Sustentation Fund – President 4B 
C. Report of the Sustentation Fund – Treasurer  4C 
D. Board of Pensions and Relief & Publication Society – President   4D 
E. Board of Pensions and Relief & Publication Society - Treasurer 4E 
F. Committee on Doctrine and Worship  4F 
G. Standing Liturgical Commission   4G 
H. Committee on Constitution and Canons 4H 
I. Report of the Nominations Committee 4I 

 
  



Order of Business 0C - 2

5. BUSINESS SESSION #5 (Fri – after worship & teaching - in hotel)
(The chair will entertain a motion we dispense with the reading of all Diocesan reports and other reports that 
do not have any recommendations and that they be filed with secretary) 

5A 
5B 
5C 
5D 
5E 
5F 
5G 
5H 
5I 

   5J 
5K 
5L 

5M 

A. Diocese of the Central States (filed – no recommendation)
B. Diocese of Mid-America & Western Canada (filed – no recommendation)
C. Diocese of the Northeast and Mid-Atlantic & Eastern Canada (filed – no recommendation)
D. Diocese of the Southeast - (filed – no recommendation)
E. Report of the Armed Forces Chaplaincy Office  (filed – no recommendation)
F. Committee on Inter-church Relations (filed - no recommendation)
G. Committee on the State of the Church (filed – no recommendation)
H. Committee on Memorials (filed – no recommendation)
I. Committee on Press Relations (none)
J. Committee on Materials for Reformed Episcopal History (filed – no recommendation)
K. Committee to Examine and Certify the Journal (filed – no recommendation)
L. Committee on Theological Education (filed – no recommendation)
M. Committee on Resolutions (none)
N. Reformed Episcopal Church Intercessors (filed – no recommendation) 5N 

6. UNFINISHED BUSINESS

7. APPOINTMENT OF COMMITTEES NON-ELECTIVE
Committee Appointments will be made and distributed following General Council 

8. OLD BUSINESS

9. NEW BUSINESS
A. Business to be referred to General Committee
B. Motion of Thanks

10. GENERAL COUNCIL 2026 INFORMATION

11. ADJOURNMENT

NOTE: 
1. The Chair may alter the schedule of Business at his discretion.
2. Unfinished business, new business, and matters of importance may be presented at the discretion of

the Chair



 
Rules of Order  0D - 1 

RULES OF ORDER 
FOR GENERAL COUNCILS AND DIOCESAN SYNODS 

OF THE REFORMED EPISCOPAL CHURCH 
 

1. The business of every meeting shall be introduced with prayer. 

2. The Minutes of the sessions of the preceding day shall be read every morning at the opening of business, 
unless the house shall otherwise determine. 

3. The President shall appoint the several committees, unless the canons of the church shall otherwise 
specify. 

4. When the President takes the chair, no member of the house shall continue standing, or shall afterward 
stand up, except to address the chair. 

5. No member shall absent himself from the sessions of the house unless he have leave, or be unable to 
attend. 

6. When any member is about to speak in debate, or deliver any matter to the house, he shall with due 
respect address himself to the President, concerning himself strictly to the point in debate. 

7. No member shall speak more than twice in the same debate without specific leave, by vote of the house. 

8. A question being once determined shall stand as the judgment of the house, and shall not again be drawn 
into debate during the same session, unless with the consent of two-thirds of the house. 

9. While the President is putting any question, the members shall continue in their seats, and shall not 
hold any private discourse. 

10. No motion shall be considered as before the house unless it be seconded. 

11. Reports made by the various Boards and Committees to any Council (or Synod) of the church are 
officially received upon presentation to the house, and are the subject of its action only insofar as they 
embody recommendations which require specific authorization or approval under the canons of this 
church. 

12. When any question is before the house, it shall be decided upon before any new subject is introduced, 
except for the question of adjournment. 

13. All questions of order shall be decided in the first instance by the Chair, without debate. An appeal, 
however, may be made from the decision of the Chair by any member of the house; said appeal requiring 
a two-thirds majority vote to be sustained. 

14. The question on motion of adjournment shall be taken before any other, and without debate. 

15. When the house is about to rise, every member shall keep his seat, until the President shall leave the 
Chair. 

16. A call to prayer shall always be in order, when made by a member entitled to the floor; and in such case 
the Chair shall designate the person(s) whom he desires to lead in that service. 

17. These Rules of Order shall remain in force until altered or suspended by the Council, two-thirds of the 
members present voting for such alteration or suspension. 

 
Adapted from the Journal of the Twenty-sixth General Council of the Reformed Episcopal Church 

 





Business Session #1 
Wednesday – June 7 
1:45pm to 3:00pm 
Carolina Ballroom 

 

What to Expect: 

Call to Order -  1:45pm sharp 

A. Committee on Credentials (1A) – Canon Grote will orally present the report.  
Motion to receive the report and approve the recommendation to seat all representatives. e 
secretary will then declare a quorum. 

B. Program Committee – (0A – 0D) – Canon Grote will not read the report since it was 
provided in advance, noting only the recommendation to approve the Order of Business and 
Rules of Order as contained in the packet.  

Motion to receive the report and approve the Order of Business and Rules of Order as 
recommended.  

C. Corresponding Members – (1C) – Bishop Gillin will orally present the report and 
recommend that the indicated guests be seated with voice, but no vote. 

Motion to receive the report and approve the recommendation of corresponding members. 

D. Election of Officers – (1D) – e President will explain the election process and ask will ask 
the Council for their will regarding the election of the presented slate.  

Motion to nominate and elect the slate of individuals as indicated.  

E. Journal of the 56th General Council  (Journal)   
Motion to dispense with the reading of the Journal of the 56th General Council and to 
approve.  

F. Presiding Bishop Report (1F & 1G) – the first part of the report (1F) will not be read but is 
considered to be a part of the whole report. e Exhortation (1G) is not in your pre-
distributed packet. It will be handed out at the time of Bishop Sutton’s delivery.  

Motion to receive the report and any recommendations contained therein. 

G. Break (3:00pm -3:15pm) 

H. Reconvene at 3:15 for Teaching Session #1 

  





 

Committee on Credentials  1A - 1 

Committee on Credentials 
 
To the 57th General Council: 
 
The Committee on Credentials reviewed the online registrations for General Council and the Parish 
Certifications submitted online. In most cases, irregularities were resolved prior to this Council and need not 
be reported. 
 
The committee reports that the following parishes did not complete a parish certification form by the time 
this report was produced. There are not any deputies registered from these parishes. 
 

1) Mariner’s Church – Detroit, MI – Diocese of Mid-America 
2) Jesus the Good Shepherd – Brooklyn, NY – Diocese of the Northeast & Mid-Atlantic 
3) St. Patrick’s – Norristown, PA – Diocese of the Northeast & Mid-Atlantic 
4) St. Paul’s – Oreland, PA– Diocese of the Northeast & Mid-Atlantic 
5) St. Matthew’s – North Charleston, SC - Diocese of the Southeast 

 
This report was updated after the General Council check-in process. In total, we have 297 registrants checked 
in. The Committee records the following numbers for voting purposes: 
 
 7 -  Bishops  
 93 -  Presbyters  
 4 - Deacons in charge of a parish  
 71 -  Lay Deputies  
 4 -  Lay members of the General Committee or other canonical voting committee 
 18 -  Lay Alternates who only vote if their deputy is absent. 
  
In addition, we have a total of 100 other observers (clergy & laity) present, not including any children or 
other guests that attended the worship services.   
  
The committee recommends the following action to the President of the Council: 
 

That the roll of clergy and certified representatives be given to the Secretary and that all 
representatives be seated. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
 
The Very Rev. Jason R. Grote 
Committee on Credentials, Chair 
  



 

Committee on Credentials  1A - 2 

Clergy House – Voting Members 
 
Bishops 

1. Sutton, Ray (DMA) Presiding Bishop & Diocese of Mid-America 
2. Manto, Peter (DCS) Vice-President & Diocese of Central States 
3. Gillin, Raymond (NEMA) Diocese of the Northeast 
4. Hill, Willie (DSE) Diocese of the Southeast 
5. Banek, Walter (DMA) Good Shepherd - Tyler, TX 
6. Jenkins, William (NEMA) Faith Church - Baltimore, MD 
7. Gadsden, Alphonza (DSE) New Israel - Charleston, SC  

 
Presbyters 

1. Addison, Alfred (DSE) St. Thomas - Moncks Corner, SC 
2. Amaral, Spencer (DSE) Christ the King - Marietta, GA 
3. Andrade, Eduardo (NEMA) Good Shepherd - West Bridgewater, MA 
4. Barkalow, Jesse (DMA) Holy Cross Oratory - CO Springs, CO 
5. Barnes, Julius (DSE) St. Luke's - Charleston, SC 
6. Bartel, Kent (DMA) Christ the King - Grover Beach, CA 
7. Benner, Cedric (NEMA) Bishop Cummins - Catonsville, MD 
8. Bernier, Benjamin (DMA) Providence Church - Corpus Christi, TX 
9. Birkinbine, Henry (DMA) Christ's Chapel - Riverside, CA 
10. Boettner, Keith (DCS) St. James - Memphis, TN 
11. Boonzaaijer, John (DMA) Chapel of the Cross - Dallas, TX 
12. Boutwell, Wyatt (DMA) Holy Cross - Alpine, TX 
13. Breaux, James  (DSE) Immanuel - Cross, SC 
14. Brookshire, Donald (DSE) All Saints – Greenville, SC 
15. Brummett, Andrew (DMA) Diocese of Mid-America 
16. Camlin, Charlie (DMA) Holy Communion - Dallas, TX 
17. Carr, Michael (NEMA) St. Timothy's - Mt. Laurel, NJ 
18. Collins, Jr. , Charles A. (DSE) St. Andrew's - Savannah, GA 
19. Edgerton, Paul (DCS) Church of the Redeemer - Wilson, NC 
20. Ellisor, Rusty (DMA) Church of the Resurrection - Crosby, TX 
21. Erlandson, Charles (DMA) Good Shepherd - Tyler, TX 
22. Fitzpatrick, Michael (DCS) Christ our Hope - Dayton, OH 
23. Foos, Brian (DMA) St. Andrew's - Chester, CA 
24. Forsberg, Justin (NEMA) St. Matthew's - Havertown, PA 
25. Fruin, Edward (DMA) Chapel of the Cross - Dallas, TX 
26. Gingerich, Barton (DCS) St. Jude's - Richmond, VA 
27. Goodwin, David (DCS) Christ the Redeemer - Owensboro, KY 
28. Gregory, Glenvil (DSE) New Bethel - North Charleston, SC 
29. Gresser, Robert (DMA) Chapel of the Cross - Dallas, TX 
30. Grote, Jason (DMA) St. Matthias - Katy, TX 
31. Grote, Joshua (DSE) Christ the King - Marietta, GA 
32. Guild, Roy (DSE) Intercession - Wando, SC 
33. Harrington, Matthew (NEMA) St. Alban's - New York, NY 
34. Hartman, Anthony (DMA) Providence Church - Corpus Christi, TX 
35. Heaton, John  (DCS) All Saints - Lynchburg, VA 
36. Houser, Jon (DCS) St. John's - Chelsea, AL 
37. Howden, Paul (DMA) Holy Trinity - Webster Groves, MO 
38. Jenkins, Mikle (DSE) Calvary - St. Stephen, SC 
39. Jones, Josiah (DCS) Holy Trinity - Fairfax, VA 
40. Jorgensen, Eric (NEMA) St. Stephen's - Eldersburg, MD 
41. Kell, Jonathan (DCS) Church of our Saviour - Leesburg, VA 
42. Klock, William (DMA) Living Word - Courtenay, British Columbia 
43. Lewis, Michael (DCS) Christ our Hope - Dayton, OH 
44. Liferidge, Donnel (DSE) St. Paul's - Moncks Corner, SC 
45. Liferidge, Tory  (DSE) Grace Church - Moncks Corner, SC 
46. Lloyd, Sr. , Chucky A. (DSE) Mt. Carmel - Goose Creek, SC 
47. Loyd, Rev.Harrylee D. (DSE) Emmanuel - Alvin, SC 
48. MacGregor, Ian (DCS) All Saints - Raleigh, NC 
49. Macias, Steven (DMA) Diocese of Mid-America 



 

Committee on Credentials  1A - 3 

50. Martin, Bartholomew Military Chaplaincy 
51. Maule, Matthew (NEMA) St. Mark's - Rydal, PA 
52. McCarl, Ricky (NEMA) Good Shepherd - Harrisburg, PA 
53. McGee, Thomas (DMA) St. Timothy's - Jonesboro, AR 
54. McLynn, Gerald (NEMA) Emmanuel Church - Somerville, NJ 
55. McNamara, Wayne (DCS) Christ the King - Dayton, OH 
56. Melchor, Edgardo Enrique  (DMA) Chapel of the Cross - Dallas, TX 
57. Melton, Tony (DSE) Christ the King - Marietta, GA 
58. Milligan, Benjamin (DSE) Redeemer - Pineville, SC 
59. Milligan, John (DSE) Redeemer - Pineville, SC 
60. Mills, Kenneth (DCS) Holy Cross - Midlothian, VA 
61. Moock, Ron (DSE) Promiseland - Johns Island, SC 
62. Morse, Davidson (DCS) All Saints - Lynchburg, VA 
63. Ortiz, Carlos (DMA) Chaplaincy 
64. Parker, Eric (DCS) St. Paul's - Lexington, VA 
65. Patterson, Jason (NEMA) St. Mark's - Rydal, PA 
66. Payne, James (DMA) St. Thomas of Canterbury - Houston, TX 
67. Perez, Yudel Board of Foreign Missions 
68. Prioleau,  John (DSE) Liberty - Jamestown, SC 
69. Riches,  Jonathan (NEMA) Emmanuel Church - Pipersville, PA 
70. Robinson, Arthur (DSE) Emmanuel Anglican - Spartanburg, SC 
71. Rutt, Steven (DMA) St. Andrew's - Phoenix, AZ 
72. Sanders, Franklin (DCS) Christ our Hope - Westpoint, TN 
73. Shaw, Kenneth (DSE) Christ Church - Johns Island, SC 
74. Shaw, Lee (DSE) Messiah - Pineville, SC 
75. Shaw, Rev Don L. (DSE) Good Shepherd - Bonneau, SC 
76. Sims, Eugene  (DSE) Zion - Edisto Island, SC 
77. Spieth, Michael (DCS) Trinity Anglican - Evansville, IN 
78. Stults, Stephen (DMA) St. Paul's - Houston, TX 
79. Sullivan, B. James (DMA) Covenant Church - Greenville, MI 
80. Thompson, Anthony (DSE) Holy Trinity - Charleston, SC 
81. Thompson, Scott (DCS) St. Jude's - Richmond, VA 
82. Tjoelker, Philip (DMA) St. Andrew's - Tinley Park, IL 
83. Toms, Stephan (DMA) St. Paul's - Baton Rouge, LA 
84. Veley, Duane (DCS) Covenant - Roanoke, VA 
85. Vinson, Michael (DMA) St. Benedict's - Rockwall, TX 
86. Voelkel, Andrew (DMA) Christ the King Fellowship - Covington, LA 
87. Vowles, William  (NEMA) St. Stephen's - Eldersburg, MD 
88. Washington,  Julius (DSE) Mt. Olivet - Ravenel, SC 
89. Welty IV,  Terrence Anthony (DMA) All Saints - Shreveport, LA 
90. White,  Cornelius A. (DSE) Bethlehem - Moncks Corner, SC 
91. Ziegenhagen, Nicholas (DMA) Good Shepherd - Tyler, TX 
92. Luth, Paul (NEMA) St. George's - Hamilton, ON 
93. Workowski, Richard (DCS) Covenant - Roanoke, VA 

 
Deacons - in charge of a parish 

1. Agajanian, Garrett (DMA) St. Stephen's - Montrose, CO 
2. Brown, Micheal (DSE) Holy Rock - Mt. Carmel, SC 
3. Fitzpatrick, Stuart (DCS) St. Andrew's - Asheboro, NC 
4. Jeffcoat, Matthew (DSE) St. John's - Charleston, SC 

 
  



 

Committee on Credentials  1A - 4 

House of Laity - Voting 
 

Deputies 
1. Agajanian, Lauren (DMA) St. Stephen's - Montrose, CO 
2. Anderson, Jim (DMA) Good Shepherd - Tyler, TX 
3. Andrade, Mary (NEMA) Good Shepherd - West Bridgewater, MA 
4. Banek, Nelda (DMA) Good Shepherd - Tyler, TX 
5. Beauford, Kerron  (DSE) Liberty - Jamestown, SC 
6. Benekin, Hillary (DSE) New Bethel - North Charleston, SC 
7. Benner, Sarah (NEMA) Bishop Cummins - Catonsville, MD 
8. Brown, Paul (DSE) St. John's - Charleston, SC 
9. Buncum, John (DSE) Atonement - Mt. Pleasant, SC  
10. Butler, Linda (DSE) Grace Church - Moncks Corner, SC 
11. Caldwell, Dss. Michelle (DCS) Trinity REC – Mason, OH 
12. Camlin, Brett (DMA) Holy Communion - Dallas, TX 
13. Carr, Meagan (DMA) Church of the Resurrection - Crosby, TX 
14. Coffey, James (NEMA) St. Peter's - Elkton, MD 
15. Dryden, Bob (DCS) Church of our Saviour - Leesburg, VA 
16. Dunmeyer, Nathaniel (DSE) Mt. Olivet - Ravenel, SC 
17. Ellison, Renia (DSE) Messiah - Pineville, SC 
18. Foos, Kathleen (DMA) St. Andrew's - Chester, CA 
19. Fruin, Melissa (DMA) Chapel of the Cross - Dallas, TX 
20. Gadsden, Gerald (DSE) Redeemer - Pineville, SC 
21. Gadsden, Hester (DSE) New Israel - Charleston, SC 
22. Gaillard, Edelle (DSE) New Israel - Charleston, SC 
23. Gehrke, Caitlin  (DMA) Covenant Church - Greenville, MI 
24. Goanos, George (DSE) St. Andrew's - Savannah, GA 
25. Gottlieb, Kevin (DCS) Holy Trinity - Fairfax, VA 
26. Grote, Ellen (DMA) St. Matthias - Katy, TX 
27. Guild, Lorraine (DSE) Intercession - Wando, SC 
28. Harrington, Susan (NEMA) St. Alban's - New York, NY 
29. Hegyi, Katherine  (DCS) All Saints - Raleigh, NC 
30. Howden, Beth (DMA) Holy Trinity - Webster Groves, MO 
31. Howell, Steven (DMA) St. Thomas of Canterbury - Houston, TX 
32. Jenkins, Kim (NEMA) Faith Church - Baltimore, MD 
33. Jorgensen, Bobbi Lynn (NEMA) St. Stephen's - Eldersburg, MD 
34. Kellam, Steffi (DSE) Christ the King - Marietta, GA 
35. Landstrom, Erik  (NEMA) Grace Church - Collingdale, PA 
36. Longueville, Dss. Cynthia (DMA) Holy Communion – Dallas, TX 
37. Longueville, Bud (DMA) Holy Communion - Dallas, TX 
38. Main, Benjamin (DMA) Christ the King - Grover Beach, CA 
39. Mazyck, Catherine (DSE) Nazareth - Moncks Corner, SC 
40. Meade, Beverly  (DMA) Holy Cross - Alpine, TX 
41. Mikell, Gerard (DSE) St. Luke's - Charleston, SC 
42. Mills, Mary Ann (DCS) Holy Cross - Midlothian, VA 
43. Payne, Deborah (DMA) St. Thomas of Canterbury - Houston, TX 
44. Pettigrew, Rebecca (DSE) Calvary - St. Stephen, SC 
45. Porter, Earnestine (DSE) Grace Church - Moncks Corner, SC 
46. Ravenell, Selinda (DSE) Redeemer - Pineville, SC 
47. Riches, Anna (NEMA) Emmanuel Church - Pipersville, PA 
48. Riches, Ronald (NEMA) Covenant Chapel - Basking Ridge, NJ 
49. Robinson, Gwendolyn C. L. (DSE) Mt. Carmel - Goose Creek, SC 
50. Rogers, Alvalene (DSE) Nazareth - Moncks Corner, SC 
51. Rosner, Janie (DSE) St. Paul's - Moncks Corner, SC 
52. Rutt, Susannah (DMA) St. Andrew's - Phoenix, AZ 
53. Sebree, Terri (DCS) Christ our Hope - Dayton, OH 
54. Shaw, Deborah (DSE) Good Shepherd - Bonneau, SC 
55. Singleton, Elise (DCS) St. James - Memphis, TN 
56. Sivigny, Mei-li (DSE) All Saints - Greenville, SC 
57. Spieth, Mary Lou (DCS) Trinity Anglican - Evansville, IN 
58. Stults, Delfina (DMA) St. Paul's - Houston, TX 
59. Sutton, Susan (DMA) Holy Communion - Dallas, TX 



 

Committee on Credentials  1A - 5 

60. Teachey, Rick (DCS) Christ the King - Dayton, OH 
61. Thompson, Mary Jane (DCS) St. Jude's - Richmond, VA 
62. Trapp, James (DSE) Emmanuel Anglican - Spartanburg, SC 
63. Vaughn, Andrew (DMA) Providence Church - Corpus Christi, TX 
64. Vowles, Diana (NEMA) St. Stephen's - Eldersburg, MD 
65. Warren, Shirley (DSE) Holy Trinity - Charleston, SC 
66. Wells, Brian (DCS) Christ the Redeemer - Owensboro, KY 
67. West, Dss. Barbara (DMA) St. Stephen’s – Flowood, MS 
68. West, Willie Mae (DSE) New Bethel - North Charleston, SC 
69. Wilson, Viola  (DSE) Christ Church - Johns Island, SC 
70. Wright, Gregory (NEMA) St. Matthew's - Havertown, PA 
71. Wright, Sabrina (DSE) Emmanuel – Alvin, SC 

 
General Council Officers, General Committee, & Canonical voting Committee members (not otherwise elected as a deputy) 

1. Barnes, Burnie (DSE) St. Luke’s – Charleston, SC – Committee on Doctrine & Worship 
2. Gaillard, Lee (DSE) New Israel -  Charleston, SC – General Committee Member 
3. Johnson, Dss. Annette (DMA) St. Matthias- Katy, TX – General Council Secretary (elected) 
4. Johnson III, Harry K. (DMA) St. Matthias – Katy, TX – General Committee Member 

 
Alternates (only voting if deputy is not present) 

1. Bernier, Miriam (DMA) Providence Church - Corpus Christi, TX 
2. Boettner, Melanie (DCS) St. James - Memphis, TN 
3. Boonzaaijer, Christine (DMA) Chapel of the Cross - Dallas, TX 
4. Comfort-Capers, Patricia (DSE) St. John's - Charleston, SC 
5. Duggins, Lynette V. (DSE) New Israel - Charleston, SC 
6. Erlandson, Jackie (DMA) Good Shepherd - Tyler, TX 
7. Graham, Mikala (DMA) St. Andrew's - Chester, CA 
8. Johnson, Joan (DMA) Holy Cross - Alpine, TX 
9. Kell, Ann (DCS) Church of our Saviour - Leesburg, VA 
10. Liferidge, Thelma (DSE) St. Paul's - Moncks Corner, SC 
11. Mansour, Sam (DCS) Holy Trinity - Fairfax, VA 
12. Regisford, Dss. Susan (NEMA) St. Alban's - New York, NY 
13. Smalls, Marietta (DSE) Emmanuel – Alvin, SC 
14. Smith, Pat (DCS) Covenant Church – Roanoke, VA 
15. Sullivan, Helena (DMA) Covenant Church - Greenville, MI 
16. Teachey, Jacqueline (DCS) Christ the King - Dayton, OH 
17. Thompson, Darlene (DSE) Holy Trinity - Charleston, SC 
18. Walton, Johnny (DSE) St. Luke's - Charleston, SC 

 
 
  



 

Committee on Credentials  1A - 6 

OBSERVERS – (non-voting) 
 

1. Allen, Jacqueline (DMA) St. Andrew's - Phoenix, AZ 
2. Allen, James (DMA) St. Andrew's - Phoenix, AZ 
3. Amaral, Bailey (DSE) Christ the King - Marietta, GA 
4. Ayres, The Rev. David AKD/REK Germany 
5. Ayres, Patricia AKD/REK Germany 
6. Barkalow, Christine (DMA) Holy Cross Oratory - CO Springs, CO 
7. Bartel, Allison (DMA) Christ the King - Grover Beach, CA 
8. Barto, Dcn. William (DCS) Holy Trinity - Fairfax, VA 
9. Beach, The Most Rev. Foley Archbishop, Anglican Church in North America 
10. Benekin, Betty (DSE) Calvary - St. Stephen, SC 
11. Birkinbine, Katherine Other 
12. Boutwell, Renee (DMA) Holy Cross - Alpine, TX 
13. Breaux, Theresa (DSE) Immanuel - Cross, SC 
14. Brown, Authur (DSE) Holy Rock - Mt. Carmel, SC 
15. Brown, Rosemary (DSE) St. John's - Charleston, SC 
16. Capers, Patrice (DSE) St. John's - Charleston, SC 
17. Carr, Jonathan (DMA) Church of the Resurrection - Crosby, TX 
18. Chambers, Marcella (DSE) Mt. Olivet - Ravenel, SC 
19. Costa, Dcn. Andrew (DCS) Trinity REC - Mason, OH 
20. Dryden, Karen (DCS) Church of our Savior at Oatlands – Leesburg, VA 
21. Dunmeyer, Brenda (DSE) Mt. Olivet - Ravenel, SC 
22. Ekeke, The Rev. Cn. Chima Anglican Church in North America 
23. Eldridge, The Rev. Cn. Mark American Anglican Council 
24. Ellisor, Jennifer (DMA) Church of the Resurrection - Crosby, TX 
25. Fenwick, Elisabeth Free Church of England 
26. Fenwick, The Most Rev. John Bishop Primus, Free Church of England 
27. Fitzpatrick, Kay (DCS) St. Andrew's - Asheboro, NC 
28. Fleming, Shelley (DCS) Holy Trinity - Fairfax, VA 
29. Fleming, William (DCS) Holy Trinity - Fairfax, VA 
30. Gadsden, Mozetta (DSE) St. John's - Charleston, SC 
31. Gehrke, Samuel (DMA) Covenant Church - Greenville, MI 
32. Gibbs, Delores (DSE) Nazareth  – Moncks Corner, SC 
33. Gillidette, Dcn. Alan (DMA) St. Stephen's - Montrose, CO 
34. Goodwin, Joyce (DCS) Christ the Redeemer - Owensboro, KY 
35. Gottlieb, Natalie (DCS) Holy Trinity – Fairfax, VA 
36. Graham, Robert (DMA) St. Andrew's - Chester, CA 
37. Gregory, Brenda (DSE) St. John's - Charleston, SC 
38. Gresser, Traci (DMA) Chapel of the Cross - Dallas, TX 
39. Grote, Avery (DMA) St. Matthias - Katy, TX 
40. Grote, Suzanne (DSE) Christ the King - Marietta, GA 
41. Hartman, Henry (DMA) Providence Church - Corpus Christi, TX 
42. Hartman, Sarah (DMA) Providence Church - Corpus Christi, TX 
43. Hill, Gale Diocese of the Southeast 
44. Holley, Emily (DSE) Christ the King - Marietta, GA 
45. Holley, Dcn. Tyler (DSE) Christ the King - Marietta, GA 
46. Howell, Judy (DMA) St. Thomas of Canterbury - Houston, TX 
47. Hoyt, Greg Other 
48. Jeffcoat, Suzette (DSE) St. John's - Charleston, SC 
49. Jenkins, Rosa (DSE) Grace Church - Moncks Corner, SC 
50. Johnson, Royce Ann (DMA) St. Matthias - Katy, TX 
51. Jones, Diana (DMA) St. Andrew's - Phoenix, AZ 
52. Jones, Story (DCS) Holy Trinity - Fairfax, VA 
53. Kline, Elizabeth (DCS) Christ the Redeemer - Owensboro, KY 
54. Kline, Dcn. Tim (DCS) Christ the Redeemer - Owensboro, KY 
55. Lawrence, Allison Anglican Diocese of South Carolina 
56. Lawrence, The Rt. Rev. Mark Bishop Emeritus, Anglican Diocese of South Carolina 
57. Levine, Aaron (DCS) Covenant - Roanoke, VA 
58. Lowery, Dcn. Jameson (DCS) Church of the Redeemer - Wilson, NC 
59. Loyd, Loutricia  M. (DSE) Emmanuel - Alvin, SC 
60. MacGregor, Charlotte (DCS) All Saints - Raleigh, NC 



 

Committee on Credentials  1A - 7 

61. Macias, Sarah Diocese of Mid-America 
62. Main, Elizabeth (DMA) Christ the King - Grover Beach, CA 
63. Mansour, Joanne (DCS) Holy Trinity - Fairfax, VA 
64. Manto, Janice (DCS) Trinity REC - Mason, OH 
65. Mayo, The Rev. Canon Barclay Anglican Network in Canada 
66. McGee, Kathy (DMA) St. Timothy's - Jonesboro, AR 
67. McKenzie, Rachal Anglican Church in North America 
68. McKenzie, Teagan Anglican Church in North America 
69. McNamara, Sandra (DCS) Christ the King - Dayton, OH 
70. Melton, Vandi (DSE) Christ the King - Marietta, GA 
71. Meyer, The Rt. Rev. Gerhard Bishop, AKD/REK Germany 
72. Milic, The Rt. Rev. Jasmin Bishop, REC in Croatia 
73. Moock, Kathy (DSE) Promiseland - Johns Island, SC 
74. Noyes, Jenny Anglican Global Mission Partners 
75. Overton, Dcn. Jameson (DCS) Christ our Hope - Westpoint, TN 
76. Pearce, Carol (DCS) Holy Trinity - Fairfax, VA 
77. Pelot, Dcn. Aaron (DCS) Christ the King - Dayton, OH 
78. Perez, Lisandra Board of Foreign Missions 
79. Pickney, Delphia (DSE) Grace Church – Moncks Corner, SC 
80. Prioleau, Bernard (DSE) Mt. Olivet - Ravenel, SC 
81. Prioleau, Sheila  (DSE) Liberty - Jamestown, SC 
82. Sanders, Nancy Other 
83. Shaw, Bridget (DSE) Christ Church - Johns Island, SC 
84. Sigler, Clemmitt (DCS) Covenant Church – Roanoke, VA 
85. Simmons, Angela (DSE) Nazareth - Moncks Corner, SC 
86. Tarsitano, Meghan (DCS) Trinity Anglican - Connersville, IN 
87. Taylor, Lynn (DSE) Grace Church – Moncks Corner, SC 
88. Toms, Beatriz (DMA) St. Paul's - Baton Rouge, LA 
89. Umeasalugo, The Rev. Kosi AKD/REK Germany 
90. Vinson, Jodi (DMA) St. Benedict's - Rockwall, TX 
91. Voelkel, Carol (DMA) Christ the King Fellowship - Covington, LA 
92. Washington, Latricia (DSE) Mt. Olivet - Ravenel, SC 
93. Wells, Wendy (DCS) Christ the Redeemer - Owensboro, KY 
94. Welty, Carol Cherie (DMA) All Saints - Shreveport, LA 
95. Wicker, Laura Society of Anglican Missionaries and Senders (SAMS) 
96. Wicker, Stewart Society of Anglican Missionaries and Senders (SAMS) 
97. Wilson, Alyce (DSE) Good Shepherd - Bonneau, SC 
98. Wilson, Melvin (DSE) Christ Church - Johns Island, SC 
99. Workowski, Joan (DCS) Covenant - Roanoke, VA 
100. Wright-Sheats, Wanda (DSE) Mt. Olivet - Ravenel, SC 





 

Corresponding Membership  1C - 1 

The REPORT on CORRESPONDING MEMBERS to the 
57th General Council of the Reformed Episcopal Church  
  
Dear Brethren,  
  
The Committee on Corresponding Members welcomes the following guests of the General 
Council and recommends that they be granted Corresponding Membership to this Council with 
voice, but no vote:  
 
• The Most Rev. Foley Beach – Archbishop of the Anglican Church in North America 
• The Most Rev. John Fenwick & wife, Elisabeth – Bishop Primus - Free Church of England  
• The Rt. Rev. Gerhard Meyer – REC Germany 
• The Rt. Rev. Jasmin Milic – REC Croatia 
• The Rev. David Ayres & wife, Patricia– REC Germany 
• The Rev. Kosi Umeasalugo – REC Germany 
• The Rev. Canon Mark Eldredge – American Anglican Council 
• The Rev. Canon Chima Ekeke – Chaplain to the Archbishop ACNA 
• The Rev. Canon Barclay Mayo – Anglican Network in Canada 
• Ms. Jenny Noyes – Anglican Global Mission Partners & New Wineskins 
• Mr. Stewart Wicker & wife, Laura – Society of Anglican Missionaries & Senders (SAMS) 
 
In addition, we want thank the following Bishops who celebrated with us at our opening 
Eucharist service, but are not able to stay with us throughout our sessions. We thank them for 
their warm greetings and this Committee recommends that our gratitude be expressed to 
them, in writing, following this General Council.  
 
• The Rt. Rev. Mark Lawrence & wife, Allison - Bishop Emeritus of the Anglican Diocese of 

South Carolina. 
• The Rt. Rev. Thaddeus Barnum – Diocese of the Carolinas 
• The Rt. Rev. David Bryan – Diocese of the Carolinas 
 
Additions to this report may be submitted to the Chairman from the floor.  
  
Respectfully Submitted,  

 
The Rt. Rev. R. Charles Gillin, Chairman  
 





 
Election of Officers  1D - 1 

Election of Officers 
 
 
As was done in 2021, a slate of nominees to serve as the officers of the General Council is being offered 
for the Council’s consideration. These individuals have already agreed to serve in their respective office, 
should you desire, and each has the unanimous support of the Council of Bishops and the General 
Committee (meeting April 2023).  

 
If it is the will of the council, the chair will receive a single motion to elect the slate of nominees as 
presented without need for further nominations. If it is not the will of the council to elect the slate as a 
whole, then the chair will then proceed to entertain nominations and elections for each respective office, 
in turn.  

 
Nominations unanimously supported by the Council of Bishops and the General Committee for the 
Council’s consideration and action: 

 
 President:   The Most Rev. Ray R. Sutton 
 Vice-President: The Rt. Rev. Peter Manto 
 Secretary:  Dss. Canon Annette Johnson  
 Treasurer:  Mr. James (‘Bud’) P. Longueville 

 
 
 
 





Presiding Bishop Statistical Report 1F - 1 

STATISTICAL REPORT OF THE PRESIDING BISHOP TO THE  
57TH GENERAL COUNCIL OF THE REFORMED EPISCOPAL CHURCH 

JUNE 7-9, 2023 
 

Since the last General Council held in June 2021, I had the following number of trips, meetings and/or 
visits dealing with Provincial, Ecumenical and Denominational matters.  
 
June 2021 – June 2023 

Provincial & Ecumenical: 66   
 Denominational: 52 
 Installation of Ordinary: 1  
 Consecrations: 2 
           
PROVINCIAL AND ECUMENICAL MEETINGS AND EVENTS 
June 14-18, 2021 ACNA Executive Committee/Provincial Council 
June 22-23  Nigerian Primate 
June 24  Communion Partner Dialog 
June 28  Attended Consecration, Orthodox Church in America 
July 6   ACNA Diocesan Clergy  
July 7   Forward in Faith Assembly 
July 13   Provincial Response Team Briefing 
July 13   ACNA Diocesan Clergy 
July 15   ACNA College of Bishops and Executive Committee 
July 26   ACNA Executive Committee 
July 26   ACNA Bishops Council  
August 4-5  Ecumenical Dialog, ACNA/North American Lutheran Church 

Corpus Christi, TX   
August 10  ACNA Deans 
August 12  North Texas Missionary District 
August 16  ACNA Bishops Council 
August 26  ACNA College of Bishops 
August 31  Ecumenical Dialog, New Day Kingdom Assembly of Churches  
September 2  Archbishop Foley Beach 
September 8  Ecumenical 
September 9  Archbishop Foley Beach 
September 21-24 ACNA Bishops Leadership Summit 
September 29  Forward in Faith Board 
October 1  Ecumenical, North American Lutheran Church  
October 12  ACNA Deans 
October 14  ACNA College of Bishops 
October 19  Anglican House Publishing Board 
October 26-27  American Anglican Council Board, Atlanta, GA 
November 29-30 Ecumenical Dialog ACNA/North American Lutheran Church, Dallas, TX 
December 9  Forward in Faith Bishops  
December 15  Forward in Faith 
December 15  ACNA Deans 
January 3, 2022 Ecumenical, Continuing Evangelical Episcopal Communion  
January 5  Ecumenical Dialog, ACNA / New Day Kingdom Assembly  
January 10-15  ACNA College of Bishops 



Presiding Bishop Statistical Report 1F - 2 

January 27-31  Ecumenical Dialog, Latvian Archbishop and Clergy visit Dallas 
February 1  Anglican House Publishing Board  
February 21  Ecumenical, ACNA/Lutheran Church Missouri Synod  
February 23  Forward in Faith Council 
March 1  ACNA College of Bishops 
March 8  ACNA Deans  
March 16  ACNA College of Bishops 
April 8   Ecumenical, ACNA/Continuing Evangelical Episcopal Communion 
May 5   ACNA College of Bishops 
May 24-25  Ecumenical Dialog, ACNA/Lutheran Dialog, Concordia Seminary, 
   St. Louis, MO 
June 1   Ecumenical, ACNA/Continuing Evangelical Episcopal Communion 
June 10   Dedication of 2019 ACNA Traditional Language Prayer Book 
    St. Mark’s Anglican Church, Arlington, TX 
June 12-19  ACNA College of Bishops / Provincial Council, Falls Church, VA 
July 6   Forward in Faith Assembly, Dallas, TX 
July 27-30  ACNA Missionary Diocese of All Saints Synod Speaker 
August 16  Ecumenical, ACNA/Continuing Evangelical Episcopal Communion 
August 25  Ecumenical, ACNA/Philippine Independent Catholic Church Planning 
   for Signing of Concordat  
August 31  Ecumenical Discussion, ACNA/Continuing Evangelical Episcopal Communion 
September 22-25 New Wineskins Conference, Asheville, NC 
September 26-27 ACNA Bishops Conclave 
October 25  Anglican House Publishing Board  
December 15  ACNA College of Bishops    
February 23, 2023 Ecumenical, ACNA Philippine Independent Catholic Church 
February 23   Ecumenical, ACNA Catholic Conference of Bishops 
March 6  Ecumenical, Ukrainian Orthodox Church of Mexico 
March 7  Ecumenical Partnerships 
March 23  ACNA 2030 Task Force Interview 
March 28  ACNA Executive Committee 
April 5   Ecumenical, Global Methodist Church Bishop 
April 11  ACNA College of Bishops 
April 11  Anglican House Publishing Board 
May 10-11  Ecumenical Dialog, ACNA/Lutheran Dialog, Dallas, TX 
May 30   Forward in Faith Assembly, Dallas, TX 
  
 
DENOMINATIONAL 
August 6, 2021  REC Board of Foreign Missions 
August 25  REC100   
September 7  REC100 
September 16  Charleston Site Visit, General Council 150th   
September 17  REC Diocese of the Southeast Synod, Charleston, SC 
October 1  Reformed Episcopal Seminary Board 
October 13  REC Council of Bishops 
October 14  ACNA Christ Church Missionary District Speaker   
October 14  Anglican School Association, Benefactor Banquet, The Saint Timothy  
    School, Dallas, TX  



Presiding Bishop Statistical Report 1F - 3 

October 21-22  REC Diocese of the Central States Synod, Mason, OH 
November 2  REC Board of Foreign Missions Board 
November 4-5  REC Diocese of the Northeast/Mid-Atlantic Synod, Ellicott City, MD 
November 6  REC Germany Synod by Zoom 
November 22  REC100  
December 1  REC Sustentation Fund Committee 
December 8  REC General Committee 
December 21  Retirement of Bishop Al Gadsden, Charleston, SC 
February 26, 2022 REC Diocese of the Southeast Special Synod, Charleston, SC 
March 4  REC BFM Germany 
April 1   REC100  
April 19  REC Council of Bishops 
April 20  REC Standing Liturgical Committee 
April 21  REC Theological Commission 
April 22  REC General Committee 
April 29  Reformed Episcopal Seminary Board 
May 3   REC100 
May 23   REC Board of Foreign Missions (Cuba) 
June 10   REC Board of Foreign Missions (Cuba) 
June 28   Consecration Planning Meeting for Bishop-elect Willie J. Hill, Jr.  
August 13  Consecration of Rt. Rev. Willie J. Hill, Jr., Diocese of the Southeast 
August 30  REC Board of Foreign Missions 
September 16  DSE Synod 
September 16  Installation of Rt. Rev. Willie J. Hill, Jr., as Ordinary of the Diocese of the 
    Southeast REC 
October 13  Anglican School Association, Benefactor Banquet, The Saint Timothy 

School, Dallas, TX 
October 28  Reformed Episcopal Seminary Board 
October 31  REC Standing Liturgical Commission 
November 7  REC Constitution and Canons Committee 
November 8  REC Board of Foreign Missions (Cuba sub-committee) 
November 9-10  REC Council of Bishops 
November 11  REC General Committee 
November 18  Reformed Episcopal Seminary Board 
December 8  Military Chaplaincy Endorsers 
December 13  REC100 
December 20  REC100 
February 15, 2023 REC General Council Planning 
February 24  Reformed Episcopal Seminary Board 
February 24  REC100   
March 20  REC Constitution and Canons Committee  
April 25  REC Council of Bishops 
April 27  REC General Committee 
April 28  Reformed Episcopal Seminary Board 
April 29  Consecration, Rt. Rev. William A. Jenkins, Sr., Bishop Cummins REC, 
    Catonsville, MD  
 





 
Presiding Bishop Exhortation  1G - 1 

The Presiding Bishop’s Exhortation 
The 57th General Council 
June 7, 2023 
 
The Complete Gospel for the Age of Exclusive Secularism 
 
Archbishop Beach, Primus Fenwick, other REC Bishops, Clergy, Delegates, and distinguished guests, 
greetings in the Blessed Name of our Lord and Savior Jesus Christ. He is the same yesterday, today, and 
forever! We gather here in Charleston, South Carolina for the 57th General Council of the Reformed 
Episcopal Church with joy and excitement. On behalf of all of us, I thank Bishop Willie Hill and the Diocese 
of the Southeast for hosting this historic council. Today marks our entrance into the celebration of 150 
years of God’s faithfulness to this part of His Church. The actual day of our beginning is December 2, 
1873. Our founding Bishop, George David Cummins, began his opening sermon entitled The Old Paths 
with the following words: “In God alone we trust. In a consciousness of loyalty to Christ is our confidence. 
In our entire dependence upon the Holy Spirit is our only hope. If the work we inaugurate to-day be of 
men, may it come to naught. If it be of God, may He grant us more abundantly ‘the Holy Ghost and 
wisdom’ to make us ‘valiant for truth,’ strong to labor and faithful in every duty, and ‘rejoicing to be 
counted worthy to suffer shame for His name.’”  
 
Now after 150 years of our existence, we know that what began was not of men. We give God all the glory 
for preserving by His Sovereign power through the Holy Spirit true faith in Jesus Christ, adherence to the 
inerrant and infallible Word of God, unwavering fidelity to the catholic creeds and ancient councils, and 
a firm commitment to the “old paths” of the early church up through the English Reformation. 
Furthermore, in keeping the REC spiritually alive and faithful to Him, God continues to send His Spirit 
to proclaim the Gospel through mission and church planting not only here in the U.S. but around the 
world. The Lord’s Hand indeed remains on the REC. We give praise and thanksgiving to our God!  
 
Since our last General Council only two years ago, which was re-scheduled to a 2021 zoom meeting due 
to the pandemic, there have been many other important developments. We’ll learn about them in our 
reports. We want to see the Gospel spread more through our witness in the very challenging times to 
come. But we now live in a culture quite different from the one that was accommodating and even friendly 
to the Western Church for nearly 1700 years. To meet the daunting task of reaching our 21st century 
culture that has become more like the days of early Christianity in the Roman Empire, I therefore call us 
in my exhortation to proclaim The Complete Gospel for the Age of Exclusive Secularism. 
 
The Exhortation: The Complete Gospel for the Age of Exclusive Secularism 
 
The great 16th century German monk and reformer, Martin Luther, once stated the following: 
 

“If I profess with the loudest voice and clearest expression every portion of the truth of 
God except precisely that little point which the world and the devil are at that moment 
attacking, I am not confessing Christ, however boldly I may be professing Christ. Where 
the battle rages, there the loyalty of the soldier is proved, and to be steady on all the 
battlefields besides is mere flight and disgrace, if he flinches at the point.  

 
Luther stood on the Word of God to fight the spiritual wars of his day. Yet in his statement, he speaks 
forcefully about the need for the Church always to fight “where the battle rages.” Our Biblical, theological, 
and moral struggles in the culture of the 21st century is quite different from the ones of the 16th century, 
and even the late 19th century when the REC began.  



 
Presiding Bishop Exhortation  1G - 2 

 
Aaron M. Renn’s article, “The Three Worlds of Evangelicalism” (First Things, February 2022), offers a 
penetrating three-fold overview of some of the enormous differences. He calls the early centuries of 
America up to 1994 the Positive World, in which, “Society at large [in this period] retains a mostly positive 
view of Christianity .  .  . Christian moral norms are the basic moral norms of society and violating them 
can bring negative consequences.” The next period 1994-2014 Renn chronicles as the Neutral World, 
where “Society takes a neutral stance toward Christianity. Christianity no longer has privileged status but 
is not disfavored . . . Christian moral norms retain some residual effect.” The last period from 2014 to the 
present, Renn classifies as the Negative World. He cites the Supreme Court Obergefell decision that 
redefined marriage as not exclusively between a man and a woman. This decision Renn identifies as 
marking a transition into a “Society [that] has come to have a negative view of Christianity . . . Christian 
is a social negative . . . Christian morality is expressly repudiated and seen as a threat to the public good 
and the new public moral order.” 
 
The spiritual battlelines of Luther’s day have been redrawn. Scholars like Renn recognize that we’re now 
living in post-Christendom. For 1700 years the Church in the West through all of its ups and downs has 
been surrounded by a culture mostly favorable to Christianity. This long era has come to an end. Coming 
full circle, we’ve returned to a kind of secular world that resembles the cultures around the early church. 
 
The good news, however, is that the Church has been here before, successfully reaching mostly hostile 
cultures with the Gospel. Our own 16th century English Reformers show us how to learn from that period 
to proclaim Christ to our similar world. They adopted the motto ad fontes, meaning “back to the sources.” 
To address the problems of the late Medieval Church the sources for the reformers were the Scriptures 
and the church fathers. Though the issues are different, their model was right. It’s still relevant for the 
challenges of postmodernity. By going back to the Scriptures and early Christianity, we can learn how the 
ancient Church took the Gospel into and defended it in antagonistic cultures much like ours. For example, 
the early Church in the 5th century faced a similar situation where the secularists of the Roman Empire 
blamed Christianity for its demise. The secularists called for a return to the old pagan religions and ways, 
and the removal of Christianity. The famous Bishop and scholar, St. Augustine, stepped forward to write 
his classic, The City of God. He said, “From this world’s city there arise enemies, against whom the City 
of God has to be defended.” In his massive work, he attributed the collapse of the empire to its own 
corruption. He also offered a stunning comparison of how Christian saints did more for the empire than 
any of their super-heroes like Hercules. These holy Christians conquered with Christ’s love without 
violence. St. Augustine said, “What does [their] love look like? It has hands to help others; it has feet to 
hasten to the poor and needy; It has eyes to see misery and want; it has ears to hear the sighs and sorrows 
of men; that is what love looks like.” Such unconditional love is only taught in the Holy Scriptures (1 
Corinthians 13). 
 
With St. Augustine and many other early church fathers, we can learn how they relied upon and drew 
from the Word of God by standing on the shoulders of those who had gone before. The Apostle Paul 
became the primary Biblical source in his three missionary journeys. On his second one in A.D. 50, he 
preached the Gospel at a place called Mars Hill in Athens, Greece. This world was like our culture in its 
exclusive secularism. Before considering St. Paul’s Biblical and apostolic model of the Gospel, let’s 
understand clearly what exclusive secularism is. 
 
A Word About Exclusive Secularism 
 
To date, the most extensive analyses of the secularism of our cultural environment are the writings of the 
Roman Catholic Charles Taylor in his book, A Secular Age, and the Protestant scholar James K. A. Smith 



 
Presiding Bishop Exhortation  1G - 3 

in his work entitled, How Not to be Secular. They both conclude that our culture has become one of 
exclusive secularism. This is a different kind of “secular” from the Middles Ages when the word referred 
to Christian work outside the Church like a baker or candlestick maker. The understanding of “secular” 
changed significantly in the 18th century Enlightenment. The natural world and morality were 
understood as having no inherent definition in themselves. Many philosophers began to assume that the 
world did not even have God’s created revealed meaning of it. Instead, the natural and the moral were 
considered neutral in design until human reason provided their value. The famous philosopher Rene 
Descartes crafted the popular phrase on which this new meaning of secular was based. He said, “I think, 
therefore I am.” Culture and all aspects of it are reduced to what human reason dictates. The Christian 
worldview became one option among others. 
 
Taylor and Smith speak of a third type of secularism prevalent in our day. James K. A. Smith says about 
this new version of secularism, “Religious belief or belief in God . . . [that has been] understood to be one 
option among others,” has become “contested” (pp. 21-23). By “contested” he means “belief in God” is no 
longer even to be considered a possibility but culturally opposed. Taylor therefore concludes that we are 
now in a secular age of “exclusive humanism” (Smith, p. 22). To understand the exclusiveness of the 
present secularism, Taylor and Smith define it with the phrase “closed world structure.”  
 
These scholars also use the image of a two-story house to explain this exclusive, secular “closed world.” In 
this two-story structure the lower story representing our present culture closes itself from the upper 
floor. They refer to the two floors of this house with the words, transcendence, and immanence. The 
upper story is the transcendent supernatural realm of God beyond the physical lower floor. It is the 
transcendent realm of God, and His meaning of humanity, morality, and so forth, according to the 
Scriptures. The lower story is immanent and the natural, this present world. Taylor and Smith point out 
that until recently in history, the upper story gave meaning and life to the lower story of this immanent 
world. However, they explain that exclusive secularism now attempts to shut out the upper story. That 
is, it will not allow the transcendent world of God and the supernatural into the lower story. The 
immanent, secular, ground floor relegates the upper floor of the Biblical worldview to an attic where no 
one is allowed to go and still be taken seriously by media, the arts, and the institutions of our society.  
 
The immanent floor has become so hostile to the upper transcendent story that it even erects what Taylor 
and Smith call a brass ceiling above it. In other words, there is no connection allowed between the two 
stories. It is a way of excluding “a vision of life in which anything beyond the immanent is eclipsed” 
(Smith, pp. 22-23). By “eclipsed” these authors mean blotted out, like an eclipse of the sun by the moon. 
The immanent floor eclipses the transcendent historic Christian perspective by making it socially 
unacceptable through the arts, the media, and popular leaders. Those considered authoritative in the 
lower story close off the transcendent by not allowing the Biblical view to be represented in the 
institutions of society. For example, a Christian professor and head of a chemistry department at a major 
state university in Texas recently told me, “If I talk about the God of the Bible to my students it’s cause 
for my losing tenure.” Yet other religious viewpoints and worldviews are allowed on campuses. 
 
All the while our culture is told the immanent closed world structure with its brass ceiling contesting and 
eclipsing the transcendent makes way for a new progressive society. But in fact, it is regressive. C.S. Lewis 
wrote a book about this false notion of progress almost a hundred years ago called, Pilgrim’s Regress. The 
underlying theme of Lewis’ insightful book is that early Christians were the ones who brought the real 
progressive new world of God’s Kingdom. The 6th century early church father, St. Maximus the 
Confessor, explained how the unchanging Jesus Christ introduces true progress. He found the basis for 
this Biblical understanding in the Lord’s statement, “I am in the Father and the Father is in Me,” and in 
Jesus’ application of the same kind of relational union to His disciples (John 14:11, 20). Beginning with 



 
Presiding Bishop Exhortation  1G - 4 

the relationship between the Father and Christ, Maximus described this dynamic union of one in the 
other with a Greek theological term ekstasis. It’s a compound of “being” (stasis) and “out of or from” (ek) 
meaning to pour out. For Jesus to be in the Father and the Father in Him, and yet each remain His own 
Person, Maximus explained it as a pouring out of one into the other. Mystically the Persons of the 
Godhead are in each other without being dissolved. It’s like the diagram sometimes used to depict the 
Holy Trinity with three overlapping circles all connecting but remaining distinct. For St. Maximus, this 
pouring out of one Divine Person into the other is ecstasy without any sexual or carnal meaning.  
 
Moving from His relationship with the Father, Jesus applies the same description of ecstatic union with 
His disciples. The Lord adds, “In that day you will know that I am in the Father, and you in me and I in 
you” (John 14:20). Maximus observed that Christ uses the identical language of His ecstatic outpouring 
out, He in His Father and the Father in Him, to describe His union with the disciples. He is in them, and 
they are in Him. Based on the same Scripture, Archbishop Cranmer crafts an identical kind of phrase 
found in our Book of Common Prayer service of Holy Communion, “He in us and we in Him.”  
 
For St. Maximus, however, Christ’s ecstatic outpouring of relationship in His disciples leads to a Christian 
understanding of true progress. The Son of God is eternal. If He is in His disciples and they are in Him, 
His relationship ecstatically pours the eternal into them and their world.  And with it the everlasting 
future is interjected into the present. It’s called the “life of the world to come.” Eternal life in Jesus Christ 
is the true future for the present world. It is real progress! Therefore, Christians with the correct Biblical 
understanding of progress should not let exclusive secularism trick them into thinking that they are not 
progressive. Secularism may offer some kind of future, but it is not progress. It is regress, to use C.S. 
Lewis’ brilliant description. It’s old, not new. The false view of progress plunges the world into regression 
every single time that it repeats itself in history. Rather, St. Paul says, “Therefore if anyone is in Christ, 
he is a new creation. The old has passed away, behold, the new has come” (2 Corinthians 5:17). When 
Christ comes, the true future follows with His new creation of progress. Yet He and His Word never 
change. In the words of a hymn in the new REC hymnal, “Not by the wisdom of this world” (#531), the 
last line is, “As then, as now, as evermore.”  
 
Sadly, there are many Christians in the West who have been deceived into thinking that they are not the 
true progressives. The secular worldview seemingly offers progress with its unbiblical inclusivist ideas, 
models of social justice, and postmodern redefinitions of morality. Some Christians have been tempted 
with and taken in bits and pieces of the secular by doing its “laundry,” as the late 20th century Christian 
apologist Francis Schaeffer used that image. By trying to clean secular laundry so that Christians may 
wear a synergized or mixed worldview, they believe they can better win over the secularist. Yet, not 
realizing that the new secularism is the old, exclusivist version that doesn’t allow the Christian worldview, 
they are overcome by it rather than vice versa. This is nothing new. Tertullian in the 2nd century said, 
“What indeed does Athens have to do with Jerusalem?” Early Christian defenders of the Faith like him 
concluded that the Biblical worldview is unraveled with attempts to weave truth with the secular. These 
early church fathers noted how the prophets of Israel in the Old Testament brought covenant lawsuit 
from God against His people because they comingled beliefs of the gods and cultures around them with 
the teachings of the Scriptures. In doing so they became like the pagan culture rather than the other way 
around. Israel ceased being the light to lighten the Gentiles. The opposite happened. Their synergistic 
worship and secular worldview dimmed the true Light of Scripture. 
 
No doubt many early Christian theologians used secular paradigms for apologetic purposes. They were 
able to recognize where the secular had true insights by General Revelation. And their revelations pointed 
to the veracity of God and His Word, where they could be found in purest form. God’s Scriptural and 
creedal theology even resolved what the secular could not. This approach can still be effective. Yet we 



 
Presiding Bishop Exhortation  1G - 5 

must remember that some early theologians and others through Church history leaned too far into the 
secular. We see repeatedly that the uniqueness of the Trinitarian worldview expressed in Scripture and 
the catholic creeds and councils is eventually excluded by the unholy. The secular is not after all inclusive. 
With a synergism leading to a false inclusivity, whole churches and denominations have collapsed into 
secularism in our lifetimes. You’ll notice that once this happens, those churches striving to be 
contemporary with post modernity and allegedly inclusive begin to exclude those who hold to Biblical and 
traditional theology and morality - they end up becoming post-modern, truly. Reform by going back to 
the sources becomes necessary as St. Augustine explained: “God’s Son assuming Humanity without 
destroying Divinity established and founded this faith, that there might be a way for man to man’s God 
by God’s man.” 
 
Charles Taylor says in his analysis of the postmodern secular exclusivist age that it is “unique.” In one 
regard he’s correct. In the last two centuries atheistic movements such as Fascism and Communism have 
arisen that attempted to blot out completely any reference to the transcendent God and His followers. In 
seeming contrast, the Greeks on Mars Hill to whom St. Paul preached had their gods and belief in 
“universal ideals.” They alleged both to be transcendent. In some sense they were, but as the apostle 
reveals, these “universal ideals” and their gods were in fact only false versions of real transcendence. 
Where the early cultures of the first three centuries and ours do meet and are similar, however, is in their 
exclusive rejection of the transcendence of Jesus Christ and His Word. Those on Mars Hill for the most 
part rejected the apostle’s message, as our contemporary culture does today. To borrow Taylor’s and 
Smith’s description of our exclusivist secularism —the Athenian Greeks eclipsed St. Paul. But the message 
of St. the apostle did finally penetrate their secular culture over time. He and other Christians following 
him did it with what I am calling, The Complete Gospel for the Age of Exclusive Secularism. 
 
The Exhortations 
 
By way of introduction to St. Paul’s sermon, note that the context of Mars Hill was a closed but strategic 
world. The hill itself represented the best of thinking and culture of the whole Greco-Roman world. The 
place itself rose 377 feet above sea level overlooking the terrain around. It was situated near the Acropolis 
and Agora (the marketplace). It was named after a Greek god named Ares, or Mars. He was the god of war. 
This location according to Greek mythology was allegedly where Mars had been put on trial by the other 
gods for murdering the son of Poseidon, the god of the sea. Mars Hill was also where the Areopagus Court 
was held. It was considered the highest tribunal for civil, criminal, and religious proceedings. Philosophy, 
law, and religion merged in this court. But in the final analysis, this was an exclusivist secular culture that 
remained extremely resistant to the Gospel for three centuries. 
 
St. Paul had to present the Gospel with a greater, more fulsome approach, since the culture of Mars Hill 
lacked any knowledge of Christ and His teachings. Unlike the reduced versions of the Gospel in previous 
times of our own culture, the apostle offers a more complete presentation based on who God and 
humanity are, Judgement Day, repentant faith, the uniqueness of Christ’s resurrection, and a holy 
remnant approach to church growth. That’s more than a kind of decisionism walking aisles, raising hands, 
or signing decision cards. In other words, St. Paul’s presentation cannot be reduced to little tracts the way 
the Church in a more Christian culture was able to proclaim the Gospel. I am not entirely critical of such 
efforts. They were effective at a different time. But as I’ve attempted to explain, these simplified versions 
of the Gospel were able to assume basic understandings of God and humanity in a more sympathetic 
culture that no longer exists in our secular world. Most people in the West before the late 20th century 
were baptized and held views of the Lord and mankind that allowed for shorter versions of the Gospel. 
One could start with sin and proceed to Christ as the answer for a presentation of the Gospel. Christ is 
surely the answer to humanity’s greatest needs. But in our current culture much more Biblical truth must 



 
Presiding Bishop Exhortation  1G - 6 

be provided before the deeply held false assumptions blocking a true understanding of God and His 
salvation can be overcome. Most churches, even the ones known for successful evangelism, only grow by 
Christians moving from one congregation to another. No one is having much real success at making actual 
converts of total unbelievers. Though there are exceptions, not many immediate conversions take place 
with the quick decision approaches. It takes time, patience, and catechesis for true conversions nowadays. 
To reach lost unbaptized people or those without a background in the church at some point in their life, 
and some basic knowledge of anything in the Scriptures, it requires the complete Gospel. We should not 
be discouraged. It was that way once upon a time in the early days of the Church. The good news is that 
St. Paul in his sermon on Mars Hill shows us the way with his approach to the exclusivist secular culture 
of his day.   
 
“The God Who Is Always Greater” 
 
St. Paul introduces his sermon by calling his audience to observe the statues to all their gods. He then 
draws their attention to the one entitled, “To the unknown god” (ESV)” (Acts 17:23). The one God they 
didn’t know was the one God who is the true God. Moreover, he was not saying that his God was in that 
statue. Rather, all their gods were unknowable. Something about their entire religion and system of belief 
was impersonal. St. Paul’s God is completely different and unique. To use a line from the great Medieval 
theologian Thomas Aquinas, “God is always greater.” In Latin his statement is Deus non est in genere. It 
literally means “God is not generated from creation.” The apostle develops how the Christian God is 
always greater. Each of his points are my exhortations for us to proclaim the complete Gospel. 
 

1. God Is Always Greater in His Transcendence Above All Other Gods and Religions. 
 
First, God is transcendent above all other gods and their religions. The basis for the apostle’s argument is 
the Biblical doctrine of creation. His God is Uncreated having, “made the world and everything in it, being 
Lord of heaven and earth” (Acts 17:24-25). The apostle’s assertion is that if God created the world He 
existed before it. Though He created everything, He is distinct from it. There is a Creator/creature 
distinction between his God and creation. The God he presents is transcendent and not of the creation. 
With such a statement, St. Paul directly contradicted the Greeks’ view of matter and their gods. They 
believed in the eternality of matter. Consequently, their gods were part of and ultimately came from 
creation. They were proto evolutionists. As matter evolved, so did their gods; they were always changing. 
St. Paul’s God was totally different. In the words of that powerful 1929 Gospel blues song by Willie 
Johnson, “God don’t never change.” He is transcendent, above, and distinct from the creation. He is 
always greater.  
 
Furthermore, God is so great as the Uncreated Creator that He cannot be contained by “temples made by 
man, nor is he served by human hands. He himself gives to all mankind life and breath and everything.” 
St. Paul’s point is expressed in the service for the Consecration of a Church in the Book of Common Prayer. 
The opening prayer says, “O Eternal God, mighty in power, and of majesty incomprehensible, whom the 
heaven of heavens cannot contain, much less the walls of the temples made with hands; and who yet hast 
been graciously pleased to promise thy especial presence, wherever two or three of thy faithful servants 
shall assemble in thy Name.” The prayer like the Prophets of the Old Testament reminded God’s people 
that He was so vast only His feet touched the altar. However, He was and can be present in the Biblical 
houses of worship. It’s that He is bigger than any container whether a temple or a statue. He is not like 
the Greek gods nor their statues. 
 
The apostle adds, “We ought not to think that the divine being is like gold, or silver, or stone” (v. 29). In 
other words, God’s Being is not attached to the inanimate apart from His Person. Here is a fundamental 



 
Presiding Bishop Exhortation  1G - 7 

difference between all ancient Greco Roman mystical religions and Christianity. In Holy Scripture, God’s 
Being can only be known through His Person. In mysticism God is believed to be accessed through His 
Being apart from His Person. The mystical and pagan religions for that matter had no concept of person. 
Only the teachings of Christianity gave the world an understanding of a human as a person. In the Greco 
Roman world, a person was merely property. The early church father Tertullian began to use the word 
personna to mean more than an attribute to describe a human. He laid the groundwork for understanding 
Scriptural teaching of a human as a person and not property. Eventually, this Biblical teaching on person 
was expressed in the creeds to describe the Three Persons of the Godhead as distinct but not separate 
from God’s Essence. This truth changed the world introducing a concept of “human rights.” Therefore, 
St. Paul’s comment about God’s Being that is not like “gold, silver, or stone,” turns to another way in 
which God is always greater in His Person as well as in His Being. 
 

2. God is Always Greater by His Immanent Person Nearer than all others. 
 
Secondly, God is greater not only in the way that He is transcendent before and above all things, but also 
by how He can be immanent, present, and closer than all other gods. St. Paul says, “Yet he [God] is not 
far from each one of us, for ‘In him we live and move and have our being’; as even some of your own poets 
have said, ‘For we are indeed his offspring’” (Acts 17:27-28). The apostle brilliantly reverses the notion 
that God came from the creation, by quoting one of their own poets. An “offspring” is a human child. The 
offspring comes from the parent. God is like the parent from whom creation comes. However, if humans 
are God’s offspring, then the apostle’s point is that God is a Person to be able to make persons. He is not 
simply an Uncreated transcendent Being. He is also a Person and able to be near, “not far from each one 
of us.” And if God is a person, then He can be personal. As C.S. Lewis says, “God has infinite attention to 
spare for each one of us. You are as much alone with Him as if you were the only being He had created.” 
Only the Christian God can be so great in His closeness.  
 
Furthermore, if God is a Person, then He could become human in a way unlike the Greeks believed their 
emperors or their statues could be gods. The apostle indicates that the Second Person of God became 
Man. He says, “God will judge the world by a righteous Man whom he has appointed” (v. 31). How could 
God judge the world by a “Righteous Man” unless He had become Humanity in the Incarnation? Indeed, 
God and that “Righteous Man” are one in Jesus Christ. Divine Essence is not apart from the Person of 
Jesus Christ. The Greeks did believe their emperors were divine. But this was not the same as the 
Incarnation. Their emperors were not sinless. Only the Divine could be united with the sinless Humanity 
of Jesus Christ. Therefore, only He is God. That is why early Christians refused to call the emperors, 
“Lord.” Also, the Greeks maintained that divine essence could be moved into a statue. However, if divinity 
could be in an impersonal statue, it was not a person. It remained impersonal. The Incarnation of Jesus 
Christ is completely different. He is the only One who is infinitely personal because He is the eternal 
Second Person of God. 
 
Therefore, in our exclusivist secular culture so much like St. Paul’s world, we should no longer begin our 
Gospel presentations with only the atonement of Christ. We need to move from God’s transcendence in 
creation to the Incarnation to explain Christ’s death. This is St. John’s approach in his Gospel written to 
Greeks. He starts with, “In the beginning was the Word; the Word was with God because the Word was 
God” (1:1). Fourteen verses later he says, “The Word became flesh” (1:14). St John’s account of the 
Incarnation became a model for the early church fathers. St. Athanasius wrote a classic work On the 
Incarnation. He began the first chapter of the book, however, with the doctrine of creation. He moved 
from creation to Incarnation to explain the Gospel to a resistant culture. St. Athanasius wrote, “The Self-
revealing [Uncreated] Word is in every dimension: above creation; below in the Incarnation; in depth in 
Hades; in breadth throughout all the world.”  We must do the same. 



 
Presiding Bishop Exhortation  1G - 8 

 
Anglicanism is a model of the Gospel as Incarnation. Horton Davies, who wrote on the history of the 
liturgy, stated that there are only two ways of doing theology: by the Incarnation and by the Atonement. 
Anglicanism does both but via the Incarnation. The Litany of the Book of Common Prayer is an example. It 
presents an Incarnational view of salvation that includes the death of Christ. However, the death of Christ 
is understood within the fullness of the Incarnation. The Litany says, “By the Mystery of the Incarnation.” 
It then proceeds to specify the major events in the Life of Christ from His nativity, circumcision, baptism, 
fasting and so forth to His death, resurrection, and ascension. After each line the refrain is, “Good Lord 
deliver us.” The theology of this prayer is that all of the particular events in Christ’s Incarnation are part 
of our salvation. Each reveals the cross and the cross includes Christ’s whole life. It is this incarnational 
approach to presenting the Gospel that is critically necessary for an exclusivist secular culture to 
understand the great, vast, transcendent God who is also Person “not far from us.”  
 
We live in an impersonal world in need of the personal God, the Lord Jesus Christ. It must have the entire 
story of the Incarnation to understand God as personal. Our culture has become impersonal by closing 
out God. It has also dehumanized humanity through the slaughter of the unborn and willingness to have 
any end justify the means for eliminating humans young and old. It is increasingly becoming a culture of 
cyber-space where in-person presence is decreasing. We’re told Artificial Intelligence could threaten the 
very existence of humans. God will not allow such an end, but our culture needs the hope of the 
Incarnation of Jesus Christ. Only by explaining and teaching the Incarnation will people be able to grasp 
the reason for Christ’s death. This is what the early Christian Evangelists did in their Gospels. What a 
novel idea, we should present the Gospel of the Incarnation of Christ the way they did. 
 
C.S. Lewis once wrote, “Lying at your feet is your dog. Imagine, for the moment, that your dog and every 
dog is in deep distress. Some of us love dogs very much. If it would help all the dogs in the world to become 
like men, would you be willing to become a dog? Would you put down your human nature, leave your 
loved ones, your job, hobbies, your art and literature and music, and choose instead of the intimate 
communion with your beloved, the poor substitute of looking into the beloved's face and wagging your 
tail, unable to smile or speak? Christ by becoming man limited the thing which to Him was the most 
precious thing in the world; his unhampered, unhindered communion with the Father.” Every event in 
Christ’s life tells of His sacrifice. His whole Incarnation “exegetes the Father,” as St. John says, and 
becomes a commentary for Christ’s own death (John 1:18). In a world that is no longer baptized and 
raised in the Church, people need the whole story to understand the singular purpose for it. However, St. 
Paul’s Gospel message from creation to the Incarnation brings him to the third aspect of his complete 
Gospel, humanity, to develop further how God is always greater. 
 

3. God is always greater in creating Humanity One Blood by which Christ Reunites it 
 
Thirdly, God is always greater by making humans one blood by which He can reunite them through Christ. 
St. Paul now turns to the subject of humanity from the issue of who God is. This topic is equally critical 
to the complete Gospel. Christ became human to save humanity. The apostle therefore must prove that 
Christ was fully human. He says, “And he [God] made from one man [blood] every nation of mankind to 
live on all the face of the earth, having determined allotted periods and the boundaries of their dwelling 
place, that they should seek God, and perhaps search for him and find him” (Acts 17:26-27). Whether the 
word translated “man” means one “blood” as other translations render it, the point is still the same. The 
meaning is that all humans are descended from Adam, the first human. Whatever blood ran through his 
veins continues in every nation or race of the earth. No matter what race everyone has the same blood. 
Regardless of the color of our skin, human blood is red. That’s the apostle’s argument. 
 



 
Presiding Bishop Exhortation  1G - 9 

To prove his one-blood point the apostle reaches back to the Tower of Babel without mentioning it. He 
refers to how God formed the “periods and boundaries of their dwelling place,” that is the nations. This 
event took place at the Tower of Babel. Genesis tells us that all people regardless of race joined together 
to overthrow God’s kingdom with an evil tower into heaven. As a result, God brought it down and 
confused their languages. His purpose was salvific. By this means God inhibited the peoples of the world 
from creating a false unity of a one-world government to exclude God. The Lord, however, had His own 
non-political plan for how the races of the world would be reunited through His only Begotten Son. St. 
Paul explains God’s purpose for partitioning humanity into nations, “that they should seek God, and 
perhaps feel their way toward him and find him” (17:24). The Lord’s plan was salvific. He not only wanted 
to prevent the nations from ever attempting to unite against God, but the Lord desired for them to learn 
from this judgement to seek Him. Furthermore, in the chapters of Genesis following the Tower of Babel, 
God calls Abraham to the Land of Canaan and promises a seed to save the nations (Genesis 12-15). The 
promise to the patriarch was fulfilled in Christ.  
 
St. Paul speaks of the “righteous Man whom God has appointed” (17:31). The apostle wants his hearers 
to see the connection between the “one blood” of all people and this “righteous Man.” He is Jesus Christ. 
He has the same “blood” as every human, but His blood is different. It is “righteous,” sinless. It cleanses 
all humans for their salvation regardless of race. His sinless blood is also the only way to reunite the races. 
The apostle says in his letter to the Church in Ephesus, “But now in Christ Jesus you who once were far 
off have been brought near by the blood of Christ. For he himself is our peace, who has made us both one 
and has broken down in his flesh the dividing wall of hostility . . . that he might create in himself one new 
man in place of the two, so making peace, and might reconcile us both to God in one body through the 
cross, thereby killing the hostility” (Ephesians 2:13-17; Italics mine). 
 
This message of the unity of humanity in one blood and reunification through Christ’s blood is integral 
to the Gospel. Only Jesus Christ, not another religion or secular worldview, has ever been able to 
overcome racism. Successful Christian efforts have been exemplified by valiant leaders like William 
Wilberforce in 19th century England and Martin Luther King Jr. in 20th century America. Both men were 
dynamic Christians. One was a white layman and the other was a black minister. Their message was the 
same. By a non-violent and Biblical model of peace through the Gospel, they were instrumental in their 
day in making slavery illegal in one case and in bringing greater peace between the races in the other. No 
doubt much remains to be done for the races to love one another and better work together. But the 
successful work of Christians who have gone before to bring racial peace and harmony can only be 
completed in the Gospel and not with secular approaches. Capitulating to the current culture’s un-
Christian, anti-Biblical, evolutionary views cannot move the hearts of humans to love one another or 
overcome racial or any other differences. We’re seeing the failure of these approaches without the Gospel 
that are stirring up even greater racial turmoil in our culture. Only Jesus Christ is the “way, the truth, and 
the life” who can unite the races! The Reformed Episcopal Church is a testimony to this as I look out onto 
a sea of multi-ethnic faces united in Christ’s Word and Sacrament. With God’s help we must never lose 
this witness nor the message of Christ who alone can draw all races into union in His Church and to much 
needed peace among peoples throughout the world.  
 
The apostle’s definition of humanity as one blood, however, reveals that humans are who God says they 
are, “one blood.” The Greeks did not believe all humans were the same in essence. They saw all other races 
as barbarians. In other words, the Greeks believed that they were a pure race and blood different from all 
the other races. Essentially, they were racists, believing they were superior to all other humans. St. Paul’s 
statement therefore ran contrary to their view of humanity. He was calling them to the Righteous Man. 
Just as the Gospel declares who God is, it also defines humanity. St. Paul had to explain who humanity is, 



 
Presiding Bishop Exhortation  1G - 10 

for the Greeks to understand who humanity is and ultimately to understand Jesus Christ in His 
Humanity. The same need is particularly true in our culture. 
 
The apostle in this third part of his sermon addressed what in theology is called anthropology, the 
doctrine of humanity. Anthropology has become the primary Biblical and theological issue of our day. It 
is critical to the correct view of the Gospel. If humanity is not who God says it is, then neither is sin. God’s 
righteous standard ceases to be absolute and humans define sin according to their own standard. 
Furthermore, if humanity is not according to God’s definition, Christ in His Humanity is not the one 
“righteous Man” necessary for the rescue of humans from their sin. Therefore, St. Paul for the sake of the 
Gospel had to define humanity according to God’s interpretation of it.  
 
God’s original created design of humans is defined in the early chapters of Genesis. We read, “Then God 
said, “Let us make man in our image, after our likeness . . . male and female made he them in his image” 
(1:26-27). Humans in two and only two genders are uniquely imago Dei, the image of the Triune God. 
There are no other genders according to Scripture or the biological DNA that God put in man. There is no 
“it,” only male or female gender given by God from the moment of conception. Gender cannot be altered 
into another gender. Humanity can only be what God made it, nothing more and nothing less. Carl 
Trueman from Grove City College writes regarding transgenderism in his book, The Rise and Triumph of 
Modern Self, “[Here is] a view of personhood that has completely dispensed with the idea of any authority 
beyond that of personal, psychological conviction, an oddly Cartesian notion: ‘I think [or feel] I’m a 
woman, therefore I am a woman.’” Trueman correctly observes that humans cannot remake themselves 
contrary to God’s image simply because they think or feel it. I would add that not even ghastly cruel 
surgical procedures can change a person’s gender. What is altered on the exterior of a human body cannot 
change the interior DNA God made at conception. 
 
Furthermore, to attempt to be another sex different from what God made a person is sin. Scripture says 
that men should not seek to be nor dress like women and vice versa. The Word of God concludes that 
“whoever does these things is an abomination to the Lord” (Deuteronomy 22:5). Humans lost in their 
dysphoria need Jesus Christ.  
 
What should be the Church’s response? While acknowledging that Scripture prohibits such behavior, we 
must nevertheless “love the sinner while not condoning the sin.” The Word of God says, “there is no 
condemnation in Christ.” No matter what the wrong, we are commanded by Christ to love every sinner 
with His transforming love. Christ died for them and the whole world of sinners like you and me. Based 
on His love, we are called to be Good Samaritans reaching out with God’s love to broken and disordered 
people. Many that have been misled into an attempt to alter their gender are in need of spiritual and 
psychological healing and restoration. We must be willing to bandage their wounds with Christ’s true 
charity so much at the heart of the Gospel. Even more, like the Good Samaritan we should be prepared to 
carry the disordered after giving them the healing balm of Christ, to places of help and provide for pastoral 
and psychological care.  
 
Furthermore, while meeting those in gender dysphoria with Christ’s compassion, we must lovingly help 
them also to see that much more is at stake with this issue than a personal preference. C.S. Lewis, the 
great Anglican scholar and apologist, wrote in his classic, The Abolition of Man, “For the power of Man to 
make himself what he pleases means, . . . the power of some men to make other men what they please.” 
Lewis insightfully observes that if such transgendered social views are embraced by an entire culture, 
those in seats of power can begin to believe they may do what they please with any human. It happened 
in Europe in the 20th century during the tyrannical reign of the Third Reich in Germany. Now, in the Post 
WWII West this horrid path has been further pursued with the immoral legalization of killing the unborn 



 
Presiding Bishop Exhortation  1G - 11 

child. The trail to greater evil will be even more possible with powerful new Artificial Intelligence 
technology in the wrong, wicked hands. How will those who write the software for A.I. define a human? 
If the question is answered according to an exclusivist secularism’s definition, the world will see the 
slaughter of the innocents the likes of which it has never encountered before. It will not only be unborn 
children, but both young and old whom powerful men make “what they please” will be disfigured and 
destroyed. And Christians will become a primary target for evil men to “make what they please.”  
 
The issue of who and what a human is, has always been critical to explain the Gospel. Sin consistently 
manifests itself in human history in gender and sexuality related issues. Ancient societies have struggled 
with them. Gender dysphoria is nothing new. Yet, for humans to be saved, they must come to see their 
need for a Savior. The need is sin, but it is often deeply rooted in the distortion and disordering of the 
human person, the doctrine of anthropology. The Good News is that God’s salvation can overcome any 
sinful human condition. However, as Biblical and Church history illumines, He can and has irrupted into 
history to judge nations when their sinfulness threatens the existence of all humanity and especially His 
people. He did with all the ancient Greco Roman Empire. He did no less in WWI and II in countries like 
Germany and Japan. Furthermore, Christ will someday return at the end of all history to judge the “quick 
and the dead” as we confess in the Catholic Creeds. This too is another way in which we see that God is 
always greater. 
 

4. God is Always Greater by His Ultimate Judgement of Humanity 
 
Fourthly, I exhort us to include in the Gospel, as St. Paul did, the judgement of God to explain how He is 
always greater. He is the only One who can, does, and will bring ultimate and final accountability for all 
humanity. The apostle says, “The times of ignorance God overlooked, but now he commands all people 
everywhere to repent, because he has fixed a day on which he will judge the world in righteousness by a 
man whom he has appointed; and of this he has given assurance to all by raising him from the dead” (Acts 
17: 30-31). The “Righteous Man,” as St. Paul says, will judge the world at the last day. The apostle weaves 
judgement into the Gospel. There will be a judgement day for all. Jesus says of this day,  
 

When the Son of Man comes in his glory, and all the angels with him, then he will sit on his 
glorious throne. Before him will be gathered all the nations, and he will separate people one from 
another as a shepherd separates the sheep from the goats. And he will place the sheep on his right, 
but the goats on the left. Then the King will say to those on his right, “Come, you who are blessed 
by my Father, inherit the kingdom prepared for you from the foundation of the world . . . Then 
he will say to those on his left, “Depart from me, you cursed, into the eternal fire prepared for the 
devil and his angels” . . . And these will go away into eternal punishment, but the 
righteous into eternal life. (Matthew 25:31-46).  

 
Like our culture, the Greeks knew little of this kind of judgement. They realized that the gods could 
become angry and issue a temporary or local judgement but not a universal day of reckoning. St. Paul’s 
Greek audience surely ruled out the possibility of their closed world coming to an end. The Roman Empire 
was so great at the time of St. Paul’s ministry that they couldn’t conceive of it collapsing; but it did. The 
Greeks did not want to hear of the kind of righteousness he presented. Greek philosophers did teach 
about the need for a partial righteousness called the “philosophical virtues” of wisdom, temperance, 
justice, and courage. Basic virtue was actually what most of these philosophies attempted to restore. But 
St. Paul talked about the righteousness of the Man Jesus Christ that required so much more. The 
righteousness of Christ not only reveals the philosophical virtues, but the Biblical and theological virtues 
of faith, hope, and love. The Greeks knew nothing of these greater virtues. They were trapped in fear of 
awful gods with their limited virtues without faith in the One, True, God who is always greater. St. Paul 



 
Presiding Bishop Exhortation  1G - 12 

offered them the righteousness of Christ that saves from sin, death, and judgement unto an eternal life 
of faith, hope, and love.  
 
Our secular exclusivist world has adopted a completely different view. Where there is a belief in 
judgement, it is not the righteousness or virtues of the Scriptures. Current views of ethics do not even 
include the ancient Greeks’ understanding of the four great virtues. The postmodern re-defines virtue in 
terms of an evolutionary view of social justice, political views of socialism and communism, and climate 
control. While it is important to be a good steward of the environment, this is not what leads to heaven. 
Nor is climate the ultimate judgement of the world. God said that He would never again allow a flood to 
cover the earth. On the Great day of Judgement, God is not going to ask, “Did you purchase an electric 
car to help the climate?” He’s not even going to ask what political party we joined. Rather, God’s 
penetrating queries will be according to the ethical standard of the Righteous Man, Jesus Christ. Without 
an understanding of true righteousness required by God and ultimate accountability to Him, exclusive 
secularism has no sense of a final Judgement Day or having to face God on it. We live in the midst of a 
lost culture without true hope. This hope can be found, however, in Jesus Christ and His righteousness 
alone. 
 
Biblically, the message of hope in the Gospel involves rescue from sin, death, and judgment. Not 
surprisingly, all the great, historic revivals and reformations in Church history have included preaching 
on the judgment of God. For example, In the first Great Awakening of the 18th century, Jonathan Edwards 
delivered a famous sermon entitled Sinners in the Hands of Angry God. In it he used a powerful image to 
communicate the fragility of human life before the judgement of God. He stated that a human hangs over 
the pit of hell like a spider suspended from a thin thread of its web. The postmodern Church rejects such 
emphases on the judgement of God. It typically does not include the judgement of God in the message of 
the Gospel. Unfortunately, it does not mention God’s judgement because the postmodern approach to 
the Gospel most often builds its message on some kind of market analysis of what humans prefer to hear. 
The result is concentration on making “me” feel better. It’s the Gospel of “Meism.” Such a focus on the 
present benefits for “me” neglects the more important eternal one, salvation from the judgement of God. 
The marketing approaches correctly perceive, however, that those in need of conversion don’t want to 
hear of a final judgement day. Are we surprised? Has it ever been any different in the history of humanity? 
Of course humans in sin don’t want to hear about their eternal end and accountability. That doesn’t mean 
they shouldn’t or do not need to have preaching and teaching about their end without Christ. Anthony 
Esolen in his important book Out of the Ashes: Rebuilding American Culture says that the faithful ministers 
of God must be “tellers of the truth again – and people must be willing to hear truths, even when it hurts 
to hear them.” Unfortunately, since the postmodern church will not allow the Gospel truth of God’s 
judgement into the message, universalism, the heresy that all will be saved out of hell at the end of the 
world, is having a resurgence. Such an insidious evil teaching not only removes any sense of ultimate 
consequence, but it also destroys the need to evangelize. This has always been the fate of the false teaching 
of universalism. Why would the church preach the Gospel of eternal salvation if everyone in the end will 
be saved? 
 
In addition, the absence of teaching on the judgement of God in the postmodern church combined with 
a faulty once-saved- always-saved approach removes ultimately any motivation to live virtuously in this 
life. Current discipleship approaches hardly if ever teach the need for true virtue so essential to real faith 
required by God on Judgement Day. Today there is typically no reference to the classic teaching of the 
church fathers and the Middle Ages on the seven deadly sins or vices, or even the seven virtues. According 
to a 19th-century Danish Christian philosopher, the basis for a life transformed into virtue in Christ 
begins with belief in the judgement of God. Søren Kierkegaard once said of his secularist culture, “The 
beyond, and with it the judgement [of God], has become a joke, something so uncertain that one is amused 



 
Presiding Bishop Exhortation  1G - 13 

to think that there was a time in which this idea transformed the whole of human existence.” The 
judgement of God is not a joke, nor is it only an idea, as we confess in the catholic creeds. It is an event as 
certain as night follows day that will surely come in history. The New Testament says that in our preaching 
we should prepare people for Christ’s Second Coming on Judgement Day. It’s always near and possible at 
any moment. At the same time, the judgement of God is never separated from the accompanying Good 
News of the resurrected Christ in St. Paul’s complete Gospel model that transforms lives. 
 

5. God is Always Greater by His Resurrection in Jesus Christ 
 
Fifthly, I exhort us furthermore to proclaim the Good News of God is always greater by the Resurrection 
of Jesus Christ. The apostle says, “[God] has given assurance to all by raising him [Jesus Christ] from the 
dead” (Acts 17:31). In this proclamation is also the preaching of the cross. If Christ was raised, He surely 
also died. However, it’s important to understand that the idea of coming back from the dead, 
revivification, would have not been entirely new to them. Other religions of the ancient world spoke of 
resurrection in one form or another. What was new for the Greeks was that the man preaching to them 
had seen the resurrected Christ. The Christ He saw on Damascus Road was also unique. He was glorified 
resurrected flesh and blood.  
 
Christ’s physical resurrection was different from the other miraculous ones in Scripture. God had raised 
people from the dead in the Old Testament. Jesus had raised others such as the widow’s son at Nain and 
Lazarus. Christ’s resurrection was unique in that He would never die again. He was glorified in His 
resurrection. He became a transfigured body without losing physicality. St. Paul calls Christ’s resurrected 
body a “spiritual body” (1 Corinthians 15:38). The word spiritual in the New Testament, however, is not 
detached from the physical. The Greeks and our Enlightenment modern/postmodern world understand 
“spiritual” as ghostly, ethereal, vaporous and without flesh and bones. The apostle’s Greek listeners 
couldn’t conceive of a resurrected body like he was describing that was a “spiritual physical body.” They 
conceived of such a phenomenon as spiritual without the physical. To the contrary, Jesus’ glorified 
resurrected body could move mysteriously through walls while remaining fully Human, without 
eliminating the matter of the barriers or His body. He could also eat food proving that His Humanity did 
not cease to exist. The early church father Irenaeus makes that profound statement against the Gnostics, 
“Jesus was a Jew.” He meant that Jesus in His Humanity was bodily a Jew before and after He was raised, 
while also being changed into a glorified Humanity. Christ’s incarnate resurrection completed the new 
creation in His body that began at His miraculous conception by the Holy Spirit in the Blessed Virgin 
Mary.  
 
The resurrected body of the Lord was physical, but His Humanity became more glorified than ever before. 
In every miracle (sign) Jesus performed, and especially in his transfiguration on the mountain when His 
body radiated the Light of His glory, the veil between heaven and earth had been lifted and the disciples 
had been given a glimpse of the Light of His glory. These events were only previews of what was to come. 
When Jesus was raised from the dead, however, His glory was released like never before. His glorified 
flesh the apostle describes as a “spiritual body” in his first Letter to the Corinthians (1 Corinthians 15:44). 
He had similarly used the same Greek word earlier in the tenth chapter of his First Epistle to the 
Corinthians. He says referring to Israel in the wilderness, “For they drank from the spiritual Rock that 
followed them, and the Rock was Christ” (vv. 3-5). This reference was the only way the apostle could 
describe the mysterious relationship of Christ with the physical. He does the same with reference to the 
Lord’s resurrection body and His union with other humans believing in Him. This relationship  with the 
glorified Humanity of Christ explained their change through His resurrection. 
 



 
Presiding Bishop Exhortation  1G - 14 

Jesus Christ’s resurrection was the beginning of what changed the world. St. John revealed God becoming 
Man as the Uncreated New Creation. The Incarnation was therefore a new creation. But the mission of 
the Incarnation was not completed until Christ’s resurrection declared victory over sin, judgement, and 
death. His resurrection brings about the new creation of the world and of all those who are in Christ. The 
glorified change of His resurrection changes people who believe in Him to become like Him. St. Paul’s 
argument in his great chapter on the resurrection leads to his conclusion that all those trusting in Him 
will also receive resurrected bodies like His (1 Corinthians 15:52-56). As St. Paul says, “Therefore, if 
anyone is in Christ, he is a new creation; the old has passed away; behold, the new has come” (2 
Corinthians 5:17). God is always greater as the resurrected Christ truly changes lives. 
 
The changing of the world started with the apostles including St. Paul. From fearful, doubting and even 
betraying disbelievers, they were transformed into new creations of bold witness willing to die for Christ. 
This good news of a changed life into a new creation by the power of the transfigured, glorified Christ 
continued in history to be part of the powerful Gospel claim. In the 5th century St. Augustine writes in 
his classic, Confessions:  
 

I was weeping in the most bitter contrition of my heart, when I heard the voice of children 
from a neighboring house chanting, "take up and read; take up and read" . . . I arose, 
interpreting it to be no other than a command from God to open [the Bible] and read the 
first chapter I should find . . . I seized, opened, and in silence read . . . : "Not in revelry and 
drunkenness, not in licentiousness and lewdness, not in strife and envy; but put on the 
Lord Jesus Christ, and make no provision for the flesh, to fulfill its lusts." No further would 
I read, nor did I need to. For instantly at the end of this sentence, it seemed as if a light of 
serenity infused into my heart and all the darkness of doubt vanished away.  

 
St. Paul’s message of the resurrection of Jesus Christ reveals the way of changed lives. It is still the great 
message of hope we can bring to our exclusivist secular culture even though it resists. Such rejection 
happened to St. Paul. At Mars Hill, we learn, “Now when they heard of the resurrection of the dead some 
mocked” while others said, “we will hear you again about this” (Acts 17:32). The Holy Spirit cannot be 
“cancelled” by human rejection. God was on the move as He always is with the proclamation of the 
complete Gospel. He can penetrate any closed world of exclusive secularism. It can happen again today in 
our resistant culture. Yet in the face of a challenging culture, it will not take place by dumbing down 
Christianity. We can only see true converts with what the apostle calls repentant faith. 
 

6. God is Always Greater by His Call to Repentant Faith 
 
Sixthly, I exhort us to call all people to a repentant faith by the God who is always greater. St. Paul says, 
“The times of ignorance God overlooked, but now he commands all people everywhere to repent” (Acts 
17:30). We’re also told at the end of his sermon, “But some men joined him and believed” (Acts 17:34). 
Faith was not disconnected from repentance. The Gospels and the New Testament connect the two. John 
the Baptist and Jesus Christ both said, “Repent for the Kingdom of heaven is at hand.” On many occasions 
they also said, “Believe.” The words “repent and believe” are interchangeable as one includes the other. 
True Biblical faith consists of repentance. It is more than changing the mind. Repentance is a “decision of 
the whole man to turn around” (New International Dictionary of New Testament Theology, Vol 1, p. 358). 
Patrick Morley says in his book, I Surrender, that to “add Christ to our lives, but not subtract sin . . . is 
[the false notion of] a change in belief without a change in behavior." St. Paul’s letters to the churches in 
the New Testament bears out the connection between faith and virtue. In nearly, every epistle the first 
half is about issues of faith. The second half always turns to moral behavior. His message is that there is 
no true confession of faith without change in character. Dietrich Bonhoeffer, the Lutheran pastor and 



 
Presiding Bishop Exhortation  1G - 15 

scholar martyred for his faith in World War II, said, “Cheap grace is the preaching of forgiveness without 
requiring repentance, baptism without church discipline, Communion without confession, [and] 
absolution without personal confession.” Cheap grace without repentance explains why the statistics of 
behavior inside the Church are not measurably different from those in society today. Jesus expressed the 
path of repentant faith: “Small is the gate and narrow is the way that leads to life.” He adds, “Few enter 
by it” (Matthew 7:14). We deceive ourselves if we think that God grants exceeding grace while demanding 
little obedience. Jesus preceded His statement with, “wide is the gate and broad is the way that leads to 
destruction, and many enter by it” (v. 13). Only a “few” with true repentant faith responded to St. Paul’s 
sermon. They became part of a holy remnant. 
 

7. God Is Always Greater by Reaching the World Through a Holy Remnant 
 
Finally, St. Paul’s Gospel message of God is always greater exhorts us to adopt his holy remnant approach 
to growing the Church. We read in our text that, “some men joined him and believed, among whom also 
were Dionysius the Areopagite and a woman named Damaris and others with them” (Acts 17:34). Note 
that our passage says, “some” followed St. Paul. The apostle’s model in building God’s Kingdom was not 
based on crowds, the so called “big church.” Yet, that doesn’t necessarily mean big is bad. The Book of Acts 
tells us there were over three thousand in the Church in Jerusalem, but even this three thousand was a 
remnant. The remnant response was much smaller when the Gospel spread into the exclusive secularist, 
more hostile environment of the Roman Empire. Whether big or small, the Biblical principle is to reach 
the masses through a holy remnant. It’s not vice versa. Even when the Gospel is preached to the masses, 
it still only comes about by finding the holy remnant, and then discipling them to reach the world. This 
is what St. Paul did.  
 
The important 20th century Anglican monk and writer on spirituality, Martin Thornton, develops how 
church growth begins by finding and building up the holy remnant within each congregation. He contrasts 
the holy remnant model with what he called, “multitudinarianism.” He observed, “The trouble with the 
multitudinist congregation is that it consists of one fairly strong man struggling with hundreds of 
paralytics. The strongest priest can do nothing without the Remnant. You cannot carry a stretcher by 
yourself.” So, we too should have the same strategy for cultivating a holy remnant in our parishes. Some 
call it discipleship. Thornton also speaks of St. Benedict’s ancient model of establishing the regula, the 
rule, as the foundation for cultivating a holy remnant. The rule of faith consists of the Daily Office of 
Morning and Evening Prayer, private Bible study and devotion, and weekly communion. Archbishop 
Thomas Cranmer embedded this model of spirituality in the Book of Common Prayer. These offices begin 
the prayer book. Peter Adam in his concise but insightful book, Living the Trinity, explains how all three 
offices form a balanced Trinitarian life. The Daily Offices emphasize the transcendence of God the Father. 
Holy Communion offers the Son, Jesus Christ. Private devotion renews us daily with the Holy Spirit. It is 
by entering the full life of the Blessed Trinity that the Holy Remnant is shaped into a vital witness for the 
Gospel from less to more. The masses are reached through a holy remnant properly formed in the parish 
church. As the early church fathers and the reformers said, “If you will not have the Church as your 
mother, you cannot have God as your Father.” 
 

Conclusion 
 
My brothers and sisters, I have offered us good news following the wisdom of Luther’s words, “fight where 
the world and the devil are at that moment attacking.” Remember that the Church has been at a “moment” 
of exclusive secularism before. St. Paul preached the complete Gospel to his secular world. His model was 
followed in the first three centuries of Christianity. Church fathers returned to the Scriptures as they 
stood on the shoulders of earlier saints. Over a millennium later our English Reformers adopted the motto 



 
Presiding Bishop Exhortation  1G - 16 

ad fontes, “back to the sources,” to address 16th century problems. They returned to the Scriptures and 
the early church fathers. The same sources are equally relevant for our day on our different battlefields.  
 
Other good news is that there remains a holy remnant of God’s people to stand together to contest the 
closed world culture with the complete Gospel. The REC is still part of this holy remnant thanks be to 
God. But we are not the only ones. There are other baptized believers who in that wonderful expression 
of Bishop Cummins’ catholicity, “love our Divine Lord and Savior Jesus Christ.” We allow them to 
commune with us and we with them at the Lord’s Table. Yet, for the first time in our history, we have 
been able since 2009 to extend even more deeply this catholicity into our own Anglican family of the 
Anglican Church in North America and the Global South; catholicity begins at home. Now more than ever 
since the Church tragically split East and West in A.D. 1054, all true believers must stand together to the 
greatest extent Biblically possible. We must strive to be one as the Undivided Church once was. Christ’s 
prayer for unity is not yet fulfilled. Nevertheless, the holy remnant spread across its divisions must bear 
witness together in Christ. No one denomination by itself can penetrate an exclusivist culture like ours 
with the Gospel. It will take the whole Catholic Church. As Jesus prays for His people to be “one,” He adds, 
“that the world might believe” (John 17:21). 
 
The REC has by God’s grace remained devoted to the Lord Jesus Christ, the unchangeable Holy Scriptures, 
and the Great Tradition of the ancient Church in the Anglican Way. We must always with God’s help keep 
these loyalties. But we can only continue down this old path by going out into the world of exclusive 
secularism to preach Christ crucified by evangelizing with the complete Gospel. We must recover the 
missional charism of Anglicanism. Great evangelistic movements for two thousand years have come out 
of the Anglican Way from the early Celts in Briton to the missionary movements of the last 200 years. We 
must rediscover this missional DNA by heeding the Gospel compulsion deep within us. This will include 
planting churches and raising up new converts more than ever before. Restoring this mission vision 
obligates us to catechize new converts young and old in the Word and Sacrament of the Faith Once 
Delivered. We will need to train up our children in the way that they should go by building new Christian 
schools and even colleges to equip youth with a thorough Christian worldview. We will have to expand 
our theological institutions to equip the next generations of faithful clergy. Early Christians in this 
country did it before by building all levels of learning committed to the Lord and His Word. It can happen 
again. But it will only take place when generations in Christ are determined and fully equipped to take 
every thought captive in and by Him. 
 
The ultimate good news is, as the Medieval theologian said, our “God is always greater.” In the words of 
that echoing line from Handel’s Messiah, “And He shall reign forever and ever; forever, and ever and ever 
and ever. Hallelujah!” Amen! 
 
The Most Rev. Ray R. Sutton 
Presiding Bishop 
 



Business Session #2 
Wednesday – June 7 
4:30pm to 5:15pm 
Carolina Ballroom 

 

What to Expect: 

A. REC100 (2A) – Canon Grote will orally present the National Canon Missioner’s report, also 
inviting Canon Tony Melton and Fr. Tony Welty for a few words.  

Motion to receive the report. 

B. Adjourn for the Day  (5:15pm) – Everyone must take their stuff and leave the ballroom so 
the staff can set up for the banquet dinner.  
 

Banquet Dinner  
6:30pm – reception time & cash bar outside of the ballroom 
7:00pm – doors open to ballroom and Dinner is served 
8:00pm – Special Diocese of the Southeast presentation 

 

 

 

  





 
REC100 Canon Missioner  2A - 1 

REC100 Canon Missioner 
 

According to the grace of God given to me, like a skilled master builder I laid a foundation, 
and someone else is building upon it. Let each one take care how he builds upon it.   

(1 Cor. 3:10-11) 
 
Brethren,  
 
I am not one who can simply offer a report of this nature with bullet points and highlights. I can do that 
for many of the financial reports I generate. Yet, when it comes to this special occasion of our 150th 
anniversary, and the work and ministry of growing the Reformed Episcopal Church through REC100, I 
tend to put on my pastoral hat and write as I would a sermon, with that verse of St. Paul in my mind.  
 
As this is a council of special history and remembrance, it is appropriate that I share a memory of nearly 
40 years ago. I believe it was 1986, perhaps 1987, such that I was in middle school. My family ventured 
from our home in New Jersey across the whole of the nation to California. I don’t remember much of the 
trip, but out of all the vacation type activities we did, the one part that I can remember was visiting a 
church.  
 
I remember it being this beautiful sanctuary, much like the Cathedral of St. Luke & St. Paul wherein we 
worshipped this morning. It had a balcony which stretched above and around the sides and back of the 
nave. What stood out to me most, though, was the elevated pulpit – the kind where the minister had to 
walk up steps in order to preach. And that Sunday, my father, Bishop Grote, would be the one to climb 
those steps. To an eleven or twelve-year old, that was something special!   
 
I don’t remember which parish it was that rented the sanctuary, but I do know that it was one of the first 
Reformed Episcopal parishes in California that began in the 1980’s. That was the actual reason we were 
in California. Bishop Grote was making a visit, working on the future planning of the Reformed Episcopal 
Church under what was called the Special Jurisdiction of North America.  
 
At the time, he was serving as the President of what used to be called, the Board of National Church 
Extension (BNCE). Some of you here may have served on that Board with him (hint: Joan Workowski). If 
you are unaware as to the history, it was the expansion and growth of the BNCE and the Special 
Jurisdiction of North America that would eventually lead to Bishop Grote moving our family to Texas in 
1991, to officially form what has now become known as the Diocese of Mid-America.   
 
I went back to the Journals and noted the BNCE report to the General Council in 1990. Therein Bishop 
Grote wrote, “As of February this year [1990], the membership of the Special Jurisdiction now totals 
nearly four hundred people. The young children under age 13 in the jurisdiction number more than 130 
and are not included in the above figures.” If you look at the state of the church report this year, the 
Diocese of Mid-America now numbers over 2500 members, even after having some of our original 
parishes enter the Diocese of the Central States when that was established.  
 
That same journal of 1990 contains the state of the church report, which stated that as of 12/31/1989 
the triennium had a net gain of 99 communicant members and that it was, quote, ”our first net gain for a 
triennium since the triennium that ended May, 1957”.  
  
Think about that for just a moment. For 32 years, the Reformed Episcopal Church did not have a net 
growth of at least one member. Mission took a back seat to preservation. And, as usually happens in such 



 
REC100 Canon Missioner  2A - 2 

cases, the grass begins to wither and the flower begins to fade! Or as our Lord’s Parable of the Talents 
teaches, when you bury the single talent in fear so as to preserve it, it will certainly be taken away from 
you and given to another (Matt. 25:14ff). May such words not be said of us! Amen! 
 
But then a vision and intentional structure was put into place that restored the mission-mindedness of 
our original founders. And that didn’t result in growth of just 99 members, but to over 400, to over 2500 
new REC members in the next 32 years (albeit and admittedly, not ‘net growth’). What was 79 parishes 
in 1987 is now 119 parishes in 2023, despite many parishes closing or leaving during that same period.  
  
Both Canon John Boonzaaijer, current President of the Board of Foreign Missions, and I often use this 
quote. 
 

“It is our conviction that mission should be at the center of everything we are and do in the 
Reformed Episcopal Church. Every Reformed Episcopalian should be a missionary. Each parish 
should be a mission station. All committees at the parish, diocesan, and national levels should 
factor mission into the center of their business first and foremost. Mission should be the heart 
of every aspect of the Reformed Episcopal Church.” (Bishop Grote) 

 
I speak these things to stress the vision of the whole of the Reformed Episcopal Church for the past 35 
years. And as our predecessors built upon the vision and mission of our founding REC fathers, so we now 
build upon what that which they have laid for us.  
 
As Elisha did with Elijah, Bishop Sutton took the mantle of his predecessor and continues to direct and 
guide us with that same mission-centric purpose – seeking not just a broader communion with other 
jurisdictions within Christendom, but in planting and receiving new Reformed Episcopal Churches, such 
that we can raise up disciples in the great Tradition of the Anglican Way.    
 
Hence the birth of REC100 – a plan and vision to grow the Reformed Episcopal Church, supported by an 
annual Lenten offering of $100 per adult. This is what Bishop Sutton introduced to us at General Council 
2017. And despite the challenges of the pandemic, the Lord has blessed us. In terms of mere numbers of 
parishes, it might not seem that much growth has occurred since 2017. We are only a few more in total 
number than we were then. However, numbers on a spreadsheet can be deceiving since some withered 
limbs have been pruned from the tree, even as we sprout new ones.  
 
In the Lenten Offering brochure distributed a few months ago, I indicated that since the inception of 
REC100, our new Reformed Episcopal plants, missions, and parishes have regularly influenced more than 
1000 new souls with their ministries. They may not all be members yet, but it does mean that the REC 
has significantly increased its overall witness, even with half of the five years being during a pandemic.  
 
I said to my own congregation in my Lenten offering announcements that $100 may not seem like a lot 
towards the costs of planting a church. But when each of our individual $100 is put together with 
everyone else’s, the impact is amazing. In total, we have raised over $500,000 in Lenten offerings (2018-
2022) and received more than $250,000 in special donations. Over $325,000 has been committed in 
support grants to plants and planters. We have over 20 new REC parishes and plants in the works, with 
3 of those being our first Spanish-speaking REC plants in the continental United States in our 150-year 
history (that I’m aware of). A potential fourth is even on the horizon. I won’t mention them now, but a 
full listing is attached at the end of this report.  
 



 
REC100 Canon Missioner  2A - 3 

As we continue to grow, we are facing the reality that better support structures and intentional planning 
for growth are necessary. We are now walking alongside our brethren in the Anglican Church in North 
America, as we participate in certain aspects of Always Forward (which is the church planting arm of the 
ACNA). Always Forward has a structure in place for the assessment, training, and coaching of potential 
and new church planters. Our Canons are now establishing relationships with their Diocesan Canons for 
Church Planting to collaborate and support one another. While the Reformed Episcopal Church has 
certain distinctives and values which we will maintain, there are many valuable tools and resources that 
we can glean from the wisdom of our brothers and sisters in Always Forward.  
 
I also communicated to our Bishops that we must start to think strategically towards church planting 
rather than functioning from a reactionary position. By that I mean, we mustn’t simply wait for someone, 
anyone, to say “It sure would be nice if you plant a church in this area”.  That sometimes works out. 
However, more times than not, the effort and financial resources expended chasing such leads do not end 
with a successful plant. We must transition to a strategic plan of growth where our leadership identifies 
key geographic areas in which to plant, establishes internal structures which develop more church 
planters, and equips existing parishes that can help provide ‘motherly’ support to a new plant – something 
Bishop Grote referred to as a mission station.   
 
A mission station is one that helps train planters to do the work of church planting. As an example, this 
past year, Christ the King offered the first official ‘church planter residency’ for REC100. This was an 
opportunity for Fr. Jesse Barkalow and his family to spend four months under the direction of Canon 
Tony Melton in Georgia. While learning from Canon Tony, Fr. Jesse was developing and leading a new 
group of individuals in Colorado Springs. When Fr. Jesse returned to Colorado Springs, he already had a 
group of committed people, with the tools and structure in place to begin the ‘launch’ process. Holy Cross 
Oratory will now be chartered as a mission in August, with over 50 people already! 
 
Surely, there is not one single model for church planting which must always be followed. Methods and 
means can vary. However, having certain structures in place will greatly aid in the work, ministry, and 
growth of the Reformed Episcopal Church.  
 
We also realized this triennium that we must have a separated focus on the two-sided coin that Bishop 
Sutton mentioned in his 2017 address. If you recall, he said that we must not only plant churches, but we 
must revitalize churches – and that revitalized churches will result in the planting of churches. 
 
For this reason, we had Canon Mark Eldredge join us at our previous Zoom General Council. Canon Mark 
led teaching sessions centered around revitalization. Some of you are now reaping the fruits of those 
labors. You have brought Canon Mark into your parishes to provide parish-level training and assessment. 
As you’ll hear in a minute, Fr. Tony Welty has been leading a revitalization cohort for several of our 
pastors – something for which Canon Mark helped train us. Some of our parishes are now using Canon 
Mark’s book, Revive: Bringing Health, Vitality, and Growth Back into Your Church, in parish studies and with 
vestries.  
 
While Church Planting and Church Revitalization overlap in many ways and feed each other, they are two 
distinct things requiring separate gifts, tools, and resources. To that end, we will begin enhancing our 
efforts at providing better support for each area.   
 
Before I close, I want to allow Canon Tony and Fr. Tony to say a few words about their ministry in leading 
each of these two areas for REC100. Canon Tony is our church planter in Marietta, GA and now a Canon 



 
REC100 Canon Missioner  2A - 4 

for Church Planting in the Southeast. Fr. Tony is the rector of All Saints in Shreveport, LA, who has been 
doing the work of revitalization in his parish and leading the cohort for revitalization.  
 

[Fr. Tony & Canon Tony] 
 
CLOSING –  
 
Beloved, I close my report by saying that I am a second-generation Reformed Episcopalian. My daughter 
is here with me this week. She is a third-generation Reformed Episcopalian. We are not unique in this 
regard. Dss. Barbara West, who helped direct Four Brooks Bible Camp when I was a young child, told me 
she is a third generation Reformed Episcopalian. And some of you, especially from the Northeast and the 
Southeast, may be fourth, fifth, or even sixth generation Reformed Episcopalians.  
 
That is the joy of something like a 150th anniversary celebration. But it is not just a celebration of time. It 
is a celebration of passing on the Tradition of the Faith once Delivered, from generation to generation to 
generation.  
 
Bishop Cummins stated in his circular letter of November 13, 1873, a call to “Restore the Old Paths”.  And 
now 150 years later and many generations later, we say on our special anniversary logo – “Continuing the 
old Paths”.  
 
This is what runs through my mind as I think about REC100 and the mission of the Reformed Episcopal 
Church. That which was started long before this past triennium or two, is built on the work of the Board 
of National Church Extension before us, which was built on the missionary call and work of the founders 
of the Reformed Episcopal Church, extending back in our ancestry even to the original missionary call of 
Jesus Christ – “Go and baptize all nations… teaching them to observe whatsoever things I have 
commanded you”. 
 
It is not new – it is a continuation. It is a further building up of this branch of Christ’s church upon their 
foundation, such that the next generation after us may worship and rejoice in it, and may build it even 
more.  
 
My final words echo again the words of my father. He wrote in the same report I quoted earlier these 
words:  
 
“We believe that we are standing on the brink of the most outstanding growth our Church has experienced 
in this century”.  
 
May we say the same words today. But even more importantly, may those words be proclaimed 
generation, after generation, after generation.  
 
In His Name, 
 

 
The Very Rev. Canon Jason R. Grote 
REC100 National Canon Missioner 
  



 
REC100 Canon Missioner  2A - 5 

Here is a listing of the growth of the Reformed Episcopal Church (and I may be missing two or three that 
I did not have involvement with – please forgive me in such cases).  
 
Plants, Replants, Missions, and new REC parishes since 2017  

1. Anglican Church of the Epiphany – La Mirada, CA 
2. *Christ the King – Covington, LA 
3. Christ the King – Grover Beach, CA 
4. *Christ the King – Marietta, GA 
5. Covenant Church – Greenville, MI 
6. *Emmanuel Anglican – Spartanburg, SC 
7. *Good Shepherd (name change coming soon) – Colorado Springs, CO 
8. Good Shepherd – Harrisburg, PA 
9. *Holy Cross – Amelia, VA 
10. *Holy Cross – Colorado Springs, CO 
11. *Iglesia Holy Communion – Dallas, TX 
12. *Iglesia San Matias – Katy, TX 
13. Iglesia Santa Cruz – Dallas, TX 
14. St. Andrew’s – Glendale, AZ 
15. *St. Barnabas – Lansing, MI 
16. *St. Benedict’s – Rockwall, TX 
17. St. Mark the Evangelist – Waxahachie, TX 
18. *St. Mark’s on the Plain – Canyon, TX 
19. *Trinity Church – Connersville, IN 

 
In addition, we are currently working on the planting of these new plants: 

20. *Johnson City, TN – currently gathering and looking for a planter 
21. *Canton, GA – plans to launch later this year  
22. *Marietta, GA – potential Spanish speaking plant 

 
The asterisks denote those which are plants from scratch – 15 in total that have been or are 
about to be planted.  
 
In addition to the above, two efforts at planting were not successful in Oregon and Maryland (which is ok 
– it happens!). We also vetted opportunities to plant in Branson (Missouri), Manhattan (Kansas), and 
Little Rock (Arkansas). Nothing was able to come from those efforts.  
 
 
 





Business Session #3 
ursday – June 8 
1:30pm to 3:00pm 
Carolina Ballroom 

 

What to Expect: 

Call to Order– 1:30pm sharp 

A. Board of Foreign Missions (3A). Canon Boonzaaijer, BFM President, will summarize his 
report and welcome a special video history presentation and other foreign guests.  

Motion to receive the BFM report. 

B. Board of Foreign Missions (3B) – Canon Grote, BFM Treasurer, will not read the report but 
will afford opportunity for questions regarding his written summary and financial 
statements.  

Motion to receive the BFM Treasurer’s Report.  

C. Committee on Women’s Ministry (3C & 3D) – Mrs. Gale Hill, President of the Committee, 
will summarize her report and note any remarks concerning the Women’s Day luncheon held 
on Wednesday.  

Motion to receive both the President’s and the Treasurer’s reports, as a whole.  

E. Order of Deaconess – (3E) –Canon Dss. Annette will present her report highlighting a 
recommendation for the Council’s adoption. 

Motion to receive the report and adopt the recommendation contained therein. 

F. Christian Education/Anglican School Association – (3F) – Bishop Banek and Canon 
Boonzaaijer will briefly summarize their reports.  

Motion to receive the report.  

G. Young People’s Work (3G) – Bishop Hill, chairman of the Committee, will offer his report. 
Motion to receive the report. 

H. Break (3:00pm -3:15pm) 

 

  





REPORT TO THE 57th GENERAL COUNCIL 

June, 2023

Dear Brothers and Sisters, 

While the effects of COVID were extremely fruitful for many small, sacramental 
churches—due to ultimate questions of faith, discipleship, and practice—they were 
equally difficult for our friends in lands with fewer resources and greater government 
control. Each of the REC foreign mission works, however, became creative in mission, 
ministered to those in need, and faced their challenges with fortitude and prudence, 
along with faith, hope, and love.

The Board of Foreign Missions is all about planting, building, and restoring the 
Church itself, as it seeks to re-evanglize the West. She also does so through individual 
missionary efforts: Bishop and Grace Meyer, Germany; Fr David and Patricia Ayres, 
Germany; Bishop Jasmin Milić, Croatia; Dr. and Traci Gresser, Malawi; Fr Enrique 
Melchor, Hispanic Missions and Cuba. Retired missionary Diane Jordan also remains 
active in Francophone teaching ministry around the world. 

Amongst others, some noteworthy achievements of the Board of Foreign 
Missions since last General Council include:

• A Joint REC/ANiC Cuba Committee has been formed, chaired by the Right Reverend 
Walter Banek, to oversee the Reformed Episcopal Missionary Diocese of Cuba. Relief 
and oversight travel to Cuba have now resumed, and provision for its $99,000 budget 
is currently being met, together with our Canadian partners, but requires higher 
giving should it be sustained beyond this year.

• A partnership between the Anglican Council in Malawi, the Diocese of Fort Worth, 
and the Reformed Episcopal Church was secured, resulting in the sending of The 
Rev’d Dr. Robert Gresser to become the organizing Ph.D. at the Leonard Kamungu 
Theological College in Zomba, Malawi. The partnership will service several southern 
and central African jurisdictions with accredited, biblical, and strategic ministerial 
formation. Matching scholarships are currently funded through REC-BFM gifts, with 
a goal of graduating 120 orthodox priests over the next ten years.

------------------------------------------------ 
Board of Foreign Missions - President

----------------------------------------------------------- 
3A - 1



• The Board of Foreign Missions’ “Donation Page” now sponsors repeating gifts to each
individual missionary, foreign diocese, and ministry project sponsored by the Board
of Foreign Missions.

• A choir of Anglican School Association students sang for The Free Church of England
General Convocation, furthering ties and friendship between the churches and their
members, and providing additional opportunity for their youth to join our own at the
2023 Summer Youth Camps, Young Adult Cultural Literacy Retreat, and Church Planter
Cohort Intensive.

• The Anglikanische Kirche in Deutschland (Reformed Episcopal Church in Germany)
is functioning as a missionary convocation, is hosting the initial REC100-Europe
activities this summer, is seeking wisdom to acquire the Knüll Camp the Meyers have
maintained for decades, and has posted a Job
Description, seeking a qualified replacement as Camp
Director.

• A board for the European Anglican Theological Schools
(EATS), serving Reformed Episcopal ministerial
formation in Germany/Holland, Croatia/Serbia, The 
Free Church of England now meets quarterly for 
regional seminary development in Europe and the 
UK.

• Advent Offerings have purchased needed food and
fuel in Cuba, provided seminary and new mission
support to each foreign diocese, paved the way for
the Gressers to move to Malawi, and funded the
presence of our missionaries, foreign bishops, and
visitors at General Council. Thank you!

• The Reformed Episcopal Missionary Diocese of
Croatia has initiated new missions—both in the
country and its surrounding regions. It has also
appointed a theological canon, the Rev’d Almir
Pehlić, for its Michael Starin Seminary.

Planting, Building, and
Restoring the Church

and 
its Ministry 

in 

Croatia
Cuba

Germany
United Kingdom

(Free Church of England)

and beyond.

Board of Foreign Missions
Supporting Reformed Episcopalians 

in Ministry Abroad

------------------------------------------------ 
Board of Foreign Missions - President

----------------------------------------------------------- 
3A - 2



• The Cycle of Prayer is published twice per year, is accessible through the website, and
is now prayed through in many of our parishes, allowing our Church to pray with
one voice for specific works and their needs each week of the year.

• More parishes are enjoying inter-parish friendships within North America and jointly
with a foreign REC parish through the ministry of Circles of Three.

• During BFM presentations at annual diocesan synods more parishes have embraced
becoming a “sending parish” through assigning a lay missions delegate, sponsoring
the BFM General Fund with at least $500 per year, and signing up for monthly
support of at least two ministry projects, missionaries, or dioceses.

• REC100-Europe was launched to empower church planting and enrich parish and
personal relationships for the re-evangelization of Europe.

• The Reformed Episcopal Church, a member of the Anglican Global Mission Partners,
meets with its partners twice per year, and again presented a workshop at the last
triennial international missions conference, New Wineskins.

• The BFM is exploring ways better to serve the specific needs of Missionary Dioceses
—which lack the sufficient numbers and internal financial support to survive on their
own.

Ways everyone can remain fruitfully involved for the increased health of their own 
parish and the extension of the Kingdom:

• Sign up for automatic electronic news from www.rec-bfm.org.

• Sponsor several projects on a monthly basis.

• Budget for both annual General Fund and monthly missionary support.

• Choose a Short-Term Missions Project or Team to engage.

• Host a Missions Sunday.

• Become a Sending Parish, pray the Cycle of Prayer, and launch a Circle of Three.

• Designate a portion of your website and your parish hall Bulletin Board for the BFM.

• Remind parishioners they can also support missions individually.

------------------------------------------------ 
Board of Foreign Missions - President

----------------------------------------------------------- 
3A - 3

http://www.rec-bfm.org


Each of these Reformed Episcopal ministries is needed and fruitful. Current 
giving is not able to sustain all mission efforts and missionary needs, but if every parish 
and its members chips in, The Reformed Episcopal Church will be able to sustain all 
these ministries, plus more. Praise be to God for 150 years of sustained missions 
ministry!

Respectfully submitted,
The Rev’d Canon John Peter Boonzaaijer
BFM President, and Canon to the Presiding Bishop for Foreign Missions

------------------------------------------------ 
Board of Foreign Missions - President

----------------------------------------------------------- 
3A - 4



Notes & Highlights 
To accompany the 2021-2022 Financial Reports 
The Board of Foreign Missions of the Reformed Episcopal Church 

There are 3 pages to consider with the financial statements. These notes apply to the first 2 reports as 
the 3rd page (Fund Balance Report)  should be self-explanatory. 

Due to the postponement of General Council 2020 into 2021, this report reflects on the ac�vi�es of 
Calendar years 2021 and 2022 since 2020 was reported at the last General Council.  

1) Statement of Financial Posi�on

This is, basically, a Balance Sheet which shows our assets, liabili�es, and any restricted funds we
are holding for missionaries, projects, etc. The remaining balance (Total assets less any liabili�es
and restricted funds) equals our unrestricted net assets. A summary of the report is as follows.

Total Assets (line 6) – Currently, at the end of 2022, we have $633,185.78 in total assets (line 6).
Approximately $218,000 of that is held in cash (lines 3 & 5) and $415,454.76 of it is invested with
Goldman Sachs.

Restricted Assets (lines 16-45) – These are the balances of each mission “fund”. Dona�ons are
received with a specific intent (i.e., “earmarked”) and the board endeavors to use 100% of those
funds in accordance with that intent without any administra�ve fees deducted. This balance will
change every year based on the �ming and manner in which we receive and disburse the
monies. To see what impacted the changes in balance, you would look at the final page of the
financial packet regarding the Fund Balances. We must ensure that we always have enough
cash/cash- equivalent assets available to pay these balances. Currently, at the end of 2022, we
have $270,439.68 in restricted assets.

Unrestricted Net Assets (line 50)- This is usually what parishes refer to as their ‘General Fund’. In
every day terms – this would be your final bank balance a�er you have paid off all your other
bills. For us, it is the total of all the assets less any liabili�es we owe (line 14) and any restricted
assets we have (line 45). The Board can determine how and when to use these funds as it deems
best. Currently, at the end of 2022, we have $361,846.10 in unrestricted net assets (line 50).

2) Statement of Ac�vi�es
The second page of the report is the Statement of Ac�vi�es. This is, essen�ally, an income 
statement. In a non-profit structure, the terms revenue and expenditures are used. Revenues are 
all the receipts of dona�ons, investment income, etc. Expenditures are split into two main 
categories. Program Services are those items which directly support the purpose and mission of 
the Board’s existence. This would be all of our mission projects, missionaries, etc. The second 
category are called Opera�onal Expenses. These are expenses that, while necessary to func�on, 
are not directly suppor�ng our mission and purpose. They’re o�en called “overhead expenses”. 
The goal of any non-profit is to have a high percentage of revenue suppor�ng their “Program 
Services” and a low-percentage suppor�ng “Opera�onal Expenses”, which we certainly do. 

Revenue (lines 1-12) – We have two main sources of revenue: Dona�ons and Investment 
Income. Our total dona�ons during 2021 & 2022 were $392,449.89 (line 5). Our total investment 

------------------------------------------------------------ 
Board of Foreign Missions - Treasurer

---------------------------------------------- 
3B- 1



revenue (which includes unrealized gains) during the same period was a decrease of $33,413.73 
(line 10). This is primarily due to the great downturn in the market during 2022. We are not 
withdrawing any invested principle to operate. This means we can ‘wait it out’ un�l market 
regains. We have restructured based on the recommenda�ons of Goldman Sachs.  

 
Expenditures (lines 14-35) - During the two years of 2021 and 2022, we disbursed $260,714.66  
in monies  to  our  Program  Services (line 18). Approximately $256,000 of that were restricted 
assets (dona�ons received with earmarks) (see line 17). In addi�on, we disbursed $4,481.34 of 
addi�onal unrestricted General Funds towards our Program Services (line 16).  

 
Our total Opera�onal expenses (line 33) were kept to a minimum at just over $64,674.18 for the 
two-year period, averaging about $32,000 per year. 
 

3) Botom Line 
 
The total change to our Unrestricted Net Assets (of the ‘Profit/Loss’ in a business world) for the 
two-year period was a decrease of $5,826.96 (line 42). This means that our “general fund” 
decreased by that amount. It is noted that the primary reason for the decrease in the general 
fund is due to the decrease in the market value of our investments (line 10). Had the market 
value remained even, neither losing nor gaining, then our general fund would have actually 
increased by approximately $28,000.  
 

 
 

------------------------------------------------------------ 
Board of Foreign Missions - Treasurer

---------------------------------------------- 
3B- 2



Dec 31, Dec 31,
1 ASSETS 2021 2022
2 Current Assets
3 PNC Checking $130,618.91 $201,032.51
4 Investments & Securities  (Current Market Value) $545,785.97 $415,454.76
5 Undeposited Funds at Year-End $10,038.00 $16,698.51
6 Total Current Assets $686,442.88 $633,185.78
7

8 TOTAL ASSETS $686,442.88 $633,185.78
9

10 LIABILITIES & NET ASSETS
11 Current Liabilities
12 Pass Throughs $100.00 $900.00
13 Pensions Payable $0.00 $0.00
14 Total Current Liabilities $100.00 $900.00
15

16 Temporarily Restricted Assets
17 Advent 2019 Offering $14,286.27 $14,286.27
18 Advent 2021 Offering $14,494.00 $0.00
19 Advent 2022 Offering $0.00 $21,116.00
20 Croatia
21 Christ the King Building Project $19,509.34 $19,509.34
22 Karlovac ($268.89) $5,286.73
23 Special Projects $6,231.60 $6,231.60
24 General $17,344.95 $13,803.91
25 Cuba
26 Scooter Project $11,812.00 $16,459.56
27 Seminary $0.00 $9,316.97
28 General $55,903.99 $35,675.38
29 Germany Missions
30 Berlin (David Ayres) $30,576.25 $7,651.25
31 General $11,284.15 $15,879.15
32

33 Gresser, Robert $15,065.05 $17,858.08
34 Melchor, Enrique $8,086.72 $15,159.84
35 Wright, Greg $1,300.00 $2,150.00
36

37 Short-Term:Croatia $1,000.00 $1,000.00
38 Short-Term:Nepal/Singapore Missions $850.73 $0.00
39

40 Foreign Scholarship Fund $0.00 $10,850.73
41 Mission Education & Training $10,145.87 $2,326.26
42 Eliza Dean Fund (unrestricted for missions) $65,228.61 $55,228.61
43 Other $0.00 $0.00
44 Memorials $650.00 $650.00
45 Total Temporarily Restricted Assets $283,500.64 $270,439.68
46

47 Unrestricted Net Assets (General Fund)

48 Prior Balance $367,673.06 $402,842.24
49 Current Year Change $35,169.18 ($40,996.14)
50 Total Unrestricted Net Assets $402,842.24 $361,846.10
51

52 TOTAL LIABILITIES & NET ASSETS $686,442.88 $633,185.78

The Board of Foreign Missions
Statement of Financial Position

Calendar Years 2021 - 2022

------------------------------------------------------------ 
Board of Foreign Missions - Treasurer

---------------------------------------------- 
3B- 3



Dec. 31, Dec 31, TOTAL
2021 2022 2021 - 2022

1 REVENUE
2 Contributions
3 General Fund Donations $39,716.55 $57,025.74 $96,742.29
4 Designated for Projects & Missions $141,227.90 $154,479.70 $295,707.60
5 Total Contributions $180,944.45 $211,505.44 $392,449.89
6

7 Investment Revenue
8 Investment Income (Dividends, Cap Gains, Realized) $8,914.47 $14,263.12 $23,177.59
9 Unrealized Gain (Loss) on Investments $20,103.01 ($76,694.33) ($56,591.32)

10 Total Investment Revenue $29,017.48 ($62,431.21) ($33,413.73)
11

12 TOTAL REVENUES $209,961.93 $149,074.23 $359,036.16
13

14 EXPENDITURES
15 Program Services
16 General Funds used for Program Svcs $0.00 $4,481.34 $4,481.34
17 Rest. Funds paid out in support $88,692.66 $167,540.66 $256,233.32
18 Total Program Services $88,692.66 $172,022.00 $260,714.66
19

20 Operational Expenses
21 Accounting $5,005.49 $5,005.85 $10,011.34
22 Administrative Honorarium $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
23 Advertising & Promotion $5,546.46 $0.00 $5,546.46
24 Bank & CC Fees $1,691.26 $1,536.89 $3,228.15
25 BFM Canon Missioner - Honorarium $15,000.00 $15,000.00 $30,000.00
26 BFM Canon Missioner - Travel Expenses $4,855.29 $8,464.39 $13,319.68
27 Dues & Subscriptions $0.00 $195.00 $195.00
28 Gifts $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
29 Miscellaneous $59.67 $0.00 $59.67
30 Office Supplies & Expense $750.00 $750.00 $1,500.00
31 Travel & Meeting Expense $112.28 $157.20 $269.48
32 Website Administration $544.40 $0.00 $544.40
33 Total Operational Expenses $33,564.85 $31,109.33 $64,674.18
34

35 TOTAL EXPENDITURES $122,257.51 $203,131.33 $325,388.84
36
37 Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets (Restricted & Unrestricted) $87,704.42 ($54,057.10) $33,647.32
38

39 Increase/ Decrease in Temporary Restricted Asset Balance $52,535.24 ($13,060.96) $39,474.28
40 This is the amount that we used from previous year fund balances (if negative) or the amount we put into funds balances for future use (if positive)

41
42 Increase (Decrease) in UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS $35,169.18 ($40,996.14) ($5,826.96)

This is the amount our General Fund changed by. Note the decrease is directly due to the market performance in 2022 (line 9).

The Board of Foreign Missions
Statement of Activities

Calendar Years 2020 - 2021

------------------------------------------------------------ 
Board of Foreign Missions - Treasurer

---------------------------------------------- 
3B- 4



Beginning

1

Fund Balance
Dec. 31, 2020

2 Advent 2019 Offering $0.00 $0.00 $14,286.27 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $14,286.27
3 Advent 2021 Offering $14,494.00 $14,277.97 $0.00 $28,771.97 $0.00 $0.00 ($23,771.97) ($5,000.00) $0.00 $0.00
4 Advent 2022 Offering $0.00 $21,116.00 $0.00 $21,116.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $21,116.00 $21,116.00
5

6 Croatia:Christ the King Project $0.00 $0.00 $19,509.34 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $19,509.34
7 Croatia:Karlovac $987.54 $5,555.62 $1,592.46 $6,543.16 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 ($2,848.89) $3,694.27 $5,286.73
8 Croatia:Special Project $420.00 $0.00 $9,811.60 $420.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 ($4,000.00) ($3,580.00) $6,231.60
9 Croatia:General $9,169.00 $8,458.96 $21,975.95 $17,627.96 $0.00 $0.00 $5,000.00 ($30,800.00) ($8,172.04) $13,803.91

10

11 Cuba:Property Initiative $2,000.00 $0.00 $5,000.00 $2,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 ($7,000.00) ($5,000.00) $0.00
12 Cuba:Scooter Project $100.00 $10,647.56 $11,712.00 $10,747.56 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 ($6,000.00) $4,747.56 $16,459.56
13 Cuba:Seminary $0.00 $545.00 $0.00 $545.00 $0.00 $0.00 $8,771.97 $0.00 $9,316.97 $9,316.97
14 Cuba:General $61,248.03 $29,941.96 $30,269.73 $91,189.99 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 ($85,784.34) $5,405.65 $35,675.38
15

16 Germany:Berlin (Ayres) $17,014.00 $17,975.00 $13,562.25 $34,989.00 $0.00 $0.00 $5,000.00 ($45,900.00) ($5,911.00) $7,651.25
17 Germany:Wensyel $0.00 $0.00 $4,745.73 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 ($4,745.73) $0.00 ($4,745.73) $0.00
18 Germany:General $23,488.61 $22,595.00 $1,049.81 $46,083.61 $0.00 $165.30 $4,745.73 ($36,165.30) $14,829.34 $15,879.15
19

20 Colvin, Matt & Sara $0.00 $0.00 $1,625.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 ($1,625.00) $0.00 ($1,625.00) $0.00
21 Gresser, Robert & Traci $500.00 $1,970.00 $12,940.05 $2,470.00 $0.00 $4,316.04 $6,625.00 ($8,493.01) $4,918.03 $17,858.08
22 Melchor, Enrique $6,586.72 $16,736.63 $0.00 $23,323.35 $0.00 $0.00 $1,500.00 ($9,663.51) $15,159.84 $15,159.84
23 Wright, Greg $5,220.00 $4,660.00 $3,510.00 $9,880.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 ($11,240.00) ($1,360.00) $2,150.00
24

25 Short-Term: Croatia $0.00 $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,000.00
26 Short-Term: Nepal/Singapore $0.00 $0.00 $850.73 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 ($850.73) $0.00 ($850.73) $0.00
27

28 Foreign Scholarship Fund $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $10,850.73 $0.00 $10,850.73 $10,850.73
29 Mission Education & Training $0.00 $0.00 $10,145.87 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 ($7,819.61) ($7,819.61) $2,326.26
30 Eliza Dean Fund (unrestricted) $0.00 $0.00 $65,228.61 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 ($10,000.00) $0.00 ($10,000.00) $55,228.61
31 Other $0.00 $0.00 $1,500.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 ($1,500.00) $0.00 ($1,500.00) $0.00
32 Memorials $0.00 $0.00 $650.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $650.00
33

34 Total Restricted Funds $141,227.90 $154,479.70 $230,965.40 $295,707.60 $0.00 $4,481.34 ($0.00) ($260,714.66) $39,474.28 $270,439.68

Line 2 - Remains on books for 2023 General Council travel expenses as per Advent Offering intent. Additional General Fund monies were already authorized to supplement but are not expensed or included in this balance. 
Line 3 was shifted to line 9($5k), line 13($8,771.97), line 16($5k), line 21($5k)  - as per the Advent 2021 Offering Intent
Line 3 expenditure ($5k) was sent to FCE as per Advent 2021 Offering intent
Line 17 was shifted to line 18 - as per Board approval
Line 20 was shifted to line 21 - as per Board approval
Line 21 General Fund supplement was to help offset the expenses of Canon Boonzaaijer traveling to Malawi for initial visit. Advent offering of $5k was enough to cover Gresser but not enough to cover Boonzaaijer.
Line 26 was shifted to line 28 - as per Board approval
Line 29 - Expenditures were for New Wineskins pre-conference expenses 2022
Line 30 - $10,000 shifted to line 28 - as per Board approval
Line 31 was shifted to Line 22 - as per donor request

The Board of Foreign Missions
Statement of Fund Balances

For Calendar Years 2021 - 2022

Fund Name Donations
2022

General Funds
used for Missions 

(2021-2022)

Expenditures Paid
from Fund 

(2021-2022)

Redesignated/
Shifted to another 

Fund

Other Income 
(2021-2022)

Change to
 Fund Balance

(2021-2022)

Fund Balance
Dec 31, 2022

Total Donations
to Fund 

(2021-2022)

Donations
2021

------------------------------------------------------------ 
Board of Foreign Missions - Treasurer

---------------------------------------------- 
3B- 5





Triennial Report 

COMMITTEE ON WOMEN’S MINISTRY 
to 

The 57th General Council of the Reformed Episcopal Church

Phase I of the organizational meeting of the Committee on Women’s Ministry for the Triennium 

was held Thursday, July 1. 2021 by way of electronic media. 

In attendance at the meeting was Gale Hill, Chairperson of the Committee on Women’s Ministry 

along with three Diocesan Women of the Church Presidents: Gennie Verbeck from the Diocese 

of Mid-America, Denise Snyder from the Diocese of the Northeast, Mid-Atlantic and Eastern 

Canada, and Oneathia “Trella” Washington Ugochukwu from the Diocese of the Southeast.  

Phase II of the organizational meeting was held on Thursday, July 22, 2021.  Diocesan Women 

of the Church Presidents and adjunct diocesan representatives were introduced as follows:  from 

the Diocese of the Central States – Mary Bailey, Melanie Boettner, and Mary Jane Thompson; 

from the Diocese of Mid-America – Gennie Verbeck, Annette Johnson, and Kathy Wood; from 

the Diocese of the Northeast, Mid-Atlantic and Eastern Canada – Denise Snyder, Susan Higham, 

and Sarah Benner; from the Diocese of the Southeast – Oneathia “Trella” Washington 

Ugochukwu, Brenda Anderson, and Rebecca J. “Becky” Pettigrew; Deaconess representative – 

Teresa Johnson; Daughters of the Holy Cross representative – Susan Sutton.  Gale Hill chaired 

the meeting and recognized Joan Workowski as Advisor.  Annette Johnson was elected as 

devotional leader and Teresa Johnson was named as her assistant.  Newly developed Operating 

Procedures for the Reformed Episcopal Church Committee on Women’s Ministry and Protocols 

and Guidelines for organizing Reformed Episcopal Diocesan Women of the Church 

Organizations were reviewed and discussed.  

In accordance with our newly initiated operating procedures, two newly elected diocesan women 

of the church presidents joined the committee.  Succeeding Gennie Verbeck was Beth Mills and 

succeeding Oneathia “Trella” Washington Ugochukwu was Jessica Edwards. 

Kathy Wood agreed to serve as secretary for the committee.  Melanie Boettner agreed to 

succeeding Brenda Anderson’s tenure. 

Six regular meetings in October and May, two called meetings, and four sub-committee meetings 

were held during the triennium. Two subsequent meetings were held.  

Founded in 1948 by the General Council of the Reformed Episcopal Church for the purpose of 

“unifying, coordinating and stimulating the work of the Women in the Reformed Episcopal 

Church; …”, a summary of the committee’s activities during the triennium follows: 

Women’s Day Project Luncheons – Programs of spiritual and inspirational blessings 

including luncheons and the reception of monetary gifts toward a specific need within the 

denomination. 

---------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Committee on Women's Ministry - President

------------------------------------ 
3C - 1



 2 

2020 and 2021Women’s Day Project Luncheons and the Corvid 19 Coronavirus Pandemic:  

Geared up for our 2020 Women’s Day Project Offering Luncheons, the first of which was to be 

held in Dallas, TX on March 21, 2020, two scheduled to be held on April 25th and three others 

scheduled to be held on May 2nd, the committee was forced to cancel all in-person program 

gatherings because of the global Corvid 19 Coronavirus Pandemic. The 2020 Project Offering 

Goal was to raise $10,000 to assist in the purchase of five electric bikes to assist clergy in Cuba 

with transportation to their preaching stations.  Given the times of program changes/cancellations 

and financial restrictions, we were pleased to report that our goal was reached and, because of 

the great need for these bikes and the number of pastors requiring assistance in reaching their 

preaching stations, the Committee embraced the opportunity to purchase five additional bikes 

and announced the 2021 Project Offering Goal to raise $10,000 to purchase five additional 

electric bikes.   A combined two-year total of $20,647.56 was raised. 

2022 Women’s Day Project Luncheons:  The goal for this year’s project is to raise $7,500 to 

assist in reuniting Father Enrique Melchor, one of our Reformed Episcopal Priest in Cuba, with 

his family.  The 2022 program theme was “Ascending to the Heavenly Places,” and the theme 

passage was Hebrews 12:22-24 and 28 – “Ye are come unto mount Sion, and unto the city of the 

living God, the heavenly Jerusalem, and to an innumerable company of angels, To the general 

assembly and church of the firstborn, which are written in heaven, and to God the Judge of all, 

and to the spirits of just men made perfect, And to Jesus the mediator of the new covenant, and to 

the blood of sprinkling, that speaketh better things than that of Abel.  . . . Wherefore we receiving 

a kingdom which cannot be moved, let us have grace, whereby we may serve God acceptably 

with reverence and godly fear.”  

Six luncheons were held across the denomination: In the Diocese of the Central States (2), in 

the Diocese of the Northeast, Mid-Atlantic and Eastern Canada (2), in the Diocese of the 

Southeast, and in the Diocese of Mid-America. 

On Saturday, April 30, 2022, 25 persons 

representing four parishes from the North Carolina 

and Virginia areas met at Saint Jude’s Anglican 

Church in Richmond, VA, where Linda Culberth of 

the Daughters of the Holy Cross was the speaker. 

On Saturday, May 7. 

2022, 30 persons from 

Christ the King, Christ 

Our Hope, Trinity RE, 

and Trinity Anglican 

Churches were in 

attendance at a 

luncheon (decorated 

in a Hawaiian theme) 

for the Ohio, Indiana, 

Linda Culberth

Carol Herman
Diocese of the Central States Ohio, Indiana, and Kentucky areas 

2022 Women’s Day Project Offering Luncheon 
---------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Committee on Women's Ministry - President

------------------------------------ 
3C - 2



 3 

Judy King 

and Kentucky areas at Christ Our Hope Anglican Church in Fairborn, OH.  Carol Herman of 

Christ The King and Saint Lazarus Mission (a nursing home ministry in Dayton, OH) was the 

luncheon speaker. 

On Saturday, May 7, 2022 a luncheon was held in the northern region of the Diocese of the 

Northeast, Mid-Atlantic and Eastern Canada, 24 persons gathered at Emmanuel Episcopal 

Church in Somerville, NJ. The luncheon speaker was Judy King, Wycliffe Bible Translators and 

Reformed Episcopal Church Board of Foreign Missions Bible translator and retired missionary 

to Brazil. 

In the southern region of the Diocese of the Northeast, Mid-Atlantic and 

Eastern Canada, 27 persons gathered at Saint Stephen’s Reformed 

Episcopal Church in Eldersburg, MD for a luncheon on Saturday, May 14, 

2022. The luncheon speaker was Susan Dykes of Saint Stephen’s Reformed 

Episcopal Church, Eldersburg, MD. 

Diocese of the Northeast, Mid-Atlantic and Eastern Canada (northern region) 2022 Women’s Day Project Offering Luncheon 

Susan Dykes 

Diocese of the Northeast, Mid-Atlantic and Eastern Canada (southern region) 
 2022 Women’s Day Project Offering Luncheon

---------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Committee on Women's Ministry - President

------------------------------------ 
3C - 3



 4 

In the Diocese of the Southeast – 60 persons, representing 18 churches 

gathered at the Bishop Jerdan Conference Center in, McClellanville, SC for 

a luncheon on Saturday, May 21, 2022.  Charlene Simmons of Holy 

Comforter Reformed Episcopal Church, Moncks Corner, SC, and president 

of the Missionary Convention of the Diocese of the Southeast was the 

luncheon speaker.  

In the Diocese of Mid-America, a luncheon was held on Wednesday, 

October 5, 2022 at the Church of the Holy Communion in Dallas, TX.  The 

luncheon speaker was Jackie Erlandson of Good Shepherd’s Church, Tyler, 

TX. Approximately 35 persons were in attendance at the luncheon. 

We were delighted to have with us Deaconess Canon Annette Johnson, upon 

whose writings for our 2022-2023 Devotional Studies, our theme was based. 

A total of 201 persons were in attendance at our 2022 luncheons and the committee is pleased to 

report that our goal of $7,500 was exceeded AND DOUBLED – a total of $15,097.13, was 

received. 

Charlene Simmons 

Diocese of the Southeast 2022 Women’s Day Project Offering Luncheon

Diocese of Mid-America, 2022 Women’s Day Project Offering Luncheon

Jackie Erlandson

---------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Committee on Women's Ministry - President

------------------------------------ 
3C - 4



 5 

   Alvalene G. Rogers

In view of the Reformed Episcopal Church’s 150th Anniversary Celebration General Council to 

be held June 7-9, 2023 in Charleston, SC and associated preparation for this historic event, 2023 

Women’s Day Luncheons in the Dioceses of the Central States and Mid-America will be held 

in small-group settings throughout the dioceses at local parishes.  Three larger venue gatherings, 

one in the Diocese of the Southeast and two in the Diocese of the Northeast, Mid-Atlantic and 

Eastern Canada, will be held.  

We extend sincere thanks and appreciation to the rectors and their congregations hosting our 

luncheons:  the Rev. Barton J. Gingrich and Saint Jude’s Church, Father Michael Fitzpatrick and 

Christ Our Hope Church, the Rev. Gerald McGlenn and Emmanuel Church, and the Rev. Eric 

Jorgenson and Saint Stephen’s Church, the Board of Managers of the Bishop Jerdan Conference 

Center, and the Rev. Canon Charles Camlin and the Church of the Holy Communion. 

Special thanks to the ladies who coordinated these luncheons in their areas; Mary Jane 

Thompson, Mary Bailey, and Terri Sebree, Diocese of the Central States; Denise Snyder and 

Susan Higham, Diocese of the Northeast, Mid-Atlantic and Eastern Canada; Rebecca Pettigrew 

and Jessica Edwards, Diocese of the Southeast; and Beth Mills, Diocese of Mid-America. 

Spiritual Enrichment Conference (SEC) – Designed to provide spiritual fellowship, 

instruction, and opportunity for women to participate and to grow in the knowledge of Christ and 

be strengthened as members of His body.  Traditionally, the conference is held the first or second 

weekend in October.  

2020 – As the novel Corona 19 Virus Pandemic continued to spread, the 64th Spiritual 

Enrichment Conference scheduled to be held Friday, October 9 through Sunday, October 11, 

2020 at The Embassy Suites Williamsburg in Williamsburg, VA was cancelled, as was our 2021 

Conference. 

2022 – Following a two-year hiatus of gathering for our annual 

conference, the 64th Spiritual Enrichment Conference commenced on 

Friday, September 30, 2022.  48 conference attendees, traveling from the 

northeast and the southeast in the winds and rains of Hurricane Ian, 

enthusiastically gathered at the Embassy Suites Williamsburg in 

Williamsburg, VA. 

The conference theme was Ascending to the Heavenly Places – Using the 

Psalms of Ascent as a Prelude for Worship  and the theme scripture 

passage was Hebrews 12:22-24, 28: “Ye are come unto mount Sion … 

Wherefore we receiving a kingdom which cannot be moved, let us have grace, whereby we may 

serve God acceptably with reverence and godly fear.”  The conference speaker was Dr. Alvalene 

G. Rogers, of Nazareth Reformed Episcopal Church, Pinopolis, SC.  Alvalene is the president-

elect of the Missionary Convention of the Diocese of the Southeast of the Reformed Episcopal

Church and a candidate for the setting apart as a deaconess.  Our hearts and minds were truly

drawn to God as Alvalene’s messages expounded on what true worship is, emphasizing the

differences  in worship, praise, and service.

---------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Committee on Women's Ministry - President

------------------------------------ 
3C - 5



 6 

An optional afternoon session was held on Saturday where Denise Snyder 

of Saint Stephen’s  

Church, Eldersburg, MD gave an enlightening presentation entitled “How 

Does Your Garden Grow? … Make a Christian Life Comparison to a 

Garden.  This presentation reminded us that all things are created to 

worship God. 

On Saturday evening, following the afternoon break, conference attendees 

reassembled for a time of special recognitions and evening activity.  

During this time, Mrs. Elizabeth Holmes Mikell was recognized with a Resolution of Honor and 

Respect (a copy follows below in this report) acknowledging her many years as a member of this 

committee, a founding member of the Committee on Women’s Work of the Diocese of the 

Southeast, and her years of encouraging and mentoring young women.  This 64th Spiritual 

Enrichment Conference was dedicated to the honor of Mrs. Elizabeth Holmes Mikell. 

Denise Snyder

Elizabeth Holmes Mikell
Alvalene G. Rogers and 
Elizabeth Holmes Mikell 

93 year-old Elizabeth Holmes Mikell and 
grandson of Alvalene G. Rogers, 

two-month old, Antwane Jerome Williams, Jr. 

---------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Committee on Women's Ministry - President

------------------------------------ 
3C - 6



 7 

Resolution of Honor and Respect 

for 

Elizabeth Holmes Mikell 

“But as for you, speak the things which are proper for sound doctrine: that the older 

men be sober, reverent, temperate, sound in faith, in love, in patience; the older women 

likewise, that they be reverent in behavior, not slanderers, not given to much wine, 

teachers of good things.” — Titus 2:1-3  

It is with much gratitude to God and appreciation to Mrs. Elizabeth Holmes Mikell that we pen this 

Resolution of Honor and Respect for one who, by her life’s living has influenced many towards good 

things and Godly living.  

WHEREAS, Elizabeth served faithfully as a member of the Committee on Women’s Work, now 

known as the Committee on Women’s Ministry, of the Reformed Episcopal Church for nearly two 

decades before retiring in the early 1990s. 

WHEREAS, Elizabeth is an active supporter of the work of the Committee on Women’s Ministry of 

the Reformed Episcopal Church having attended and participated in a combined total of more than 118 

committee meetings, Spiritual Enrichment Conferences, and Women’s Day Project Offering Luncheons, 

necessitating more than 278,550 miles of travel.  

WHEREAS, desiring that the women of her diocese be blessed through the programs of the Spiritual 

Enrichment Conference, Elizabeth and nine other women were appointed and became charter members 

of the Committee on Women’s Work of the Diocese of the Southeast (originally known as the 

Missionary Jurisdiction of the South, subsequently known as the Charleston, Atlanta and Charlotte 

Synod) of the Reformed Episcopal Church, for the express purpose of establishing a local conference.  

WHEREAS, succeeding Miss Lucille A. Williams, Elizabeth, served as the second Chairperson of the 

Committee on Women’s Work of the Diocese of the Southeast of the Reformed Episcopal Church  

WHEREAS, Elizabeth is a co-founder (one of two still serving in the Church Militant) of the Christian 

Life Enrichment Conference for the women of the Diocese of the Southeast of the Reformed Episcopal 

Church.  

WHEREAS, since 2005, Elizabeth has faithfully served as mentor and counselor to the current 

chairperson of the Committee on Women’s Ministry of the Reformed Episcopal Church.  

WHEREAS, Elizabeth at the age of 93, currently serves as registrar for the Committee on Women’s 

Ministry’s Women’s Day Project Offering Luncheons held in the Diocese of the Southeast and assistant 

registrar for our annual Spiritual Enrichment Conferences.  

THEREFORE, let it be known that it is with deep respect that we recognize and honor our dear sister 

and mother in Christ.  

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that this 64th Spiritual Enrichment Conference be dedicated to 

the honor of Mrs. Elizabeth Holmes Mikell for the Glory of God.  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that a copy of this resolution be given to Mrs. Elizabeth Holmes 

Mikell and a copy kept in the archives of the Committee on Women’s Ministry of the Reformed 

Episcopal Church.  

Humbly submitted on this first day of October, two-thousand and twenty-two, 

The Committee on Women’s Ministry of the Reformed Episcopal Church  

_______________________________ 

Gale G. Hill, Chairperson 

---------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Committee on Women's Ministry - President

------------------------------------ 
3C - 7



 8 

Rosa Smith Jenkins 

Following this very special time, conference 

attendees were led in a fun-filled evening of 

entertainment by Rebecca “Becky” Pettigrew of 

Calvary Reformed Episcopal Church and the 

comedic antics of Rosa Smith Jenkins of Grace 

Reformed Episcopal Church, Moncks Corner, SC.  

The Rt. Rev. Willie James Hill, Jr., Bishop Ordinary of the Diocese of the Southeast led in the 

Sunday Morning Worship Service and preached the message.  He was assisted by the Rev. Harry 

L. D. Loyd of Emmanuel Reformed Episcopal Church, Alvin, SC.

Again this year, Bobbi 

Lynn Jorgenson of Saint 

Stephen’s Church, 

Eldersburg, MD serve as 

conference musician.  

Charlene Simmons of 

Holy Comforter Church, 

Moncks Corner, SC serve 

as song leader, and we 

were blessed to have the 

accompaniment of flutist, 

Paula Grapes also of Saint Stephen's Church. 

Among the 48 conference attendees were 13 first-timers including one infant, Antwane Jerome 

Williams, Jr., the two-month old grandson of our conference speaker.  

Special thanks to Rebecca “Becky” Pettigrew for presiding and leading us through the activities 

of the weekend. 

Rebecca Pettigrew

2022 First-time Conference Attendees 

Charlene SimmonsPaula Grapes Bobbi Lynn Jorgenson

---------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Committee on Women's Ministry - President

------------------------------------ 
3C - 8



 9 

Spiritual Enrichment 2023, our 65th Spiritual Enrichment Conference, is scheduled to be held 

Friday, October 13 through Sunday, October 15 at the Embassy Suites Williamsburg in 

Williamsburg, VA.  Lord willing, Mrs. Kimberley Jenkins of the Diocese of the Northeast, Mid-

Atlantic and Eastern Canada will be our keynote speaker for the weekend. 

Publication of Devotional Books – Written by Reformed Episcopal women, for use in the 

Women of the Church groups. 

The 2020-2021 Devotional Book entitled Fruit of the Spirit was written by Jill Nowell of the 

Diocese of Mid-America.  480 copies were printed and distributed to women’s groups 

throughout the denomination. 

The 2021-2022 Devotional Book was a reprint of the 1986-1987 Devotional Book entitled, 

“Fear Not.” The devotional study was written by ten wives of Reformed Episcopal ministers. 

417 copies were printed and distributed to women’s groups across the denomination: Diocese of 

the Southeast 199; Diocese of the Northeast, Mid-Atlantic and Eastern Canada 142; Diocese of 

Mid-America 43; Diocese of the Central States 33. 

The 2022-2023 Devotional Book entitled, “Ascending to the Heavenly Places” – Devotions in 

the Psalms of Ascent as a Prelude for Worship (Psalms 120-134) was written by Annette 

Johnson of the Diocese of Mid-America.  382 copies have been distributed to 24 churches.   

While many of our ladies have resumed in-person study, several virtual as well as hybrid studies 

and prayer fellowships continue. 

We look forward, with great anticipation, to our 2023-2024 Devotional Study entitled Finding 

Restoration in the Redeemer currently being written by Teresa R. Johnson of the Diocese of 

the Central States. 

Special thanks to our devotional book writers for sacrifices made in writing our devotionals, to 

the Rev. Richard W. Workowski for his untiring assistance and guidance in the publishing 

process, to Francis Lenzo and Cynthia Campbell of Columbia, Maryland for serving as our 

devotional book editors, and to Joan Workowski for serving as our printing coordinator and 

distributor. 

2022 Spiritual Enrichment Conference Attendees

---------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Committee on Women's Ministry - President

------------------------------------ 
3C - 9



 10 

  G 
Hi Productions © 

“Dates to Remember” Publication – A listing of important dates from each diocese. 

The committee continues to compile, publish, and distribute the “Dates to Remember” each year.  

It is hoped that this brochure will be helpful in planning activities in each parish, and that it will 

assist in limiting scheduling conflicts.  Our committee chairperson, yours truly, under the 

auspices of                 continued to lead in the production of this publication during the 

triennium. 

“A Look at You” Publication – A written and pictorial summary of the committee’s 

purpose and history, listing milestones and transitions since its inception in 1948.   

During the triennium, this booklet was updated and copies provided to each parish in the 

denomination.  Additional copies can be made available upon request.   

You are encouraged to visit us on the web at cowm-rec.org, and follow us on Facebook at 

https://www.facebook.com/RECCOWM/  Much thanks and appreciation is extended to our 

web master, Deaconess Teresa R. Johnson. 

Communications – The committee’s primary mode of disseminating information is via 

electronic-mail.  We have established electronic address books including addresses of all clergy 

and parish and diocesan key representatives.  We solicit your support in maintaining accurate 

addresses.  Please notify us of any changes, updates, or additions at gghmrsmoses@yahoo.com 

What’s New? 

In August of 2021, the first Committee on Women’s Ministry Logo was 

designed by the Rev. Richard W. Workowski and Mrs. Joan B. Workowski in 

collaboration with Mr. Chris Wilson of Best Printing, Inc., Roanoke, VA. 

Memorial –  Our hearts were saddened to learned of the death of Mrs. 

Beverly Reese on Sunday, February 5, 2023.   Mrs. Reese was a member of 

Saint Luke’s-Bishop Hoffman Memorial Reformed Episcopal Church, 

Philadelphia, PA.  She was very active in the work of the women of her 

church, the Diocese of the Northeast, Mid-Atlantic and Eastern Canada, and 

on the national level.  She served as registrar for Women’s Day Project 

Offering Luncheons for many years and used her vocal talents to provide 

special music as soloist at many luncheons.  Since relocating our Spiritual 

Enrichment Conference from Philadelphia to Williamsburg, Virginia in 

2004, “Bev,” as she was called, and her sidekick, Sue Higham traveled 

together each year from Pennsylvania to Virginia to attend the conference 

arriving early enough to greet other conference attendees, including the bus load from the 

Southeast, as they arrived, thus dubbing them “The Welcome Committee.” We were blessed to 

Beverly Reese 

---------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Committee on Women's Ministry - President

------------------------------------ 
3C - 10

https://www.facebook.com/RECCOWM/
mailto:gghmrsmoses@yahoo.com


 11 

have Bev with us at our 64th Spiritual Enrichment Conference September 30 through October 2, 

2022 and extend our appreciation to her husband Ron and Sue for bringing her to fellowship with 

us one last time.  Our sincere sympathy is extended to her beloved husband Ronald, her children 

Kimberly, John and his wife Colleen, Karen and her husband David and other family members. 

At this 57th General Council, the Committee on Women’s Ministry expresses our sincere thanks 

and appreciation to presiding bishop, Ray R. Sutton; to all diocesan ordinaries and the clergy 

under their charge; to all diocesan women’s ministry groups; and to all of you for your 

encouragement and support of the programs of this ministry. 

Yours in Christ Jesus, 

Gale G. Hill, Chairperson 

---------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Committee on Women's Ministry - President

------------------------------------ 
3C - 11



 12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Committee on Women’s Ministry 

2020-2023 Triennium 

 

---------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Committee on Women's Ministry - President

------------------------------------ 
3C - 12



Balance Forward  as of December 2019 24,700.78$  

Income
Devotional Receipts 2020 3,657.39$       
Devotional Receipts 2021 1,951.00$       
Devotional Receipts 2022 1,916.00$       
Interest Income 8.26$              
Miscelaneous Income 12.00$            

Spiritual Enrichment Cont. Inc.
SEC COWM Offering 2022 446.00$           
SEC Registration 2,640.00$        

Total Spiritual Enrichment Cont., Income 3,086.00$       

Women's Day Income
Women's Day Lunch Reservations 4,440.20$        
Women's Day Project 2020 8,190.05$        
Women's Day Project 2021 11,449.00$      
Women's Day Project 2022 9,292.13$        

Total Women's Day Income 33,371.38$    

TOTAL INCOME 44,002.03$  

Expense
Bank Service Charges 36.00$            
Devotional Book Exp. 4,810.50$       
Professional Fees - Accounting 200.00$          
Spiritual Enrichment Conf. Exp.

SEC Food & Lodging 1766.78
SEC Honorarium 200
SEC Misc. Exp. 461.95
SEC Spkr. Litur/. Music Travel Exp. 200

Total Spiritual Enrichment Conf. Exp. 2,628.73$       

Women's Day Expense
Women's Day Project Disburs. 2020 9,797.49$        
Women's Day Project Disburs. 2022 25,772.19$      

Total Women's Day Expenses 35,569.68$    

Total Expense 43,244.91$  

Net Income 757.12$        

Balance as of December 31, 2022 25,457.90$  

COMMITTEE ON WOMEN'S MINISTRY

Profit and Loss 

January 2020 through December 2022

------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Committee on Women's Ministry - Treasurer

--------------------------------- 
3D - 1





ORDER OF DEACONESSES REPORT

WITH RECOMMENDATION

57th General Council of the Reformed Episcopal Church
June 7 - 9, 2023

Once again, I would like to express heartfelt appreciation on behalf of all of our deaconesses and
prospective deaconesses for the support from our bishops, clergy, and laity to develop this biblically
based and historic Order of ministry for women in the REC. It has not been easy to earn the trust of
those in the church who have witnessed the turmoil created by the innovation of the ordination of
women in other parts of the Anglican world and mainline denominations. However, through patience
and confidence in our Lord and his Apostles’ recognition of faithful women to be assets to the Church
and clergy, the steadfast witness of the REC in regard to women’s ministry is making a significant
impact on those both within and without our ranks.

Currently, we have a total of 10 active deaconesses, 3 retired deaconesses, 11 candidates, and 2
postulants in the REC. The term “candidate” designates those who have been approved by the Bishop
and Standing Committee of their respective diocese to begin training to become a deaconess and is
preparing to take the canonical exams required in order to be Set Apart by the bishop. A postulant is
one who has made it known that she is discerning her call to be a deaconess, but has not yet received
approval to be a candidate. A list of all our deaconesses and candidates is included at the end of this
report. The date beside each name indicates the start date of their candidacy, or the date they were Set
Apart.

Two of our deaconesses, Dss. Canon Annette Johnson and Dss. Teresa Johnson, serve as faculty
members at Cranmer Theological House in the Deaconess Studies Program. For the Fall of 2021,
Cummins Seminary and Cranmer Theological House teamed up to offer courses in the CTH Deaconess
Studies Program to new students. The Fall 2021 semester classes had 12 students, including Bishop
White, who was observing. In fact, all four of our REC dioceses were represented in the classes.
Cranmer House offers both a Deaconess Certificate curriculum as well as a Master of Arts in Religion
for Deaconess Studies.

In relation to the seminaries and their programs for the Candidates for Deaconess, and upon the
recommendation of the Council of Bishops, the Committee on Women’s Ministry (COWM) adopted as
their Women’s Day Project for 2023 to raise $7,500.00 to begin a perpetual Deaconess Scholarship
Fund. This fund is intended for women seeking to complete the academic coursework required by the
REC Constitution and Canons to become Deaconesses. Depending on the needs of the Candidate,
financial assistance from a scholarship could allow her to earn either a Deaconess Certificate or a
Master of Arts in Religion for Deaconess Studies (M.A.R.) through one of our REC seminaries. As
specified by our bishops, the scholarship fund is to be shared equally between our three seminaries
for their Deaconess Studies students. Funds from the scholarship would help students pay for tuition,
fees, and texts for their courses. Often because of the financial burden, some of our candidates are
currently opting to audit courses rather than take them for credit. This means they are ineligible to
receive a Certificate or a Degree.1 By being able to offer scholarships, it is hoped that this problem can
be eliminated.

1 Before admission to the Office of Deaconess, a Candidate is required to pass examinations (written and
oral) from the Board of Examining Chaplains of her diocese in the following subjects: 1.) Holy Scripture; 2.) Church
History; 3.) Christian Missions; 4.) Anglican Doctrine; 5.) Christian Ethics & Moral Theology; and 6.) Ministration.

----------------------------------------------------------- 
Order of Deaconesses

----------------------------------------------- 
3E - 1



Beside serving in their various capacities at the parish level, our deaconesses have been called upon
to share their talents all across the REC. Several serve on various church committees and boards.
Recent authors of the annual devotional books for the Women of the Church include Dss. Barbara West,
Dss. Jill Nowell, Dss. Teresa Johnson, and Dss. Canon Annette Johnson. In addition, Dss. Teresa and Dss.
Canon Annette participated in the development of catechetical materials by serving on the Committee
on Biblical Manhood and Womanhood appointed by Bishop Sutton.

Our REC deaconesses alongside the REC chapters of the Daughters of the Holy Cross continue to
support our clergy through the REC Intercessors, an intercessory prayer team for clergy and
deaconesses in the REC. Dss. Canon Annette and Dss. Teresa are the co-chairs of the Intercessors. By
following the set of privacy protocols developed for this purpose, they  manage how requests for
prayer are handled within the group.

During the summer of 2022, a new brochure for the Order of Deaconesses was produced and
distributed at the Forward in Faith N.A. Conference and Anglican Way Institute in July. A discussion
of deaconesses was part of the agenda as the Diocese of Ft. Worth prepares to restore the Order in their
diocese. One of the board members of FiFNA has been promoting deaconesses on the campus of
Nashotah House and has given out a number of our brochures there. We also have been invited to
share the BFM booth during the upcoming ACNA Provincial Council meetings at Christ Church Plano,
June 19-23, 2023, in order to pass out information about deaconesses at that time. These brochures
are available here at General Council as well.

Dss. Barbara West, Ph.D. represented the Order at GAFCON IV in Kigali, Rwanda, April 17-21, 2023, and
distributed close to one hundred of our new brochures to attendees. We started receiving email
inquiries about our Deaconess model and training program before the end of the conference. Rumor
has it that several Anglican seminaries in Africa are interested in our curriculum program for
deaconesses.

As Canon for Deaconesses in the REC, I would like to request that each Bishop Ordinary send a copy
to me of any application for Deaconess Candidate that has been approved along with a copy of the
official approval letter from the Bishop and/or Standing Committee to the applicant. This gives me the
new Candidate's contact information and other pertinent information, as well as her official approval
date to place in our records for deaconesses in the REC. It also allows me to send her a packet of
information in regard to becoming a deaconess for her to use during her discernment and training.
Also, Deaconess Candidates are included with the deaconesses in other activities within the Church,
such as the REC Intercessors and Convocational meetings, as part of their training. Therefore, it would
also be helpful to have their names and contact information included in your diocesan directories
under the catagory of "Candidates" or "Postulants".

Another reason it is helpful for the Deaconess Canon to have the names of approved Candidates for
Deaconess in each diocese, is that she is the one who orders the Deaconess Cross for those who will
be Set Apart. The cross represents a mark of the Order and is presented at her Setting Apart. Since it
takes at least six weeks lead time to have the crosses made, it is helpful to know how many crosses may
be anticipated at any time.

As a reminder, our Canons require that the names of all women connected with the Diocese or
Missionary Diocese who have been Set Apart as deaconesses during the preceding year to be submitted
to the office of the Presiding Bishop and the General Council Secretary with her full name and date of
birth, the date and place of her Setting Apart, and the name of the Bishop who presided at the Setting
Apart. This information is recorded as part of the clerical records of the Church. Whenever a deaconess
resigns, retires, or passes away, that information must also be submitted. Updated contact information

----------------------------------------------------------- 
Order of Deaconesses

----------------------------------------------- 
3E - 2



 for deaconesses and candidates should be included in the Diocesan Directories which are submitted
to the General Council Secretary on the first of March each year.

The Deaconess Canon is always available to answer questions from the clergy or prospective
deaconesses when needed. With the attention our Deaconess model has received recently, I pray that
the Order will continue to grow and serve the Church as a reflection of God's order and glory in the
world.

Respectfully submitted,

Dss. Canon Annette M. Johnson, M.A.R.
Presiding Bishop’s Canon for the Order of Deaconesses

RECOMMENDATION: 

Over the years, we have encouraged our dioceses to adopt a standardized procedure for
recommending and training Candidates for the Order of Deaconesses leading to their canonical
examination and Setting Apart  within the REC. Having standardized procedures would help to avoid
confusion about the process and ensure all of our Deaconesses have met the canonical standards that
have been adopted by this Church. In such an environment, future Candidates will know what to
expect, and the Church can be assured that our Deaconesses have been properly trained and approved
in their vocation. Additionally, there have been inquiries from individual clergy and dioceses within
the ACNA who have been impressed with how the REC addresses the matter of women’s ministry and
are interested in adopting a similar program.

THEREFORE, since specific procedures are not iterated in the Canons, it is recommended and moved that
the 57th General Council of the Reformed Episcopal Church adopt the procedures outlined in the
attached document, Process for Becoming a Candidate for Deaconess, as the standard for each
diocese in recommending and training Candidates for the Order of Deaconesses leading to their
canonical examination and Setting Apart as a Deaconess in the REC.

----------------------------------------------------------- 
Order of Deaconesses

----------------------------------------------- 
3E - 3



Process for Becoming a Candidate for Deaconess:

Once a woman has discerned her call to become a Deaconess and desires to become a
Candidate for the Order, she must submit a formal application to her Bishop Ordinary
(Diocesan Bishop). The official application form is available online at
https://recdss.org/application/, or may be requested from either the office of her Bishop or
the Deaconess Canon. A background check will be initiated by the Bishop’s office upon receipt
of the application and fees. Once the application process begins, these are the steps that usually
take place in the REC Diocese of Mid-America leading to the Setting Apart of a Deaconess:

1. Application received in the Bishop’s office û Background check initiated (fee required)

     The following should be submitted with the application:
a. A letter of recommendation from the Rector or Minister- in- Charge of the

parish she attends, to include a declaration that she is a communicant of
the Church in good standing with evidence of her Baptism and
Confirmation.

b. Letters of recommendation from two women communicants of the
parish.

c. Evidence that she is a graduate of a four-year institution of higher
learning.

     Any Candidate who does not meet this requirement shall have
attained the age of thirty-five years, and must provide evidence to the
Board of Examining Chaplains that she possesses the intellectual ability
to enter with advantage upon a course of study preparatory to being
Set Apart.

2. Interview with the Bishop once application and background check are received.

• This gives the Bishop an idea of whether the potential candidate is spiritually
prepared to enter this vocation, and where she is in terms of theological
education.

• The Bishop determines whether the candidate needs a directed course of
study (usually supervised by her Rector after approval by the Bishop), or a
more formal certificate or degree plan through the seminary. If seminary is
desired, an appointment with the Dean of the seminary is made and an
application to the seminary completed to begin a course plan. (Note:
Application to become a seminary student is a separate process from
applying as a Deaconess Candidate.)

3. The Bishop presents the credentials of the potential candidate with his
recommendation to the Standing Committee. If approved, she officially becomes a
Candidate for Deaconess, and a letter to that effect is sent to her from the Bishop’s
office. The date of the letter is the official start of her Candidacy. In the letter she is
assigned a member of the Board of Examining Chaplains or a Deaconess to be her
mentor. (The Standing Committee is also made aware of any changes to her status that
may occur at any time during her Candidacy.)

----------------------------------------------------------- 
Order of Deaconesses

----------------------------------------------- 
3E - 4

https://recdss.org/application/


4. The new Candidate embarks on her course of study and probationary requirements as
stipulated in Canon 22 of the REC Constitution and Canons. This usually runs between
eighteen months to two years, but not less than one year, and includes a nine month
internship under the supervision of a presbyter. She sends a report to the Bishop, her
mentor, her Rector, and the seminary Dean quarterly at the Ember Days summarizing
her progress during the period of her candidacy. (After becoming a Deaconess, she sends
a written report of her activities to her Bishop annually.)

5. Once it is determined by her panel (Bishop, Dean, Mentor, Rector) that she is ready to
take her Canonical Exams, the written exam is sent to her to complete. After the written
exam is submitted and assessed by her panel, a date is set for the oral exam. Her
mentor, the Bishop Ordinary or Suffragan, and another member of the Examining
Chaplains administer the oral exam. She  must show competence in the following areas
of study:

(1) Holy Scripture: The Bible in English; introduction to and contents of the
various books; special knowledge of at least one Gospel and one
Epistle.

(2) Church History: A general outline, including the History of the Church in
the United States, and special knowledge of the first five centuries, and
to include the history of Deaconesses both ancient and modern.

(3) Christian Missions: History; present extent and methods; at least one
missionary biography.

(4) Doctrine: Contents and teaching of the Book of Common Prayer, including
preparation for the Sacraments.

(5) Christian Ethics and Moral Theology: Particular emphasis on matters
pertaining to the counseling of women and children.

(6) Ministration: The office and work of a Deaconess; Parish Work and
Organization.

< (During this time information is sent to the Candidate about her daily habit
(dress), vestments, and arrangements to have her Deaconess Cross made. - The
Candidate wears her vestments or habit for her Setting Apart and is presented with
her collar and cross, the marks of the Order, during the service. It takes a minimum
of six weeks to receive the custom made cross and vestments. This should be kept
in mind when setting a date for the service.)

6. Upon successful completion of her Canonical Exams, the Standing Committee is
notified by the Bishop that she has successfully completed all of the requirements and
asks approval of her being Set Apart. A date is then set and arrangements made for the
service of The Setting Apart of a Deaconess from the Book of Occasional Services.

Note: The Bishop exercises discretion as to whether the potential candidate’s
circumstances will allow her to attend seminary, or if extra time is needed for her
candidacy, or even if she passes her exams under conditions for more study. This is
usually done in consultation with the other members of her panel. However, the
ultimate decision to Set Apart a Deaconess  and when, is determined by the Bishop
with the advice and consent of the Standing Committee.

----------------------------------------------------------- 
Order of Deaconesses

----------------------------------------------- 
3E - 5



REC  DEACONESS  ROSTER

as of
May 2023

Following is a list of current Deaconesses and Candidates for Deaconess in each of our REC
dioceses:

     Diocese of the Northeast and Mid-Atlantic:

Deaconesses:
Dss. Ruth Creswell (Retired, St. Stephen’s, Eldersberg, MD - Set Apart 3/9/2014)

Candidates:
Diana Lopez (St. Peter’s, Elkton, MD - 2020)

Dr. Susan Regisford (St. Alban’s, NYC - 2021)

     Diocese of Mid-America:

Deaconesses:
Dss. Gay Flack (St. Stephen’s, Montrose, CO - Set Apart 9/8/2019)

Dss. Cheryl Ivers (Holy Communion, Dallas, TX - Set Apart 1/21/23)

Dss. Canon Annette M. Johnson (St. Matthias, Katy, TX - Set Apart 1/31/1993)

Dss. Cynthia Longueville (Holy Communion, Dallas, TX - Set Apart 2/7/2021)

Dss. Jill Nowell (Holy Communion, Dallas, TX - Set Apart 8/12/2019)

Dss. Karen Pierpoint (Retired, Bend, OR - Set Apart 2/25/2016)

Dss. Barbara West, Ph.D. (St. Stephen’s, Flowood, MS - Set Apart 10/27/2019)

Candidates:
Kimberly Hiles (St. Benedict’s, Rockwall, TX - 12/20)

Jocelyn Perkins (Holy Trinity, Houston, TX - 12/19)

Melinda Skelton (Holy Communion, Dallas, TX - 4/21)

Renee Boutwell (Holy Cross, Alpine, TX - 2/22)

Melinda Brown ((Holy Communion, Dallas, TX - 2022)

Jane Charnock (St. Mark’s, Waxahachie, TX - (2023)

Postulant:
Ann Orgeron (St. Mark’s, Waxahachie, TX - in discernment)

     Diocese of the Southeast:

Deaconesses:

Candidates:
Alvalene G. Rogers (Nazareth, Moncks Corner, SC - to be Set Apart June 3, 2023)

Mei-li Sivigny (All Saints, Greenville, SC - 2022)

Postulant:
Karen Tryon (Christ the King, Atlanta, GA - student, in discernment)

----------------------------------------------------------- 
Order of Deaconesses

----------------------------------------------- 
3E - 6



     Diocese of the Central States:

Deaconesses:
Dss. Michelle R. Caldwell (Christ the King, Dayton, OH - Set Apart 11/22/2009)

Dss. Teresa R. Johnson (St. James’, Memphis, TN - Set Apart 1/26/2003)

Dss. Ella “Candy” Jacques (Retired - Set Apart 10/5/2008)

Candidates:
Shelley Fleming (Holy Trinity REC, Fairfax, VA - 1/21)

     Missionary District of Cuba (REC-Canada):

Deaconesses:
Dss. Magalis Sierra Romero (Iglesia San Marcos, Moa, Holguin, Cuba - Set Apart 5/24/2013)

----------------------------------------------------------- 
Order of Deaconesses

----------------------------------------------- 
3E - 7





REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE ON CHRISTIAN EDUCATION 

To the 57th General Council of the Reformed Episcopal Church 

Dear Brethren, 

The members of the Committee on Christian Education for the past triennium were the Rt. 
Rev. Walter Banek, the Rev. Canon John Boonzaaijer, the Rev. Brian Foos, the Rev. John 
Heaton, the Rev. Eric Jorgensen. 

The Committee on Christian Education has been focused on two areas of Christian discipleship: 
1. Catechesis of children and adults in

a. the Holy Scriptures,
b. the Christian faith as expressed in the Creeds,
c. the life of Prayer rooted in the Lord’s Prayer and cultivated in the regular

cycles of prayer set forth in the Book of Common Prayer,
d. godly living founded upon the Ten Commandments which frame the life of holy

love toward God and toward our neighbor.
2. Establishment of Parish Schools to reinforce and support parents and godparents in

the vows they made in their child’s baptism regarding “all other things which a
Christian ought to know and believe to his soul’s health.” The Rev. Canon John 
Boonzaaijer has overseen this aspect of Christian education and will submit his Parish 
School and Anglican School Association report separately. 

Children and Youth Education – A complete, published Bible curriculum for younger 
children and also older youth and adults is now available through Aelfred Rex Publications. It is 
currently in use in a number of REC parishes and parish schools. The curriculum objective is to 
teach faithfully and thoroughly the stories of the Bible, introducing all the major figures and 
key events and developing understanding of the historic unfolding of redemption as fulfilled in 
the Lord Jesus Christ. To be deeply rooted as Anglicans in the faith once for all delivered to the 
saints, our parish children must be deeply rooted in the knowledge of the entirety of Holy 
Scripture. 

New Endeavors of Christian Education 
The radical secularization of education in America has been the driving motivation for the 
development of Parish Schools in Anglican churches, and Christian schools in general, which 
serve concerned believers from many denominations. Most recently it has become evident that 
fidelity to historic orthodox Christianity is being compromised in many existing “Christian” 
colleges, even prominent ones. It is now apparent that for true and enduring Christian 
education to take place in our parish schools, we must undertake comprehensive teacher 
training, specifically for staffing our parish schools. Most urgent is the need for elementary-
grade teachers who understand how to use every lesson, routine, and activity to shape the 
loves, minds, and habits of our children.  

Out of this concern a renewed vision for undergraduate studies has arisen in the form of micro-
colleges, with small-scale student bodies. Two such micro-colleges are being organized in 

--------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Christian Education & Anglican School Association

------------------------------------- 
3F - 1



conjunction with existing REC parish schools. For more information on these endeavors 
contact  

• the Rev. Brian Foos — info@standrews.com  or
https://www.standrewsalmanor.org/college/ 

• the Rev. Dr. Charles Erlandson — reverlandson@gmail.com

To effectively pass on the faith once delivered unto the saints to our current generation in our 
increasingly secular, hostile anti-Christian society, well-founded Christian education for our 
youth is critical to the faithful succession of faith from generation to generation.  

Anglicans have always been concerned with education in many forms. Long before our 
government became involved in providing education for every child, the Church of England 
had a vision for setting up a school in every parish for the education of poor children. 
By 1900, there were over 14,000 parish schools funded by the Church of England.  

Look up online and consider the words of Bishop John Henry Blunt in his chapter on “School” 
in his Directorium pastorale : the principles and practice of pastoral work in the Church of England, 
1823-1884, pages 271-306, Link to “Schools”:   
    [ https://ia800904.us.archive.org/21/items/directoriumpast00blunuoft/directoriumpast00blunuoft_bw.pdf  ].  
To quote Blunt on p. 277, “True Christian education consists not so much in imparting knowledge as 
in drawing out the grace of God for the work of life. Knowledge is good only when directed to a good 
end; and it is so plain that good ends are not the natural seeking of unregenerate hearts, or those in 
which the grace of regeneration lies dormant, that it is clear that knowledge must be imparted with an 
eye to its control by grace.”   

We live in an age in which the most significant formation of children is not found in schools or 
even homes, but from the internet and interaction an ever-changing array of social media. We 
now live among a people who are increasingly devoid not only of knowledge and 
understanding, but also of the ability to think soundly. They are morally bankrupt, without a 
reliable work ethic, and have little regard for the past or the future. In this dire state the words 
of C.S. Lewis underscore the imperative of a sound, godly education that will produce the kind 
of scholar who “has lived in many times and is therefore in some degree immune from the great 
cataract of nonsense that pours from the press and the microphone of his own age” — THE WEIGHT OF
GLORY. 

If we are to see our children’s children walk and stand firm in the faith once for all delivered to 
the saints, then we must re-embrace the vision of Christian education set forth by Rev. Blunt a 
century and a half ago. The Committee on Christian education is committed to serving our 
Church to that end. 

Respectfully submitted, 

The Rt. Rev. Walter R. Banek 

--------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Christian Education & Anglican School Association

------------------------------------- 
3F - 2



www.AnglicanSchools.org 

General Council, 2023 

Purpose 
• to assist parents to fulfill their baptismal vows with the advancement of parochial, classical education

Organization 
• 16 Member Schools
• Answers to the Presiding Bishop and General Committee of the Reformed Episcopal Church, through

its Committee for Christian Education.
• Episcopal Oversight: Bishop Walter Banek (Tyler, Texas)
• President: Cn. John Boonzaaijer (Dallas, Texas)
• Executive Secretary: Mr. Erik Landstrom (Philadelphia, Pennsylvania)
• Treasurer: Mr. Bud Longueville, Sustentation Fund
• The original Board of Directors has been replaced with Episcopal and General Committee oversight.

Description 
1. Member schools are Anglican by jurisdiction and ethos, keep the Prayer Book's daily office in

school life (at least one per day), and evidence a vision for traditional Western (classical) education
across the scope and sequence of the curriculum. The vision typically includes classical languages,
the trivium and quadrivium as the “liberating arts,” a Great Books orientation to history, literature,
and composition, and a practical appreciation for the sacramental nature of the arts. Students are
expected to be fully equipped as godly churchmen for adult society, whether in employment,
apprenticeship, or further education.

2. Member schools are invited to attain ASA accreditation, and are governed by ASA model bylaws, or
similar approved bylaws.

3. Home Schools are welcome to join as members by the same standards as parochial schools (without
governing bylaws).

4. All teachers of member schools belong to a professional network, “The Society of Saint Bede,” and
may seek and attain any of its teacher certification levels: Apprentice, Full, Master, and Planter.
Anglican teachers in other schools may join the Society directly, pursue its certification, and enjoy
its services.

Benefits 
• For Teachers: The National Teacher Development Program within the ASA involves on•site school

visits by Master Teachers for faculty in•service days; self•study reading schedule; online distance
modules taught by Master Teachers; and summer Intensive Training Modules at select training
schools.

--------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Christian Education & Anglican School Association

------------------------------------- 
3F - 3

http://www.AnglicanSchools.org


• For Schools: Benefits of ASA accreditation include defined academic, missional, and cultural
standards; defined financial, organizational, and institutional standards; teacher certification and
definable teacher development; startup resources; advertising for student recruitment; on•site school
visits for administrative support and faculty development; decidedly Anglican ethos, discipleship,
culture, and spiritual formation; membership in a professional education association (The Society of
Saint Bede) for all faculty members.

• For Parishes: Benefits to the parish of a parochial school include the retention of youth as faithful
adult members of the Church; training of youth as musical, knowledgable, and wise future Church
members; student identification as Anglican Christians during formative years; building of family/
community relationships through “front porch evangelism”; attraction of new families (including
unchurched and the de-churched); parish development to educate young families and shape youth
effectively; good stewardship by sharing property, financial resources, and personnel.

Considerations 
1. Can or should our new colleges and current seminaries be included?
2. Members include parishes of other Anglican bodies.
3. Is there additional accreditation that may be helpful to the ministries, and should that be pursued?
4. How can the Reformed Episcopal Church better equip more teachers for our schools?
5. Can our schools incorporate additional training for the trades while still bequeathing a full

inheritance of the “Seven Liberating Arts”?
6. How do the natural stages of a school’s growth affect its host parish?

The Desired Profile an ASA Graduate 

We believe that every student deserves the chance to receive the rich formation of the Great 
Tradition of the Liberal Arts—while completing a secondary education. While most graduates do go on 
to study them further at college or university, it is far too late to wait until then! Let every graduate be a 
philosopher•craftsman, regardless of future profession. When acquired, these arts free their graduates to 
choose well, to continue learning, and to understand the nature of people, relationships, and the creation. 

Thus, we nickname the full tradition as “The Liberating Arts”! This vision reflects the Church’s 
received heritage of classical learning—and she considers it her responsibility to bequeath these arts to 
her children, that they may enjoy real freedom as grown men and women. Through enrollment, each 
member has access to inherit that privilege, that inheritance, and that opportunity for their children. 

What were the “Liberating Arts” in prior generations? 
• Trivium (linguistic arts): Grammar, Logic, Rhetoric
• Quadrivium (numerical arts): Geometry, Music, Arithmetic, Astronomy
• Virtus et Scientia (mental arts): Philosophy, Theology, History, Sciences

What can a typical Upper School student, graduating with a full curricular honors diploma, expect to
gain from learning these Arts? 

• a full college•preparatory education

--------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Christian Education & Anglican School Association

------------------------------------- 
3F - 4



• imaginative and prayerful consideration of several vocations (i.e. callings from God, according to
gifting and desire), and of these making application to three institutions which further articulated 
goals, and finally committing to one to pursue after graduation (with School Guidance Counseling, 
pastor, and parents) 

• eloquence in speaking and writing (essay, poetic, narrative)
• generational wisdom, acquired through reading, writing, thinking, and discussion of the literary

canon’s Great Conversation 
• lifelong intellectual curiosity
• four years of Geometry, Algebra, Trigonometry, Calculus
• four years of Latin and Greek (plus a modern language)
• four years of Moral Philosophy (Metaphysics; Ethics & Worldview; Christian Theology; Apologetics

& World Religions) 
• four years of Natural Philosophy (Biology, Chemistry, Physics, Advanced)
• four years of Western Civilization (Foundations & Ancient Life; Europe & the Medieval World;

American History; Culture, Politics & Economy) 
• four years in Logic, Rhetoric, Debate, Senior Thesis
• four years of dramatic production (primarily Shakespeare)
• four years of high•level training and capable performance in Choral and Orchestral ensembles
• four years of Heritage Travel, foreign and domestic
• four years of artistic shaping and representation of God’s creation, with traditional tools
• four years of athletic discipline, individually and on teams
• exposure to industrial trades, and the ability to plan, build, modify, and repair
• the artist’s skills & imagination, together with the craftsman’s habitual practicality
• humble churchmanship and active faith, through Daily Worship, and within the Christian Calendar
• civic virtue: driver license, financial education, and voter registration (and the Draft, for men)
• responsible adult respect for the body, self, place, materials, and others
• resourcefulness and industry to solve problems
• eagerness to serve others
• teacher-led, rather than peer-driven culture, and friendships across generations, age groups, and

interests 
• Fortitude, Humility, Courage, Wisdom, Charity

Respectfully submitted, 
The Rev’d Canon John Peter Boonzaaijer 
President 

A Christian, Classical, Parish Day School: Oratio, Studium, Labor 

--------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Christian Education & Anglican School Association

------------------------------------- 
3F - 5





Business Session #4 
ursday – June 8 
3:15pm to 4:30pm 
Carolina Ballroom 

 

What to Expect: 

A. General Committee (4A). is is a summary of the General Committee actions that will not 
be read.  

Motion to file the General Committee report. 

B. Sustentation Fund (3B & 3C) – ere is no President’s report (3B). e Treasurer, Mr. Bud 
Longueville, will present the financial reports and entertain any questions.  

Motion to receive the Sustentation Fund report.  

D. Board of Pensions & Relief / Publication Society (3D & 3E) – ere is no Presidents 
report (3D). e Treasurer, Archdeacon Jon Abboud, will present his financial reports and 
entertain any questions.  

Motion to receive the Pensions & Relief and Publication Society report.  

F. Doctrine & Worship – (4F) – Canon Charles Camlin will present the report. 
Motion to receive the Doctrine & Worship report. 

G. Standing Liturgical Commission – (4G) – Dss. Canon Annette will present the report and 
explain the recommendations. e President of the Council will determine how to proceed 
through the recommendations of the report (whether one by one or as a whole).  

Motions (as prompted by the Chair).  

H. Committee on Constitution & Canons (4H) – Archdeacon Jim Payne will present his 
report and explain the recommendations. e President of the Councill will determine how to 
proceed through the recommendations of the report.  

Motions (as prompted by the Chair). 

I. Nominations (4I) – Bishop Banek will present the slate of Nominations for elected 
Committees.  

Motion to receive the report and elect the nominees as presented.  

 

Adjourn for the day (4:30pm). ere is no group dinner on ursday, other than the cruise dinner. 
e cruise dinner is only for those who pre-purchased a ticket. You cannot come on the cruise if you 
did not purchase a ticket previously.  Your badge will indicate if you did this or not. Shuttles for the 
cruise dinner will begin at 5:45pm, with the last being at 6:20pm. If you are not taking the shuttle, be 
at the harbor at 6:30pm to start the boarding process. See the Program Committee Report 
instructions (0B) for further details.   

  





GENERAL COMMITTEE

SUMMARY OF ACTIONS 

DEC. 2021- APRIL 2023

REPORT of the GENERAL COMMITTEE

57th General Council of the Reformed Episcopal Church
June 7-9, 2023

Dear Brethren:

The General Committee of the Reformed Episcopal Church met four times during the years since the 
56th General Council (2021 - 2023):  December 8, 2021 April 22, 2022; November 11, 2022; and April 
27, 2023; with one email vote included as an addendum to the minutes of the April 27, 2023 meeting. 
The Most Rev. Ray R. Sutton presided over each meeting all of which were held by video conference. 
Detailed minutes of each meeting are on file at the denominational headquarters in Dallas, Texas.

The following is a summary of actions taken by the General Committee:

December 8, 2021 – Zoom Video Conference

1. Received the report of the Trustees of the Sustentation Fund and approved
recommendations as follows:

a. To have the monies contained in The Stroud Fund and the Southern Missionary
Fund donated to the Sustentation Fund to be distributed to the entities they
were intended for, Church of the Atonement and the Diocese of the Southeast,
to be used by them and taken off of the books.

b. Combine funds remaining in the Video Fund and Visitation Manual Fund into
a Special Projects Fund to help with those projects.

2. Approved the Proposed Budget for 2022

3. Approved Committee reports as presented

4. Approved the acceptance of the contract negotiated with the Francis Marion Hotel as
the venue for the 57th General Council in Charleston, South Carolina, June 7-9,   2023

April 22, 2022 – Zoom Video Conference

1. Sustentation Fund and Committee reports were approved as presented.

2. Special thanks to Bishop William White for his work in the Diocese of the Southeast
was offered with a round of applause on the eve of his retirement.

November 11, 2022 – Zoom Video Conference

1. Sustentation Fund and Committee reports were approved as presented.

2. Approved the printing of the Book of Occasional Services unless costs are more than
anticipated, in which case, publication of the book will be reconsidered by the General
Committee

March 15, 2023 - Email Vote    (Addendum to the Minutes of the April 27, 2023 meeting)

1. Approved recommendations from the Trustees of the Sustentation Fund and REC100
as follows:

----------------------------------------------------------------------- 
General Committee Summary

----------------------------------- 
4A - 1



a. Cost of Living Adjustments for honoraria and salaried positions for calendar
year 2022

b. Proposed Budget for the Sustentation Fund and REC100 for 2023

c. New REC100 Policy regarding parish tithes for new plants

April 27, 2023 – ZOOM Video Conference

1. Approved report presented by the Trustees of the Sustentation Fund and REC100

2. Approved Committee reports as presented

3. Approved new Logo for the 150th Anniversary of the REC for the 57th General Council

4. Approved recommendations from the Standing Liturgical Committee to correct
wording in the REC Book of Common Prayer before its next printing as follows:

a. Corrections regarding the use of the word “Table” in the rubrics by adding
“Holy Table”; “the Lord’s Table”; or “Communion Table” as proper for the context

b. Collect & Gospel for the Transfiguration: Change the word “glistening” to
“glistering” as found in Luke 9:29 KJV

c. Correct language in the Canadian prayers regarding the Monarch

5. Approved the invitation from the Diocese of the Central States to host the 58th General
Council of the Reformed Episcopal Church

6. Approved the designation of offerings at the 57th General Council in Charleston to be
as follows:

a. Opening Service (Wednesday) – Women’s Day Project for Deaconess
Scholarship Fund

b. Service at St. John’s REC (Thursday) – Board of Foreign Missions

c. Morning Prayer (Friday) – REC seminaries (to be shared)

Respectfully submitted,

Dss. Canon Annette M. Johnson
General Council Secretary, and
Secretary to the General Committee

2

----------------------------------------------------------------------- 
General Committee Summary

----------------------------------- 
4A - 2



ASSETS 12/31/21 12/31/22
Cash

1001 Sust. Checking Inwood (TX) 67,289.93  94,696.89  

Cash Total 67,289.93  94,696.89  

Current Investments
1009 Goldman Sachs Portfolio 977,319.17  835,877.47  

Current Investments Total 977,319.17  835,877.47  

Other Assets
1020 Reimbursable Expenses 85.26  -  

Other Assets Total 85.26  -  

TOTAL ASSETS 1,044,694.36 930,574.36  

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
2501.1 Spec. Projects/Actions Payable - 6,170.00 
2502 Prepaid Expense 4,322.67  6,822.67 

Total Liabilities (Gen. Con. deposits) 4,322.67  12,992.67  

Restricted Assets
3106 Emergency Relief Fund 713.00  713.00  
3107 Anglican School Assn. Fund 7,980.29  10,543.88  
3108 Special Projects Fund 833.53  833.53  
3113 Military Chaplaincy Fund 441.97  1,527.88  
3113 Young Peoples Fund 497.97  497.97  

Restricted Assets Total 10,466.76  14,116.26  

Unrestricted Assets
3000 Current Year Gain/(Loss) 89,653.59  (131,178.83)  
3100 Prior Year Balance 938,251.34  1,032,644.26  
3115 Expense Reserve 2,000.00  2,000.00  

Unrestricted Assets Total 1,029,904.93 903,465.43  

TOTAL LIABILITIES & NET ASSETS 1,044,694.36 930,574.36  

Statement of Financial Position
Sustentation Fund of the Reformed Episcopal Church

2021 - 2022

----------------------------------------------------------- 
Sustentation & REC100 Treasurer

----------------------------------------------- 
4C - 1



2021 2022
Actual Actual Total

Ordinary Income
Diocesan Tithes

4000 Northeast Tithes 35,697.94  32,856.66  68,554.60  
4001 Southeast Tithes 21,000.00  27,000.00  48,000.00  
4002 Mid-America Tithes 40,000.00  45,000.00  85,000.00  
4003 Central States Tithes 19,841.46  23,743.44  43,584.90  
4006 Germany Tithes - 400.00 400.00  

Diocesan Tithes Total 116,539.40  129,000.10  245,539.50  

Other Revenue
Other Revenue Detail
4015 Rest. Funds Released 40,192.17  9,850.50  50,042.67  

Other Revenue Detail Total 40,192.17  9,850.50  50,042.67  
Other Revenue Total

Total Ordinary Income 156,731.57  138,850.60  295,582.17  

Ordinary Expense
Administrative & Operational

6100 Accounting & Audit 1,489.70  310.61  1,800.31  
6101 GC Secretary Honorarium 3,600.00  3,600.00  7,200.00  
6105 GC Meeting (Triennial) 2,500.00  2,500.00  5,000.00  
6106 Travel-Non Committee 4,884.19  5,355.53  10,239.72  
6110 Office Expenses-Presiding Bishop 1,000.00  1,000.00  2,000.00  
6110.1 Office Exp. PB - CHC Admin Support 7,500.00  7,500.00  15,000.00  
6110.2 Office Exp. PB - CHC Office Support 6,000.00  6,000.00  12,000.00  
6110.3 Office Exp. PB - CHC Storage Facility 838.41  825.00  1,663.41  
6111 Presiding Bishop Salary & Benefits 37,600.00  37,599.96  75,199.96  
6112 Treasurer Honorarium 5,000.00  5,000.00  10,000.00  
6113 Vice-President Honorarium 1,500.00  3,000.00  4,500.00  
6114 IT & Web Admin 5,416.66  5,499.92  10,916.58  
6115 Committee Expense Total -  -  -  
6116 Gen. Liab/D&O Insurance 4,207.50  4,482.52  8,690.02  
6117 Chaplaincy Fund Support 1,000.00  1,000.00  2,000.00  

Total Administrative & Operational 82,536.46  83,673.54  166,210.00  

The Sustentation Fund
of the Reformed Episcopal Church

Statement of Activities
2021 - 2022

----------------------------------------------------------- 
Sustentation & REC100 Treasurer

----------------------------------------------- 
4C - 2



2021 2022
Actual Actual Total

The Sustentation Fund
of the Reformed Episcopal Church

Statement of Activities
2021 - 2022

Ecumenical Expenses
6200 Ecum. Officer Honorarium -  -  -  
6201 Ecum. Meeting & Travel 5,954.24  11,254.36  17,208.60  
6202 ACNA Support 12,000.00  12,900.00  24,900.00  

Ecumenical Expenses Total 17,954.24  24,154.36  42,108.60  

Ministries & Missions Support
6308 Rest. Funds Disbursed 40,192.17  9,850.50  50,042.67  

Ministries & Missions Support Total 40,192.17  9,850.50  50,042.67  

Total Ordinary Expense 140,682.87  117,678.40  258,361.27  

Change In Net Assets Due To Ordinary Revenue & Expense 16,048.70  21,172.20  37,220.90  

2021 2022
Increase(Decrease) in Assets from Other Activity Actual Actual Total

Investment Income (General Fund portion only)
4014 Investment Income 83,677.51  (141,441.70)  (57,764.19)  
4106 ACNA Mortgage Income -  -  -  

Investment Inc Total 83,677.51  (141,441.70)  (57,764.19)  

General Committee Special Projects/Actions
6300.1 Special COLA Adjustment 4,650.00  6,170.00  10,820.00  
6300.2 Elanor Stroud Reduction 5,300.00  - 5,300.00 
6304 Special Gifts -  -  -  
6307 Hymnal Production 122.60  - 122.60 

Total General Committee Special Projects/Actions 10,072.60  6,170.00  16,242.60  

Total Increase(Decrease) in Assets from Other Activity 73,604.91  (147,611.70)  (74,006.79)  

Total Increase(Decrease) in Assets from All Activity 89,653.61  (126,439.50)  (36,785.89)  

----------------------------------------------------------- 
Sustentation & REC100 Treasurer

----------------------------------------------- 
4C - 3



Beg. Balance Net End. Balance
1/1/2021 Donations Inv. Income Distributions 12/31/2022

214.50  -  -  (214.50)  -  
9,777.60  - 723.95 (10,501.55)  -  

15,972.60  - 1182.65 (17,155.25)     -  
2,357.35  - 174.18 (2,531.53)  -  

713.00  - - - 713.00  
9,477.67  11,200.00  - (10,133.79) 10,543.88  

701.88  214.50  - (82.85) 833.53  
(759.42)  11,710.50  - (9,423.20) 1,527.88  
497.97  -  -  - 497.97  

10,631.10  23,125.00  - (19,639.84) 14,116.26  

Amount Memo
3,700.00  2021 Dues
7,500.00  2022 Dues

214.50      Combine 3021 with 3108
5,710.50  2021 DMA, AF Chaplain Corp. & Sust Fund support
6,000.00  2022 DMA & Sustentation  Fund support

23,125.00  

Amount Memo
(214.50)       Combine 3021 with 3108

(10,501.55)  Final distribution by action of TTEES & Gen. Comm.
(17,155.25)  Final distribution by action of TTEES & Gen. Comm.

(2,531.53)  Final distribution by action of TTEES & Gen. Comm.
(5,197.38)  2021 exp. reimbursements, Exec. Secy honorarium
(4,936.41)  2021 exp. reimbursements, Exec. Secy honorarium

(82.85)  Net to fund 3108 after postage by action of Trustees
(4,509.11)  2021 Monthly Support and annual conference
(4,914.09)    2022 Monthly Support and annual conference

(19,639.84)  

The Sustentation Fund
Restricted Asset Report

2021 - 2022

Fund Name 
3021 Video Fund
3102 Rebecca Stroud Fund 
3103 Southern Missionary Fund 
3104 Needy Student Fund 
3106 Emergency Relief Fund 
3107 Anglican School Assn. Fund 
3108 Special Projects Fund 
3113 Military Chaplaincy Fund 
3113 Young Peoples Fund

Donations
3107 Anglican School Assn. Fund 
3107 Anglican School Assn. Fund 
3108 Special Projects Fund 
3113 Military Chaplaincy Fund 
3113 Military Chaplaincy Fund

Distributions
3021 Video Fund
3102 Rebecca Stroud Fund 
3103 Southern Missionary Fund 
3104 Needy Student Fund 
3107 Anglican School Assn. Fund 
3107 Anglican School Assn. Fund 
3108 Special Projects Fund 
3113 Military Chaplaincy Fund 
3113 Military Chaplaincy Fund

----------------------------------------------------------- 
Sustentation & REC100 Treasurer

----------------------------------------------- 
4C - 4



2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
Budget Projection Projection Projection Projection

Ordinary Income
Diocesan Tithes

4000 Northeast Tithes 32,000  33,280  34,611  35,996  37,435  
4001 Southeast Tithes 27,000  28,080  29,203  30,371  31,586  
4002 Mid-America Tithes 41,470  43,129  44,854  46,648  48,514  
4003 Central States Tithes 23,000  23,920  24,877  25,872  26,907  

Diocesan Tithes Total 123,470  128,409  133,545  138,887  144,442  

Total Ordinary Income 123,470  128,409  133,545  138,887  144,442  

Ordinary Expense
Administrative & Operational

6100 Accounting & Audit 1,500   1,250   1,250   1,250   1,250   
6101 GC Secretary Honorarium 3,960   4,100   4,300   4,450   4,600   
6105 GC Meeting (Triennial) 5,000   -  -  5,000   -  
6106 Travel-Non Committee 7,500   7,500   7,500   7,500   7,500   
6110 Office Expenses-Presiding Bishop 1,000   1,000   1,000   1,000   1,000   
6110.01 Office Exp. PB CHC Admin Support 8,250   8,500   8,900   9,300   9,600   
6110.02 Office Exp. PB CHC Office Support 6,000   6,250   6,500   6,750   7,000   
6110.03 Office Exp. PB Storage Facility 825  1,000   1,000   1,000   1,000   
6111 Presiding Bishop Salary & Benefits 41,360  43,000  44,700  46,500  48,300  
6112 Treasurer Honorarium 5,500   5,700   5,900   6,100   6,400   
6113 Vice-President Honorarium 3,300   3,400   3,600   3,700   3,900   
6114 IT & Web Admin 5,500   5,700   5,900   6,100   6,400   
6115 Committee Expense Total 2,500   2,500   2,500   2,500   2,500   
6116 General Liability/D&O Insurance 4,500   4,500   4,500   4,500   4,500   
6117 Chaplaincy Fund Support 1,000   1,000   1,000   1,000   1,000   

Total Administrative & Operational 97,695  95,400  98,550  106,650  104,950  

Ecumenical Expenses
6201 Ecum. Meeting & Travel 11,500  11,500  11,500  11,500  11,500  
6202 Tithe To ACNA 12,000  12,841  13,355  13,889  14,444  

Ecumenical Expenses Total 23,500  24,341  24,855  25,389  25,944  

Total Ordinary Expense 121,195  119,741  123,405  132,039  130,894  

Change In Net Assets Due To Ordinary Revenue & Expense 2,275  8,668  10,141  6,848  13,548  

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
Increase(Decrease) in Assets from Other Activity Budget Projection Projection Projection Projection

Investment Income (General Fund portion only)
4014 Investment Income 31,000  31,000  31,000  31,000  31,000  

Investment Inc Total 31,000  31,000  31,000  31,000  31,000  

31,000  31,000  31,000  31,000  31,000  

33,275  39,668  41,141  37,848  44,548  

The Sustentation Fund
of the Reformed Episcopal Church

2023 Budget & 2024 - 2027 Projections

Total Increase(Decrease) in Assets from Other Activity 

Total Increase(Decrease) in Assets from All Activity

----------------------------------------------------------- 
Sustentation & REC100 Treasurer

----------------------------------------------- 
4C - 5



ASSETS 12/31/2021 12/31/2022
Cash

1001 INB REC100 X4798 223,503.14  339,131.95  
1011 Waxahachie Petty Cash 120.00  120.00  
1011.1 GSAF CO Springs Petty Cash 147.08  94.59 
1011.2 Spartanburg Petty Cash - 1,191.78 
1011.3 HC Oratory Petty Cash - 857.38 

Cash Total 223,770.22  341,395.70  

Other Assets
1100 REC100 Prepaid Percept Reports 1,980.00  1,980.00  
1110 REC100 Edward Jones X1895 126,719.42  178,300.06  
1200.1 Spartanburg Venue Deposit - 700.00 

Other Assets Total 128,699.42  180,980.06  

TOTAL ASSETS 352,469.64  522,375.76  

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
2000.1 REC100 PPD Sp. Projects/Actions - 1,500.00 

Total Liabilities (Gen. Con. deposits) - 1,500.00 

Restricted Assets
3101 REC100 Diocese of NE & MA 28,519.97  42,772.42  
3102 REC100 Diocese of Southeast 16,229.19  18,473.93  
3103 REC100 Diocese of Mid-America 25,920.31  26,732.31  
3104 REC100 Diocese of Central States 61,783.84  53,213.31  
3300 REC100 St. Benedicts (Rockwall, TX) 245.78  96.18 
3301 REC100 (Covington) 11,081.13  12,917.09  
3302 REC100 (Waxahachie) 511.01  34.26 
3310 REC100 (Atlanta) 39,577.26  61,839.87  
3312 REC100 (Spartanburg) 72,799.41  57,744.38  
3313 REC100 GSAF (CO Springs) 35,603.25  90,187.78  
3314 REC100 HC Oratory (CO Springs) (2,000.34)  7,731.78  
3314.1 REC100 HC Oratory Bldg/Leasehold - 100,000.00 
3315 REC100 (Lansing) - 2,417.09 

Restricted Assets Total 290,270.81  474,160.40  

Unrestricted Assets
3000 REC100 Administrative 62,198.83  46,715.36  

Unrestricted Assets Total 62,198.83  46,715.36  

TOTAL LIABILITIES & NET ASSETS 352,469.64  522,375.76  

REC100
Statement of Financial Position

2021 - 2022

----------------------------------------------------------- 
Sustentation & REC100 Treasurer

----------------------------------------------- 
4C - 6



2021 2022
Actual Actual

(3000) REC100 Administrative
Income

4000 Admin Direct Income 1,966.77  2,174.29  
4001 Admin Assessment Inc. 21,536.82  13,970.33  
4001.1 Admin Tithe Inc. 1,714.56  4,928.91  
4002 Admin  Div/Int Inc. 2,062.58  1,203.39  

Income Total 27,280.73  22,276.92  

Expenditures
6000 Admin General Expense -  -  
6001 Admin CC Proc Fees (40.37)  0.37  
6002 Honorariums & Salaries - 500.00 
6002.01 National Canon Missioner 10,833.33  9,999.96 
6002.02 Treasurer 5,000.00  5,000.00 
6002.04 Special Projects/Actions - 1,500.00 
6004 Meeting Expense - 937.50 
6004.03 Non-Retreat Travel 684.23  1,608.07 
6005 Admin Accounting/Audit 1,171.17  287.78 
6006 Admin Veritas Expense 537.18  271.55 
6007 Admin Non-Comm Mtg Expense -  -  
6008.01 Front Porch Newsletter 447.72  773.09 
6008.02 Lenten Offering Materials 6,015.09  2,250.66  
6008.04 Software & Subscriptions 180.00  -  
6008.05 Website & Social Media 233.82  -  
6009 Admin Other Expense -  -  
6010 Admin Gen. Liab/D&O Exp 2,805.00  2,988.35  

Expenditures Total 27,867.17  26,117.33  

Admin Surplus/(Deficit) (586.44)  (3,840.41)  
Admin Unrealized Gain/Loss 34,119.49    (11,643.06)  

33,533.05  (15,483.47)  

REC100
Statement of Activities

2021 - 2022

----------------------------------------------------------- 
Sustentation & REC100 Treasurer

----------------------------------------------- 
4C - 7



Beg. Balance End. Balance
Fund Name 1/1/2021 Donations Distributions 12/31/2022

3101 REC100 Diocese of NE & MA 17,566.12  28,174.97  (2,968.67)  42,772.42  
3102 REC100 Diocese of Southeast 11,095.34  14,187.11  (6,808.52)       18,473.93  
3103 REC100 Diocese of Mid-America 40,588.90  121,452.68  (135,309.27)  26,732.31  
3104 REC100 Diocese of Central States 44,210.36  36,869.58  (27,866.63)    53,213.31  
3300 REC100 St. Benedicts (Rockwall, TX) 463.16  5,250.00  (5,616.98)       96.18  
3301 REC100 Christ The King (Covington, LA) 2,054.04  15,955.00  (5,091.95)       12,917.09  
3302 REC100 St. Mark's (Waxahachie, TX 3,475.26  22,636.00  (26,077.00)    34.26  
3310 REC100 Christ The King (Atlanta) 39,235.56  297,748.31  (275,144.00)  61,839.87  
3311 REC100 Christ The King (Atlanta) Special Gift 3,000.00  - (3,000.00) -  
3312 REC100 (Spartanburg) 1,884.33  240,188.49  (184,328.44) 57,744.38  
3313 REC100 GSAF (CO Springs) 15,000.00  109,094.73  (33,906.95) 90,187.78  
3314 REC100 HC Oratory (CO Springs) - 100,596.51 (92,864.73) 7,731.78  
3314 REC100 HC Oratory Bldg/Leasehold - 100,000.00 - 100,000.00 
3315 REC100 (Lansing) - 2,850.00 (432.91)  2,417.09 

178,573.07  1,095,003.38  (799,416.05)  474,160.40  

Detailed breakdowns are provided to the General Committee at each regular meeting and are
available in the minutes of the General Committee or upon request.

REC100
Restricted Asset Report

2021 - 2022

----------------------------------------------------------- 
Sustentation & REC100 Treasurer

----------------------------------------------- 
4C - 8



2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
Budget Projection Projection Projection Projection

(3000) REC100 Administrative
Income

4000 Admin Direct Income 2,100.00  2,100.00  2,100.00  2,100.00  2,100.00  
4001 Admin Assessment Inc 14,000.00  17,500.00  17,500.00  17,500.00  17,500.00  

4001.1 Admin Tithe Inc - 5,000.00 5,000.00  5,000.00  5,000.00  

4002 Admin  Div/Int Inc. 1,200.00  1,300.00 1,300.00  1,300.00  1,300.00  

Income Total 17,300.00  25,900.00  25,900.00  25,900.00  25,900.00  

Expenditures
Honorariums & Salaries

6002 Honorariums & Salaries -  -  -  -  -  
6002.01 National Canon Missioner 11,000.00  11,000.00  11,000.00  11,000.00  11,000.00  
6002.02 Treasurer 5,500.00  5,500.00  5,500.00  5,500.00  5,500.00  

6002.03 Media Coordinator -  -  -  -  -  

Honorariums & Salaries Total 16,500.00  16,500.00  16,500.00  16,500.00  16,500.00  

Meetings & Travel
6004 Meeting Expense 1,000.00  1,000.00  1,000.00  1,000.00  1,000.00  
6004.03 Non-Retreat Travel 1,700.00  1,700.00  1,700.00  1,700.00  1,700.00  

Meetings & Travel Total 2,700.00  2,700.00  2,700.00  2,700.00  2,700.00  

Operational Expense
6005 Admin Accounting/Audit 300.00  300.00  300.00  300.00  300.00  
6006 Admin Veritas Expense 300.00  300.00  300.00  300.00  300.00  
6008.1 Front Porch Newsletter 800.00  800.00  800.00  800.00  800.00  

6008.2 Lenten Offering Material 2,300.00  2,300.00  2,300.00  2,300.00  2,300.00  

6010 Admin Gen. Liab./D&O Expense 3,000.00  3,000.00  3,000.00  3,000.00  3,000.00  

Operational Expense Total 6,700.00  6,700.00  6,700.00  6,700.00  6,700.00  

Total Expenditures 25,900.00  25,900.00  25,900.00  25,900.00  25,900.00  

Admin Surplus/(Deficit) (8,600.00)  -  -  -  -  

REC100
2023 Budget & 2024 - 2027 Projections

----------------------------------------------------------- 
Sustentation & REC100 Treasurer

----------------------------------------------- 
4C - 9





Report of the Treasurer of the Board of Pensions and Relief  
To the General Council of the Reformed Episcopal Church   2023 
 
 As we all know, 2022 was not a good year in the markets. Fixed interest rates were very low and the 
markets were all down. ere was virtually no safe haven. As a result, our pension fund ended 2022 with a 
loss of 13.25% despite a relatively strong 4th quarter. We should, however, keep in mind that 2022 did not 
wipe out the gains for 2020 and 2021 which were 11.7% and 10.35% respectively. Further some of the 
other funds and indexes lost as much as 19% or more in 2022.    
 
 With each passing year the activity of the treasurer and secretary increases and the administrative 
task grows.   ere are currently 248 total participants in the pension program.   196 of those are still active 
in ministry.     In 2022 alone, we processed $940,578.12 in withdrawals taken by 42 different recipients.  
We field several requests each week for information and advice.  We processed contributions for each of 
those still active in ministry.  Some of those are made annually, some quarterly and a number monthly.   
Each contribution is tracked 3 times.  Once by the secretary who maintains a running record of 
contributions along with photocopies of each contribution check and allocation.   e treasurer maintains a 
separate record of contributions in a different location and the plan administrator, BEON maintains a third 
with secure backups.    
 
 e following is a breakdown of the age groups participating in our pension program. 
 
 Under 30   3 
 30-39  25 
 40-49  34 
 50-59  47 
 60-69  64 
 70+  74 
 
 e census shows an aging clergy who will increasingly need access to the pension funds deposited 
to their accounts. 
 
 One of the questions we receive on a regular basis is, “Should I roll my pension money into another 
investment vehicle?”   is usually follows a visit to an financial advisor who is seeking to manage funds.   
With few exceptions, the answer to the question should be a resounding “No.”   e reason is that 
withdrawals from our pension program can be taken as a housing allowance by clergy in retirement.   us 
avoiding taxes on distributions.   ese tax savings more than offset the potential of greater gains some 
promise.   Further, they can satisfy the Required Mandatory Distribution.     
 
 We also maintain a disability and life insurance program for clergy and employees.   In April we 
changed carriers.   e previous carrier was raising rates which would have necessitated an increase in 
premiums to our parishes.   e new carrier has met our premium needs to the effect that we will not need 
to raise the premiums we pass along to our parishes.   We are locking those premiums in for the next three 
years.   us the $560 paid for each participant will have remained stable for eight years.    e coverage is 
as follows:    
 Disability, 60% of monthly salary up to $2000 per month after 180 days.   
 Life Ins., $50,000 35% reduction at age 65, Addt’l 25% at 70, Addt’l 20% at 75  
 
 e third program is the annual collection of and distribution of gifts for our retired and disabled 
clergy and widows.    2022 was a disappointing year for this activity as the following chart shows. 
  

------------------------------------------------------------------ 
Board of Pensions & Publication Society - Treasurer

----------------------------------------- 
4E - 1



Annual Fund contributions: 
2017 $9874, 2018 $20626, 2019  $9188, 2020  $5920,  2021 $8540,    2022  $7355 

What the chart doesn’t show is that $5000 of the 2022 contribution was received as an emergency 
gift requested of one of our parishes.   For the two trienniums combined we collected $61,505.00 and 
through rounding distributed $63,477 to our retired and disabled clergy and widows.  If 2023 
contributions are similar to those received in 2022 the gifts distributed will be less than $60 each.   We urge 
our parishes to take note of the annual offering and contribute to this worthy project.  

At the time of this writing the official auditor has been contacted and a request made to audit the 
books of the board. 

Respectfully submitted 

e Rev. Dr. Jon W. Abboud 

------------------------------------------------------------------ 
Board of Pensions & Publication Society - Treasurer

----------------------------------------- 
4E - 2



The Board of Pensions and Relief For the Triennium 2017-2019 and Triennium 2020-2022

Starting Cash Balance (Operating Account) As of 12/31/16 from 2016 report 61,836.59$                   
Adjustment to starting balance as a result of voiding outstanding checks 250.00$                         

starting cash balance 12/31/2016 62,086.59$                   

Increase to Cash Balance "2017 "2018 "2019 2020        2021 2022
Disability Premiums Collected 46,733.00$              54,753.35$                    53,058.00$                   49,638.32$                   49,080.00$                     $ 48,073.00
Investment Account Withdrawals 95,496.85$              97,820.44$                    100,377.45$                 100,997.34$                 111,755.83$                  $ 104,581.71
Pension Contributions Received 675,400.57$            666,053.45$                  721,739.71$                 886,571.79$                 607,021.07$                  $ 828,388.66
Annual fund contribution 9,874.00$                 20,626.19$                    9,188.18$                      5,920.00$                     8,540.00$                       $ 7,355.00
Scholarship Funding 750.00$                    750.00$                          1,500.00$                      -$                              -$                                $ 0.00
Ministerial Relief Contribution 2,500.00$                     -$                                $ 0.00
Total Increase to Cash Balance 828,254.42$            840,003.43$                 885,863.34$                 1,045,627.45$             776,396.90$                  $ 988,398.37

Decrease to Cash Balance  
Administrative Expense 96,086.93$              97,996.61$                    96,161.03$                   101,357.73$                 111,605.83$                  $ 103,826.82
Audit 1,000.00$                 -$                               -$                              -$                                
Bond Renewal 150.00$                    150.00$                          150.00$                         150.00$                         150.00$                          $ 150.00
Disability Premiums Paid 38,724.44$              47,786.50$                    46,450.16$                   42,431.63$                   45,908.39$                     $ 41,256.44
Pension Contributions Forwarded 675,400.57$            666,053.48$                  721,739.71$                 886,571.79$                 607,098.11$                  $ 828,388.66
Annual Fund distributions 9,350.00$                 17,000.00$                    12,590.00$                   8,675.00$                     9,000.00$                       $ 6,862.02
Ministerial Relief Dist 2,000.00$                 -$                               2,500.00$                      1,500.00$                     -$                                $ 0.00
Scholarships Funded 1,500.00$                 1,500.00$                      -$                              -$                              -$                                $ 0.00
Total Decrease to Cash Balance 824,211.94$            830,486.59$                 879,590.90$                 1,040,686.15$             773,762.33$                  $ 980,483.94
Net Increase/Decrease to Cash Balance (Operating Account) 19,831.76$                   4,941.30$                     2,634.57$                       $ 7,914.43

Ending Cash Balances 81,918.35$                   86,859.65$                   $ 89,494.22 $ 97,408.65

Investment Account #1  
12/31/2017 0:00 12/31/2018 0:00 12/31/2019 0:00 12/31/2020 0:00 12/31/2021 0:00 12/31/2022 0:00

Rich Fund 3,129.86$                 2,952.21$                      3,402.33$                      3,751.72$                     4,191.88$                       $ 3,719.40
Widows & Orphans 1,877.87$                 1,771.29$                      2,041.30$                      2,250.72$                     2,515.08$                       $ 2,231.64
Ministerial Relief 15,902.32$              14,999.74$                    17,286.18$                   19,059.56$                   21,298.30$                     $ 18,898.04
Episcopal Relief 9,306.57$                 8,778.36$                      10,116.47$                   11,154.32$                   12,464.50$                     $ 11,059.78
Kearney Fund 99,461.80$              91,110.92$                    100,399.93$                 108,287.10$                 118,764.38$                  $ 103,334.22
Administrative Reserve 24,594.84$              23,198.89$                    26,735.26$                   28,256.19$                   30,048.36$                     $ 25,442.91

Total  154,273.26$            142,811.41$                 159,981.47$                 172,759.61$                 189,282.50$                  $ 164,685.99
MPPP Account #2   (Pension Account)
Total Account Balance
Performance Percentage 10,048,252.12$     9,643,718.28$             11,172,669.87$          12,950,861.36$          $ 14,444,613.20 $ 12,272,519.56

11.16% -5.28% 16% 11.70% 10.35% -13.2500%

------------------------------------------------------------------ 
Board of Pensions & Publication Society - Treasurer

----------------------------------------- 
4E - 3



Episcopal Recorder For the Triennium 2017- 2019, and Triennium 2020 - 2022
Revenue 2017 2018 2019 2020 Total 2021 2022

Sales 12,126.00$                    11,146.68$              9,990.84$                      10,867.47$                   44,130.99$                   13,741.94$                     13,058.21$                        
Contributions 11,599.98$                    -$                         11,599.98$                   -$                                10,000.00$                        
Total Revenues 23,725.98$                    11,146.68$              9,990.84$                      10,867.47$                   55,730.97$                   13,741.94$                    23,058.21$                        

Expenses
Admin/Office 13,312.26$                    3,620.05$                 3,875.89$                      2,745.60$                      23,553.80$                   4,037.11$                       $ 4,397.55
Printed Books 17,360.42$                    1,846.48$                      18,857.23$                   38,064.13$                   6,712.27$                       $ 0.00
Other Products -$                         27.09$                            500.00$                         527.09$                         1,586.15$                       $ 393.38
Total Expenses 30,672.68$                    3,620.05$                 5,749.46$                      22,102.83$                   62,145.02$                   12,335.53$                     4,790.93$                          
Revenue in excess of Expense (6,946.70)$                   7,526.63$               4,241.38$                     (11,235.36)$                (6,414.05)$                  1,406.41$                     18,267.28$                      

12/31/2016 12/31/2017 12/31/2018 12/31/2019 12/31/2020 12/31/2021 12/31/2022
Balance 13,066.69$                    6,119.99$                13,646.62$                    17,888.00$                   6,652.64$                     $ 8,059.05 $ 26,326.33

------------------------------------------------------------------ 
Board of Pensions & Publication Society - Treasurer

----------------------------------------- 
4E - 4



COMMITTEE ON DOCTRINE & WORSHIP REPORT

57th General Council of the Reformed Episcopal Church
June 7-9, 2023

The Committee on Doctrine and Worship met once since the 56th General Council in 2021. The
meeting was held via Zoom video conference on Monday, November 7, 2022. The members
voted to accept the following submissions from the Standing Liturgical Committee for the Book
of Occasional Services:

1. For inclusion in a new section entitled “LITANIES”
a. Litany for Missions
b. Litany for Marriage

2. For inclusion under “Supplemental Approved Services” on the REC website,
“Resources” (not in BOS)
a. Litany for Christian Education

3. For inclusion under “Blessings for Various Occasions - Episcopal Blessings”
a. Prayer of Blessing for the Anniversary of the Setting Apart of a Deaconess

At the request of the Rev. George McCray, the committee voted to ask the Standing Liturgical
Committee to include with the section on Litanies in the Book of Occasional Services an
instructional rubric explaining the purpose and proper use of litanies.

Respectfully submitted,

Dss. Canon Annette M. Johnson, M.A.R.

Secretary for the Committee

The Very Rev. Canon Dr. Charles F. Camlin, Chair

--------------------------------------------------------------- 
Doctrine & Worship 

------------------------------------------- 
4F - 1





REPORT of the STANDING LITURGICAL COMMITTEE

57th General Council of the Reformed Episcopal Church
June 7-9, 2023

During the two years since General Council met in 2021, the Standing Liturgical Committee (SLC) has
met three times via Zoom Video Conference. Most of the work of the committee has concentrated on
revising and correcting the Book of Occasional Services in order to prepare it for publication. Once all
revisions have been made and approved, the new sections will replace the older versions that are
available online in downloadable form on the REC website “Resources” page. However, it has been
approved by the SLC and General Committee to publish the book in hard copy whenever funds allow
us to do so.

Early in 2022, the committee learned that the Chair, The Very Rev. Jerry Kistler, had been diagnosed
and was undergoing treatment for a dire illness. He informed Bishop Sutton that he was unable to
continue to chair the committee, but would participate as he was able.  Bishop Sutton called upon the
Secretary, Dss. Canon Annette Johnson, to step in as Interim Chair. On January 10, 2023, Fr. Jerry
succumbed to his illness and went to be with the Lord. Dss. Canon Annette was asked to continue as
Chair until the end of the term.

Book of Occasional Services (2022 - 2023)

Several amendments, corrections, and rubrical revisions have been made to the offices, some for
consistency and others for clarity or to correct grammatical errors. Some services were moved to
different positions to accommodate a new section entitled “Litanies”. Within this section are the Litany
for the Church, Litany for Marriage, Litany for Missions, and A Litany for a Sick Person. The following
services were also added to the BOS: The Blessing of a Grave or Cemetery (from the Book of Occasional
Offices, PECUSA,1960); Prayer of Blessing for the Anniversary of the Setting Apart of a Deaconess, placed
under Episcopal Blessings in the Blessings for Various Occasions. These services are appended to this
report, and, having passed the scrutiny of the Committee on Doctrine and Worship, are recommended
for the General Council’s approval.

Supplemental Approved Services (online)

Several litanies submitted for consideration were thought to be more appropriately placed in the
Supplemental Approved Services category online. These litanies include: the Service of The Beatitudes
of the Gospel (from the Visitation Handbook); Litany for Christian Education; and Litany for Holy
Innocents (still under revision for traditional language and not yet approved by Doctrine & Worship).
The committee recommends the Litany for Christian Education appended to this report for General
Council’s approval, having been approved by the Doctrine & Worship Committee.

REC Book of Common Prayer

While conducting some comparative word searches between the BOS and the BCP for consistency,
the committee discovered five instances in the REC Book of Common Prayer where the word
“Table” was used as a stand-alone word in the rubrics referring to the Lord’s Table. It was
discovered that was not the case in other classic prayer books used for comparison. In each instance
“Table” was qualified by the words “Holy”, “Communion”, or “the Lord’s”, depending on the
context. This discovery led to other word changes in the BCP that were found in need of correction.
Therefore, the SLC recommends the following changes prior to its next printing:

----------------------------------------------------------------- 
Standing Liturgical Commission

----------------------------------------- 
4G - 1



1. Correct the use of the word “Table” in the rubrics and replace with “Holy Table”; “the
Lord’s Table”; or “Communion Table” as proper for the context

2. Correct the word “glistening” to “glistering” as it is found in St. Luke 9:29 KJV, in the
Collect & Gospel Propers for the Transfiguration

3. Correct the Canadian prayers in Morning and Evening Prayer referring to the
“Queen’s Majesty” with more generic words referring to the Monarchy, if possible

Upon approval, the specific changes referred to in these items will be forwarded to Mrs. Nelda Banek,
Custodian of the Book of Common Prayer, to make the necessary revisions.

The members of the Standing Liturgical Committee should be commended for their detailed work on
the various projects they have been asked to complete. Special appreciation goes to The Rev. Robert
Peterson who has taken on the task of formatting (and reformatting) the Book of Occasional Services,
both for use online and for publication,  and making all of the necessary revisions when needed.

Respectfully submitted,

Dss. Canon Annette M. Johnson, M.A.R.
Secretary & Chair

----------------------------------------------------------------- 
Standing Liturgical Commission

----------------------------------------- 
4G - 2



A Litan y  fo r Mis s io n s  

O God the Father, Creator of heaven and earth; 
Have mercy upon us. 
O God the Son, Redeemer of the world; 
Have mercy upon us. 
O God the Holy Ghost, Sanctifier of the Faithful; 
Have mercy upon us. 
O holy, blessed, and glorious Trinity, one God; 
Have mercy upon us. 

WE beseech thee to hear us, O Lord God; and that it may please thee to plant thy holy Church in all
the world, that the Name of thy Son Jesus Christ may be known and worshipped by all peoples, 

We beseech thee to hear us, Good Lord. 
That it may please thee to awaken a zeal for missions in the hearts of all thy people, 

We beseech thee to hear us, Good Lord. 
That it may please thee to send forth laborers into thy harvest throughout the world, 

We beseech thee to hear us, Good Lord. 
That it may please thee to enkindle within thy faithful people an awareness of mission and a willingness
to provide faithful support, 

We beseech thee to hear us, Good Lord. 
That it may please thee to revive thy Church in North America and the Christian West, 

We beseech thee to hear us, Good Lord. 
That it may please thee to restore and enlarge thy Church in the Caribbean and Central and South
America, 

We beseech thee to hear us, Good Lord 
That it may please thee to prosper and protect thy Church in Africa, 

We beseech thee to hear us, Good Lord. 
That it may please thee to raise up faithful evangelists to restore the Church in Europe, 

We beseech thee to hear us, Good Lord. 
That it may please thee to increase the Christian witness among the people of the Middle East, 

We beseech thee to hear us, Good Lord. 
That it may please thee to invigorate those who proclaim and incarnate the Gospel in China, India, and
all Asia, 

We beseech thee to hear us, Good Lord. 
That it may please thee to grant stability in the Holy Land and peace to Jerusalem, that the Gospel of
thy Son may be heard, loved, and obeyed, 

We beseech thee to hear us, Good Lord.
That it may please thee to relieve and protect all members of thy Church who suffer persecution for the
Faith throughout the world, 

We beseech thee to hear us, Good Lord. 
That it may please thee to give to all people increase of grace to hear meekly thy Word, and to receive
it with pure affection, and to bring forth the fruits of the Spirit, 

We beseech thee to hear us, Good Lord. 
That it may please thee to prosper ministry among immigrants, the neglected, and forlorn,

We beseech thee to hear us, Good Lord. 

----------------------------------------------------------------- 
Standing Liturgical Commission

----------------------------------------- 
4G - 3



That it may please thee to convict and convert the apostate, self-righteous, and deceived, and to draw
all sinners to repentance, 

We beseech thee to hear us, Good Lord. 
That it may please thee to enlighten with saving faith those who worship the Creation rather than their
Creator, 

We beseech thee to hear us, Good Lord. 
That it may please thee to illuminate all Ministers with true knowledge and understanding of thy Word;
and that both by their preaching and living they may set it forth, and show it accordingly, 

We beseech thee to hear us, Good Lord. 
That it may please thee to assist with thy grace Reformed Episcopal missionaries and their families, both
at home and abroad, 

We beseech thee to hear us, Good Lord. 
That it may please thee to enlighten all seekers, and to strengthen all catechumens and converts, 

We beseech thee to hear us, Good Lord. 
That it may please thee to empower all baptized Christians to be faithful to their calling in their daily
life and work in thy Name, 

We beseech thee to hear us, Good Lord. 
That it may please thee to guide Bishops, Priests, and Deacons, and all who minister in thy Church,
 We beseech thee to hear us, Good Lord. 
That it may please thee to deliver all nations and people from slavery and oppression, 

We beseech thee to hear us, Good Lord. 
That it may please thee to enable sound learning and uphold the work of education in schools and
learning centers everywhere, 

We beseech thee to hear us, Good Lord. 
That it may please thee to bless medical, agricultural, and economic missions, 

We beseech thee to hear us, Good Lord. 
That it may please thee to guide and inspire all Bible translators, that thy Word may be proclaimed in
all tongues, 

We beseech thee to hear us, Good Lord. 
That it may please thee to restore unity among all who love thee, 

We beseech thee to hear us, Good Lord. 

The Lord be with you. 
And with thy spirit. 

Let us pray. 

Lord have mercy upon us. 
Christ have mercy upon us. 

Lord have mercy upon us.

----------------------------------------------------------------- 
Standing Liturgical Commission

----------------------------------------- 
4G - 4



OUR Father, who art in heaven, Hallowed be thy Name. Thy kingdom come. Thy will be done, On
earth as it is in heaven. Give us this day our daily bread. And forgive us our trespasses, As we forgive
those who trespass against us. And lead us not into temptation, But deliver us from evil. Amen. 

O GOD, who hast made of one blood all nations of men for to dwell on the face of the whole earth,
and didst send thy blessed Son to preach peace to those who are far off and to those who are nigh;
Grant that all men everywhere may seek after thee and find thee. Pour out thy Spirit upon all flesh, bring
the nations into thy fold, and hasten the coming of thy kingdom; through the same thy Son Jesus Christ
our Lord. Amen. 

O LORD Jesus Christ, the Desire of all nations, who didst come down from heaven to seek and to save
the lost; Grant thy blessing, we beseech thee, upon thy missionary servants who are carrying the light
of thy Gospel to the dark places of the earth. Preserve them from every danger to which they may be
exposed; from perils by land and sea, from persecution and pestilence, from discouragement in their
labors, and from the devices of the adversary. May they see thy work prospering in their hands; and do
thou hasten the time, O gracious Savior, when the multitude of the heathen shall be gathered into thy
fold, and when all in every land who neglect thy salvation shall be converted unto thee. And to thee,
Lord Jesus, be the praise; unto whom, with the Father and the Holy Spirit, be all honor and glory, world
without end. Amen. 

O ALMIGHTY Father, thou King eternal, immortal, invisible, thou only wise God our Savior; Hasten,
we beseech thee, the coming upon earth of the kingdom of thy Son, our Lord and Savior Jesus Christ,
and draw the whole world of mankind into willing obedience to his blessed reign. Overcome all his
enemies, and bring low every power that is exalted against him. Cast out all the evils which cause wars
and fightings amongst us, and let thy Spirit rule the hearts of men in righteousness and love. Repair the
desolations of former days; rejoice the wilderness with beauty; and make glad the city with thy law.
Establish every work that is founded on truth and equity, and fulfill all the good hopes and desires of
thy people. Manifest thy will, Almighty Father, in the brotherhood of man, and bring in universal peace;
through the victory of thy Son, Jesus Christ our Lord. Amen. 

O Lord, arise, help us, and deliver us for thy Name’s sake. 

O GOD, we have heard with our ears, and our fathers have declared unto us, the noble works that thou
didst in their days, and in the old time before them. 

O Lord, arise, help us, and deliver us for thine honour. 

THE Lord bless us and keep us. The Lord make his face to shine upon us, and be gracious unto us. The
Lord lift up his countenance upon us, and give us peace, both now and evermore. Amen. 

Adapted for use in the 

REFORMED EPISCOPAL CHURCH, 
a Founding Member of the ANGLICAN CHURCH IN NORTH AMERICA

 from 
“Liturgy for Mission: The Litany and Prayers of the People” 

Prepared and published by the World Mission Committee
 of the Episcopal Diocese of Fort Worth

 for use in any Anglican Church. 

----------------------------------------------------------------- 
Standing Liturgical Commission

----------------------------------------- 
4G - 5



A LITANY FOR MARRIAGE 

ALMIGHTY GOD, OUR HEAVENLY FATHER, the Giver of every good gift; we thank thee for creating
mankind in thine image, male and female, and ordaining that a man and a woman be joined as one flesh in the
covenant of marriage.

We thank thee, O Lord.

O GOD, the Father of Thine only begotten Son, we thank thee for the gift and heritage of children and for homes
which may be havens of blessing and peace.

We thank thee, O Lord.

OUR HEAVENLY FATHER, from whom every family in heaven and earth is named, we thank thee for the love
that binds fathers and mothers, sons and daughters together from generation to generation, undergirding the social
fabric of our nation.

We thank thee, O Lord.

O LORD JESUS CHRIST, divine Bridegroom, we confess and repent of our unfaithfulness to the covenant  of
marriage, by too often dishonorably pursuing the selfish desires of our own hearts.

Lord, have mercy upon us.

WE CONFESS AND REPENT of our failure to prepare the children in thy Church for holy matrimony and 
inadequately caring for those who are widowed, unmarried, or victims of a broken marriage.

Lord, have mercy upon us.

WE CONFESS AND REPENT of our complacency and neglect as citizens in the defense of marriage in the public
square.

Lord, have mercy upon us.

O HOLY SPIRIT, by thy quickening grace, revive the marriages of thy people as emblems of thy love, and
mercifully restore the sacrament of marriage to its honorable estate in our nation.

WE beseech thee to hear us, O Lord.

ALMIGHTY AND EVERLASTING GOD, send down upon our Bishops and other ministers in thy Church, the
healthful Spirit of thy grace, that they may faithfully uphold the sacrament of marriage against those that would
gainsay thy holy institution.

WE beseech thee to hear us, O Lord.

O MERCIFUL GOD, who desires not the death of a sinner, but rather that he would be converted and live, make
those who have promoted false teaching about marriage as well as those who have been led astray and harmed by
it, to be deeply sensible of their transgression, and work in them an hearty contrition, that they may obtain
forgiveness at thy hands.

Graciously hear us, O Christ; graciously hear us, O Lord Christ.

----------------------------------------------------------------- 
Standing Liturgical Commission

----------------------------------------- 
4G - 6



ALMIGHTY TRIUNE GOD, the strength of all those who put their trust in thee; Grant us courage to hold fast
to the truth of Thy Holy Word, and give grace to those who are counted worthy to suffer for the Name of our Lord
Jesus Christ.

“Now unto him that is able to keep you from falling, and to present you faultless before the presence 
of his glory with exceeding joy, To the only wise God our Saviour, be glory and majesty, dominion  and
power, both now and ever. Amen.” (Jude 24,25)

A PRAYER FOR MARRIAGE 

ALMIGHTY GOD OUR HEAVENLY FATHER, Maker of heaven and earth, who made man in 
thine image, male and female, and ordained that a man shall leave his father and mother and be  joined
to his wife; Look upon thy household the Church and upon our nation with the eyes of thy  mercy; Knit
together in constant affection whose who in holy matrimony have been made one flesh;  Turn the heart
of the fathers to the children, and the heart of the children to the fathers, and set the  solitary in families.
And we beseech to grant, that thy Church may steadfastly defend the  unchangeable bond of marriage
signifying the loving mystical union that is betwixt Christ and his  Church; through the same Jesus Christ
our Lord, to whom with thee and the Holy Ghost, be all  honor and glory, world without end. Amen.

----------------------------------------------------------------- 
Standing Liturgical Commission

----------------------------------------- 
4G - 7



Litany for Christian Education

¶ After the teachers of the school [as well as those who teach in other schools, or who home-school] have assembled before
the chancel, the Minister shall say,

The Lord be with you.
And with thy spirit.

Let us pray.

O God the Father, Creator of heaven and earth; have mercy upon us miserable sinners.
O God the Son, Redeemer of the world; have mercy upon us miserable sinners.
O God the Holy Ghost, Sanctifier of the faithful; have mercy upon us miserable sinners.
O holy, blessed, and glorious Trinity, one God; have mercy upon us miserable sinners.

We humbly beseech thee, O Father, mercifully to look upon our infirmities; and, for the glory of thy
Name, turn from us all those evils that we most justly have deserved; and grant, that in all our troubles
we may put our whole trust and confidence in thy mercy, and evermore serve thee in holiness and
pureness of living, to thy honor and glory; through our only Mediator and Advocate, Jesus Christ our
Lord.

O Lord, arise, help us, and deliver us for thy Name’s sake.

O Lord God, who art the giver of all wisdom, and dost will that thy children should grow in the fear
and love of thy Holy Name; Pour down, we beseech thee, upon [Name of school, or simply, our school(s)]
the dew of thy heavenly blessing.

We beseech thee to hear us, good Lord.

That it may please thee to strengthen and sanctify all who labor in this place that they grow in grace
and enjoy thy blessing as fellow-workers with thy Holy Spirit;

We beseech thee to hear us, good Lord.

That it may please thee to endue this school’s teachers with wisdom, zeal, and patience so that thy
Truth may be sincerely sought, faithfully received, and obediently followed;

We beseech thee to hear us, good Lord.

That it may please thee to inspire its pupils with the spirit of truth, honor, and humility so that they
may grow in grace and in the knowledge of our Lord and Saviour Jesus Christ;

We beseech thee to hear us, good Lord.

That it may please thee to grant to all in this school such a cheerful and forbearing spirit, such strength
of body, clearness of mind, and purity of heart that thy work may be heartily done and thy Name
glorified;

We beseech thee to hear us, good Lord.

----------------------------------------------------------------- 
Standing Liturgical Commission

----------------------------------------- 
4G - 8



That it may please thee to put far from the homes of families by our school, every root of bitterness,
desire for vainglory, and the pride of life;

We beseech thee to hear us, good Lord.

That it may please thee to fill the members of each family with faith, virtue, knowledge, temperance,
patience, and godliness;

We beseech thee to hear us, good Lord.

That it may please thee to turn the hearts of the fathers to the children, and the hearts of the
children to the fathers; so that a fervent loving-kindness might be enkindled among us all;

We beseech thee to hear us, good Lord.

Son of God, we beseech thee to hear us.
Son of God, we beseech thee to hear us.

O Lamb of God, that takest away the sins of the world;
Grant us thy peace.

Lord, have mercy upon us. Christ
have mercy upon us. Lord have
mercy upon us.

Glory be to the Father, and to the Son, and to the Holy Ghost;
As it was in the beginning, is now, and every shall be, world without end. Amen.

A Prayer for teachers.

Most merciful God, who art the fountain of all grace; Grant, we beseech thee, to those who teach in
schools or at home thy gifts of wisdom, gentleness, and patience. May they find their work a joy, and
count all labour light that is undertaken out of love for thee. Guard them from the tempation to a
careless and half-hearted service. May the remembrance of the solemn duty which is theirs be always
present with them. Bless their words to the good of the pupils committed to their care; and may thy
Holy Spirit so enforce the teaching given them that, at the last, the reward which thou hast promised
those who turn many to righteousness shall be theirs; all which we ask through Jesus Christ our Saviour.
Amen.

Benediction

God the Father, God the Son, God the Holy Spirit, bless you, and keep you; the LORD make his
Face to shine upon you, and be gracious unto you; the LORD lift up his countenance upon you, and
give you peace. Amen

----------------------------------------------------------------- 
Standing Liturgical Commission

----------------------------------------- 
4G - 9



Episcopal Blessings for Various Occasions

PRAYER OF BLESSING FOR THE ANNIVERSARY
OF THE SETTING APART OF A DEACONESS

Bishop. The Lord be with you.

Answer. And with thy spirit.

Bishop. Let us pray.

 ALMIGHTY God, Who has called this Thy servant, N., to the office and ministry of a Deaconess
 in Thy Church; mercifully grant at the ______ anniversary of her setting apart, thy heavenly

blessing; and so uphold her with thy grace and strengthen her with thy help, that in true humility and
fervent hope she may continue to offer herself for the accomplishment of thy will and the service of
thy Church, to the glory and honour of thy Name; through Jesus Christ our Lord. Amen.

Deaconess.

M OST Merciful Father, who has called me to be a servant within thy flock, fill me, I beseech 
thee, with a deep sense of my unworthiness, that with singleness of purpose and with a willing

mind, I may faithfully fulfil my vocation and always render a service to the benefit of those I serve
that is acceptable unto thee .

I acknowledge that on my own I am not worthy to serve in thy Name; yet I beseech thee, of
thy great goodness, graciously to accept this, the rededication of my life to thy service. Prosper my
work and defend me in thy faith. Give me such grace to follow, that wisely and charitably, prudently
and acceptably, I may be a witness to thy Gospel in word and deed, and so assist thy ministers, serve
the blind, comfort the needy and weary, support the weak, and guide the strong, especially among
thy women and children; that by all my words and actions I may aid in the spiritual and material
welfare of those who wait upon thee and those who are the least among us, showing forth thy honour
and glory through our Lord Jesus Christ, and for his Name’s sake. Amen.

People.

 COME, Holy Spirit, Shepherd of our bishops, priests, deacons, and deaconesses, especially N., 
whose  anniversary  we  celebrate  today,  and  guide  them who guide us;  Enlighten  the

understanding of the Scriptures for them who enlighten us; give blessing to them who give to us:
Grant that we may have such grace to succor those who serve and support those who lead us in
worshipping thy glory and in caring for the least of those among us; that in all our words and deeds
we may seek thy glory, and the increase of thy kingdom; through Jesus Christ our Lord. Amen.

Bishop.

 ALMIGHTY God, Father of all mercy, receive the prayers and intercessions of all thy servants 
who, either now or hereafter, entering into this thy House of Prayer, shall call upon thee; And

by thy grace prepare our hearts to serve thee with reverence and godly fear; that all who shall call
upon thee here may worship thee in Spirit and in Truth, and in their lives show forth thy praise;
through Jesus Christ our Lord. Amen.

¶ The Bishop shall conclude with this Blessing.

THE Blessing of God Almighty, the Father, the Son and the Holy Ghost, be upon you and remain
with you always. Amen.

----------------------------------------------------------------- 
Standing Liturgical Commission

----------------------------------------- 
4G - 10



Constitution & Canons  4H - 1  

 

Report of the Committee on Constitution and Canons 
to the 57th General Council 

To the Clergy & Lay Deputies of the Reformed Episcopal Church: 

The Committee met via Zoom on 7 November 2022 and 20 March 2023. In addition, the proposed 
revisions were presented to the General Committee in April of this year. As a result of these 
deliberations, the Committee is proposing the changes summarized below, which have been 
reviewed and approved by the REC Council of Bishops. 

The Committee’s primary focus has been a thorough review of the “Disciplinary Canons” found in 
Title II Ecclesiastical Discipline, which comprises Canons 25 through 35. Moderate to major 
changes are being proposed to Canons 27, 29, 30, and 32, and minor changes to Canons 25, 26, 31, 
33, and 35. 

The impetus of this review was a harassment claim in an ACNA diocese that has resulted in legal 
actions, court costs, and attorney fees against the diocese in question and consumed considerable 
time and energy. Lessons learned from these events, specifically in two areas, have guided the 
Committee’s work: 

1. It became clear that putting the Bishop at the center of all prosecution proceedings was 
unwise for multiple reasons. Therefore, the proposed revisions remove the Bishop Ordinary 
of the Diocese as the principal individual conducting such proceedings and transfer that 
potential liability more broadly to those more learned in the law and those with special 
training to investigate allegations of improper behavior. Provisions are made for response 
teams suited for specific needs, investigative teams, and flexibility in responding to various 
claims. 

2. Second, the lack of clear, well-defined court procedures and enumeration of the rights and 
the responsibilities of all parties was a hindrance to the goal of Christian discipline. Canon 
30 was revised to support the development of Rules of Procedure, a document that is 
separate from the Canons, to delineate the requirements for trial courts. 

Both the proposed Canon revisions and the Rules of Procedure specify that Courts act as a body 
that represents the Ecclesiastical Authority (defined as the Bishop Ordinary and Standing 
Committee of the Diocese), with the further assistance of persons learned in the law and the finer 
points of special cases such as child abuse, sexual harassment, or other cause of action that would 



Constitution & Canons  4H - 2  

open the REC Sub-Jurisdiction, any of its parishes, agencies, officers, or employees to liability, 
with a goal of seeking truth and a just resolution. 

Two enclosures accompany this letter for your review and consideration: (1) the full text of the 
Disciplinary Canons with proposed revisions marked and (2) the proposed Rules of Procedure. The 
Committee recommends that the REC General Council approve these amendments to the Canons. 
As a reminder, since no amendments are being proposed to the Constitution, the revisions to the 
Canons take immediate effect if passed by a two-thirds majority vote.  

Respectfully submitted, 

 

The Ven. James T. Payne Committee Chair 

Enclosures (2) 

  



Constitution & Canons  4H - 3  

Markup Key:  [Proposed addition] 
  Proposed deletion 

TITLE II: ECCLESIASTICAL DISCIPLINE 

CANON 25 
Of Amenability, Citation, [Counsel,] and Attendance 

Section 1 Every Bishop, Presbyter, or Deacon[, and Deaconess] shall be subject to [the discipline of this Church and] 
the jurisdiction of the Courts of the Church as provided herein. Every Lay communicant of the Church is likewise subject 
to the orders and requests of the Courts and shall attend any hearing or investigatory procedure at the request of the 
Courts. Notice of the nature of such order or request may be served upon such Clergyman or Layman in the manner 
provided in Section 2 hereof.  

Section 2 Any notice, citation, presentment, order, or request of any Court of the Church addressed to any Bishop, 
Presbyter, Deacon[, Deaconess], or Lay communicant of the Church may be served upon such person by 

(1) personal delivery to the individual; 

(2) delivery to the place of residence of such person or to a mature person residing therein; 

(3) delivery to the last known address of such person by registered or certified mail; or 

(4) if none of the above can be accomplished, by publication of notice of such citation in a newspaper of regular 
circulation within the County or City where such person is Canonically resident, for three consecutive issues of 
such newspaper; but for no less than three consecutive weeks, at least once a week for those three weeks. 

Section 3 Every Presbyter and Deacon shall be amenable to the Bishop of the Diocese or Missionary Diocese in 
which he is Canonically resident[, and every Deaconess shall be amenable to the Bishop of the Diocese or Missionary 
Diocese in which she serves]. Bishops shall be amenable to the Council of Bishops in all Canons respecting Ecclesiastical 
Discipline. 

Section 4 If the Presiding Bishop shall be the subject of any procedures pursuant to the Canons of Ecclesiastical 
Discipline, or any portion thereof, then and in that event, his place and stead in all procedures, as herein provided, shall 
be assumed by the most senior Bishop having jurisdiction in this Church. 

Section 5 (a) Any and all charges originating within the Reformed Episcopal Church against any Bishop, Presbyter, 
Deacon[, Deaconess], or Lay communicant shall be investigated and adjudicated under the Canons of this Church, and 
shall follow the appellate process of the same. However, if the Reformed Episcopal Church has constitutionally aligned 
itself with a National or Provincial Church, appeals related to the trial of a Bishop shall be conducted according to the 
canonical requirements of said National or Provincial Church. 

(b) Any charges originating against a Bishop of this Church at the level of a National or Provincial Church with which 
the Reformed Episcopal Church has constitutionally aligned itself shall be investigated and adjudicated under the Canons 
of said National or Provincial Church, following the decision of the Board of Inquiry specified in Canon 30 of the 
Canons of this Church. 

[Section 6 In consideration that not all disciplinary actions will require the convening of a Court, measures for non-
juridical discipline are delineated in Canon 32, Section 1.] 

CANON 26 
Of Offenses 

Section 1 A Bishop, Presbyter, Deacon, [Deaconess,] or Candidate for the ministry may be presented on any of the 
following charges: 

(1) Commission of an act constituting a felony violation of the criminal code of law of any political subdivision of 
the United States or Canada or of the Federal government of either. 



Constitution & Canons  4H - 4  

(2) Commission of a lewd, lascivious, or vulgar act involving moral turpitude or gross immorality. 

(3) Holding, pronouncing, teaching, or espousing by any means whatever any doctrine or practice contrary to the 
Received Doctrine of this Church. 

(4) Violation of the Constitution and Canons of the Church. 

(5) Violation of the Canons and By-laws of the Diocese, Missionary Diocese, or Parish. 

(6) Any act or statement that constitutes a violation or repudiation of his Ordination vows. 

(7) Habitual neglect of the exercise of his Ministerial Office, without cause; or habitual neglect of Public Worship, 
and of the Holy Communion, according to the order and use of this Church. 

(8) Any unseemly, notorious and dilatory act or acts deemed derogatory of the Church or its Holy Orders. 
Provided, however, no formal charge of this nature or any presentment thereon shall be sanctioned until, and 
unless, the same shall be certified by the written signature thereto of three-fourths of all the members of the 
Standing Committee or Council of Advice of the Diocese or Missionary Diocese in which the Clergyman is 
Canonically resident. 

(9) Abandonment of the communion of this Church. 

Section 2 Any Communicant/Baptized Lay Person shall be liable to trial and discipline for any of the following 
offenses: 

(1) Denial of the Faith. 

(2) A walk or conversation unworthy of a Christian profession. 

(3) Holding or teaching any doctrine condemned by this Church, or contrary to the Received doctrine thereof. 

(4) Willful disobedience to properly constituted ecclesiastical or other properly constituted authority to the 
detriment of peace, harmony, and godly order in the Church or the promotion of schism in the Body of Christ. 

CANON 27 
Of the Establishment of Courts and Their Jurisdiction 

Section 8[1]  The objects of Christian discipline are the removal of offenses, the vindication of truth, and the 
promotion of purity and harmony in the Church, and the possibility of the restoration of the offender. In all cases of 
private offenses, the offender shall be dealt with in the manner prescribed in St. Matthew 18:15-17. 

Section 1[2]  In order to insure the expeditious and just disposition of the presentment of charges regarding any 
member of Holy Orders, the following courts of inquiry, fact-finding, appeal, and review are established: 

(1) Court of Bishops: This Court shall have sole jurisdiction of any presentment preferred against any Bishop of 
any Diocese or Missionary Diocese. It shall consist of the Presiding Bishop, or a Bishop chosen by him from 
the members of the Council of Bishops, who shall act as President of the Court; two other Bishops, and two 
Presbyters. One Bishop shall be chosen by the accused and one Bishop shall be chosen by the President of 
the Court. [Retired Bishops may be considered, provided both parties consent]. The two Presbyters shall be 
taken from [eight] six names chosen at random [from the list of Presbyters who serve as active Rectors in the 
Reformed Episcopal Church,] but excluding Presbyters Canonically resident in the Diocese in which the 
Accused Bishop holds office. The Accused and the President of the Court shall each, in turn, be allowed to 
strike [three] two Presbyters’ names, without prejudice, from the list. The two remaining Presbyters shall be the 
remaining members of the Court. 

[(a) The Presiding Bishop shall, with the advice and consent of the General Committee, appoint a prosecutor, 
either a Lay Person or member of the Clergy, to represent the Bishop and Diocese in the proceedings. It 
shall be the duty of the prosecutor to seek diligently the truth in the allegations brought before the Court 
in the interest of justice. 



Constitution & Canons  4H - 5  

(b) All sessions of the Court will be presided over by the President of the Court who shall ask questions on 
behalf of the members of the Court as submitted in writing, and the President shall have the liberty of 
asking follow-up questions or clarifications as deemed appropriate.] 

(2) Court of Diocesan Authority: This Court shall have sole jurisdiction of any presentment preferred against any 
Presbyter, or Deacon[, or Deaconess.] It shall consist of [a presiding officer (“the President of the Court”) 
appointed by] the Bishop of the Diocese, or another Bishop designated by him [who may be a Bishop, Retired 
Bishop, senior Presbyter or retired Presbyter with at least five years of service as a Presbyter in this Church,] 
and [four] two Presbyters Canonically resident in the Diocese, to be selected from a list of [eight] six names 
drawn at random [from the roll of active and retired Clergy of the diocese]. The Accused and the Bishop shall 
each, in turn, strike two names from the list; the remaining [four] two Presbyters shall be members of the Court. 
[Prior to the empanelment of the Court, the Prosecution and the Defense should provide a list of witnesses to 
be called, who should be recused from service as members of the Court. 

(a) The Bishop Ordinary shall, with the advice and consent of the Standing Committee, appoint a prosecutor 
who may be in holy orders or a member of the laity, who will represent the Bishop and Diocese in the trial 
and pre-trial proceedings. It shall be the duty of the prosecutor to seek diligently the truth in the allegations 
brought before the Court in the interest of justice. 

(b) All sessions of the Court will be presided over by the President of the Court who shall ask questions on 
behalf of the members of the court as submitted to him in writing and the President shall have the liberty 
of asking follow-up questions or clarifications as deemed appropriate and shall rule on matters of 
admissibility of evidence or testimony. He may consult with the council for the defense, the chancellor of 
the diocese or other competent legal authority before making rulings on matters concerning testimony, 
evidence, precedent or interpretation of the canons and such procedures for trials as have been established 
by the Council of Bishops on the recommendation of the Committee on Constitution and Canons. 

(c) The accused may self-represent or retain counsel, and this counsel may be from either the lay or clerical 
orders to represent him before the court. 

(d) All testimony shall be given under oath or as prescribed in the Rules of Procedure.  

(e) The President of the Court shall see that all testimony, affidavits, documents, and other evidence 
introduced into the record of the trial be preserved in the official record. All testimony shall be as 
prescribed in the Rules of Procedure and shall be preserved in a common electronic format or by a 
Certified Court Reporter for use in any appeal or retrial. 

(f) Deliberations of the Court shall be in closed session. The verdict of the Court shall be “Guilty,” “Not 
Guilty,” or “Not Proven” and should be decided by the four appointed members of the court, a simple 
majority (3-1) being needed to convict the defendant. In the event that the panel of four appointed 
members is tied and unable to render a verdict, the President of the Court may, at his sole discretion, 
break the tie by casting his own vote or he may elect not to intervene, in which case the verdict shall be 
“Not Proven.” 

(g) A verdict of Guilty may be appealed, first to the Standing Committee which may affirm or overturn the 
decision of the trial court. and then to the Court of Review if the conviction of Guilty verdict of the trial 
court is upheld. A verdict of “Not Guilty” precludes a retrial or presentments based on the same 
incident/charges/allegations as the original presentment. A verdict of “Not Proven” may be the subject of 
a new Trial by a new Court. In the event the President breaks a tie to convict, there is an automatic appeal 
to the Standing Committee, and from it to the Court of Review if requested by any of the parties. 

(h) All diocesan presbyters, active and retired, are part of the “pool” of potential members of the court except: 
presbyters who are elected or ex-officio by canon (i.e. Archdeacon) members of the standing committee, 
those who will be on the witness list of either the prosecution or the defense, those who are parties to the 
facts of the case, related by blood or marriage to the any party of the trial, or those who request to be 
excused by virtue of illness, age or disability. If the remaining pool is insufficient (i.e., ten or fewer), a 
neighboring diocese will be asked to furnish names for use in the court proceedings.] 

(3) The Court of Laity: This Court shall have initial jurisdiction for any presentment preferred against any 
Communicant/Lay Person. It shall consist of the Rector or Vicar and Wardens of the Parish to which such 
Communicant belongs. The accused shall have the right to challenge one member of the Court in which case 



Constitution & Canons  4H - 6  

the Bishop shall appoint a substitute from among the communicant laity of the Parish or the Diocese, if such 
be challenged, or from among the Presbyterate of the Diocese if it be the Rector or Vicar who is challenged. 
[All testimony shall be as prescribed in the Rules of Procedure, and an electronic record shall be maintained 
of the testimony given. Conviction must be by unanimous vote. The Presbyter shall write the summary and 
provide the same to the Bishop within thirty days. A lay person convicted may appeal to the Bishop and 
Standing Committee whose decision is final.] 

Section 2[3]  No Court shall have any jurisdiction to hear and decide upon any presentment preferred against any 
member of the Clergy in any place which is located geographically beyond the boundaries of the Diocese or Missionary 
Diocese in which he is Canonically resident at the time of the presentment; nor shall any member of the Clergy be 
required to respond to any Court convened outside of his Canonical residence; provided, however, any court [board] of 
inquiry or [Court of] review or of appeal may convene its sessions at any place, or places, directed by the Presiding 
Bishop. 

Section 3[4]  All decisions of any Court must be delivered, in written or typed form, to the subject of the presentment 
within fifteen days next following the date of the conclusion of the hearing.  

Section 4[5]  The case of the trial of a Presbyter, Deacon, [Deaconess,] Candidate, or Lay Person, the initial right of 
appeal shall be to the Ecclesiastical Authority of the Diocese or Missionary Diocese. The request for said review shall 
be made within fifteen days of the decision of the Court having initial authority in the case. Upon request for appeal, the 
Court shall deliver the records to the Standing Committee within thirty days, which shall review the written record of 
said trial and either uphold or overturn said decision or by granting a new trial. The Standing Committee shall not hear 
new witnesses as a part of this review but shall solicit a brief from each side summarizing its position. The final appeal 
of the decision of such courts shall be to the Court of Review. 

Section 5[6](a) The General Council shall establish a Court of Review. It shall be a court of appeal and for the sole 
purpose of reviewing the written record as established by the Court in which the presentment is heard. No additional 
testimony shall be considered, either oral or written. It may, at its election, hear arguments and receive written briefs, 
delivered or prepared by individuals other than the charged Clergyman or members of the Court on the merits of the 
case or applicable Canon law. 

(b) Appeals from the decisions of any trial courts must be perfected within thirty days next following the receipt of the 
written decision of the trial court by the subject of such hearing. 

(c) Notice of appeal must be in written or typed form addressed to the Bishop to whom the Clergyman is amenable 
and all members of the court of trial; provided, however, when the accused Clergyman is a Bishop, the notice of appeal 
shall be addressed to the Council of Bishops, who shall then appoint a member thereof to bring the appeal before the 
General Committee. The presiding member of the court of trial shall notify the presiding member of the Court of Review 
that notice of appeal has been made. 

(d) The Court of Review shall convene within thirty days of the date of the receipt of the notice of appeal or the written 
record of the court of trial, whichever event occurs last. The Court of Review shall announce its decision within thirty 
days next following its consideration of such appeal. 

(e) In rendering its decisions, the Court of Review may 

(1) Affirm the decision of the trial court in whole or in part; 

(2) Return the presentment for a new trial; 

(3) Vacate the decision of the trial court and enjoin further prosecution; or 

(4) Dismiss the appeal for failure to properly prosecute or lack of merit. 

(f) The membership of the Court of Review shall consist of 

(1) A member of the Council of Bishops, whether active or retired, who shall preside over the proceedings, to be 
appointed by the Presiding Bishop; 

(2) Two Presbyters to be elected by the House of Clergy at General Council; and 



Constitution & Canons  4H - 7  

(3) Two members of the Laity to be elected by the House of Laity at General Council. All members of the Court 
shall serve terms of three years and may succeed themselves in office. 

Section 6[7]  All written decisions of the various Courts shall contain the following: 

(1) A proper heading for purpose of identification; 

(2) Name of the subject of the presentment; 

(3) Name or names and addresses of the presenters; 

(4) A concise statement of the nature of the charges with Canonical references; 

(5) Findings of fact; 

(6) Verdict; and 

(7) Sentence. 

Section 7[8]  In their deliberation, all Courts shall have the prerogative of employing such stenographers and [video 
or] other recorders of its proceedings as shall be deemed necessary. 

Section 9 If the Reformed Episcopal Church has constitutionally aligned itself with any National or Provincial Church, 
in the event a Bishop of this Church is found guilty of any offense by a lawfully constituted court, the appeal process 
shall follow the process as established by said National or Provincial Church. 

CANON 28 (no changes, included for reference) 
Of the Membership of the Courts 

Section 1 The following persons may not serve on any Court: 

(1) The presenter of a charge, or any person who will appear as a witness in the proceedings; 

(2) Consanguinity to the accused in any degree. 

(3) In the trial of a Bishop, other Bishops and Presbyters Canonically resident in the Diocese of the accused if the 
charges in question originated within the same. 

Section 2 (a) Vacancies occurring on any Court of Diocesan Authority for any reason whatsoever shall be filled by 
appointment of the Bishop of the Diocese or Missionary Diocese in which the vacancy occurred. Such replacing member 
shall serve the unexpired portion of the term of the vacating member and may be re-elected or re-appointed. 

(b) Vacancies occurring on any other Court for any reason whatsoever shall be filled by appointment of the Presiding 
Bishop. Such appointments shall be of persons having the same Canonical residence as the member whose seat is 
vacated. Such replacing member shall serve the unexpired portion of the term of the vacating member and may be re-
elected or re-appointed. 

CANON 29 
Of the Rules of Procedure of Courts 

Section 1 The Rules of Procedure provided herein shall apply to all courts of trial, inquiry, and appeal.{The 
Committee on Constitution and Canons, acting under the advice of persons learned in the law and with the concurrence 
of the Council of Bishops, shall maintain a standard of rules and procedures for the operation of all Courts established 
under these Canons. When it is necessary to convene a Court, the General Committee shall be contacted for the most 
recent version of these rules.] 

Section 2 Courts of Trial and Review shall be composed of the following: 

(a) A presiding officer, who shall be a Bishop of this Church, other members elected as required by the appropriate 
Canon. The Presiding Bishop shall always be the presiding officer of any court of which he is a member; [a 
Court for the Trial of a Bishop]. 



Constitution & Canons  4H - 8  

(b) A secretary, charged with the duty of recording the proceedings and certifying the same to a court of review and 
appeal; provided, however, the secretary may be a non-member of the Court as authorized by Canon 27, 
Section 8; and 

(c) At the election of the court, an advisor, who shall be conversant in Canonical and secular law, may be a non-
member of the court, and shall advise the Court in the application of Canonical and secular law. 

Section 3 The general rules of procedure applicable to the Courts including the rules of evidence, pre-trial methods 
and hearings, shall be those applied by the State or Provincial courts in the jurisdiction where the proceedings are 
convened. The rights guaranteed by the Church, its Constitution, Canons and By-laws, as well as those provided by the 
State and Federal statute and Constitution for cases brought in the United States, or the applicable laws of the Dominion 
of Canada or of the Province in which the court shall meet, shall be observed. These shall include, but not be limited 
to, the right to confront one’s accuser(s), the right to due process, the presumption of innocence, the right to open and 
public proceedings of the court, and the right to consult legal counsel. 

Section 4 Presentments shall be written or typed, specific and concise in form, setting forth in detail sufficient to 
properly advise the Court of the offense charged, including the following: 

(1) The exact name, or names, of the persons charged; 

(2) The date, or dates, time, or times, place, or places, of the alleged offense; 

(3) The position of the charged clergyman in the Episcopal Order and place of Ministerial appointment; 

(4) The nature of the offense charged with reference to applicable Canon, Constitution, By-law, Holy Scripture, 
or Church teaching; and 

(5) The exact names and addresses of the person, or persons, instituting the presentment. 

Section 5 (a) No charge, or charges, which allege Commission of an act, or acts, more than five years prior to the date 
of the presentment, shall be considered by any Court for any purpose and shall be dismissed by the presiding officer of 
the Court on his own motion. 

(b) If the accused shall have been convicted of a felony offense in any Court of Record exercising criminal jurisdiction, 
notwithstanding five years may have elapsed since its Commission, a presentment may be made at any time within one 
year after such conviction. 

Section 6 In the event the charged party shall be a Presbyter, or Deacon[, or Deaconess], the presentment shall be 
endorsed and certified by the affidavit of at least one Bishop or Presbyter, and by at least four communicant members 
in good standing of the Laity of the Church. 

Section 7 In the event the charged party is a Bishop, the presentment shall be endorsed and certified by the affidavit 
of at least one Bishop, by no less than two Presbyters, and no less than five communicant members in good standing of 
the Laity of the Church. Before a Bishop shall be placed on trial for any offense charged by presentment, the Presiding 
Bishop shall impanel a Special Board of Inquiry composed of himself, or a Bishop (including a retired Bishop) 
appointed by him and not of the Diocese or Missionary Diocese of the Accused, acting as President, two other Bishops 
of this Church, two Presbyters and two Lay Persons, chosen from the General Committee, whose sole purpose shall be 
to establish the adequacy of such presentment. Bishops, Presbyters and Lay Persons serving on this Special Board of 
Inquiry may include persons from the Diocese of the Accused. The Board of Inquiry shall, in all cases, file a written 
report with the General Committee. After such investigation as it shall deem fit, it may, on its own motion, dismiss the 
presentment, declaring the cause for such dismissal, or may institute the necessary procedures precedent to trial upon 
the same. Any appeal to a decision to dismiss must be made to the General Committee within six months of the date of 
the original presentment or to the General Council, if in session, whose decision shall be final. 

Section 8 In the event the accused party is the Presiding Bishop, the Special Board of Inquiry shall be chaired by the 
most senior Bishop of the Church having jurisdiction, with seniority reckoned from date of Consecration, or if he be 
unable due to age or infirmity, the next most senior Bishop and so on, but shall otherwise conform to Section 7 of this 
Canon. 



Constitution & Canons  4H - 9  

CANON 30 
Of Diocesan Boards of Inquiry 

Section 1 [When allegations of an offense as defined in Canon 26  arise against a Clergyman, Deaconess, or Lay 
Member of this Church, prompt notification shall be made to the Bishop of the Diocese or Missionary Diocese in which 
the accused person presides. Prior to the institution of proceedings originating with a presentment, the Bishop may at 
his discretion consult with the Standing Committee or Council of Advice or appoint a Board of Inquiry, the purpose of 
which shall be to inquire into the validity, cause, and content of such allegations. The Board shall consist of at least three 
and not more than five persons of the Bishop’s choosing and shall include both Lay and Clergy members. The Board 
shall exercise such authority as may be necessary to establish a valid opinion regarding such matter and report the same, 
in writing, within sixty days to the Bishop and Standing Committee, or Council of Advice, who shall take such measures, 
and institute such proceedings, as they shall deem just and proper.] 

Prior to the institution of proceedings originating with a presentment, or at any time when, in his sole discretion, a 
circumstance exists which is surrounded by rumor, gossip, allegations, or unrest in the Church, and which leads to 
discord, discontent and unrest, the Bishop of a Diocese or Missionary Diocese may consult with the Standing Committee 
or Council of Advice or, at his option, he may appoint a Board of Inquiry, the purpose of which shall inquire into the 
validity, cause and content of such circumstances. The Board shall consist of at least three and not more than five persons 
of the Bishop’s choosing and shall include both lay and clergy members. The Board shall exercise such authority as may 
be necessary to establish a valid opinion regarding such matter and report the same, in writing, within sixty days to the 
Bishop and Standing Committee, or Council of Advice, who shall take such measures, and institute such proceedings, 
as they shall deem just and proper. 

Section 2 A Special Board of Inquiry shall have no power to issue a presentment on its own authority, nor to pass 
judgment on any person. Its sole function is that of gathering information for the purpose of making a written report and 
recommendation to the Ecclesiastical Authority of the Diocese or Missionary Diocese. In all such cases the report shall 
be given to the Standing Committee or Council of Advice for its review. 

[Section 3 When the purpose of a Board of Inquiry is to investigate allegations of child abuse or sexual misconduct, 
the Board may appoint a Response Team under the authority of the Board to investigate, conduct interviews, gather 
facts related to the allegations, and notify all authorities as required by law. A Response Team shall include both Clergy 
and Lay members and shall include at least one person knowledgeable with the laws pertaining to the situation that is 
being investigated. The Response Team shall report its findings to the Board of Inquiry, which shall be responsible to 
report all findings as required in Section 1 and Section 2 of this Canon, unless the Bishop is the subject of such 
investigation, in which case the report shall be made to the Standing Committee or Council of Advice alone.] 

CANON 31 
Of Special Procedures for Presentments 

Charging Particular Acts 
Section 1 (a) “Renunciation of the ministry” shall be defined as the instance, or instances, of oral or written expression 
or intention of a Minister of the Church that he desires, or will in the future request, a release from his pastoral and 
Ministerial obligations and the vows undertaken and assumed by him at the time of his ordination. 

(b) Information regarding an actual, or contemplated, renunciation of the ministry shall be delivered in written form, 
properly subscribed, directly to the Bishop, to whom the renouncing Minister is amenable, who shall not take action 
thereon for a period of thirty days, unless the renouncing Minister shall request that he do so, provided, the Bishop may, 
at his election, suspend such Minister from the performance of all pastoral and Ministerial functions during such period, 
provided, further, the Bishop shall appoint a committee of inquiry during such period to establish whether or not a valid 
act or intention of renunciation of the ministry is, in fact, true or possible. 

(c) No such suspension shall continue beyond thirty days unless a presentment charging renunciation of the ministry 
or other violation of the Canons shall be alleged in conformity with the Canons of this Church. 

(d) Upon acceptance of a voluntary renunciation of the ministry by a Clergyman, the Bishop shall immediately notify 
the Clergyman, the Standing Committee of the Diocese or Missionary Diocese and the Secretary of the General 



Constitution & Canons  4H - 10  

Committee of his action, and the renouncing Minister shall be immediately deprived of the right to exercise and 
administer all Sacramental gifts and authorities as a Minister of God’s Word and as conferred upon him at the time of 
ordination. He shall also surrender all certificates of ordination upon request. 

(e) If the renouncing Minister is a Bishop of this Church, all the prerogatives and duties of the Diocesan or Missionary 
Bishop provided in this section, except those retained by the Standing Committee as Ecclesiastical authority, shall be 
exercised by the Presiding Bishop until such time as a replacement can be elected under these Canons. 

Section 2 Abandonment of Communion by a Bishop 

(a) “Abandonment of the Communion of the Church” shall be defined as 

(1) an overt renunciation of the Doctrine, Discipline, or Worship of the Church, or any one of them, 

(2) formal admission in any degree or consideration whatsoever into any religious body not in communion with 
this Church, or 

(3) in any other manner deemed to constitute a rejection or departure from the precepts, principles and teachings 
of the Reformed Episcopal Church. 

(b) Notice of any such actions may be delivered to the Presiding Bishop by a duly certified statement of any other 
Bishop, or that of at least two Presbyters, or that of at least three Deacons, or that of the entire membership of the 
Standing Committee of the Diocese or the Council of Advice of a Missionary Diocese. 

(c) Upon receipt of such certificate, the Presiding Bishop shall notify the Bishop who is the subject thereof within five 
days of receipt thereof, but shall take no action thereon for a period of thirty days, during which time the charged Bishop 
may demand a full hearing. Within thirty days of receipt of a request for hearing, the Presiding Bishop shall convene a 
Court having jurisdiction in the trial of a Bishop. If no request for a hearing be received, in proper form and within such 
time, a Certificate of Deposition from the Ministry shall be issued by the Presiding Bishop, forwarded to the Bishop 
who is the subject thereof and certified to all the Bishops of this Church, the Secretary of General Council in the Office 
of the Presiding Bishop, and the Secretary of every Standing Committee and Council of Advice of this Church. If a trial 
of the matter be convened and the charge be substantiated, then, and in that event the sentence shall be the same as 
provided for the Abandonment of the Communion and shall be communicated to the Church in the manner herein 
provided. 

Section 3 Abandonment of Communion by a Presbyter, or Deacon[, or Deaconess]. In the event of the abandonment 
of the communion by a Presbyter, or Deacon[, or Deaconess] as herein defined, the mode and method procedure and 
sentence as set forth in Section 2 of this Canon shall be applicable, with the Diocesan or Missionary Bishop exercising 
the prerogatives and duties assigned to the Presiding Bishop. 

CANON 32 
Of Sentences [and Other Forms of Discipline] 

[Section 1(a) Non-Juridical Discipline. Discipline arising from and being inherent to the nature of the office held, 
without resort to a presentment or other formal proceeding, shall be governed by this Canon, the rubrics of the Book of 
Common Prayer (2003), and any diocesan policies that regulate, but do not abrogate, the authority of the Canons. There 
shall be three forms of Non-Juridical Discipline: The Godly Admonition, the Letter of Reprimand, and Inhibition and 
Excommunication. 

(b) The Godly Admonition is a unique, ancient, extra-judicial form of private discipline reserved to the Bishop alone. 
It is a written directive from a Bishop with jurisdiction to another man in Holy Orders or to a Deaconess under his 
jurisdiction that is intended to be corrective, not punitive in nature. This discipline includes a Bishop under the authority 
of his superior such as the Archbishop, Presiding Bishop of this Church, or a Suffragan, Coadjutor, or Missionary Bishop 
under the authority of his Ordinary. 

(1) The Godly Admonition shall never be used unless the Bishop issuing the Admonition has previously met 
personally with the one receiving the Admonition and the issues have been clearly and fairly discussed without 
any resulting improvement or change in response. The written Admonition shall be specific concerning the 



Constitution & Canons  4H - 11  

matter complained of and the canonical or theological basis for the complaint and shall provide a reasonable 
time for any required action to be taken. It is not ordinarily used alone to inhibit a member of the clergy, but 
as a corrective for actions that in the Bishop’s judgement do not, at the time, rise to the level of presentment, 
inhibition, or removal from office, but which do require corrective action for the sake of good order and the 
good of the individual and the Church. 

(2) A Godly Admonition should cite issues in specific, straightforward terms and state the expected actions to be 
taken in response. These actions may include a change in behavior; seeking professional, medical, or 
psychological counseling; ceasing participation in groups or causes that are incompatible with one’s vows of 
ordination or Setting Apart; or dealing with family or financial issues. 

(3) A Godly Admonition’s required action may not impose clerical silence (forbidding the admonished person 
from telling anyone about his disciplinary status) as part of its discipline. However, a reminder should be 
included that it is improper to discuss being given a Godly Admonition with a member of the laity other than 
a spouse, close family member, or a counselor. 

(4) The Bishop may withdraw or modify the Godly Admonition as he deems appropriate. A person under such 
discipline may request additional counsel from the Bishop and may be asked to make progress reports. A 
subject under an admonition may petition the Ordinary to remove the admonition and state reasons for the 
request. In cases where the recipient believes the Godly Admonitions to be is unfair or excessive, he may make 
a respectful appeal through the President of the Standing Committee or an elected member of the Standing 
Committee for a review by the clergy members of the Standing Committee. They may consult with the Bishop 
and provide counsel and advice but may not overrule the decision of the Ordinary. 

(5) Any Presbyter, Deacon, or Deaconess who has petitioned the Ordinary as in Section 1(a)(4) without satisfactory 
resolution may make a written appeal to the Archbishop of any National or Provincial Church with which the 
REC has aligned itself. The result of such appeal shall be final. 

(6) A Bishop receiving a Godly Admonition may appeal to the Council of Bishops, and then to the Presiding 
Bishop or the Archbishop of any National or Provincial Church with which the REC has aligned itself, whose 
decision is final. 

(7) Once the Godly Admonition is resolved to the Bishop’s satisfaction, a record of it is not normally made part 
of the recipient’s permanent file. 

(c) The Letter of Reprimand is a formal but private notice of discipline imposed by the Bishop Ordinary on a member 
of the Clergy or a Deaconess. The Bishop Ordinary may issue a formal letter of reprimand to a Bishop, Presbyter, 
Deacon, or Deaconess under his authority for neglect of duty, for exceeding his or her authority by an action that violates 
the spirit or the stated intent of the various Canons or diocesan policies, to the detriment of peace and godly order in 
the diocese, or for a violation off vows of ordination or Setting Apart that does not rise to the level of a presentment. 

(1) The letter must cite the specific circumstances under which it is issued and must be based upon failure to 
conform to the Constitution and Canons of the Reformed Episcopal Church or the Constitution and Canons 
of the Diocese of Canonical residence, or failure to follow policies of the Diocese or the lawful direction or 
discipline of the Bishop Ordinary or his Canonically lawful surrogate or representative. 

(2) The Letter of Reprimand becomes and remains a part of the recipient’s official personnel file unless withdrawn 
by the issuing Bishop or his successor. The recipient of a Letter of Reprimand may request its withdrawal, in 
writing, citing the reasons that he or she believes it appropriate. 

(3) The Letter of Reprimand may be shared by the Bishop Ordinary with Rectors and Vestries only when in the 
opinion of the Ordinary it is germane to the circumstances at his sole discretion. 

(d) Temporary Inhibition. Except as provided elsewhere in these Canons, inhibition is normally a temporary suspension 
from active and sacramental ministry for a time to allow for repentance, counseling, and compliance with the terms of a 
Godly Admonition or investigation of allegations. An inhibition of more than 60 days requires notification to the 
Standing Committee. A lifetime inhibition may only be imposed under one or more of the following conditions: 

(1) A finding of guilt by a Court of this Church or of any National or Provincial Province with which the Reformed 
Episcopal Church is aligned. 



Constitution & Canons  4H - 12  

(2) An agreement between an accused Clergyman or Deaconess and a Bishop or Diocesan authority acting on his 
behalf in which the party charged with any offense enumerated in these Canons agrees to plead no-contest and 
to surrender his/her ministerial credentials and sign a statement agreeing not to function in any capacity that is 
associated with his or her vows of ordination or Setting Apart. 

(e) Pastoral Excommunication. A Bishop, Presbyter, Deacon, or Deaconess may be formally excommunicated for 
holding and or promoting heretical or heterodox belief or for the practice of gross immorality, gross insubordination, or 
promotion of schism with no demonstration of repentance, remorse, or restitution. 

(1) Either a Bishop or Priest may declare a state of excommunication as allowed in the Book of Common Prayer, 
provided that a Presbyter making such declaration notify the Bishop Ordinary within 14 days. 

(2) An excommunicated person may appeal to the Bishop Ordinary and to the Standing Committee. The results 
of their review and any discipline imposed may be appealed to the Court of Review as provided in these 
Canons.] 

Section 1 [2] Upon a Court determining any Bishop, Presbyter, or Deacon[, or Deaconess] guilty of the charges 
preferred against him [or her], the verdict shall state the terms and conditions thereof in conformance with Canon 27, 
Section 7. 

Section 2 [3] (a) When the penalty of suspension shall be imposed, it shall specify [the following: 

(1) the terms and conditions thereof, 

(2) the time and interval of such suspension, and 

[(3) any conditions that must be met before the suspension is lifted, if applicable.] 

(b) Sentences imposed in the case of a Bishop, Presbyter, Deacon, or Deaconess may be in the form of a reprimand, 
temporary suspension, or displacement from all ministerial functions in this Church. In the case of a Candidate or 
Postulant, he may be reprimanded, suspended, or removed from the list of Candidates for Ordination in this Church. 

(c) Sentences imposed upon Lay Persons may include removal from elected office and a prohibition from serving in 
such capacity in the future, revocation of Lay Reader’s or other licenses, or excommunication. Sentences imposed on a 
Lay Person may be in public or private, as the Court shall deem best. 

Section 3 [4] In the event of the imposition of the sentence of deposition, a Minister may not be deposed from a 
higher to a lower order. 

Section 4 [5] If a Bishop, Presbyter, or Deacon[, or Deaconess] shall be adjudged guilty of the charges in a 
presentment, whether one or more, by a Court of trial and no appeal shall be taken from such findings as herein 
provided, then the presiding officer of such Court shall certify the findings, judgment, and sentence to the Bishop to 
whom the Clergyman [or Deaconess] is amenable. In the event of appeal and affirmance of the action of a trial Court, 
such judgment shall be remanded to the trial Court for imposition of sentence. The decision of the trial Court may 
likewise be remanded to the trial Court for (1) dissolution, (2) a new trial, or (3) partial affirmation and partial dissolution. 

Section 5 [6] At any time during a presentment, the trial of a presentment, or during the period of appeal from an 
adverse decision of a trial Court, the Bishop to whom the Clergyman is amenable may suspend the charged Clergyman 
from the performance of any pastoral, Episcopal, Sacramental, or Ministerial duties if he deems such suspension 
appropriate. 

Section 6 [7]  When sentence has been imposed by a trial Court, or the decision of the trial Court shall be affirmed 
by the Court of Review, the Bishop, to whom the Clergyman is amenable, shall immediately certify the same to all the 
Bishops of this Church, the Secretary of General Council in the Office of the Presiding Bishop, and the Secretary of 
every Standing Committee and Council of Advice of this Church. 

Section 7 [8] Nothing in this Canon or any other Canon shall prohibit the Bishop Ordinary or the Presiding Bishop 
from suspending any sentence or pardoning and reinstating any person found guilty of any offense under these Canons, 
if in his opinion the best interests of the Church or of justice, or both, be served thereby. 



Constitution & Canons  4H - 13  

CANON 33 (no changes, included for reference) 
Of the Dissolution of the Pastoral Relation 

Section 1 A Rector may not resign his Parish without the consent of the said Parish, or its Vestry, or its Trustees, 
whichever may be authorized to act in the premises, nor may any Rector or Minister Canonically or lawfully elected and 
in charge of any Parish be removed therefrom by said Parish, Vestry, or Trustees, against his will, except as hereinafter 
provided. 

Section 2 If for any urgent reason a Rector or Minister as aforesaid, or the Parish committed to his charge, its Vestry 
or Trustees, shall desire a separation and dissolution of the pastoral relation, and the parties be not agreed respecting 
such separation and dissolution, notice in writing may be given by either party to the Ecclesiastical Authority of the 
Diocese or Missionary Diocese. The Bishop may ask the advice and consent of the Standing Committee of the Diocese 
or Council of Advice of the Missionary Diocese, and he shall be the ultimate arbiter and judge. If the Diocese or 
Missionary Diocese be vacant, the Ecclesiastical Authority shall select a Bishop of an adjacent Diocese or Missionary 
Diocese to act as the Bishop, and with like force and effect. The judgment shall be either that the pastoral relation 
between the parties shall cease and determine at a time and upon terms therein specified, or that the pastoral relation 
shall not be terminated; and it shall be the duty of both parties to submit to and abide by such judgment. In the event of 
either party refusing to abide by such judgment, the penalty for refusal and the further proceedings in the case shall be 
those provided by the Constitution and Canons of the Diocese or Missionary Diocese in which such Parish is situated. 

Section 3 In case of the regular and Canonical dissolution of the connection between a Rector or Minister and his 
Parish, under this Canon, the Ecclesiastical Authority shall direct the Secretary of the Synod or Council to record the 
same. 

Section 4 This Canon shall not apply in any Diocese or Missionary Diocese which has made, or shall hereafter make, 
provision by Canon upon this subject, nor in contravention of any right of any Rector, Minister, Parish, Congregation, 
or Vestry under the law of the Civil Authority. 

Section 5 The right of the Bishop Ordinary to set aside any sentence so as to exercise the right of pardon, or to shorten 
or suspend punishment in whole or in part shall not be infringed upon by any Canon of this Church. 

CANON 34 
Of the Solemnization of Holy Matrimony 

The text of this Canon has been omitted; no changes are being proposed at this time. 

CANON 35 
Of Regulations Respecting the Laity 

Section 1 (a) A person who has been baptized with water, in the Name of the Holy Trinity and who has been 
confirmed in his or her baptism by declaration of faith and by the laying on of hands by a Bishop of this branch of 
Christ’s One, Holy, Catholic and Apostolic Church, and who is regular in the attendance of public worship, and who 
exhibits support of the work of the Church by the offering of time, treasure, and talent, is an active Communicant, and 
entitled to vote and hold elective or appointed office in this Church subject to the Constitution and Canons of the same. 
A Communicant whose status is designated “inactive” in the Parish Register may not vote or hold elective office until 
restored to “active” Communicant status. The Rector and Wardens shall together constitute the final authority in 
disputes as to Communicant status. 

(b) An active communicant member or baptized member, moving from one Parish or Congregation to another, shall 
be entitled to have a certificate of transfer sent to the Parish or Congregation to which he or she seeks to join from the 
Rector or Minister of the Parish or Congregation in which he or she is presently enrolled on the Parish Register, or, if 
there be no Rector or Minister, from one of the Wardens, a certificate of transfer which shall state that he or she is duly 
enrolled on the Parish Register as an active communicant member or baptized member; however, if the status of the 
communicant is listed as “inactive” in the Parish Register from which he or she desires to be transferred, the certificate 
of transfer shall specify his or her “inactive’ status, and the Rector or Minister or Warden of the Parish or Congregation 
to which such communicant may move shall enroll him or her as a communicant when such certificate is presented, or, 



Constitution & Canons  4H - 14  

on failure to produce such certificate through no fault of such communicant, upon other evidence of his or her being 
such a communicant, sufficient in the judgment of said Rector or Minister. Notice of such enrollment in such Parish or 
Congregation to which such communicant shall have moved, shall be sent by the Rector or Minister thereof to the Rector 
or Minister of the Parish from which the communicant or baptized member is moved. 

(c) Any communicant of any Church in communion with this Church shall be entitled to the benefit of this Section so 
far as the same can be made applicable. 

(d) Any person already baptized in the name of the Trinity and seeking admission into full fellowship and communion 
with this Church, who has been confirmed by a Bishop in the Historic Episcopate, said Bishop not being in communion 
with this Church, may be received into the same upon approval of the Bishop Ordinary, provided he is persuaded as to 
the validity of such previous Confirmation. 

(e) The normative manner in which persons already baptized in the name of the Trinity, but who have not been 
confirmed, shall be received into full membership of this Church, shall be through the Laying On of Hands by a Bishop 
of this Church, or by a Bishop who is in communion with this Church. Only confirmed communicant members may 
vote in Parish meetings or hold elective office. 

(f) It shall be the duty of the Rector or Minister of every Parish or Congregation, learning of the removal of any member 
of his Parish or Congregation to another Cure without having secured a letter of transfer, as herein provided, to transmit 
to the Minister of such Cure a letter of advice informing him thereof. 

Section 2 When a person to whom the Sacraments of the Church shall have been refused, or who has been repelled 
from the Holy Communion under the Rubrics, shall lodge a complaint with the Bishop, it shall be the duty of the Bishop, 
unless he see fit to require the person to be admitted or restored because of the insufficiency of the cause assigned by 
the Minister, to institute such an inquiry as may be directed by the Canons of the Diocese or Missionary Diocese, and 
should no such Canon exist, the Bishop shall proceed according to such principles as will insure an impartial decision; 
but no Minister of this Church shall be required to admit to the Sacraments a person so refused or repelled, without the 
written direction of the Bishop. 

[Section 3] The Sacraments shall not be refused in any case to a penitent person at the point of death.  

  



Constitution & Canons  4H - 15  

THE REFORMED EPISCOPAL CHURCH 
(ANGLICAN CHURCH IN NORTH AMERICA) 

RULES OF PROCEDURE FOR ECCLESIASTICAL TRIAL COURTS 
FOR BISHOPS, PRESBYTERS, DEACONS, AND DEACONESSES 

Guiding Principle: Canon 27, Section 1 

The objects of Christian discipline are the removal of offenses, the vindication of 
truth, and the promotion of purity and harmony in the Church, and the possibility 
of the restoration of the offender. In all cases of private offenses, the offender shall 
be dealt with in the manner prescribed in St. Matthew 18:15-17. 

Rule 1: Application and Scope of Rules. 

These Rules of Procedure are applicable to all Courts and Trials in front of all the aforesaid 
Courts brought under Title II of the Constitution and Canons of the Reformed Episcopal Church. 
(hereinafter “Canonical Trial Court”). 

The Canonical Trial Courts established under Title II of the Canons of the Reformed 
Episcopal Church are neither civil nor criminal. Rather, they cover Ecclesiastical matters arising from 
the Constitution of the Anglican Church of North America, the Constitution and Canons of the 
Reformed Episcopal Church, or the Constitution and Canons of the several dioceses and missionary 
dioceses of the Reformed Episcopal Church. 

Participation of all parties in a Canonical Trial Court arising from a presentment is voluntary. 
However, a refusal to acknowledge or participate on the part of an accused individual (“the 
Respondent”) under vows of obedience to his/her Bishop Ordinary will result in a review of the 
evidence and a decision in absentia. 

The Rules will be construed and administered to secure the just, speedy, and efficient 
determination of every action brought within the Reformed Episcopal Church under its Constitution 
and Canons or those of the several dioceses of the same. 

These Rules, which recognize and acknowledge the presumption of innocence of the accused 
and right to representation by counsel, are consistent with principles of natural justice including 
fairness, and due process. The goal is to obtain expeditious handling of the manner consistent with 
those principles. 

In all Courts of original jurisdiction, the standard of proof is by clear and convincing evidence 
based upon witness testimony, written or physical evidence, and the reasonable, plain. and 
straightforward interpretation of the Constitution and Canons. 

Rule 2: Institution of Actions. 

(a) All actions in the Canonical Trial Courts established in the Canons will be initiated by 
the filing of a Presentment, setting forth in numbered paragraphs, the facts upon which 



Constitution & Canons  4H - 16  

the pleading is founded, the specific allegations alleged in numbered sentences or 
paragraphs, and specific relief requested. 

(b) Summons. The Summons shall be signed by the President/Presiding Officer of the 
Court, identify the Court and the parties to the proceeding, be directed to the 
Respondent and state the name and address of the Prosecutor representing the Court, 
and indicate the deadline by which Respondent must file an Answer to the 
Presentment to the Court. The Presentment, or Articles of Presentment, will also notify 
the Respondent that failure to do so may result in a Judgment that an Offense was 
committed by the Respondent and place the Respondent at risk for a Sentence to be 
pronounced at a later date. 

(c) Service. The Service of the Summons with a copy of the Presentment, Petition, 
Complaint, or other leading pleading shall be made either by hand-delivery or 
Certified Mail with a Return Receipt to the most recent address of the Respondent. If 
the Respondent refuses to pick up the Certified Mail, then service may be 
accomplished by email or Text message with a copy of the Presentment attached. 

(d) Proof of Service. The person effecting the service of the Summons and supporting 
documents shall make Proof of Service by Affidavit or sworn statement to the Court. 
If service is by Email or Text message, a copy of the published Presentment and an 
affidavit attesting the sending of the Email or Text message shall be filed with the 
Court. 

Rule 3: Service and Filing of Pleadings and Other Papers. 

Except as otherwise expressly provided by these Rules, every pleading, paper, motion, and 
notice subsequent to the Summons, whether Articles of Presentment, Petition, Complaint, or other 
leading pleading required to be served on a party, shall be served upon either the party or their attorney 
that enters an appearance for the responding party, unless otherwise ordered by the Court. Service 
shall be made by hand delivering a copy to the party, or if represented, to the party’s attorney, or by 
mailing it to the party or the attorney’s last known address. The filing of papers with the Court shall 
be made by filing them with the Presiding Officer of the subject Court and otherwise directed by the 
Court. The parties may by agreement and approved by the Court provide for service by other means 
such as electronic mail and/or facsimile transmission. Upon agreement, filings may be made 
electronically by email. 

Rule 4: General Rules of Pleading. 

(a) Articles of Presentment: The Articles of Presentment shall contain a short and plain 
statement of each Offense with the express reference to applicable provisions of Canon 
26, and a plain concise statement of the facts upon which each such allegation is made. 

(b) All Filings. All filings shall contain a plain and concise statement of facts in 
numbered sentences or paragraphs. The Petition, Complaint, or other leading 
pleading will also set forth the specific allegations arising from said facts with 
specificity, and specifically set forth the relief requested. 



Constitution & Canons  4H - 17  

(c) Answer. 

(1) Presentments. Within thirty (30) days of being served with the Presentment, an 
Answer or Response shall be filed by the Respondent or his or her attorney. The 
Answer shall state in short and plain terms the Respondent’s response to each 
allegation of the Articles of Presentment, including any defense thereto, and shall 
admit or deny each factual allegation of the Articles of Presentment. 

(2) Filings. Within thirty (30) days of being served with the Petition, Complaint, or 
other leading pleading, the party served, or the party’s attorney, will file an 
Answer. The Answer shall include any defense thereto, and shall admit or deny 
the factual allegations of the Petition, Complaint, or other leading pleading. If the 
Responding Party is without knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief 
as to the truth of any factual allegation, the Respondent shall so state and this has 
the effect of a denial. Denials may also be made in part or with qualification. 

If the Answer made is to a Petition, Complaint, or other leading pleading, the 
Responding party may also include any Counterclaim, or in the case of multiple 
Responding parties, any Crossclaim. Any such Counterclaims or Crossclaims shall 
be in the form and manner required of initial Petitions, Complaints, or other leading 
pleadings. 

(3) Construction. All pleadings shall be construed as to do substantial justice. 

(4) Forms of Pleadings. Every pleading shall identify the name of the Court, name 
of the Respondent(s) and opposing party(ies), and file number, if any. Exhibits 
may be attached and identified by reference within the pleading. 

(5) Signature. Each pleading shall be signed by the attorney for the party on whose 
behalf it is has been prepared, or by the party if not represented by an attorney. 
Each paper shall state the signer’s address, email address, and telephone number. 

Rule 5: Defenses and Objections. 

(a) When Presented. 

(1) Presentments. Unless a different time period is prescribed, a Respondent shall 
serve an Answer to the Articles of Presentment upon the Trial Attorney and file 
it with the Court within thirty (30) days after being served with a Summons and 
Articles of Presentment. The Respondent/Defendant may self-represent, or at 
any/every stage of the Ecclesiastical Discipline process may employ (at his own 
expense) competent legal assistance/representation. Such representation may be 
clergy or laity and may include an attorney at law. 

(2) Answer to Petition, Complaint, or other Leading Pleading. The Answer shall 
be served upon the attorney of record for the Petitioner, Complainant, or person 
who has otherwise filed an action within thirty (30) days after being served. 



Constitution & Canons  4H - 18  

(b) How Presented. The following defenses may be asserted by Motion, or by Answer: 

(1) Insufficiency of service of process; 

(2) Lack of jurisdiction; 

(3) Failure to state the factual basis of the action, or in the case where Presentment, 
failure to state the factual basis of an Offense; and 

(4) Expiration of the applicable period of limitations of five (5) years from the date 
of the alleged event for all charges except child abuse, or as allowed by Canon 
29. 

(c) More Definite Statement. 

(1) Presentments. The Respondent to a Presentment may move for a more definite 
statement before filing an Answer if the Articles of Presentment are so vague or 
ambiguous that the Respondent cannot reasonably be required to frame a 
responsive pleading. 

(2) Other Filings. The person or entity responding to a Petition, Complaint, or other 
leading pleading may also move for a more definite statement before filing an 
Answer if the Petition, Complaint, or other leading pleading is so vague or 
ambiguous that the Responding Party cannot reasonably be required to frame a 
responsive pleading. 

Rule 6: Amended and Supplemental Pleadings. 

The Court may, in the interest of justice, permit the filing of amended and supplemental 
pleadings so that the purpose, interest, and intent of these rules as set forth in the applicable Canons of 
the Reformed Episcopal Church can be carried out. 

Rule 7: Voluntary Disclosures, Discovery. 

(a) Voluntary Disclosures. The Parties shall provide to each other and the Court not later 
than sixty (60) days prior to trial a list of all the witnesses expected to testify at trial, 
including the name, phone number, address, and email address of each witness; and 
copies of all documents and exhibits intended for use at trial. 

(b) Discovery. The Parties may conduct discovery through written or oral depositions or 
written interrogatories. All discovery in the Ecclesiastical Trial Courts will proceed 
apace from the date service of process is completed. The Court may limit the number, 
length, and scope of depositions or interrogatories. 

The Respondent in Presentment Cases shall not be required to make any statement or 
admission against himself in any discovery procedure. 



Constitution & Canons  4H - 19  

Rule 8: Taking of Testimony. 

(a) In all court proceedings, the testimony of witnesses shall be taken orally in open Court 
by the Recorder of Proceedings, unless otherwise provided by the Court. All open 
sessions of the court shall be public, and all testimony and actions taken in these 
sessions shall be recorded on electronic media or by a certified Court Reporter and 
made part of the official record. 

(b) Such testimony shall be given under oath or solemn affirmation. For Christians, the 
oath or solemn affirmation shall include the words, “So Help Me God.” 

(c) In appropriate circumstances, and upon Motion for good cause shown, such as due to 
physical distance, extreme health conditions unlikely to improve before the trial of the 
case, or to preserve testimony of someone in threat of death, the Court may for good 
cause shown allow deposition testimony of a witness be taken for trial. 

(d) In addition, affidavits related to non-core factual issues, such as identification of 
documents or background information, may be admitted into evidence. 

(e) The four members of the Court shall submit questions and follow up questions to the 
President of the Court in writing as concerns sworn testimony, affidavits, documents, 
and other evidence introduced into the record of the trial, which shall all be preserved 
in the official record. 

Rule 9. Summary Judgment. 

(a) How Made. 

(1) In Presentment Cases. If the Respondent fails or refuses to Answer the Articles 
of Presentment or otherwise respond by motion, except for reasonable cause to 
be allowed by the Court, the Prosecutor for the Presenting Diocese or Missionary 
Diocese may no sooner than thirty (30) days after the Answer is due, move with 
or without supporting affidavits for Summary Judgment of Offense on all or part 
of the allegations in the Presentment. 

The Prosecutor, representing the Ecclesiastical Jurisdiction bringing the Summary 
Judgment, shall file the Motion with any supporting affidavits with the Court and 
serve a copy of the same on the Respondent and his or her attorney. The Motion 
shall be served at least twenty (20) days before the time fixed by the Court for a 
hearing on the Motion. 

(2) All Other Disputed Cases Before any Canonical Trial Court in Matters of 
Original Jurisdiction. If the Responding Party fails or refuses to Answer the 
Petition, Complaint, or other leading pleading, or to otherwise respond by motion, 
except for reasonable cause to be allowed by the Court, the Prosecutor who has 
filed the action may no sooner than thirty (30) days after the Answer is due, move 
with or without supporting affidavits for Summary Judgment. The responding 



Constitution & Canons  4H - 20  

party may also move with or without supporting affidavits for Summary 
Judgment on part or all of the allegations of the Petition, Complaint, or other 
leading pleading. 

(a) Opposing Affidavits. 

(1) The Respondent in a Presentment Action. Prior to the day of any hearing set 
by the Court on a Motion for Summary Judgment, the Respondent to the 
Presentment Action may submit affidavits in support of his response to the 
Motion. 

(2) All Other Disputed Cases Before any Canonical Trial Court in Matters of 
Original Jurisdiction. The Responding Party to the Petition, Complaint, or other 
leading pleading, may submit affidavits in support of the response to the Motion 
up to three days before the hearing. 

(3) Proceedings on Motion for Summary Judgment. The Court shall convene a 
hearing to consider any Motion for Summary Judgment, and may, in the Court’s 
discretion, receive oral testimony at any such hearing. 

(4) In Presentment Cases. If the Articles of Presentment, together with any 
Affidavits and oral testimony or other admissible evidence presented to the Court 
show that there is a genuine issue as to any fact material to a determination, the 
Court shall deny the Motion for Summary Judgment. 

(5) In all Other Cases of Original Jurisdiction in Canonical Trial Courts. The 
Court shall convene a hearing to consider any Motion for Summary Judgment, and 
may, in the Court’s discretion, receive oral testimony at any such hearing. If the 
Petition, Complaint, or other leading pleading and Answers, together with the 
Affidavits, if any, and oral testimony or other admissible evidence presented to 
the Court shows that there is a genuine issue as to any fact material to a 
determination, the Court shall deny the Motion for Summary Judgment on that 
fact or issue. Or, if there is found to be no genuine issue as to any fact material 
to the determination pending before the Court, the Court shall render Summary 
Judgment as to that fact or issue sought by the Motion for Summary Judgment. 

The Court’s Order on any Motion for Summary Judgment shall set forth the facts 
for which the Court found there was, or was not, a material issue of fact for rendering 
summary judgment. Summary Judgment may be granted in whole, or in part. All 
matters upon which the Court denies Summary Judgment will proceed to trial. 

(6) Form of Affidavits. Supporting and opposing affidavits shall be made, under 
oath, on the basis of personal knowledge, shall set forth facts as would be 
admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent 
to testify as to the matters stated in the affidavit. Copies of papers referred to in an 
affidavit shall be attached to and served with the affidavit. 



Constitution & Canons  4H - 21  

(7) Defense Required. When a Motion for Summary Judgment is made and 
supported as provided in this Rule, the opposing party may not rest upon mere 
allegations or denials of the adverse party’s pleading but must, by affidavits or 
otherwise provided in this Rule, set forth specific facts to show that there is a 
genuine issue of material fact that requires a Trial for resolution. 

Rule 10. Trials. 

(a) Makeup of the Court (Refer to Canon 27). 

(1) The President of each Canonical Trial Court, appointed by the Ecclesiastical 
Authority, will serve as the presiding officer of the Trial and shall preside over 
the proceedings of the Court and its four Voting Members. 

(2) Voting Members. The four Voting Members, chosen under the Canons, shall hear 
testimony and receive evidence presented to the court. 

(3) The Prosecutor shall be appointed by the Bishop and shall represent the Bishop 
and Diocese, examine witnesses, introduce evidence, and present the case for the 
prosecution. 

(b) The proceedings of every Canonical Trial Court shall be recorded by electronic means. 

(c) The President of each Canonical Trial Court shall appoint a Court Reporter to record 
the proceedings of each Trial and mark Exhibits as received. 

(d) The President of each Canonical Trial Court shall call the Court to Order and the 
President shall be charged with maintaining proper court room order and decorum. 

(e) The Standard of Proof shall be by clear and convincing evidence in all Canonical Trial 
Courts of original jurisdiction. 

(f) In all Presentments, the burden of proof, and the burden of going forward, on each 
allegation will be upon the Ecclesiastical authority bringing Presentment. The 
Respondent in Presentment actions shall have the burden of proof, and the burden of 
going forward, on any affirmative Defense(s). 

(g) The Court may allow concise and direct opening statements by all parties. Where 
appropriate and helpful to the Court, the Court may at the close of all proof allow 
closing statements by each party. 

(h) Order of Proof. The party, or attorney, who filed the Presentment, Petition, 
Complaint, or other leading pleading shall then proceed to call its witnesses and 
introduce evidence on each factual allegation. The Respondent to a Presentment, or 
in all other actions, the responding party, will then proceed to present all of the 
witnesses and evidence on his behalf. All witnesses are subject to cross-examination 
of their testimony. Any challenge as to veracity or admissibility of the evidence 



Constitution & Canons  4H - 22  

presented and the basis of any request to strike such testimony shall be determined by 
the President of the Court on the merits of the challenge. 

(i) Evidentiary Requirements: If there are questions concerning the introduction of 
evidence, the Trial Court may be guided by reference to the Federal Rules of Evidence. 

(j) All witnesses and parties are expected to appear before the Trial Court with clean hands 
and a pure heart, not lifting up his or her soul to what is false and not swearing 
deceitfully. ( Ps. 24.4). To that end, in all Presentments, no testimony shall be 
received at the Trial except from witnesses who have signed a Declaration with the 
following words, to be read aloud before the witness testifies and to be filed with the 
records of the Trial Court. 

“I, A.B., witness on the trial of a Presentment, now pending, against  
 , a Bishop/Presbyter/Deacon/Deaconess of the Reformed Episcopal Church, do most 
solemnly call God to witness that the evidence I am about to give shall be the truth, the 
whole truth, and nothing but the truth, So Help Me God.” 

A non-Christian presenting testimony can submit testimony by affirmation or declaration 
under penalty of perjury rather than a reference to God. 

(k) The Trial Court may in the interest of Judgment sequester witnesses to achieve 
justice. (See Susanna and the Elders). 

Rule 11: Judgment. 

(a) Deliberations of the Court shall be in closed session. Judgement shall be rendered 
separately on every charge and specification. The affirmative vote of no fewer than a 
majority of the four Members of the appropriate Canonical Trial Court (excluding the 
President who shall not vote except in the event of a tie) shall be required for any 
Judgment rendered. A Judgment may be “Guilty” or “Not Guilty.” 

(b) In the event of a tie between the four Voting Members, the President of the Court shall 
be required to break the tie. He may vote Guilty, Not Guilty, or Not Proven on every 
charge or specification. 

(1) A majority vote of Guilty by the Voting Members shall be deemed a conviction 
on that charge or specification. 

(2) A majority vote of Not Guilty by the Voting Members shall preclude re-
prosecution on that charge or specification. 

(3) A tie broken by the President of the Court on any charge or specification with a 
vote of Not Guilty shall preclude re-prosecution. A tie broken by a vote of Guilty 
shall result in an automatic appeal to the Court of Appeals of the Reformed 
Episcopal Church. 



Constitution & Canons  4H - 23  

(4) A vote of Not Proven on any charge or specification by the President is effectively 
an acquittal without prejudice that requires arbitration on those charges and 
specifications between the Bishop and Respondent to effect a non-judicial 
resolution of the remaining issues by mutual agreement. If such resolution is not 
forthcoming, the matter is deemed to be closed and the Bishop’s actions shall be 
limited to a personal Letter of Reprimand. 

(5) Non-disclosure may be part of this process. 

(c) Presentments. The Court shall render its Judgment, in writing, no later than sixty (60) 
days after the Trial. The Court shall declare its opinion about whether the accused is 
guilty or not guilty or not proven as to each count or allegation. 

(d) Potential Criminal Liability. Any finding of guilt on a matter that involves child or 
sexual abuse, or other matters that are deemed to have potential criminal liability or 
that have a legal requirement of reporting to State or Federal law enforcement shall 
be reported as required by statute. 

(e) Appeals: A verdict of Guilty may be appealed, first to the Standing Committee which 
may affirm or overturn the decision of the trial court. and then to the Court of Review 
if the Guilty verdict of the trial court is upheld. A verdict of “Not Guilty” precludes a 
retrial on presentments based on the same incident/charges/allegations as the original 
presentment. A verdict of “Not Proven” may be the subject of a new Trial by a new 
Court. In the event the President breaks a tie to convict, there is an automatic appeal 
to the Standing Committee, and from it to the Court of Review if requested by any of 
the parties. 

 





Committee on Nominations  4I - 1 

REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE ON NOMINATIONS 
 
To the 57th General Council of the Reformed Episcopal Church 
 
Dear Brethren, 
 
The Committee makes the following nominations for elected committees of the Reformed 
Episcopal Church for the next triennium. Note, that non-italicized names under the General 
Committee are nominated to serve either a nine-year term or complete the term of a vacant position 
on that committee.   
 
General Committee (12) 

Note: Bishops Ordinary are ex officio members of the General Committee. 
 
Class of 2032 - The Rt. Rev. Bill Jenkins; The Rev. Dr. Julius Barnes; Mr. Harry K. Johnson, III; Mrs. 
Cathy Heissenhuber  
 
Class of 2029  
Mr. Bruce Bagby; The Rev. Josiah Jones; Mrs. Diana Lopez; The Rev. Tony Melton.  

 
Class of 2026 - The Rt. Rev. Walter Banek; Mr. Jeffrey Brown; Mr. Leckyler Gaillard; The Ven. 
Scott Thompson.  

 
Trustees of the Sustentation Fund (Treasurer, ex officio + 4) 
The Rev. Dr. Matthew P. Harrington; Mr. James (“Bud”) Longueville; - Mr. Craig Keller; Mr. Josh 
Kellam; Mr. Nathan Banek; Note also: The Very Rev. Canon Jason R. Grote (non-voting, advising member) 
 
Committee on Doctrine and Worship (3+3) 
The Very Rev. Canon Dr. Charles Camlin; Mrs. Burnie Barnes; The Rev. Dr. Charles Erlandson; 
Dss. Canon Annette Johnson; Dss. Teresa Johnson; The Rev. George McCray.  
 
Committee on Constitution and Canons (3+3) 
The Ven. James T. Payne; The Rev. Wyatt Boutwell; Mr. John Hendershot, Esq.; Dss. Teresa 
Johnson; Mrs. Sandra McNamara; The Rev. Canon J. Ronald Moock. 
 
Board of Pensions and Relief (7+1 APA) 
The Rt. Rev. R. Charles Gillin; The Ven. Dr. Jon W. Abboud; Mr. Joel Abboud; Mr. Matthew 
Banek; Mr. Vince Clanton; The Rev. Canon J. Ronald Moock; Mr. Bruce Woodcock; Mrs. Kathryn 
Cando (APA representative). Note also: The Ven. James T. Payne, (non-voting, advising member) Tonya 
Forsberg (non-voting, Secretary) 
 
Trustees of the Publication Society (7) 
The Rt. Rev. R. Charles Gillin; The Ven. Dr. Jon W. Abboud; Mr. Joel Abboud; Mr. Matthew 
Banek; The Very Rev. Canon Dr. Charlie Camlin; Mr. Vince Clanton; The Rev. Canon J. Ronald 
Moock. Note: Tonya Forsberg (non-voting, Secretary) 
  



Committee on Nominations  4I - 2 

Board of Foreign Missions (23/25 max) 
The Rev. Canon John Boonzaaijer; The Ven. Dr. Jon W. Abboud; Dr. Laurie Aten; The Rt. Rev. 
Walter Banek; The Rev. Dr. Benjamin Bernier; The Rev. Wyatt Boutwell; Mr. John Buncum; The Rt. 
Rev. R. Charles Gillin; Rev. Glenvil Gregory; The Rev. Damien Grout; The Very Rev. Canon Jason 
R. Grote; Rt. Rev. Willie Hill; The Rev. Paul S. Howden; The Rt. Rev. William Jenkins; Dss. Teresa 
Johnson; The Rev. Dr. Eric W. Jorgensen; Mr. Farrel Lawrence; Rev. Tory Liferidge; The Rt. Rev. 
Peter Manto; The Rev. Gerald McLynn; The Rev. Davidson Morse; The Very Rev. Dr. Jason 
Patterson; The Rev. Anthony Thompson; Dss. Barbara West; Mr. Gregory Wright. 
 
Standing Liturgical Commission (12 max) 
Dss Canon Annette Johnson; The Rt. Rev. Walter Banek; The Very Rev. Canon Dr. Charlie Camlin; 
The Rev. Justin Forsberg; The Rt. Rev. R. Charles Gillin; The Rev. Wayne McNamara; The Rev. 
Canon J. Ronald Moock; The Very Rev. Dr. Jason Patterson; The Rev. Robert Peterson; Rt. Rev. 
Peter Manto; The Rev. Dr. Jonathan S. Riches; The Rev. Canon Kenneth Shaw. 
 
Official Auditors 
Mr. Greg Wright: Pensions & Relief and Episcopal Recorder; Mr. David Shepson: Sustentation 
Fund and REC100.  
 
Court of Review 
The Ven. James T. Payne; Mr. Percy Beauford; Mr. John Hendershot, Esq.; Mr. Jeff Hurt, Esq. The 
Rev. Canon J. Scott Houser;   
 
Respectfully submitted,  
 
The Rt. Rev. Walter R. Banek 



Business Session #5 
ursday – June 9 
11:00am to finish 
Carolina Ballroom 

 

What to Expect: 

Worship will be at 9:00am sharp followed by Bishop Fenwick’s final teaching 
session. Business will resume after a short break.  

A. e chair will entertain a single motion to file all of the remaining reports which either have 
no report or contain no recommendations for the Council.  

• Diocese Ordinary & Standing Committee Summary Reports (5A-5D) 
• Armed Forces Chaplaincy Office (5E) 
• Inter-church relations (5F) 
• State of the Church (5G) 
• Memorials (5H) 
• Press Relations (5I) 
• Reformed Episcopal History (5J) 
• Certification of the Journal (5K) 
• eological Education (5L) 
• Resolutions (5M) 
• Reformed Episcopal Intercessors (5N) 

Motion to file the reports 
 

B. e chair will present any unfinished business. 
C. e chair will present his appointment of committees non-elective for the new triennium. 

Note: ese appointments may be done after the council adjourns and posted on the website with 
members being notified by the Presiding Bishop’s office.   

D. e chair will present any Old Business. 

E. e chair will present and New Business. 
1. e Presiding Bishop will speak to business which may be referred to the General 

Committee. 
2. Canon Grote will present a motion of thanks. 

F. General Council 2026 Information  
e chair will speak to the invitation regarding the host of General Council 2026. 

G. Adjourn (by 1pm – hopefully sooner) 
 
ere is no group lunch. Once we adjourn, you are free to do as you please. God speed on your travels! 





Diocese of the Central States 
Bishop Ordinary Activities 
June 1, 2021-April 30, 2023

In January 2023, I began my fourth year as Bishop Ordinary of the 
Diocese of the Central States.  In addition to my work as Ordinary, I have served 
as Vice President of the General Council and as Vice President of the Board of 
Foreign Missions.  I was chairman of the committee which produced a 
document for our Church stating our opposition to the conscription of women as 
a well a study guide on the roles of men and women for use in our churches.  In 
February 2023, I assumed the role of Interim Rector for Trinity REC, Mason, 
Ohio, after the resignation of their rector and his transfer to the United Episcopal 
Church of North America.  I previously held the role of interim rector at Trinity 
from January 2020 to September 2021.  I have reassumed that role with the 
assistance of Deacon Andrew Costa and Rev. David Truax.

I. June-September 2021

A. 6/9-11, REC General Council via Zoom
B. 6/16-18, ACNA College of Bishops via Zoom
C. 7/7, Mason, OH: Trinity, met with candidate Rev. Matthew Joyner & family
D. 7/22-23, Lexington, VA: St. Paul’s, episcopal visit, (1 confirmation, 10

receptions)
E. 8/20-21, Evansville, IN, Trinity Anglican: Ohio Valley Clericus
F. 8/27-28, Richmond, VA: Piedmont Clericus
G. 8/29, Richmond, VA: Sunday worship, St. Jude’s
H. 9/18, Connersville, IN: Trinity Anglican, Rev. & Mrs. R. Tarsitano
I. 9/22, Mason, OH: Trinity REC, Parish Council and Rev. Matthew Joyner
J. 9/25, Appomattox, VA: St. Andrew’s Academy, dedication Boone Hall
K. 9/26, Appomattox, VA: St. Andrew’s Anglican, episcopal visit

II. October-December 2021
A. 10/1-2, Leesburg, VA: Church of Our Savior, 150th anniversary
B. 10/5, Mason, OH: Trinity vestry

----------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of the Central States

----------------------------------------------- 
5A - 1



Diocese of the Central States 
Bishop Ordinary Activities 
June 1, 2021-April 30, 2023

C. 10/13, REC Bishops via Zoom
D. 10/14, ACNA College of Bishops via Zoom
E. 10/20-22, Mason, OH: DCS Synod
F. 10/23-25, Cincinnati, OH: host Adn. Scott and Mary Jane Thompson
G. 10/25, Mason, OH: institution of Rev. Matthew Joyner, rector Trinity Mason
H. 11/2, BFM meeting via Zoom
I. 11/6-7, Birmingham, AL: St. John’s, episcopal visit, 8 confirmations
J. 11/11, Greenville, OH: Andrew and Heather Costa, discuss REC transfer

and possible church plant
K. 11/13, Dayton, OH: Christ the King vestry meeting and update
L. 11/14, Dayton, OH: Christ the King, episcopal visit, 3 confirmations, altar

piece dedication
M. 11/20, Fairborn, OH: Christ Our Hope, Veley ordination
N. 11/21, Fairborn, OH: Christ Our Hope, episcopal visit, 4 confirmations,

2 receptions
O. 12/4-5, Memphis, TN: St. James, episcopal visit, kneeler dedication,

3 confirmations
P. 12/8, General Committee via Zoom
Q. 12/10-12, Lynchburg, VA: All Saints, episcopal visit, chapel consecration,

8 confirmations
R. 12/14, Committee on Roles of Men and Woman via Zoom
S. 12/19, Connersville, IN: Holy Trinity, worship/visit with Tarsitano family

III. January-March 2022
A. 1/10-14, ACNA College of Bishops via Zoom
B. 1/20, ACNA College of Bishops special meeting via Zoom
C. 1/22-23, Fairfax, VA: Holy Trinity, building consecration, episcopal visit
D. 1/24, REC/BFM, REK in Germany discussion via Zoom
E. 1/30, Dayton, OH: Christ the King, episcopal visit, 3 Confirmations

----------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of the Central States

----------------------------------------------- 
5A - 2



Diocese of the Central States 
Bishop Ordinary Activities 
June 1, 2021-April 30, 2023

F. 2/6, Fairborn, OH: Christ Our Hope, Holy Communion, all-parish meeting
G. 2/24, Dayton, OH: Grandview Hospital, Rev. Wayne McNamara illness
H. 3/6, Connersville, IN: Trinity Anglican, award REC 100 grant
I. 3/12-13, Lexington, VA: St. Paul’s Anglican, episcopal visit, 2 receptions
J. 3/26-28, Amelia, VA: Holy Cross Anglican, episcopal visit, 7 confirmations

IV. April-June 2022
A. 4/13-17, Mason, OH: Trinity Church, Holy Week services and Easter Holy

Communion
B. 4/19, REC Council of Bishops via Zoom
C. 4/20-22, REC Liturgical, Theological and General Committees via Zoom
D. 4/24, Connersville, IN: Trinity Anglican worship/visit church plant
E. 4/26, DCS rectors reimplementation of Child Protection Policy via Zoom
F. 4/29-5/1, Leesburg, VA: Church of Our Saviour, episcopal visit,

7 confirmations, 9 receptions
G. 5/9, DCS Trustees via Zoom
H. 5/13-14, Evansville, IN: Ohio Valley Clericus (16 clergy/postulants)
I. 5/14-15, Evansville, IN: Trinity Anglican episcopal visit, 1 confirmation
J. 5/19, DCS Standing Committee via Zoom
K. 5/22, Dayton, OH: Christ the King, lunch afterwards with Postulant Aaron

Pelot and family…studying at St. Andrew’s Scotland beginning this fall.
L. 6/1-3, Richmond, VA: visit with Adn. and Mrs. Scott Thompson
M. 6/4-5, Richmond, VA: St. Jude’s episcopal visit, 7 confirmations,

2 receptions
N. 6/12-14, Falls Church, VA: ACNA Bishops meeting
O. 6/15-16, Falls Church, VA: ACNA Provincial Council
P. 6/24-26, Raleigh, NC: All Saints episcopal visit, 2 confirmations
Q. 6/27-28, Mason, OH: Trinity REC, sponsored presentation by Rev. Steven

Shepard, missionary, Church Planting International

----------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of the Central States

----------------------------------------------- 
5A - 3



Diocese of the Central States 
Bishop Ordinary Activities 
June 1, 2021-April 30, 2023

V. July-September 2022
A. 7/8, diocesan investigation committee, re Dcn. Tanner Moore via Zoom
B. 7/9-11, Asheboro, NC: St. Andrew’s Anglican episcopal visit,

6 confirmations
C. 7/11, Standing Committee, investigation report via Zoom
D. 7/16-24, Family vacation
E. 7/30-31, Wilson, NC: Church of the Redeemer, ordination diaconate-

Jameson Lowery and episcopal visit
F. 8/9, Dayton, OH: Christ the King, A. Costa, Rev. W. McNamara meeting
G. 8/13, Mason, OH: Trinity REC, interview Dcn. Tanner Moore along with

Rev. David Straw
H. 8/12-13, Moncks Corner, SC: Grace REC, episcopal consecration Bishop

Hill.
I. 8/27, Richmond, VA: St. Jude’s, Piedmont Clericus
J. 8/28, Roanoke, VA: Covenant REC, Rev. Veley institution as vicar
K. 9/11, Mason, OH: Trinity Episcopal visit, 1 reception
L. 9/13, Dayton, OH: Christ the King, Rev. McNamara/Costa planning
M. 9/17-18, Owensboro, KY: Redeemer, Kline ordination diaconate, episcopal

visit, 6 confirmations
N. 9/25, Dayton, OH: Christ the King, Costa and Pelot diaconate ordination
O. 9/25-30, Ridgecrest, NC: ACNA Bishops Conclave

VI. October-December 2022
A. 10/2, Connersville, IN Trinity: visit church plant
B. 10/7-10, Appomattox, VA: St. Andrews episcopal visit, 7 confirmations
C. 10/19-21, Lynchburg, VA: DCS Synod
D. 10/22-24, Lynchburg, VA: All Saints episcopal visit, 3 confirmations
E. 10/29, Eaton, OH: meeting with Dcn. Andrew and Heather Costa
F. 11/5-6, Chantilly, VA: Holy Trinity episcopal visit, 4 confirmations

----------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of the Central States

----------------------------------------------- 
5A - 4



Diocese of the Central States 
Bishop Ordinary Activities 
June 1, 2021-April 30, 2023

G. 11/7-8, REC Doctrine/Worship, Constitution/Canons via Zoom
H. 11/8, Dayton, OH: Christ the King vestry, Ansonia, OH church plant

presentation
I. 11/9-10, REC Bishops meeting via zoom
J. 11/9, St.  Andrew’s Appomattox vestry via Zoom, rector’s resignation
K. 11/10, Mason, OH, interview Christ Our Hope candidate with clergy team
L. 11/13, Fairborn, OH: Christ Our Hope episcopal visit, 4 confirmations
M. 11/22, St. Andrew’s Bishop’s Council via zoom
N. 11/25-28, Westpoint TN: Christ Our Hope diaconate ordination Jameson

Overton
O. 12/2-5, Memphis, TN: St James episcopal visit, 3 confirmations
P. 12/10-11, Dayton, OH: Christ the King episcopal visit, 6 confirmations
Q. 12/15, ACNA Bishops via Zoom
R. 12/18, Mason, OH: Trinity, co-celebrate Sunday
S. 12/18, ACNA Bishops’ Committee via Zoom
T. 12/21, Mason, OH: Lindner Center of Hope, Lessons & Carols, Rev. Truax
U. 12/29, St. Andrew’s Bishop’s Council via Zoom
V. 12/30, Cincinnati, OH: Spring Grove Cemetery, celebrant funeral for

Gladys Fitzpatrick
I. January-March 2023

A. 1/1, Fairborn, OH: Christ Our Hope: Sunday worship, rector candidate
Rev. Lewis celebrant

B. 1/8-14, Melbourne, FL: ACNA Bishops
C. 1/17, Standing Committee via Zoom
D. 1/18, Mason, OH: Trinity vestry
E. 1/21-22, Greenhills, OH: Dcn. Tim Kline, attorney ,Trinity Mason crisis
F. 1/23-31: numerous calls regarding Trinity crisis…Dcn. Bill Barto assisted
G. 1/25, Bishop’s Council via Zoom: St Andrew’s crisis

----------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of the Central States

----------------------------------------------- 
5A - 5



Diocese of the Central States 
Bishop Ordinary Activities 
June 1, 2021-April 30, 2023

H. 1/26, West Chester, OH: Rev. Josiah Jones SC president, Trinity crisis
I. 1/26, West Chester, OH: meet with Rev. Jones, Trinity Sr. Warden and

Sexton regarding Trinity crisis
J. 1/29, Mason, OH: Trinity REC, assumed interim rector duties after Rev.

Joyner departure
K. 1/31, Trustees conference via Zoom
L. 2/2, Mason, OH: Rev. Mike Lewis, rector candidate Christ Our Hope,

Fairborn.
M. 2/5, Mason, OH: Trinity Mason, Sunday preach, celebrate
N. 2/7, Mason, OH: Trinity vestry meeting
O. 2/12, Mason, OH: Trinity Mason, Sunday preach, celebrate
P. 2/15, Ohio Valley and Piedmont Convocation clergy meetings
Q. 2/18-19, Amelia, VA: Holy Cross building consecration
R. 2/22, Mason, OH: Trinity Ash Wednesday service
S. 2/24, REC 100 Committee via Zoom
T. 2/26, Mason, OH: Trinity All-parish meeting followed by Sunday worship-

preach, celebrate
U. 3/20, REC Constitution/Canons Committee via Zoom
V. 3/21, DCS Standing Committee via Zoom
W. 3/23, Johnson City, TN: Church plant, meet with lay leaders
X. 3/24-25, Richmond, VA: DCS Piedmont Clericus
Y. 3/25-26, Richmond, VA: St. Jude’s episcopal visit, 4 confirmations, 9

receptions
Z. 4/5-9, Mason, OH: Trinity Holy Week and Easter services
AA.4/14-15, Dayton, OH: Christ Our Hope, Clericus, Piedmont Convocation
BB.4/15, Dayton, OH: Christ Our Hope: Institution Rev. Michael Lewis, Rector
CC.4/16, Dayton, OH: Christ the King, parish visit, preach, 2 confirmations

----------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of the Central States

----------------------------------------------- 
5A - 6



Diocese of the Central States 
Bishop Ordinary Activities 
June 1, 2021-April 30, 2023

DD.4/22-23, Leesburg, VA: Church of Our Saviour, episcopal visit,12
confirmations, 21 receptions

EE.4/25, REC Bishops’ meeting via Zoom

Summary

Episcopal visits: 29


Confirmations: 116

Receptions: 56


Other diocesan travel/visits/Zoom: 48

Ordinations Presbyter: 1

Ordinations Deacon: 5

Institutions Rector: 2

Building Consecrations/Dedications: 4

Clericus, others: 36


Provincial meetings: 10 (travel-5; via Zoom-5)

REC meetings: 11 (travel-1; via Zoom-10)


BISHOPS, ARCHDEACON 

Manto, The Rt. Rev. Peter, Ordinary; Morse, The Rt. Rev. Daniel, 
Bishop Emeritus; Thompson, The Very Rev. W. Scott, Adn. 

PRESBYTERS (26)

Beckham, The Rev. Dr. Christopher; Boettner, The Rev. Roy K. 
(Keith); Clauson, The Rev. Dr. Marc A.; Edgerton, The Rev. Dr. Paul; 
Fitzpatrick, The Rev. Michael; Gingerich, The Rev. Bart; Goodwin, 
The Rev. David; Grout, The Rev. Damien; Heaton, The Rev. John; 
Herman, The Rev. Christopher; Houser, The Rev. Canon Jon S. (Scott); 
Jones, The Rev. Josiah; Kell, The Rev. Jonathan; Lewis, The Rev. 
Michael; MacGregor, The Rev. Canon Ian; McNamara, The Rev. 
Wayne; Mills, The Rev. Ken; Morse, The Rev. Davidson R.; 

----------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of the Central States

----------------------------------------------- 
5A - 7



Diocese of the Central States 
Bishop Ordinary Activities 
June 1, 2021-April 30, 2023

Parker, The Rev. Dr. Eric; Sanders, The Rev. Franklin; Spieth, The 
Rev. Michael; Straw, The Rev. David; Taranto, The Rev. Dominic; 
Tarsitano, The Rev. Richard; Truax, The Rev. David; Veley, The Rev. 
Duane

DEACONS (8)

Barto, The Rev. Dcn. William; Butler, The Rev. Dcn. Mark; Costa, The 
Rev. Dcn. Andrew; Fitzpatrick, The Rev. Dcn. Stuart; Kline, The Rev. 
Dcn. Timothy; Lowery, The Rev. Dcn. Jameson; Overton, The Rev. 
Dcn. Jameson; Pelot, The Rev. Dcn. Aaron;

DEACONESSES (2)

Caldwell, Michelle; Johnson, Teresa

RETIRED CLERGY (8) 

Crenshaw, The Rev. Dr. Curtis; Josephsen, The Rev. Dr. Hans; Kump, 
The Rev. William; Mills, The Rev. Dr. Doug; Palmer, The Rev. Canon 
Richard Ph.D.;  Tuten, The Rev. Edward; Uselton, The Rev. Randy; 
Workowski, The Rev. Richard 

POSTLUANTS (3)

Presbyterate: Costa, The Rev. Dcn. Andrew

Diaconate: Davis, Ralph; Hynd, Matthew; Rafferty, Coleman

CANDIDATES DEACONESS (1)

Fleming, Shelley

PARISHES, MISSIONS, CHURCH PLANTS (22)

Alabama (1)

----------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of the Central States

----------------------------------------------- 
5A - 8



Diocese of the Central States 
Bishop Ordinary Activities 
June 1, 2021-April 30, 2023

St. Johns, Chelsea

Indiana (2)

Trinity Anglican, Connersville; Trinity Anglican, Evansville

Kentucky (1)

Christ the Redeemer, Owensboro 

North Carolina (3)

Church of The Redeemer, Wilson; All Saints, Raleigh; St. Andrew’s, 
Asheboro 

Ohio (5)

Christ Our Hope, Fairborn; Christ the King, Dayton; Dark County 
church plant, Ansonia; St. Lazarus Mission, Dayton; Trinity, Mason

Tennessee (3)

St. James, Memphis; Christ Our Hope, Westpoint; Tri-city church 
plant, Johnson City 

Virginia (7)

All Saints, Lynchburg; Church of Our Saviour, Leesburg; Covenant, 
Roanoke; Holy Cross, Amelia, Holy Trinity, Chantilly; St. Jude’s; 
Richmond; St. Paul’s, Lexington 

Respectfully Submitted,

+Peter Manto

Rt. Rev. Peter Manto 
Ordinary of the Diocese of the Central States 

----------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of the Central States

----------------------------------------------- 
5A - 9



Diocese of the Central States of the Reformed Episcopal Church 
April 20, 2023 

REPORT OF THE STANDING COMMITTEE FOR THE 57th GENERAL COUNCIL 

ORGANIZATION 

2021-2022 Composition 
Clergy Members - The Rev. Josiah Jones (2022), The Rev. Keith Boettner (2023), The Rev. Jonathan Kell (2024)
Lay Members - Dss. Teresa Johnson (2022), Mr. Jon McGill (2023), Mr. Jeff Brown (2024)
Ex Officio Members –Bishop Peter Manto, Archdeacon Scott Thompson, the Treasurer Fr. Ken Mills 

2022-2023 Composition 
Clergy Members - The Rev. Keith Boettner (2023), The Rev. Jonathan Kell (2024), The Rev. Josiah Jones (2025),
Lay Members - Mr. Jon McGill (2023), Mr. Jeff Brown (2024), Mr. Tom McConnell (2025)
Ex Officio Members –Bishop Peter Manto, Archdeacon Scott Thompson, the Treasurer Fr. Ken Mills 

ACTIONS 

Postulancy:  

1. On 13 October 2021, the Standing Committee received a postulancy application for Matthew Hynd, from
Christ Our Hope REC in Westpoint, Tennessee. He is currently a seminarian at RES. On 18 October 2021, the
Standing Committee recommended to the Bishop Ordinary that be accepted as a Postulant.

2. On 1 August 2022, the Standing Committee received a postulancy application for Coleman Rafferty, from
Church of Our Saviour in Oatlands, VA. On 4 August 2022, the Standing Committee recommended to the
Bishop Ordinary that he be accepted as a Postulant.

3. On 8 August 2022 the Standing Committee received a postulancy application and materials from David Heng
of Trinity Anglican in Evansville IN. On 11 August 2022, The Standing Committee recommended to the Bishop
Ordinary that he be accepted as a Postulant.

4. On 22 September 2022, the Committee received the application for ordination to the Diaconate for Mr.
Jameson Overton from Christ Our Hope, Westpoint TN. He was examined by the Chaplains yesterday.

5. On 24 September 2022, the Committee received the application for ordination to the Diaconate for Mr.
Matthew Hynd from Christ Our Hope, Westpoint TN. He will be examined by the Chaplains in the months
ahead.

6. On 6 December 2022, the Committee approved the application of Mr. Jonathan McGill to the postulancy. Mr.
McGill attends at Christ the King Anglican Church in Dayton, OH.

Holy Orders:  

1. On 20 July 2021, the Standing Committee received application materials for reception of Fr. Matthew Joyner
of the Orthodox Church in America. The Committee approved his reception on 22 July and received the
favorable report of the Examining Chaplains on 4 August.

2. On 6 August 2021, the Standing Committee received application materials for reception of Fr. Richard
Tarsitano of the Anglican Catholic Church. The Committee approved his reception on 8 August and
received the favorable report of the Examining Chaplains on 24 August.

3. On 4 October 2021, the Standing Committee received application materials for the reception of the Rev.
Andrew Costa. The Committee approved his reception as a candidate for ordination in our Church on 13
October 2021.

4. On 29 October 2021, Mr. Jameson Lowery was recommended for ordination to the Diaconate. He was
ordained on 31 July 2022.

5. On 29 October 2021, Dcn. Duane Veley was recommended for ordination to the Presbyterate. He was ordained
on 20 November 2021.

6. On 9 September 2022, Mr. Timothy Kline was recommended for ordination to the Diaconate. He was ordained

----------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of the Central States

----------------------------------------------- 
5A - 10



on 18 September. 
7. On 20 September 2022, Mr. Andrew Costa and Mr. Aaron Pelot were recommended for ordination to the

Diaconate. They were ordained On 25 September.
8. On 9 February 2023, Fr. Michael Lewis was received in the REC from the ACNA.

Reception of a Parish: 

1. On 17 January 2022, the Standing Committee voted to affirm the reception of Trinity Anglican Church in
Connersville, IN, and voted further to approve the use of REC100 funds to support the parish’s ongoing
ministry.

2. On 10 February 2023, the Standing Committee voted to approve the beginning of an Extension Work in
Johnson City, TN, which will be conducted under the auspices of the REC100 program.

Calls of Rectors:  

1. On 16 February 2022, the Standing Committee received the call of Fr. Duane Veley to Covenant REC in
Roanoke, VA. His application was approved on 18 February 2022.

2. On 2 September 2021, the Standing Committee received and approved the call of Fr. Matthew Joyner to
Trinity Church in Mason, Ohio.

3. On 9 February 2023, Fr. Michael Lewis’ call as Rector to Christ our Hope in Fairborn, OH was approved.

Affirmation of Episcopal Election: 

1. On 18 March 2022, the Standing Committee provided consent to the election of the Rev. Willie J. Hill to be
Bishop Coadjutor of the Diocese of the Southeast.

2. On 8 December 2022, the Standing Committee provided consent to the election of the Rev. William Jenkins
to be the Bishop Coadjutor of the Diocese of the Northeast and Mid-Atlantic.

Duties as Assigned:  

1. On 26 January 2021, the Standing Committee received and approved the application materials for the Order
of Deaconesses of Mrs. Shelley Fleming of Holy Trinity, Fairfax, Virginia.

2. On 14 October 2021, the Standing Committee received a position description and nomination from the Bishop 
Ordinary for a Diocesan Chancellor. Mr. Dan Bell of Church of Our Saviour, Oatlands was the nominee. On
18 October 2021 the Committee approved the nomination.

3. On 19 May 2022 and 11 July 2022, the Standing Committee met with Bishop Manto via Zoom to discuss a
discipline matter in our Diocese, and to advise and support our Bishop.

4. In January of 2023, the Committee worked with the Bishop regarding a difficult clergy discipline issue in
Mason, Ohio. We met on Zoom on Tuesday, January 17 to discuss the matter.

5. On 9 February 2023, the Standing Committee agreed to a proposal to send a letter of disaffiliation to St.
Andrew’s Anglican Church in Appomattox, VA.

6. The Committee met via Zoom on 21 March 2023 to discuss various Diocesan matters.
7. The Standing Committee reviews local Protection Policies for Minors and Specially Protected Adults, in

keeping with our Diocesan policy. We have thus far reviewed the policy submitted by Church of Our Saviour,
Oatlands, and by All Saints Anglican in Lynchburg.

__________________________________________________________ 

Respectfully submitted, 

Fr. Josiah Jones, President of the Standing Committee, Diocese of the Central States 

----------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of the Central States

----------------------------------------------- 
5A - 11





 
STATISTICAL REPORT OF THE  

ORDINARY OF THE DIOCESE OF MID-AMERICA 
TO THE 57TH GENERAL COUNCIL OF THE REFORMED EPISCOPAL CHURCH 

 
JUNE 7-9, 2023 

 
Since the last General Council held in June 2021, I had the following number of meetings, visits, events, 
and services, including baptisms, confirmations, ordinations, installations, investitures, consecrations, 
weddings and funerals.  
 
June 2021 – June 2023 
 Diocesan Meetings/Events: 57 
 Parish Visits/Episcopal Visits: 41 
 Baptisms 1 

Confirmations: 208 & Receptions: 66 
 Weddings: 3 
 Funerals 4 

Ordinations 9  
 Installations: 3 
 Consecrations: 2 
  Other: 12  
  
In addition to weekly Cathedral Staff and Diocesan Staff meetings, I attended the following:  
   
 Diocesan Meetings and Events 
 June 25, 2021  Qualifying Clergy Examination, Andrew Voelkel  
 August 2  DMA Synod Planning 
  August 10  Search Committee, St. Michael’s Anglican Church,  

Broken Arrow, OK 
 September 8  Clergy Examination, Spencer Amaral & Edward Fruin  
 September 13  DMA Standing Committee 
 September 14  Bishop’s Council, Covenant Church, Greenville, MI  
  September 21  Vestry, Anglican Church of the Epiphany, La Mirada, CA  
 September 23  Diaconate Clergy Examination, Garrett Agajanian 
 September 27  DMA Synod Planning 
  October 7-8  DMA Synod, Dallas, TX 
 October 10  Vestry, St. Michael’s Anglican Church, Broken Arrow, OK 
 October 15  Mariners’ Church of Detroit Trustees Banquet 
  November 17-20 Holy Trinity Houston Men’s Retreat Speaker  
 January 18, 2022 DMA Trustees 
 January 19  Cranmer House Trustees 
 January 19  DMA Deans 
  February 1  DMA Standing Committee 
 February 6  Groundbreaking Ceremony, Good Shepherd REC, Tyler, TX 
  February 9-12  Clergy Retreat, Convocation of the West, Santa Clara, CA 
 March 12  DMA Cathedral Vestry Retreat, Dallas, TX 
 March 16  DMA Cathedral Lenten Series Speaker, Dallas, TX 
 March 22  DMA Cathedral Chapter Meeting, Dallas, TX 
  April 11  DMA Deanery of South Texas/Southern Louisiana Eucharist of 

Collegiality, St. Matthias Anglican Church, Katy, TX 
 April 12  DMA Deanery of North Texas Eucharist of Collegiality 
    Church of the Holy Communion Cathedral, Dallas, TX 

--------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of Mid-America

------------------------------------------------- 
5B - 1



 May 9   Cathedral Staff Retreat 
 May 9-11  North Texas Deanery Clergy Retreat, Camp Crucis, Granbury, TX 
 May 13   Cranmer Theological House Faculty and Dinner  
  May 14   Cranmer Theological House Commencement 
 May 17   DMA Standing Committee 
  May 20   Presbyterate Clergy Examination, Rev. Deacon Jacob Skogen 
 May 23   DMA Synod Planning 
 May 26-27  Upper Midwest Deanery Clericus, Holy Trinity Anglican Church 
    Webster Groves, MO 
 June 7-8  Southeast Deanery Clericus, St. Timothy’s Anglican Church,  

Jonesboro, AR 
 June 23   Bishop’s Council, St. Mark the Evangelist, Waxahachie, TX  
 July 5   Qualifying Examination, Rt. Rev. Frank Brulc  
 July 27   DMA Standing Committee 
 August 16  Cranmer Theological House Trustees 
 August 18  Bishops Council, St. Mark the Evangelist, Waxahachie, TX 
 September 12  DMA Synod Planning 
 September 12  DMA Standing Committee 
 October 5-7  DMA Synod, Church of the Holy Communion, Dallas, TX 
  October 21  Mariners Church of Detroit, Trustees Banquet 
 November 16-18 Holy Trinity Houston Men’s Retreat Speaker  
  January 17, 2023 DMA Trustees Meeting 
 January 24  Cranmer Theological House Trustees 
 February 10  Cranmer Theological House Governance 
  February 21  Cranmer Theological House Journal  
 February 25  Cathedral Vestry Retreat 
 March 9  Bishops Council, St. Mark the Evangelist, Waxahachie, TX 
 March 10  Cranmer Theological House Bylaws 
 March 14  DMA Standing Committee  
 April 4   DMA Deanery of North Texas Eucharist of Collegiality,  
    Church of the Holy Communion, Dallas, TX 
 April 24  Cranmer House Trustees  

May 15-17  DMA Deanery of North Texas Clergy Retreat, Granbury, TX 
 May 19   Cranmer Theological House Faculty and Dinner 
 May 20   Cranmer Theological House Commencement 
  May 22   DMA Standing Committee 
 
 
 Parish & Episcopal Visits / Confirmations 
 June 20, 2021 Parish Visit  Christ the King Anglican Church, Atlanta, GA 
 June 27  Episcopal Visit  St. Timothy’s Anglican Church, Jonesboro, AR  
      1 Confirmation 
 July 18  Episcopal Visit  St. Thomas of Canterbury, Houston, TX 
      6 Confirmations / 1 Reception 
 August 2 Parish Site Visit  St. Benedict’s Anglican Church, Rockwall 
 September 5 Episcopal Visit  Trinity Anglican Church, Pagosa Springs, CO 
      2 Confirmations 
 September 26 Parish Visit  Good Shepherd Anglican Fellowship, Colorado 
      Springs, CO 
  October 3 Episcopal Visit  St. Stephen’s Anglican Church, Montrose, CO 
      5 Confirmations 

October 8 Private Confirmation Church of the Holy Communion 
      1 Confirmation 
 October 17 Episcopal Visit  Mariners Church of Detroit, MI 

--------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of Mid-America

------------------------------------------------- 
5B - 2



      3 Confirmations 
 October 24 Episcopal Visit  Christ’s Chapel, Riverside, CA 
      9 Confirmations 
 October 31 Episcopal Visit  Iglesia Holy Communion, Dallas, TX 
      20 Confirmations / 3 Receptions 
 November 21 Episcopal Visit  Church of the Holy Trinity, Houston, TX 
       3 Confirmations 
  December 5 Episcopal Visit  Anglican Church of the Epiphany, La Mirada, CA 
      9 Confirmations 
 December 12 Episcopal Visit  Covenant Church, Heber Springs, AR 
 January 2, 2022 Congregational Zoom Good Shepherd Anglican Fellowship, Colorado 
       Springs, CO  
  February 6 Episcopal Visit  Good Shepherd REC, Tyler, TX 
      18 Confirmations 
 February 11 Parish Visit  St. Paul’s Anglican Church, Los Altos, CA 
 March 19-20 Pastoral Visit  Jerry Kistler, Montrose, CO 
  April 3   Episcopal Visit  St. Mark the Evangelist, Waxahachie, TX 
      9 Confirmations / 12 Receptions 
 April 10 Episcopal Visit  St. Barnabas Anglican Church, Bellville, TX 
 April 24 Episcopal Visit  Holy Trinity Anglican Church, Webster Groves, MO 
      9 Confirmations 
 May 1  Episcopal Visit  Holy Cross Anglican Church, Alpine, TX 
      1 Confirmation 
 May 15  Episcopal Visit  St. Benedict’s Anglican Church, Rockwall, TX 
      14 Confirmations / 10 Receptions 
 May 22  Episcopal Visit  Good Shepherd Anglican Fellowship, Colorado 
       Springs, CO  
      3 Confirmations 
 May 31  Private Confirmation Church of the Holy Communion, Dallas, TX 
      1 Confirmation 
 June 5  Episcopal Visit  Church of the Holy Communion Cathedral, Dallas 
       12 Confirmations / 3 Receptions 
 June 5  Episcopal Visit  Iglesia Holy Communion Cathedral, Dallas, TX 
      7 Confirmations / 3 Receptions 
  July 3  Episcopal Visit  St. Paul’s Anglican Church, Houston, TX 
      3 Confirmations 
 August 7 Episcopal Visit  Iglesia Santa Cruz, Dallas, TX 
      5 Confirmations 
 August 21 Episcopal Visit  St. Timothy’s Anglican Church, Jonesboro, AR 
      3 Confirmations / 2 Receptions 
  September 11 Episcopal Visit  All Saints Anglican Church, Shreveport, LA 
 October 23 Episcopal Visit  Mariners Church of Detroit, MI 
       9 Confirmations 
  October 30 Episcopal Visit  St. Matthias Anglican Church, Katy, TX 
      3 Confirmations / 8 Receptions 
 October 30 Episcopal Visit  Iglesia San Matias, Katy, TX 
      1 Confirmation 
 November 13 Episcopal Visit  St. Stephen’s Anglican Church, Flowood, MS 
      10 Confirmations / 3 Receptions    
 November 20 Episcopal Visit  Church of the Holy Trinity, Houston, TX 
      1 Confirmation / 1 Reception 
  April 16, 2023 Episcopal Visit  St. Andrew’s Church, Lake Almanor, CA 
      2 Confirmations / 2 Receptions 
 May 7  Episcopal Visit  Church of the Resurrection, Crosby, TX 

--------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of Mid-America

------------------------------------------------- 
5B - 3



       4 Confirmations / 2 Receptions 
  May 14  Episcopal Visit  The Chapel of the Cross, Dallas, TX 
      12 Confirmations / 1 Reception 
 May 21  Episcopal Visit  St. Benedict’s Anglican Church, Rockwall, TX 
      5 Confirmations / 13 Receptions 
 June 4  Episcopal Visit  Church of the Holy Communion, Dallas, TX 
      17 Confirmations / 3 Receptions  
 
 Baptisms 
 Aug. 15, 2021 Della Wilkerson  Church of the Holy Communion, Dallas, TX  
 
 
 Weddings 

October 30, 2021 Mr./Mrs. Landry Dalton, Church of the Holy Communion, Dallas 
February 19, 2022 Mr./Mrs. Joseph Fell, Hacienda Del Mar, Los Cabos, Mexico 
July 16   Mr./Mrs. Daniel Sutton, North Carolina  

 
 
 Funerals 
 July 14, 2021  Mr. Bill Williams, Church of the Holy Communion, Dallas, TX  
 September 8  Mrs. Martha Schenken, Church of the Holy Communion, Dallas, TX  
 September 10, 2022 Rev. Tom Vestal, All Saints, Shreveport, LA 
 March 25, 2023  Dr. Robert Pickering, Church of the Holy Communion, Dallas, TX  
   
 
 Ordinations 
 July 10, 2021  Rev. Kent Bartel, Ordination to the Presbyterate 
 July 10   Rev. Jesus Quintero, Ordination to the Presbyterate    
 September 15  Rev. Deacon Spencer Amaral, Ordination to the Diaconate 
 September 15  Rev. Deacon Edward Fruin, Ordination to the Diaconate 
  October 3  Rev. Deacon Garrett Agajanian, Ordination to the Diaconate 
 October 8  Rev. Deacon Jacob Skogen, Regularized to the Diaconate 
  Mar. 5, 2022  Rev. David Norton, Ordination to the Presbyterate 
 May 27   Rev. Jacob Skogen, Ordination to the Presbyterate 
  March 17, 2023  Rev. Derek Harmon, Ordination to the Presbyterate  
   
 
 Installations 
 June 27, 2021  Rev. Thomas McGee as Dean, Deanery of the South 
 January 23, 2022 Rev. Richard Jones as Rector, St. Michael’s Anglican Church,  

    Broken Arrow, OK 
 September 26, 2022 Rt. Rev. Willie J. Hill, Jr., as Ordinary of the Diocese of the South REC 
 

 
Consecrations 

 August 13, 2022 Rt. Rev. Willie J. Hill, Jr., Diocese of the Southeast REC 
  April 29, 2023  Rt. Rev. William A. Jenkins, Sr., Diocese of the Northeast/Mid-Atlantic 
  

 
Other 

 July 8-10, 2021  Anglican Way Institute (AWI) Plenary Speaker, Dallas, TX 
 September 10-12 Philip Edgcumbe Hughes Lecture Series, Lecturer, Dallas, TX 
  November 12-14 Seminary Course Professor, Cranmer Theological House  
  March 25-27, 2022 Seminary Course Professor, Cranmer Theological House 

--------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of Mid-America

------------------------------------------------- 
5B - 4



 May 2   Anglican Way Institute Conference Planning  
 June 3   Anglican Way Institute Conference Planning 
 July 7-9   Anglican Way Institute Conference Plenary Speaker, Dallas, TX 
  September 9  Anglican Way Institute Conference Planning 
 September 19  Anglican Way Institute Conference Book Editors Planning 
 December 2-4   Seminary Course Professor, Cranmer Theological House 
  March 7, 2023  Anglican Way Institute Conference Planning 
 May 31-June 2  Anglican Way Institute Conference Planning 
  

--------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of Mid-America

------------------------------------------------- 
5B - 5



--------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of Mid-America

------------------------------------------------- 
5B - 6



Report of the Standing Committee of the 
REC Diocese of Mid-America to the 

57th General Council of the Reformed Episcopal Church 
June 2023 

 
The following is a summary of the actions taken by the Standing Committee of the Diocese of Mid-America 
since the last General Council held in June 2021. 
 
Standing Committee Meeting 
Monday, September 13, 2021 
 
Action taken: 

A. Approved Candidacy for Holy Orders 
a. Mr. Bradley Adams, St. Stephen’s Anglican Church, Montrose, CO 

B. Parish Transfer 
In – 
a. Approved Anglican Church of the Epiphany, La Mirada, CA, from ACNA Diocese of Western 

Anglicans 
C. Clergy Transfer 

a. The Rev. Dr. Greg Peters, Rector, Anglican Church of the Epiphany, La Mirada, CA, from the 
ACNA Diocese of Western Anglicans 

 
Standing Committee Meeting 
Tuesday, February 1, 2022 
 
Action taken: 

A. Approved Candidacy for Holy Orders    
a. Mr. Randy Randall, Good Shepherd REC, Tyler, TX 
b. Mr. Derek DeMars, St. Benedict’s Anglican Church, Rockwall, TX 

B. Approved Candidacy for Deaconess 
a. Mrs. Renee Boutwell, Holy Cross Anglican Church, Alpine, TX 

C. Approved for Ordination to the Presbyterate 
a. The Rev. Dcn. David Norton, Church of the Holy Communion Cathedral, Dallas, TX 
b. The Rev. Dcn. Jacob Skogen, Holy Trinity Anglican Church, Webster Groves, MO 
c. The Rev. Dcn. James Sullivan, Covenant Church, Greenville, MI  

D. Status Changes 
a. The Rev. Paul Cook, Covenant Church, Greenville, MI, retired from active ministry, named 

Rector Emeritus 
b. The Rev. Dcn. Joshua Farris, Holy Cross Anglican Church, Alpine, TX, resigned from ministry 
c. The Rev. Richard Jones, St. Michael’s Anglican Church, Broken Arrow, OK, installed as Rector 
d. The Rev. James Sullivan, Covenant Church, Greenville, MI, installed as Rector 

E. Parish Transfer 
In –  
a. Approved Iglesia Santa Cruz, Dallas, TX, from ACNA Diocese of Quincy 
b. Approved St. Mark’s on the Plains, Amarillo, TX from ACNA Diocese of the Southwest 

F. Clergy Transfer 
In –  
a. The Rev. Omar Magana Bravo, Iglesia Santa Cruz, Dallas, TX  

G. Approved Creation of Provisional Response Team 
H. In Memoriam 

a. The Rev. Robert Blaine Kemendo, St. Barnabas Anglican Church, Bellville, TX (May 21, 
1954–February 1, 2022)  

--------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of Mid-America

------------------------------------------------- 
5B - 7



Standing Committee Email Vote 
Monday, February 28, 2022 
 
Action taken: 

A. Approved by unanimous consent the episcopal election of the Rev. Willie J. Hill, Jr., Rector of St. 
John’s REC in Charleston, SC, as Bishop Coadjutor in the Diocese of the Southeast 

 
 
Standing Committee Resolution 
Wednesday, March 30, 2022 
  
Action taken: 
The following Resolutions were adopted: 

WHEREAS, DoMA operates Cranmer House Theological Seminary as a formally registered 
assumed name of DoMA, rather than through a separate corporate entity; and 
 
 WHEREAS, DoMA desires to obtain exemption from oversight of the seminary by the Texas 
Workforce Commission and by the Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board, which exemption is 
available to approved entities that are exempt under the Internal Revenue Code Section 501(c)(3) as amended 
upon application for such exemption; and 
 
 WHEREAS, entities exempt under the Internal Revenue Code Section 501(c)(3) as amended are now 
required to provide in their organizational and governing documents, that in the event of the dissolution of 
the entity, all assets of that entity shall be transferred to another educational, religious, charitable, or other 
similar organization that is qualified for exemption under the Internal Revenue Code Section 501(c)(3) as 
amended; and  
 
 WHEREAS, DoMA is an entity exempt under the Internal Revenue Code Section 501(c)(3) as 
amended pursuant to its May 1, 1964 Group ruling from the Internal Revenue Service, but DoMA does not 
reflect the aforementioned required language in its organizational and governing documents; 
 
 WHEREAS, the Corporation is, in fact, managed by the Standing Committee and by the Board of 
Trustees constituted and provided for in the Constitution and Canons of the Diocese of Mid-America, as 
amended in 2019, though this management structure is not reflected in the corporate documents filed with the 
State of Illinois; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the 1888 Articles of Incorporation refer to a Board of at least five Directors, and not a 
Board of Trustees, and the amendments to the Articles of Incorporation reflect the existence of Directors and 
Officers, since corporations are managed by their Boards of Directors and Officers, but these corporate 
documents do not mention the actual management structure;  
   
 NOW THEREFORE, the Members of the Standing Committee of DoMA hereby approve the 
amending of the Articles of Incorporation to include the required language for 501(c)(3) corporations and to 
clarify the management of the Corporation as follows: 
 
1. RESOLVED, that recognizing that the Diocese of Mid-America is exempt under the Internal 
Revenue Code Section 501(c)(3) as amended, pursuant to its May 1, 1964 group ruling from the Internal 
Revenue Service, the Corporation shall amend its Articles of Incorporation filed May 16, 1888, as amended 
May 14, 1912 and August 12, 1998, to fully amend and restate its object and purpose in order to incorporate 
the following language applicable to and now required of non-profit corporations exempt under the Internal 
Revenue Code Section 501(c)(3) as amended, as follows: 
 

--------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of Mid-America

------------------------------------------------- 
5B - 8



"The object and purpose for which this corporation is formed is to establish and maintain 
churches of the Reformed Episcopal Church, supervise and govern churches within the 
jurisdiction of The Diocese of Mid-America, aid needy clergymen and their families, and 
promote the general charitable work of such churches within the limits of The Diocese of Mid-
America and to fulfill these purposes as an exempt organization in accordance with the 
provisions of the Internal Revenue Code Section 501(c)(3) as amended.  Accordingly, upon 
the discontinuance of the Non-Profit Corporation known as The Diocese of Mid-America, the 
assets of the Corporation are to be transferred to an educational, religious, charitable or other 
similar organization that is qualified for exemption under the Internal Revenue Code Section 
501(c)(3) as amended." 

 
2. RESOLVED, that the Articles of Incorporation as amended be further amended to clarify that the 
management of the Corporation is vested in a Board of Directors, which Board is the Board of Trustees 
constituted  and provided for in the Constitution and Canons of the Diocese of Mid-America, as amended, 
and which Board shall be no fewer than five; this amendment shall also clarify that the Corporation shall also 
have corporate officers as provided for in the Constitution and Canons of the Diocese of Mid-America, as 
amended, including a President, at least one Vice-President, a Treasurer, and a Secretary and such other 
officers as the Diocese of Mid-America may decide upon from time to time. 
 
3. RESOLVED, that the Directors of The Diocese of Mid-America and the President and Secretary are 
hereby authorized and directed to do any and all acts as are necessary to effectuate the foregoing resolutions. 
 
 
Standing Committee Meeting 
Tuesday, May 17, 2022 
 
Action taken: 

A. Approved Candidacy for Holy Orders 
a. Mr. Brett Lemke, Church of the Holy Communion Cathedral, Dallas, TX 

B. Approved Candidacy for Deaconess 
a. Mrs. Melinda Brown, Church of the Holy Communion Cathedral, Dallas, TX 

C. Approved Reception as Postulant 
a. Mr. Sunil Clarence Rajah, Blessed Trinity Church, El Cajon, CA 

D. Approved Ordination to the Diaconate 
a. Mr. Sunil Clarence Rajah, Blessed Trinity Church, El Cajon, CA 

E. Approved Setting Apart as a Deaconess, pending successful completion of canonical exam 
a. Ms. Cheryl Ivers, Church of the Holy Communion Cathedral, Dallas, TX 

F. Status Changes 
a. The Rev. Robert Ahrens, Church of Our Savior, Joplin, MO, retired from active ministry 

G. Clergy Transfer 
In –  
a. The Rev. Andrew Brummett, from REC Diocese of the Northeast/Mid-Atlantic 
b. The Rev. Dcn. Derek Harmon, from ACNA Diocese of the South 

 
 
Standing Committee Meeting 
Thursday, June 2, 2022 
 
Action taken: 

A. Formation by the Most Rev. Ray Sutton of a Diocesan Board of Inquiry according to Title II, Canon 
30 of the REC Canons  

 
 

--------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of Mid-America

------------------------------------------------- 
5B - 9



Standing Committee Meeting 
Wednesday, July 27, 2022 
 
Action taken: 

A. Approved report from the Board of Inquiry which resulted in an agreed upon inhibition 
B. Status Change 

a. The Rev. Jason VanBorssum status changed to “not in good-standing” 
 
 
Standing Committee Meeting 
Monday, September 12, 2022 
 
Action taken: 

A. Approved Candidacy for Holy Orders 
a. Mr. Rex Bradshaw, St. Stephen’s Anglican Church, Flowood, MS 
b. Mr. James Allen, St. Andrew’s Anglican Church, Glendale, AZ (conditional approval) 
c. Mr. Michael Nader, All Saints Anglican Church, Shreveport, LA 
d. Mr. Chad McIntyre, Christ’s Chapel, Riverside, CA (conditional approval) 

B. Approved Reception as Presbyter 
a. The Rt. Rev. Frank W. Brulc, St. Michael’s Anglican Church, Broken Arrow, OK as Curate and 

Presbyter, formerly in the Anglican Province of Christ the King 
b. The Rev. Garrin Dickinson, The Chapel of the Cross, Dallas, TX, released from the Episcopal 

Church (conditional approval pending successful completion of qualifying exam) 
C. Approved Examination and Ordination to the Presbyterate 

a. The Rev. Dcn. Derek Harmon, Church of Our Savior, Joplin, MO (conditional approval pending 
successful completion of clergy exam)    

D. Approved Ordination to the Presbyterate 
a. The Rev. Dcn. Edward Fruin, The Chapel of the Cross, Dallas, TX 

E. Clergy/Deaconess Transfers 
In –  
a. The Rev. Steven McCarthy, St. Barnabas Anglican Fellowship, Lansing, MI, Priest-in-Charge 

from ACNA Anglican Diocese of the Living Word   
Out –  
a. The Rev. Lawrence Jones, St. Thomas of Canterbury, Houston, TX, to the United Episcopal 

Church 
b. Dss. Nancy Jones, St. Thomas of Canterbury, Houston, TX, to the United Episcopal Church  

F. Approved members of the newly created Provisional Response Team 
G. In Memoriam 

a. The Rev. Tom Vestal, All Saints Anglican Church, Shreveport, LA (July 31, 1938–August 8, 
2022) 

 
  
Standing Committee Electronic Vote 
Friday, November 11, 2022 
 
Action taken: 

A. Approved by unanimous consent the episcopal election of the Rev. William A. Jenkins, Sr., as 
Bishop Coadjutor in the Diocese of the Northeast/Mid-Atlantic REC. 

 
 
  

--------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of Mid-America

------------------------------------------------- 
5B - 10



Standing Committee Meeting 
Tuesday, March 14, 2023 
 
Action taken: 

A. Approved Candidacy for Holy Orders 
a. Mr. Joe Woodwell, Church of the Holy Communion Cathedral, Dallas, TX 
b. Mr. Nathan van Beek, Anglican Church of the Epiphany, La Mirada, CA 
c. Mr. Matthew Visk, Christ’s Chapel, Riverside, CA 

B. Approved Candidacy for Deaconess 
a. Mrs. Jane Charnock, St. Mark the Evangelist, Waxahachie, TX 

C. Approved Reactivation of Postulancy 
a. Mr. Kevin Harris, St. Thomas of Canterbury, Houston, TX 

D. Approved Examination and Ordination to the Diaconate (pending successful completion of exam)  
a. Mr. John Rowland, Good Shepherd REC, Tyler, TX 
b. Dr. Randy Randall, Good Shepherd REC, Tyler, TX   
c. Mr. Kevin Harris, St. Thomas of Canterbury, Houston, TX 

E. Status Changes 
a. Mr. Michael Nader, All Saints Shreveport, suspended from postulancy 
b. Mr. Tim Kucera, St. Benedict’s Anglican Church, Rockwall, TX, removed from postulancy 
c. Mr. Derek DeMars, St. Benedict’s Anglican Church, Rockwall, TX, removed from postulancy 
d. Mrs. Becky Elliston, St. Benedict’s Anglican Church, Rockwall, TX, removed from candidacy 

for deaconess 
e. The Rev. Jacob Skogen, Holy Trinity, St. Louis, MO, leave of absence 
f. The Rev. Edward Fruin, The Chapel of the Cross, Dallas, TX, Curate 
g. Christ’s Chapel, Riverside, CA, elevated from mission status to parish status 

F. Clergy Transfers 
In –  
a. Chaplain Rory Kendall Felton, from Episcopal Diocese of Fort Worth 
Out –  
a. The Rev. Dcn. Spencer Amaral to Diocese of the Southeast REC 
b. The Rev. Marcus Emmons, in process 
c. The Rev. Adam James Gadomski to ACNA Diocese of the South  

G. Parish Transfer 
a. Christ Anglican, Hot Springs, AR, in process 

H. Approved Deposition of Presbyter 
a. Mr. Jason VanBorssum 

I.  In Memoriam 
a. The Very Rev. Jerry Kistler, Rector of St. Stephen’s Anglican Church, Montrose, CO, March 21, 

1966-January 10, 2023 
 
 
Standing Committee Meeting 
Monday, May 22, 2023 
 
Action taken: 

A. Approved Candidacy for Holy Orders 
a. Mr. Jose Bartolo, St. Andrew’s Anglican Church, Glendale, AZ 
b. Mr. Matthew Visk, Christ’s Chapel, Riverside, CA (entry date revised to application date of 

2/4/2023, rather than 3/14/2023, the date he was approved by the Standing Committee)   
B. Approved Candidacy of Deaconess 

a. Mrs. Carol Couch, St. Timothy’s Anglican Church, Jonesboro, AR 
C. Approved Ordination to the Presbyterate  

a. The Rev. Dcn. Sunil Rajah, Blessed Trinity Church, El Cajon, CA 

--------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of Mid-America

------------------------------------------------- 
5B - 11



D. Status Changes 
a. The Rev. Dr. Steve Rutt, appointed Dean of the Convocation/Deanery of the West  
b. The Rev. Derek Harmon, Vicar of Church of Our Savior, Joplin, MO 
c. The Rev. Jesse Barkalow, Vicar of Holy Cross Church, Colorado Springs, CO 

E. Clergy Transfers 
In – 
a. The Rev. Tait Deems from the Diocese of the Northeast/Mid-Atlantic REC 

F. Approved new Cranmer Theological House Constitution/Bylaws 
G. Approved new Mission, Christ Church Anglican Church, Colorado Springs, CO (formerly Good 

Shepherd Anglican Fellowship) and Vicar, the Rev. Tait Deems 
H. Approved new Mission, Holy Cross Church, Colorado Springs, CO (formerly Holy Cross Oratory) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

--------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of Mid-America

------------------------------------------------- 
5B - 12



Report of the Rt. Rev. R. Charles Gillin to the 
57th General Council of the Reformed Episcopal Church 

 

Dear Brethren: 

This report summarizes my episcopal activities for the years 2021 and 2022.  These activities can be 
found in detail in the Minutes of the Diocese of the Northeast & Mid-Atlantic for the 141st and 142nd 
diocesan Councils.  These Minutes can be found on the diocesan website: rec-nema.org under the 
“Council” link.  

Regular Episcopal Visitations to churches in 2021: 
Visits    Confirmations Canonical Receptions 
22    52   13 
 
Regular Episcopal Visitations to churches in 2022 (Four year-end visitations, not recorded in the 
Minutes of the 141st diocesan Council, are included): 
Visits    Confirmations Canonical Receptions 
20    31   13 
 
At my request, the following clergy visited these churches that had no confirmations or specific need for 
the bishop to visit during the 2022 diocesan year: 
 
8/14/22 - Archdeacon Jon W. Abboud: Good Shepherd Church - South Easton, MA 
9/11/22 - Archdeacon Jon W. Abboud: St. Luke’s & Bishop Hoffman Church - Philadelphia, PA 
9/18/22 - Archdeacon Jon W. Abboud: Good Shepherd Church - Brooklyn, NY 
9/18/22 - Dean Eric W. Jorgensen: Bishop Cummins Church – Catonsville, MD 
9/25/22 - Canon William A. Jenkins: Grace Church – Havre de Grace, MD 
 
 
Clergy Receptions, Transfers, Removals, Institutions and Ordinations  
On 12/28/20 I transferred, by request, the Rev. Michael D. Fitzpatrick to the Reformed Episcopal 
Diocese of the Central States under the oversight of the Rt. Rev. Peter Manto. 
 
On 1/28/21 I transferred, by request, the Rev. Obaid George to the Reformed Episcopal Diocese of Mid-
America under the oversight of the Most Rev. Dr. Ray R. Sutton. 
 
On 3/30/21 I transferred, by request, the Rev. Paul S. Howden to the Reformed Episcopal Diocese of 
Mid-America under the oversight of the Most Rev. Dr. Ray R. Sutton. 
 
On 3/30/21 I transferred, by request, the Rev. Dcn. Theodore R. Powell to the ACNA Anglican Network 
in Canada under the oversight of the Rt. Rev. Charlie Masters. 
 
On 4/12/21 I received a letter dimissory from the Rt. Rev. Peter Manto, Ordinary of the REC Diocese of 
the Central States, for the Rev. Bartholomew Martin.  Rev. Martin is a 2007 graduate of the Reformed 
Episcopal Seminary currently serving as a U.S. Army Chaplain to a unit located in Richmond, VA.  He 
and his family have relocated to Lancaster Co., Pennsylvania to help care for aging parents.  The 
Standing Committee approved the Bishop’s recommendation of his reception onto our diocesan clergy 
rolls as of the date of transfer. 
 

--------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of the Northeast & Mid-Atlantic

------------------------------------------------- 
5C - 1



On 3/9/22 I issued a Letter Dimissory for the Rev. Andrew Brummett, at his request, to the Reformed 
Episcopal Diocese of Mid-America.  Fr. Brummett served this Diocese as Head Master of Christ 
Academy, Collingdale, PA, as Interim at Grace Church, Collingdale, PA, as administrator and teacher at 
Atonement Academy in Philadelphia, PA and as the chairperson of the Christian Education Committee.  
We are thankful for his ministry among us and pray God’s blessing upon him and his family. 

On 2/1/22 I received and approved the application of the Rev. Earnest Nadeem to be received as 
presbyter in this Diocese.  The Standing Committee concurred on 5/19/22. 

On 9/11/22 I Instituted the Rev. Shawn Riley as the Rector of Grace Reformed Episcopal Church, 
Collingdale, PA. 

On 7/2/22 the Rev. Dcn. Dr. Thomas Thomas was issued a Letter Dimissory to the Ecclesiastical 
Authority of the ACNA Diocese of the Living Word. 

Ordinations 
Rev. Aaron Tyler Cappucci & Rev. Matthew Gregory Maule - On June 24, 2022 at 5:00pm, the 
Feast of St. John the Baptist, I ordained the Rev. Aaron Tyler Cappucci and the Rev. Matthew Gregory 
Maule to the presbyterate.  The Presenter was the Very Dr. Rev. Jason Patterson who also delivered the 
sermon.  The Litanist was the Rev. Tait Deems.  The Epistoller was the Rev. Timothy Cappucci and the 
Gospeller was the Rev. Jonathan Kell.  Other participants were the Rev. Barton Gingerich and Mr. 
Gregory Maule.  A lovely reception, hosted by the parish, was held following the service. 

Jared Lovell – On November 2, 2022 I ordained Mr. Jared Lovell, Deacon, at Grace Reformed 
Episcopal Church, Scranton, PA.  The ordinand was presented by the Rev. Ricky McCarl who also served 
as a Litanist in addition to the Rev. Michael D.Blitz.  The sermon was delivered by the Rev. William G. 
Garrison, Jr. 

Clergy Necrology 

The Rev. Canon William S. Jerdan 
On July 17, 2021 Jan and I attended the Memorial Service for the Rev. Cn. William Jerdan at Immanuel 
Presbyterian Church in Warrenville, IL.  I spoke briefly and Cn. John Boonzaaijer, President of the 
Board of Foreign Missions, and I were privileged to present a Resolution of Appreciation to the Jerdan 
family.  Canon Jerdan’s orders were held in the Diocese of Mid-America. 

The Rev. Barton L. Craig 
On Wednesday, September 1, 2021 Jan and I attended the funeral service for the Rev. Barton L. Craig 
held at St. Mark’s Reformed Episcopal Church in Rydal, PA.  The Officiant was the Very Rev. Jason S. 
Patterson, who had been pastorally ministering to Rev. Craig and his family.  I conducted the Interment 
at Arlington Park Cemetery in Pennsauken, NJ.  Rev. Craig had served the Diocese as Rector and 
Interim Rector in several charges over many years prior to his retirement.  He is survived by his wife 
Ronell. 

The Rev. Ronald D. Bretherick, 71, of Ventnor, NJ passed into the presences of his Lord and Savior 
from complications of Covid-19 on Thursday, October 14, 2021. He grew up in Glenolden, PA and is a 
graduate of St. Joseph’s University and the Reformed Episcopal Seminary.   Pastor Ron was the Rector 

--------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of the Northeast & Mid-Atlantic

------------------------------------------------- 
5C - 2



of St. John’s By-The-Sea Reformed Episcopal Church where he served for 35 years until his retirement 
in 2016.  He also served the Lord on various boards of directors including the Atlantic Christian School 
and Hope Pregnancy Center and was an instructor for the Reformed Bible Institute.  Jan and I attended 
the funeral service held on October 21, 2021 at the First Presbyterian Church in Ocean City, NJ.  Rev. 
Bretherick is survived by his wife, Sue. 

The Rt. Rev. Daniel G. Cox 
Bishop Daniel Gilbert Cox, a retired bishop of the Reformed Episcopal Church, and longtime pastor of 
Bishop Cummins Church in Catonsville, MD, departed this earthly life and entered the presence of his 
Lord on October 16, 2021, a month short of his 90th birthday. 
 
Bishop Cox was born on November 15, 1931 in Abington Township, PA.  Following high school, he 
entered the Theological Seminary of the Reformed Episcopal Church in Philadelphia, from which he 
graduated in 1952.  That same year he moved to Baltimore, was ordained a deacon, and began 
ministering at Koontz Memorial Chapel (now Faith Church) in the Armistead Gardens community of 
East Baltimore.  In 1954 he married Patricia Stiemly and was ordained a presbyter.  Throughout the 
1950s he continued to serve at Koontz Chapel and attended the Johns Hopkins Evening School, from 
which he received a Bachelor of Science in social sciences. 
 
In 1960, Bishop Dan accepted a call to pastor Bishop Cummins Memorial Church, which was in the 
process of relocating from West Baltimore to Catonsville.  In 1984, he was consecrated a bishop in the 
Reformed Episcopal Church.  He served as an assistant Bishop in the Diocese of the Northeast and Mid-
Atlantic, while continuing as Rector of Bishop Cummins Church.   
Bishop Cox retired from active ministry in 1996.  He came out of retirement briefly two years later, to 
serve as Interim Pastor of St. Stephen’s Reformed Episcopal Church in Eldersburg, MD which he had 
helped to found in the early 1980s as a mission of Bishop Cummins.  He remained active in service, 
making occasional episcopal visits to parishes throughout the diocese.  Bishop Cox is survived by his 
wife Patricia of 67 years. 
 
The funeral service for Bishop Cox was held at Bishop Cummins Church on Saturday, October 23, 2021.  
I presided and was assisted by the Rev. Cedric R. Benner, rector of the parish, the Rev. Canon William A. 
Jenkins, Sr., the Very Rev. Gerald S. McLynn and the Very Rev. Dr. Eric W. Jorgensen, who delivered the 
homily.  Bishop Cox is interred at Glen Haven Memorial Park in Glen Burnie, MD.   
 
I AM the resurrection and the life, saith the Lord:  he that believeth in me, though he were dead, yet shall he 
live:  and whosoever liveth and believeth in me shall never die.  St. John 11:25, 26 

 
Church Reception 
Good Shepherd Anglican Church 
On June 6, 2021 I visited and received Good Shephard Anglican Church into our Diocese.  They were 
transferred from the ACNA Diocese of Pittsburgh.  On the occasion of that visit, I also confirmed seven 
new members.  The church meets in the chapel of Zion Lutheran Church in Harrisburg, PA.  A reception 
was held following services.  This Mission is served by the Rev. Ricky McCarl.   
 
Church Release 
St. Mary’s Church – New York, NY – On June 27, 2019 the Rev. Belgrave Pelle advised me that the 
parish was considering another jurisdictional affiliation because of the issue of women’s ordination.  I 
was notified that the vestry has voted to pursue this on March 11, 2020.  On January 7, 2021 I received 

--------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of the Northeast & Mid-Atlantic

------------------------------------------------- 
5C - 3



notice that the congregation voted to disassociate from our Diocese.  The petitions contained 139 
names of members.  I continued to be in communication with Rev. Pelle about possible alternative 
arrangements.  Two ANCA jurisdictions, that ordain women to the priesthood, chose not to pursue a 
relationship with St. Mary’s Church.  I emailed Rev. Pelle to determine if the vestry was still insistent on 
affiliating with a jurisdiction that ordained women to the priesthood or would they possibly consider 
one that ordained women to the diaconate.  He acknowledged that was a possibility.  Shortly thereafter, 
I contacted Bishop Julian Dobbs of the Diocese of the Living Word to determine his interest.  He has 
several churches in the New York City area under care.  He made contact with Rev. Pelle and 
subsequently, the church made application to be received into the ACNA Diocese of the Living Word.  
Even though St. Mary’s Church disaffiliated with the NEMA Diocese, nonetheless, Bishop Dobbs 
requested a letter of release from me and the Standing Committee, since the church held membership in 
our Diocese for over 25 years.  I also released Rev. Pelle to the care of Bishop Dobbs without issuing a 
letter dimissory.  At the Standing Committee meeting on May 19, 2022 I requested, with regret and 
sorrow, that the Standing Committee vote to release St. Mary’s Church from NEMA diocesan oversight.  
That recommendation was seconded and sustained.  
 
Church Building Purchase 
Good Shepherd Church – South Easton, MA 
The Very Rev. Eduardo A. Andrade reported the purchase of the New Hope Christian Chapel, 6 
Meadowhill Ct., South Easton, MA 02375 on April 21, 2022.  The congregation of Good Shepherd had 
been renting this facility for many years.  We rejoice with them and pray God’s blessing on their 
ministry on their ‘new’ building.  Archdeacon and Mrs. Jon Abboud visited the church, on behalf of the 
bishop, on August 14, 2022 and presented the rector and congregation with a congratulatory plaque in 
recognition of their building purchase. 
 

Additional Diocesan Activities 
Daughters of the Holy Cross 
A chapter for this women’s prayer ministry was established at Faith Church, Baltimore, MD by Mrs. Kim 
Jenkins.  Several women have been meeting by Zoom with instructors from the Daughters during the 
discernment process.  Their induction into this prayer ministry was held on Sunday, October 9, 2022 at 
Faith Church.  Canon William Jenkins and I participated in the service.  Members of the St. Elizabeth 
Chapter in South Carolina were present to welcome and present these newest members.  
Congratulations to this “Faithful Daughters” chapter and its members: Sandra Alsruhe, Meagan Bohlen, 
Chee Cox, Shirley Fisher, Jan Gillin, Allison Gillespie-Jenkins, Kim Jenkins and Emily Marble. 
  
Reformed Episcopal Seminary 
I continue to serve as Chancellor of the Seminary. 
 
Election of a Co-adjutor 
I laid before the Standing Committee the need to elect a Co-adjutor for the Diocese and the Standing 
Committee concurred.  I provided the President with a time table.  A sustainability form was filed with 
the Archbishop’s office and the ACNA College of Bishops approved the election process.  In addition, 
Presiding Bishop Ray Sutton also provided his permission. 
 
An Episcopal Search Committee was appointed by Dean Eric Jorgensen.  The Committee polled the 
clergy and churches for the names of potential candidates.  Since Dean Jorgensen’s name was put 
forward as a candidate, the Canons required him to recuse himself as the chair of the 

--------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of the Northeast & Mid-Atlantic

------------------------------------------------- 
5C - 4



Episcopal Search Committee.  The Canons specify, should this eventuate, that the most senior presbyter 
on the Standing Committee then assume the chairmanship of the Episcopal Search Committee.  The 
Ven. Dr. Jon W. Abboud was advised of this responsibility and agreed to fulfill it. 
 
The Episcopal Search Committee continued its duties under the guidance of Dr. Abboud.  A vitae was 
requested from each candidate and individual ZOOM interviews were held.  Dr. Abboud worked closely 
with Bishop William Murdoch, who is Archbishop Foley Beach’s representative for Episcopal elections in 
the Jurisdiction.  All required clearances were obtained and the Episcopal Search Committee submitted 
its recommendation for acceptance. 
 
I chaired the Standing Committee meeting held on September 21, 2022.  The candidates, who also serve 
on the Standing Committee, dismissed themselves during the discussion to consider the 
recommendation of the Episcopal Search Committee.  At a meeting held on October 3, 2022, the 
Standing Committee voted to put forward the following for election as Coadjutor to the 142nd Diocese 
of the Northeast & Mid-Atlantic of the Reformed Episcopal Church to be held on November 3-4, 2022 
in Scranton, PA: 
 

• The Rev. Canon William A. Jenkins, Sr. 
• The Very Rev. Dr. Eric W. Jorgensen 

  
I concurred with this action of the Standing Committee. 
 
On November 3, 2022 the diocesan Council elected the Rev. Canon William A. Jenkins, Sr. Bishop-
Coadjutor Elect.  He was approved by the ACNA College of Bishops, meeting in Melbourne, FL on 
January 12, 2023.   
 
His Service of Consecration was held at 11:00am on April 29, 2023 at Bishop Cummins Memorial 
Church in Catonsville, MD.  The Most Rev. Foley Beach and the Most Rev. Ray R. Sutton were Co-
consecrators. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
The Right Rev. R. Charles Gillin, 
Bishop Ordinary NEMA Diocese 
 

--------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of the Northeast & Mid-Atlantic

------------------------------------------------- 
5C - 5



REPORT OF THE STANDING COMMITTEE OF THE DIOCESE OF THE 
NORTHEAST & MID-ATLANTIC AND CENTRAL & EASTERN CANADA 

 
To the Fifty-seventh General Council of the Reformed Episcopal Church 

 
Dear Brethren: 
This report represents a summary of the actions of the Standing Committee of the Diocese of the 
Northeast & Mid-Atlantic that are recorded in detail in the minutes of the One Hundred Fortieth 
and the One Hundred Forty-First Councils.  The membership of the Committee for each year of 
the triennium will be found listed in the same published records. 
 
The Committee has held meetings since its last reporting to the Fifty-Sixth General Council. 
During the triennium, the Very Rev. Eric W. Jorgensen served as President and the Rev. Cedric 
R. Benner served as Secretary.   
 
CANONICAL EXAMINATIONS/ORDINATIONS/RECEPTIONS/TRANSFERS 
Clergy Reception 
On December 28, 2020,  Bp. Gillin transferred, by request, the Rev. Michael D. Fitzpatrick to the 
Reformed Episcopal Diocese of the Central States under the oversight of the Rt. Rev. Peter 
Manto. 
 
On January 28, 2021,  Bp. Gillin transferred, by request, the Rev. Obaid George to the Reformed 
Episcopal Diocese of Mid-America under the oversight of the Most Rev. Dr. Ray R. Sutton. 
 
On March 30, 2021, Bp. Gillin transferred, by request, the Rev. Paul S. Howden to the Reformed 
Episcopal Diocese of Mid-America under the oversight of the Most Rev. Dr. Ray R. Sutton. 
 
On March 30, 2021,  Bp. Gillin transferred, by request, the Rev. Dcn. Theodore R. Powell to the 
ACNA Anglican Network in Canada under the oversight of the Rt. Rev. Charlie Masters. 
 
On April 12, 2021, Bp. Gillin received a letter dimissory from the Rt. Rev. Peter Manto, 
Ordinary of the REC Diocese of the Central States, for the Rev. Bartholomew Martin.  Rev. 
Martin is a 2007 graduate of the Reformed Episcopal Seminary currently serving as a U.S. Army 
Chaplain to a unit located in Richmond, VA.  He and his family have relocated to Lancaster Co., 
Pennsylvania to help care for aging parents.  The Standing Committee approved the Bishop’s 
recommendation of his reception onto our diocesan clergy rolls as of the date of transfer. 
 
On March 9, 2022,  Bp. Gillin issued a Letter Dimissory for the Rev. Andrew Brummett, at his 
request, to the Reformed Episcopal Diocese of Mid-America.  Fr. Brummett served this Diocese 
as Head Master of Christ Academy, Collingdale, PA, as Interim at Grace Church, Collingdale, 
PA, as administrator and teacher at Atonement Academy in Philadelphia, PA and as the 
chairperson of the Christian Education Committee.  We are thankful for his ministry among us 
and pray God’s blessing upon him and his family. 
 

--------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of the Northeast & Mid-Atlantic

------------------------------------------------- 
5C - 6



On February 1, 2022, Bishop Gillin received and approved the application of the Rev. Earnest 
Nadeem to be received as presbyter in this Diocese.  The Standing Committee concurred with 
this action on May 19, 2022. 
 
On July 7, 2022, the Rev. Dcn. Dr. Thomas Thomas was issued a Letter Dimissory to the 
Ecclesiastical Authority of the ACNA Diocese of the Living Word. 
 
Ordination Exams 
On April 6, 2022, the Examining Chaplains examined the Rev. Deacon Matthew G. Maule and 
the Rev. Deacon Aaron T. Cappucci for advancement to the priesthood.  Both men passed their 
exams which were held at St. Mark’s Church, Rydal, PA where each have been involved in 
ministry.  A joint ordination service has been tentatively scheduled for Friday evening, June 10, 
2022, at St. Mark’s Church.  Rev. Maule’s advancement was previously approved by this 
Committee. 
 
Bp. Gillin requests that the Standing Committee approve the advancement of the Rev. Deacon 
Aaron T. Cappucci to the priesthood in the Diocese. The Standing Committee approved this 
motion. 
 
Ordinations 
Rev. Aaron Tyler Cappucci & Rev. Matthew Gregory Maule - On June 24, 2022, at 5:00pm, 
the Feast of St. John the Baptist, Bp. Gillin ordained the Rev. Aaron Tyler Cappucci and the Rev. 
Matthew Gregory Maule to the presbyterate.  The Presenter was the Very Rev. Jason Patterson 
who also delivered the sermon.  The Litanist was the Rev. Tait Deems.  The Epistoller was the 
Rev. Timothy Cappucci and the Gospeller was the Rev. Jonathan Kell.  Other participants were 
the Rev. Barton Gingerich and Mr. Gregory Maule.  A lovely reception, hosted by the parish, 
was held following the service.   
 
Jared Lovell – On November 2, 2022, Bp. Gillin ordained Mr. Jared Lovell, Deacon, at Grace 
Reformed Episcopal Church, Scranton, PA.  The ordinand was presented by the Rev. Ricky 
McCarl who also served as a Litanist in addition to the Rev. Michael D.Blitz.  The sermon was 
delivered by the Rev. William G. Garrison, Jr. 
 
Church Reception 
On June 6, 2021, Bishop Gillin visited and received Good Shephard Anglican Church into our 
Diocese.  They were transferred from the ACNA Diocese of Pittsburgh.  On the occasion of that 
visit, Bishop Gillin also confirmed seven new members.  The church meets in the chapel of Zion 
Lutheran Church in Harrisburg, PA.  A reception was held following the service.  This Mission 
is served by the Rev. Ricky McCarl.  
 
Changes in Pastoral Connection 
Grace Church – Collingdale, PA – The church issued a call, which was accepted by the Rev. 
Shawn Riley, on August 10, 2021.   The Rev. Riley will serve the parish and continue to work at 
Reformed Episcopal Seminary.  On September 11, 2022, Bp. Gillin instituted the Rev. Shawn 
Riley as the Rector of Grace Reformed Episcopal Church, Collingdale, PA. 
 

--------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of the Northeast & Mid-Atlantic

------------------------------------------------- 
5C - 7



 
Pastoral vacancies 
Emmanuel Church (Mission) – Pipersville, PA – Canon Jonathan Riches continues to serve as 
Interim Vicar.  He has scheduled a number of visiting ministers and Seminary students to assist 
with services. 
 
New Redeemer Church – Jersey City, NJ – This parish continues under the Bishop’s 
oversight.  Bishop Gillin has been assisted by the Dean Jerry Mc Lynn who has agreed to 
schedule presbyters to serve the Eucharist once-a-month at the church.  Mr. Norris Gadsden, Jr. 
Warden and Mr. Tyrell Brinson have been alternating reading Morning Prayer and preaching.   
 
Grace Church (Mission) – Scranton, PA – This mission continues under the Bishop’s 
oversight.  Mr. Jared Lovell, Sr. Warden and Dr. Joshua Arp, Jr. Warden continue to provide 
local lay leadership in the absence of a vicar along with other local vestry members.  Mr. Lovell 
was hired by the church to perform intern-related activities.  He has also filed his Postulant’s 
application.  The Rev. William Garrison has been engaged by the vestry to visit the church twice 
each month to preside at the Lord’s Table and to preach.   
 
St. Peter’s Church – Elkton, MD – The Rev. Frank Spadafora continues to serve as Interim 
Vicar. A Search Committee has been formed and the Committee has issued a letter to 
prospective pastoral candidates.   
 
Clerical Necrology 
 
The Rev. Canon William S. Jerdan 
On July 17, 2021,  Bishop Gillin and his wife attended the Memorial Service for Cn. Willian 
Jerdan at Immanuel Presbyterian Church in Warrenville, IL.  Bishop Gillin spoke briefly and 
Canon John Boonzaaijer, President of the Board of Foreign Missions, and Bishop Gillin were 
privileged to present a Resolution of Appreciation to the Jerdan family. 
 
The Rev. Barton L. Craig 
The Rev. Bartram Craig was promoted to glory on August 27, 2021.  His funeral service was 
held at St. Mark’s Church, Rydal, PA on Wednesday, September 1.  The Very Rev. Dr. Jason 
Patterson was the officiant.  Bishop Gillin officiated at the interment which took place at 
Arlington Park Cemetery in Pennsauken, NJ.  The Rev. Craig held pastorates and served as 
Interim in the Diocese on several occasions.  Memorial gifts are requested to be sent to the 
Seminary.     
 
 
The Rev. Ronald D. Bretherick 
Bp. and Mrs. Gillin attended the funeral service for the Rev. Ronald D. Bretherick 71, of 
Ventnor, NJ held on October 21, 2021, at the First Presbyterian Church in Ocean City, NJ.  The 
Rev. Bretherick passed into the presence of his Lord and Savior from complications of Covid-19 
on Thursday, October 14, 2021. He grew up in Glenolden, PA and is a graduate of St. Joseph’s 
University and the Reformed Episcopal Seminary.   Pastor Ron was the Rector of St. John’s By-
The-Sea Reformed Episcopal Church where he served for 35 years until his retirement in 2016.  

--------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of the Northeast & Mid-Atlantic

------------------------------------------------- 
5C - 8



He also served the Lord on various boards of directors including the Atlantic Christian School 
and Hope Pregnancy Center and was an instructor for the Reformed Bible Institute.  A private 
family burial was scheduled for Arlington Cemetery in Drexel Hill, PA.  The Rev. Bretherick is 
survived by his wife, Susan. * 
 
The Rt. Rev. Daniel G. Cox 
Bishop Daniel Gilbert Cox, a retired bishop of the Reformed Episcopal Church, and longtime 
pastor of Bishop Cummins Reformed Episcopal Church in Catonsville, MD, departed this earthly 
life and entered the presence of his Lord on October 16, 2021, a month short of his 90th birthday. 
 
Bishop Cox was born on November 15, 1931, in Abington Township, PA.  Following high 
school, he entered the Theological Seminary of the Reformed Episcopal Church in Philadelphia, 
from which he graduated in 1952.  That same year he moved to Baltimore, was ordained a 
deacon, and began ministering at Koontz Memorial Chapel (now Faith Church) in the Armistead 
Gardens community of East Baltimore.  In 1954 he married Patricia Stiemly and was ordained a 
presbyter.  Throughout the 1950s he continued to serve at Koontz Chapel and attended the Johns 
Hopkins Evening School, from which he received a Bachelor of Science in social sciences. 
 
In 1960, Bishop Dan accepted a call to pastor Bishop Cummins Reformed Episcopal Church, 
which was in the process of relocating from West Baltimore to Catonsville.  In 1984, he was 
consecrated a bishop in the Reformed Episcopal Church.  He served as an assistant Bishop in the 
Diocese of the Northeast and Mid-Atlantic, while continuing as Rector of Bishop Cummins 
Church.   
 
Bishop Cox retired from active ministry in 1996.  He came out of retirement briefly two years 
later, to serve as Interim Pastor of St. Stephen’s Reformed Episcopal Church in Eldersburg, MD 
which he had helped to found in the early 1980s as a mission of Bishop Cummins Church.  He 
remained active in service, making occasional episcopal visits to parishes throughout the diocese.  
Bishop Cox is survived by his wife Patricia of 67 years. 
 
The funeral service for Bishop Cox was held at Bishop Cummins RE Church on Saturday, 
October 23, 2021.  Bishop Gillin presided and was assisted by the Rev. Cedric R. Benner, rector 
of the parish, the Rev. Canon William A. Jenkins, Sr., the Very Rev. Gerald S. McLynn and the 
Very Rev. Dr. Eric W. Jorgensen, who delivered the homily.  Bishop Cox is interred at Glen 
Haven Memorial Park in Glen Burnie, MD.   
 
Other Actions of the Standing Committee 
 
Election of a Bishop Co-adjutor 
Bp. Gillin laid before the Standing Committee the need to elect a Bishop Co-adjutor for the 
Diocese.  This Committee previously approved his recommendation.  Bp. Gillin has provided the 
President with a time table.  A sustainability form has been filed with the Archbishop’s office 
and the ACNA College of Bishops have approved the election process.  In addition, Presiding 
Bishop Ray Sutton has also given his permission. 
 

--------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of the Northeast & Mid-Atlantic

------------------------------------------------- 
5C - 9



An Episcopal Search Committee was appointed by Dean Eric Jorgensen.  The Committee polled 
the clergy and churches for the names of potential candidates. 
 
At the September 21, 2022 meeting of the Standing Committee meeting, the Standing Committee 
acknowledged the work of the Episcopal Search Committee by thankfully receiving its report. 
 
At a meeting held on October 3, 2022, the Standing Committee voted to put forward the 
following for election as Coadjutor to the 142nd Diocese of the Northeast & Mid-Atlantic of the 
Reformed Episcopal Church to be held on November 3-4, 2022 in Scranton, PA: 
 

• The Rev. Canon William A. Jenkins, Sr. 
• The Very Rev. Dr. Eric W. Jorgensen 

  
Bp. Gillin concurred with this action of the Standing Committee. 
 
 
On November 3, 2022 the diocesan Council elected the Rev. Canon William A. Jenkins, Sr. 
Bishop-Coadjutor Elect.  He was approved by the ACNA College of Bishops, meeting in 
Melbourne, FL on January 12, 2023.   
 
His Service of Consecration was held at 11:00am on April 29, 2023 at Bishop Cummins 
Reformed Episcopal Church in Catonsville, MD.  The Most Rev. Foley Beach and the Most Rev. 
Ray R. Sutton were Co-consecrators. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
The Rev. Cedric R. Benner  
Secretary  

--------------------------------------------------------- 
Diocese of the Northeast & Mid-Atlantic

------------------------------------------------- 
5C - 10



Report of the Bishop Ordinary 

Diocese of the Southeast 

Reformed Episcopal Church 

To the 57th General Council of the Reformed Episcopal Church: 

As a newly elected, consecrated, and inducted bishop in the Reformed Episcopal Church, I am 

please to share this, my first, report as a bishop with you. 

Following my induction as bishop ordinary of the Diocese on September 16, 2022 during the 50th 

Diocesan Anniversary Celebration held at Redeemer Reformed Episcopal Church, Pineville, SC 

(this event was held one day shy of 40 years from the date of my ordination to the deaconate held 

in the same location on September 17, 1982), my episcopate began with thoughts of 

REconciling, Restoring, and REenergizing the people and the work of the Diocese of the 

Southeast with special emphasis place on RE (Reformed Episcopal).  

Understanding that this task could only be accomplished through the power of our Living Lord, I 

rehearsed and rested on His promise found in Jeremih 33:3 –  

“Call to Me, and I will answer you, and show you 

great and mighty things, which you do not know.”  

And so, the journey began … 

General Administration 

As I began this work, three particular goals were set:  First, to fully reopen our places of worship 

with congregants returning following their time away during the pandemic.  Second, to 

encourage fellowship among and bring our clergy together as one unit thus, the year was 

declared “The Year of the Clergy.”  Third, to move our diocesan administration from a manual to 

an electronic operation.  To this end, a diocesan technology team has been established and testing 

of the transition has begun.   

Diocesan Visits, Roles and Functions 

Episcopal Visits and Confirmations – The work of the episcopate within the diocese 

has been exciting and rewarding.  As I made my two-day visits to each of our parishes, which 

included examinations of candidates for confirmation, open discussion with rectors, vestries (and 

any congregants desiring to be present), and examination of the parish registries on Saturdays 

and celebrating the Holy Communion on Sundays, I am pleased to report, as of this writing, 

visitations to 23 of our 34 parishes and 24 confirmands:  18 at Christ the King Church, Marietta, 

GA; tree at Liberty Church, Jamestown, SC; one at All Saints Church, Greenville, SC; and two at 

New Saint Thomas’ Church, Columbia, SC. 

Marriage – I was honored to serve, Along with the Rev. Dr. Marshall Blalock, as co-

officiant of the marriage of one of our Reformed Episcopal Clergy, the Rev. Anthony B. 

------------------------------------------------------------------ 
Diocese of the Southeast

---------------------------------------- 
5D - 1



 

Thompson, and Miss Darlene Jackson on Friday, October 28, 2022, at First Baptist Church, 

Charleston, SC. 

 

Funerals/Memorials – A diocesan-wide memorial service was held on Good Friday, 

April 7, 2023.  The purpose of this service was to provide a time of remembrance of those who 

joined the Church Triumphant during the “COVID YEARS,” regardless of cause of departure.  

Because of the health restrictions during this time period, many went about the business of 

burying their dead, neglecting the opportunity to mourn their loss.  This occasion provided an 

opportunity for such. 143 souls, ranging in age from two to 101 years of age were remembered. 

 

Missions – Particular focus is being place on the REC 100 efforts in the Diocese of the 

Southeast as two additional Canons have been appointed to oversee the work:  the Revs. Tony 

Melton and Tory Liferidge.    Along with the Rev. Canon A. Cameron Robinson, the Rev. Canon 

Liferidge will lead in efforts of church revitalization and the Rev. Canon Melton will lead in 

church planting efforts.  

 

Two new parishes have been planted in the diocese, one recently elevated from mission status to 

a full parish, and at least two new plants are planned in the near future.  We pray that our ever 

faithful Lord will send an outpouring of His Holy Spirit on these efforts.   

 

The Missionary Convention of the Diocese of the Southeast and others have partnered to sponsor 

a short-term mission trip to Roatan, Honduras, CENTRAL AMERICA, June 28-July 5, 2023. to 

provide medical and spiritual care.  We are pleased that several Reformed Episcopalians, 

including a medical doctor, are members of this team. We covet your prayers for this 

evangelistic mission. 

 

Theological Education – On Thursday, March 23, 2023, Cummins Memorial 

Theological Seminary held the Inaugural Bishop Sanco K. Rembert Memorial Lecture at Saint 

Paul’s Anglican Church, Summerville, SC.  New Testament scholar and poet, Dr. Bonnie B. 

Thurston of Wheeling, WV taught on “Persistence and Humanity: Jesus on Prayer in Luke11:1-

13 and 18:1-14. 

 

Denominational – An opportunity to fellowship with brothers and sisters in the Diocese 

of Mid-America of the Reformed Episcopal Church presented itself when I was invited to share 

God’s Word during their 115th Diocesan Council held October 4-6, 2022 at the Church of the 

Holy Communion in Dallas, TX.  My wife, Gale, accompanied me on this trip and, as 

Chairperson of the Committee on Women’s Ministry of the Reformed Episcopal Church, 

fellowshipped with the women of the diocese as she brought greetings and updates from the 

committee during the time of their annual diocesan Women’s Day Project Offering Luncheon. 

 

On Saturday, April 29, 2023, I was honored to serve as co-presenter at the Consecration of the 

Rev. Canon William A. Jenkins as Bishop Coadjutor of the Diocese of the Northeast and Mid-

Atlantic. 

 

Ecumenical 

On Saturday, November 19, 2022, at Saint John’s Reformed Episcopal Church, Charleston, SC, 

the Rev. Dr. Marshall Blalock and I again teamed as speakers for our community’s One New 

------------------------------------------------------------------ 
Diocese of the Southeast

---------------------------------------- 
5D - 2



 

Humanity Charleston Revival Service.  Founded by the Rev. Anthony B. Thompson, (whose wife 

Myra was one of the victims of the Charleston Nine Shooting) the origin of the organization’s 

name is based on Ephesians 2:14-15: “For HE Himself is our PEACE, who has made the two 

groups ONE and has destroyed the barrier, the dividing wall of hostility, by setting aside HIS 

Flesh the law with its commandments and regulations.  HIS purpose was to create in HIMSELF 

One New Humanity out of the two, thus making PEACE, ….”  The mission statement of this 

organization reads, “By the Grace of GOD to encourage repentance, forgiveness and 

reconciliation in our cities, states and eventually in our nation for breaking down the walls that 

divide us and unifying all people in one family.” (One New Humanity Charleston | Prayer Procession 

 & Jubilee Assembly (onenewhumanitychs.org)) 

 

On Sunday, December 4, 2022, I served as officiant for the Consecration and Dedication Service 

for Agape InnerCity Community Church, the Rev. Dr. (Brother) Dallas Wilson, Leader.  Housed 

on the east side of Charleston, this service celebrated the renovation and reopening of the 

church’s worship place and facility from which a number of spiritual, educational, community 

and social ministries are launched.  I was encouraged to have my predecessor in the episcopate, 

the Rt. Rev. Alphonza Gadsden, Sr. with me on this occasion. 

 

I continue to serve (since 2016) as a member of the Inter-denomination Clergy Advisory Council 

to the Mayor of the City of Charleston, SC in the area of racial reconciliation. 

 

Provincial Relationship 

June 12-16, 2022 – I attended the Anglican Church in North America’s (ACNA) Provincial 

Council in Falls Church, VA where on Monday, June 13, 2022, I stood before the Anglican 

Church in North America’s College of Bishops for final examination for the episcopate.  The 

Lord being my helper, the examination was successfully completed.  Leaving the council on June 

15, we, along with two other newly-elected bishops and their wives, Gale and I traveled to the 

Loyola on the Potomac Retreat Center in Faulkner, MD to attend the Anglican Church in North 

America’s Pre-consecration Retreat for Newly Elected Bishops. The retreat concluded on 

Saturday, June 18 with much insight for our new ministry of the episcopate and four new and 

dear friends:  Bishops-elect Alec Cameron of the ACNA’s Diocese of Pittsburg and Bishop-elect 

Alexander Farmer of the ACNA’s Gulf Atlantic Diocese and their wives Tamara and Jodi, calling 

ourselves the “ACNA’s College of Bishops Class of 2022” 

 

On August 27, 2022, Gale I attended the Ordination and Consecration Service of Bishop-elect 

Alexander Farmer at Saint Peter’s Anglican Cathedral in Tallahassee, FL. 

 

September 25-29, 2022 – I attended the College of Bishops Conclave and the New Wineskins 

Missions Conference held at Ridgecrest Conference Center, Black Mountain, NC.   

 

On January 9, 2023 I traveled to Washington, DC where the Rev. Canon Carlos Ortiz and I 

received training to become Endorsing Agents for Military Chaplains.  Succeeding the Rev. 

Canon Robert C. Gresser, I was assigned as the New Endorsing Agent for Military Chaplains for 

the Reformed Episcopal Church.  Leaving Washington, DC on January 10, I traveled to 

Melbourne, FL to attend the ACNA’s College of Bishops Meeting, January 9-13, 2023.  There, I 

was privileged to bring the message during Morning Prayer Service and to serve as chaplain to 

------------------------------------------------------------------ 
Diocese of the Southeast

---------------------------------------- 
5D - 3

https://onenewhumanitychs.org/
https://onenewhumanitychs.org/


 

the Rev. Canon William A. Jenkins of the Diocese of the Northeast and Mid-Atlantic of the 

Reformed Episcopal Church as he endured final examination for the episcopate.   

 

Global Anglican Future Conference (GAFCON) 

I attended the Fourth Global Anglican Future Conference (GAFCON IV) in Kigali, Rwanda, 

EAST AFRICA, April 15-21, 2023 where approximately 1,300 Anglicans from at least six of the 

seven continents gathered and publicly affirmed, in writing, our belief that Jesus Christ alone is 

the head of the Church (GAFCON IV – The Kigali Commitment | GAFCON).  I was especially 

humbled to be given an opportunity to share God’s Word by way of interviews regarding our 

statement (https://youtu.be/NPV4jHGdIRw). 

 

Exhortation 

Chapters 32 and 33 of the Book of Jeremiah tells of King Zedekiah’s imprisonment of the 

Prophet Jeremiah for preaching in the name of the LORD the message that God’s judgment was 

upon the Nation of Israel and Judah for sinning against God.   

 

In Jeremiah 33:1, scripture tells us, “The word of the LORD came to Jeremiah a second time, 

while he was still shut up in the court of the prison ….” The emphasis here is on whose Word. In 

verse two, the LORD (YAHWEH) is mentioned three times thus, clearly indicating who is giving 

this word.  The verse reads, 

 

 “Thus says the LORD who made it, the LORD who formed it to establish it (the 

LORD is His name): (vs 3) ‘Call to Me, and I will answer you, and show you great 

and mighty things, which you do not know.’”   

 

God invited Jeremiah and all who are His, to come to Him in faith and pray with the confidence 

that He will answer. And so, my fellow Reformed Episcopalians, as we move through the next 

triennium for the Gory of God and the edification of the body let us “Call unto Him,” and let 

Him show you great and mighty things, which you do not know.”   

 

F. B. Meyer, commenting on this passage said, “He cries to us, Call unto Me, call unto me. Little 

prayer, little blessing; more prayer, more blessings; much prayer, much blessing.”   

 

I conclude this report by extending thanks to the Most-High God for the leadership of the Most 

Rt. Rev. Ray R. Sutton, the Very Rev. Canon Jason Grote, the General Committee of the 

Reformed Episcopal Church, and the Diocese of the Southeast for the labor of love in preparing 

for the upcoming 57th General Council celebrating the 150th Anniversary of the Reformed 

Episcopal Church. Special thanks is extended to my dear wife, best friend, and counselor Mrs. 

Gale Hill for her continued encouragement and support.  

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 

 

 

the Rt. Rev. Willie J. Hill, Jr. 

Bishop Ordinary 

------------------------------------------------------------------ 
Diocese of the Southeast

---------------------------------------- 
5D - 4

https://www.gafcon.org/news/gafcon-iv-the-kigali-commitment
https://youtu.be/NPV4jHGdIRw


The Right Reverend Willie Hill 

705 South Main Street 

Summerville SC, 29483 

(843) 817-9545

wjhmoses@aol.com

Endorser for Military Chaplains in the Reformed Episcopal Church 

Annual Report for the General Council of the Reformed Episcopal Church 

Summary 

The duties of endorsers encompass the following general categories: Pastor to our 

Military Chaplains, Liaison to the Armed Forces, and Liaison to other organizations. The past 

three years have seen major changes in the way the REC endorses military chaplains. Future 

chaplains will be endorsed through the ACNA Special Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and 

Chaplaincy (The Right Reverend Derek Jones).  

I. Pastor to Military Chaplains

Report 

The following are REC military chaplains were endorsed by the REC: 

Dunlap, Dwight P.  Navy 

Gough, Frank D. III  Civil Air Patrol 

Martin, Bartholomew P. Army 

Ortiz, Carlos B. Civil Air Patrol 

Robinson, Arthur Air Force 

Felton, Rory K. Navy 

Adenuga, Bukola Army (pending accession) 

The following are chaplains from other organizations endorsed through the REC: 

Danford, James F. (Anglican Province of America) Air Force 

Lormand, Lance M. (Diocese of Fort Worth)  Air Force 

Mohler, Jonathan (Diocese of Fort Worth Army 

The following are priests we currently endorse for Veterans’ Administration Hospital or 

the Federal Bureau of Prisons: 

Glenvil, Gregory VA 

Goodlin, Gary  VA 

Simpson, John  VA 

Ortiz, Carlos  Federal Bureau of Prisons 

Endorsers are encouraged by the Services’ Chiefs of Chaplains, the Armed Forces 

Chaplains Board (AFCB) and the National Conference on Ministry to the Armed Forces 

(NCMAF) to serve as pastors to their chaplains. Military chaplaincy can be a lonely job. 

Chaplains serve in a pluralistic environment. Nevertheless, chaplains are encouraged to maintain 

---------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Armed Forces Chaplaincy Office

------------------------------------ 
5E - 1



their denominational distinctiveness. This is an extremely important characteristic of a successful 

chaplain. Chaplains cannot do this without regular contact with their bishops, “sending 

churches,” and endorsers.  

 Part of the pastoral ministry of the endorser is to visit our chaplains. Endorsers are 

encouraged to visit their chaplains at least once every three-year tour of duty. Regular visits 

allow our chaplains to share joys and concerns “face to face” with a pastoral representative. 

 Unlike the REC, The Special Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy has the 

necessary personnel (three bishops) and resources to accomplish this task.  

 

 Action Taken: The Special Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy has 

assumed the responsibility of overseeing our chaplains, providing training and pastoral support.  

 

II. Liaison to the Armed Forces 

 

 Report 

 Each faith-groups endorser serves as a liaison to the Armed Forces, the Armed Forces 

Chaplains Board (AFCB), and the National Conference on Ministry to the Armed Forces 

(NCMAF). In this capacity, the Endorser for Military Chaplains represents the ACNA to each 

Service Chief of Chaplains (either a two-star general or admiral). The endorser provides the 

office of each Service Chief of Chaplains and the AFCB with the necessary documentation 

allowing our priests to serve as chaplains. Any questions regarding the ecclesiastical status of our 

priests are directed to the Endorser for Military Chaplains.  

 Occasionally, a chaplain will encounter an issue relating to his specific faith requirements 

and duties that cannot be resolved at his level. When this happens, the endorser has the authority 

to communicate directly with the Office of the Chief of Chaplain and the AFCB. 

 

 Change in Endorser 

 The Reverend Canon Robert Gresser has been replaced as the REC Endorser by The 

Right Reverend Willie Hill. Bishop Hill is assisted by The Reverend Canon Carlos Ortiz.   

 

 Change Endorsing Agency 

  The past three years have seen major changes in the way the REC endorses military 

chaplains. Future chaplains will be endorsed through the ACNA Special Jurisdiction of the 

Armed Forces and Chaplaincy (The Right Reverend Derek Jones). Department of Defense 

Instructions and Military Regulations permit only one endorser for each denomination. Up until 

recently we—the ACNA and the REC—have violated this rule. Because the ACNA is a 

relatively new entity, we have been given a grace period to merge the two chaplaincies. 

Therefore, effective this year, the REC will no longer endorse future chaplains. All endorsements 

will be through the Special Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy. Current REC 

chaplains will continue to be endorsed by the REC. The REC will maintain its status as an 

endorser even if we have no chaplains to endorse. REC chaplains will fall under the ecclesial 

authority of Bishop Jones who will provide training, liaison, and pastoral support. REC chaplains 

will not lose their special distinctiveness; they will still be REC priests and they will still have 

REC bishops. They will maintain their distinctiveness in the same manner as the REC maintains 

our distinctiveness within the ACNA. Bishop Hill will partner with Bishop Jones in this 

endeavor.  

---------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Armed Forces Chaplaincy Office

------------------------------------ 
5E - 2



Recommendation: Attend NCMAF meeting in January. Support Bishop Jones as he and 

his staff provide training and pastoral oversight to our chaplains.  

III. Liaison to other Organizations

Report 

Endorsers are encouraged to maintain contact with other endorsers. By attending the 

annual meeting of NCMAF, the REC Endorser meets other endorsers as well as representatives 

of the various services recruiting commands, and the Services’ Chiefs of Chaplains. Attending 

these meetings allows the Reformed Episcopal Church to influence the Armed Forces on matters 

related to religious liberty and other concerns of the church vis-à-vis military service.  

Recommendation: The Endorser for Military Chaplains should continue to attend the 

annual meeting of NCMAF.  

---------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Armed Forces Chaplaincy Office

------------------------------------ 
5E - 3





Interchurch Relations 5F - 1 

Committee on Interchurch Relations 

Since the beginning of the Reformed Episcopal Church, we have been driven in our ecumenical 
relationships by the powerful invitation in our service of Holy Communion. It is, “Our fellow Christians 
of other branches of Christ’s Church, and all who love our Divine Lord and Savior Jesus Christ in 
sincerity are affectionally invited to the Lord’s Table.” So committed to the unity of Christians, our first 
Bishop George David Cummins along with our other founders wanted these words at every Eucharist.  

Beyond Holy Communion, however, this charitable spirit has historically guided our desire to live out 
and into the Lord’s High Priestly prayer,” at they all may be one . . . that the world might believer” 
(John 17:21). Based on this prayer concerning unity with fellow Christians, we have quoted the famous 
statement over the decades, “In things essential unity; in things non-essential liberty; in all other things 
charity.” 

e result has been numerous ecumenical dialogues throughout our history. Some of them have been 
with non-Anglican denominations such as the Moravians, Presbyterians, and so forth. Reformed 
Episcopalians were instrumental in the 1940s in forming the Federated Council of Churches that 
became the National Council of Churches. When the latter organization turned in a liberal direction, we 
withdrew our involvement. 

Other ecumenical dialogues also have been with fellow Anglican jurisdictions like the Anglican Church 
of Nigeria and the Anglican Province of America. We have been able to enter important concordats. 
ese unions without absorption into one another’s jurisdictions have been approved through the 
constitutional processes of our General Committee and General Councils in the early 2000s. 

With the Reformed Episcopal Church’s involvement in forming the Anglican Church in North America, 
our REC Interchurch Relations Committee has worked in conjunction with the Ecumenical Relations 
Task Force of the ACNA. is historic new Anglican Province connected to the Global South of the 
Anglican Communion through GAFCON (the Global Anglican Future Conference), has been led to 
dialogues with a number denominations both Anglican and non-Anglican. Since I chair both ecumenical 
efforts as the Ecumenical Dean for the Ecumenical Relations Task Force of the ACNA, the Reformed 
Episcopal Church has been able to share and follow our historic charity toward “other branches of 
Christ’s Church.” It is critical to understand, however, that our jointly coordinated ecumenical efforts 
with the ACNA have operated with an ecumenical philosophy that we have called e New Ecumenism 
Based on the Gospel and the Holy Scriptures.  

As I have developed in my Presiding Bishop’s Exhortation for this 57th General Council, it is a much 
different day, world, and culture that are no longer sympathetic to the Christian worldview. Our present 
culture has become one of exclusive secularism. Our ecumenical involvements with non-Anglican 
denominations in this cultural context has been and is therefore, to the end that we might stand 
together for the witness of Jesus Christ as the only way to God the Father with historic Christian 
commitments of theology and morality. Concerning ecumenical dialogues with other Anglican 
jurisdictions within and without the Anglican Communion, the goal has been and is to seek the highest 
levels of unity without relinquishing time-proven allegiance to our own Reformed Episcopal standards 
of faith and order. With this introduction, I offer the following brief summary of the many ecumenical 
dialogues worked through the coordinated efforts of the REC Interchurch Relations Committee and the 
ACNA. 



 
Interchurch Relations  5F - 2 

1. e Roman Catholic Church: In the history of Anglicanism, Anglicans have not unchurched 
Roman Catholics nor viewed them as unbelievers. Many developments in both of our churches 
(the Lambeth Quadrilateral, Vatican II, the Malta Agreement of 1968, and e Anglican-Roman 
Catholic International Commission ARCIC) have allowed greater pursuit of unity in the Gospel and 
Holy Communion. Since the beginning of the ACNA and as Ecumenical Dean of the Ecumenical 
Relations Task Force, I have been privileged to accompany our archbishop and other Anglican 
Bishops to meet with those at the highest levels of leadership including Popes to discuss how we 
might work together in the Gospel witness of Jesus Christ. I/we have paid respects to the 
Bishop of Rome according to Anglican tradition, recognizing him as “First among Equal” 
Bishops without granting jurisdiction in Anglican Churches. Our purpose has not been for 
absorption into the Roman Catholic Church. Much progress has been made toward greater 
Gospel witness together and unity without acquiescing our Anglican commitments. We have 
joined in producing important joint-statements on Biblical marriage and morality. Our 
conversations continue to these ends. We continue to call for the implementation of the historic 
Malta Agreement calling for unity without union (absorption). I am even planning to accompany 
Archbishop Foley Beach (the ACNA Primate) and Bishop Eric Menees (Chair for our ACNA 
Ecumenical Committee dialogues) for a return visit to the Vatican later this summer. Bishop 
Menees’ committee has made considerable progress with the United States Conference of 
Catholic Bishops and their ecumenical representatives. ey meet annually and sometimes more 
often. ey are scheduled to meet in early fall. 

2. e Orthodox Church in America:  Anglicans and the Eastern Churches have a long history of 
ecumenical involvement. Some say it goes back to the 7th century when eodore of Tarsus from 
the Eastern part of the Church became Archbishop of Canterbury. In the ACNA, shortly after 
our beginning we became engaged in ecumenical talks with the Orthodox Church in America. 
Our dialogues began when the OCA broke off ecumenical relations with e Episcopal Church. 
We produced papers together on the Filioque clause added to Western version of the Nicene 
Creed. We jointly affirmed in agreement Lambeth Conferences that the Filioque was in the 
original creed. When the ACNA produced its own BCP2019 allowance was made for the Filioque 
not to be said as indicated by brackets around the phrase. Our dialogues have been working 
toward the production of a book on the history of Eastern Orthodox/Anglican relations and 
dialogues. We have also produced a document on a New Ecumenism in the Gospel. We are 
presently scheduled to meet in June in person for the first time since the pandemic. We will be 
resuming talks about a book on our larger ecumenical history between Anglicans and Orthodox. 
Bishop Kevin Allen chairs the ACNA ecumenical team. 

3. e North American Lutheran Church: e NALC came out of the Evangelical Lutheran Church 
of America one year after the founding of the ACNA. It was like our own movement attempting 
to maintain the Gospel, the Holy Scriptures and Reformation confessional standards. e first 
Presiding Bishop of the NALC had apostolic succession due to the ecumenical agreements 
between their mother church (ELCA) and e Episcopal Church. As part of these dialogues TEC 
Bishops consecrated Lutheran Bishops. As a result of our ecumenical talks, the NALC decided to 
have a Lutheran Chair of theological studies at Trinity School for Ministry in Ambridge, 
Pennsylvania. We have produced many joint statements on justification by faith, the authority 
of Holy Scripture, the real presence of Christ in the Eucharist, and marriage. Our churches as a 
result have agreed to grant Eucharistic hospitality to each other’s members. We will be having 
our next meetings later in the year. We’re scheduled to begin working on a joint statement 
regarding transgenderism. Bishop Dan Gifford is the ecumenical chair for the ACNA.  



 
Interchurch Relations  5F - 3 

4. e Lutheran Church Missouri Synod: From the start of the ACNA, we have also been in 
ecumenical conversation with this historic body of Confessional Lutherans. In their 175-year 
history, their only Anglican jurisdiction, non-Lutheran dialogue has been with the ACNA. e 
LCMS has a history of closed communion based on adherence to the confessions of the 16th 
century Reformation within Germany. Yet, their President and our Archbishop were able to sign 
a document expressing significant agreement on the Gospel, justification by faith, Holy 
Scripture, the sacraments, and marriage. e LCMS has been generous in allowing ACNA church 
plants to use their buildings. In our most recent dialogues this past May at Church of the Holy 
Communion Cathedral in Dallas, Texas, we reached two important clarifications. We are united 
without union (absorption) in our witness of the Gospel in various ways in our culture. We are 
also able to invite each other to non-Eucharistic services of the Word such as Morning (Mattins) 
and Evening (Evensong) Prayer. However, the ministers officiating cannot jointly lead services. 
Only a representative from either church may lead the service. Bishop David Hicks with the 
assistance of the Rev. Canon Dr. Jonathan Riches oversee this ecumenical dialogue for the 
ACNA. 

5. e Presbyterian Church in America: We have had fraternal relations with the PCA since our 
beginning. Each year I am asked to bring or send a representative to their annual General 
Assembly to offer fraternal greetings. eir representatives, usually the Rev. Dr. Roy Taylor, do 
the same at our Provincial Assemblies. We have many liturgical/sacramental Presbyterian 
friends in the PCA who are sympathetic to the Anglican Way. I’m currently functioning as the 
ACNA chair for this dialogue. 

6. e Philippine Independent Catholic Church (Intercommunion/Concordat): is jurisdiction of 
over three million members is centered in the Philippines. It came into existence out of the 
Roman Catholic Church in the early 20th century. ey were provided with care, and eventually 
apostolic orders from the Episcopal Church in the middle part of the century. ey have 
churches in the United States under the oversight of an American Archbishop. ey were in full 
communion with TEC until 2005 when they broke communion. ey have a liberal counterpart 
with a similar acronym (Philippine Independent Church-PIC), which is not to be confused with 
them. e church with whom we have been working has a new official name, Iglesia Catolic 
Filipina Independiente – e Philippine Independent Catholic Church). ey approached the 
ACNA with the approval of their Supremo Episcopo in the Philippines to extend to us the full 
communion that they had with TEC. Our College of Bishops and Provincial Council approved 
full communion with them in 2019. Due to the pandemic, we are only now able to have a joint 
signing and worship service involving their Supremo Episcopo, Bishops, our Archbishop, me and 
others. For their Archbishops and Bishops to travel into the U.S., requires visas. It is a 
complicated process involving the State Department approval. We have been coordinating 
efforts for a joint meeting and service toward the end of this year. Bishop Mark Engel chairs this 
ecumenical dialogue for the ACNA. 

7. e Evangelical Lutheran Church of Latvia: e ELCL is effectively the State Church of Latvia. 
Historically, this Biblical, Confessional, and Reformational part of the Lutheran Church has 
Apostolic Order (Archbishop, Bishops, Priests, and Deacons) and Faith. ey also have Anglican 
Orders in their line of succession dating back to Communion with the See of Canterbury. ey 
are also in Communion with the Lutheran Church Missouri Synod in this country. Last summer, 
their Archbishop Janis Vanags invited Archbishop Beach and Bishop Ryan Reed (Diocese of Ft. 
Worth) to participate in the consecration of one of their new bishops. Our Archbishop and 
Bishop Reed were extended full pulpit, altar, and communion privileges. Archbishop Beach and I 



 
Interchurch Relations  5F - 4 

have been invited to Lativia this September to participate in the celebration of Archbishop 
Vanags’ 30 years as a Bishop. We are in the process of formulating full communion with this 
church, subject to the approval of their constitutional body, as well as our College of Bishops 
and Provincial Council. Bishop Ryan Reed chairs this ecumenical dialogue with the assistance of 
Bishop Keith Ackerman. 

8. Communio Messianica (Muslim Background Believer Movement): e CM is a group of over one 
million converts from Islam in approximately fourteen Muslim countries in the Mideast. eir 
ruling council consists of twelve Elders among whom is their elected Primary Elder, the Rev. Dr. 
Yassir Eric. He has been forced to live in Germany from which he conducts his ministry into the 
Mideast. Five years ago, this body of believers was led by the Holy Spirit to become Anglican. 
ey sought relationship with GAFCON through the Reformed Episcopal Church in Germany 
when Archbishop Beach was the Chair of the Primates Council. e Primates approved a plan 
whereby Dr. Eric would receive Holy Orders through the REC Bishop in Germany, be ordained a 
priest by Bishop Bill Atwood, and consecrated a Bishop later this year. e Primates have tasked 
Bishop Atwood to work with Dr. Eric and the twelve Elders to organize the CM into a GAFCON 
Province. 

9. e Global Methodist Church: e GMC has recently come into existence having departed from 
the United Methodist Church. ey are to Methodism what we are to Anglicanism. ey are a 
Gospel, Biblical, Confessional and conservative body of Methodist Believers. ey currently 
have 1500 congregations and three bishops. e President and some faculty at one of their 
conservative seminaries, Asbury eological Seminary, have been friends with Archbishop 
Beach, Bishop Clark Lowenfield, and many other ACNA clergy and laity. Bishop Scott Jones in 
Dallas, Texas is their Ecumenical Bishop. Bishop Jones will be an ecumenical observer at the 
upcoming ACNA College of Bishops and Provincial Council at Christ Church Pro Cathedral in 
Dallas, Texas this June. We will be seeking ecumenical dialogue and eventually full communion 
with this new jurisdiction. Bishop Clark Lowenfield is the chair of the ACNA ecumenical 
committee for this dialogue. 

10. e Episcopal Missionary Church: With the previous approval of our College of Bishops and the 
Provincial Council we are in full communion with this Anglican jurisdiction out of the 
Continuing Anglican Churches movement. eir Presiding Bishop is the Most Rev. Vince 
McLaughlin. Bishop McLaughlin serves on the board of the Reformed Episcopal Seminary in 
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. It is one of the approved ACNA seminaries. 

11. e Continuing Evangelical Episcopal Churches (Not to be confused with the Communion of 
Evangelical Episcopal Churches): is church is a national and international jurisdiction. We 
entered into official dialogue with the CEEC in 2022. We are working toward full communion. 
e chair of our dialogue is Bishop Bill Atwood. 

12. e New Day Kingdom Assembly of Churches: e NDKAC is a Pentecostal African American 
Evangelical church that became Anglican in order and doctrine through the ministry of Bishop 
Keith Ackerman. ey have sought teaching and consultation from ACNA/REC Bishops, 
including our own Bishop Al Gadsden. As a result, they have received approval from the COB for 
ecumenical dialogue with the goal of full communion. e COB has also approved Eucharistic 
Hospitality for participation in each other’s services of Holy Communion. e NDKAC is 
presently undergoing reorganization under their Archbishop omas Wallace. Bishop Alan 
Hawkins has chaired our dialogue. 



 
Interchurch Relations  5F - 5 

 
In conclusion, God has greatly blessed the vision of a New Ecumenism based on the Gospel and the Holy 
Scriptures. As I hope we’ll recognize, the ministry of the Reformed Episcopal Church has been greatly 
extended through our involvement with and through our relationship with the Anglican Church in 
North America. Many REC Bishops and leaders have participated in a number of these dialogues, some 
of which have resulted in full communion. We have been able to live out our historic commitment to 
“our fellow Christians in other branches of Christ’s Church who love our Divine Lord and Savior Jesus 
Christ in sincerity.” Please continue to pray that the ecumenical work of the REC/ACNA would not only 
facilitate being “affectionately invited to the Lord’s Table,” but that we would see all these ecumenical 
relationships with many parts of God’s Church issue into a bold witness for the Gospel and the historic 
Christian faith in our culture. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
e Most Rev. Dr. Ray R. Sutton (Chair) 
Presiding Bishop 





Diocese
Total Parishes & 

Missions/Extensions
Parishes that did 

NOT report
Baptized 
Members

All
Communicant 

Members

Adult 
Communicants 

Members
Average Sunday 

Attendance
Baptisms

2021-2022
Confirmations

2021-2022
Marriages
2021-2022

Burials
2021-2022

Central States 20 0 1295 941 970 882 47 147 1 99
Mid-America 41 1 2504 2043 1784 1769 139 264 17 50
Northeast & Mid-Atlantic 25 3 1493 1138 1068 825 32 42 11 36
Southeast 33 1 2310 1846 1687 1347 63 54 17 99

Totals 119 5 7602 5968 5509 4823 281 507 46 284

The Reformed Episcopal Church
State of the Church Report
As of December 31, 2022

OFFICIAL ACTS

This report was completed on May 14, 2023. Submissions after that date are not reflected.  

The Statistical Information was obtained from Parish Certification forms for the 57th General Council. The committee notes that 5 parishes in total did not complete the certification form. 

It is noted that statistical form includes official acts from January 1, 2021 through December 31, 2022, which is only two years instead of three. It omits the first year of the triennium (2020) due to the 
postponement of General Council from June 2020 to June 2021. Statistics from 2020 were report with the previous 56th General Council report.  

Respectfully Submitted,

The Very Rev. Canon Jason R. Grote
Committee Chairman

------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
State of the Church

--------------------------------------------------------------------- 
5G - 1



ALL ADULT
Total Members Communicants Communicants Average Sunday Baptisms Confirmations Marriages Burials

Parish City State as of 12/31/2022 as of 12/31/2022 as of 12/31/2022 Attendance 2021-2022 2021-2022 2021-2022 2021-2022

1 All Saints Lynchburg VA 130 100 75 85 3 3 0 0
2 All Saints Raleigh NC 69 64 62 62 2 2 0 1
3 Christ our Hope Fairborn OH 52 41 34 41 1 3 0 1
4 Christ our Hope Westpoint TN 35 34 21 15 4 0 1 0
5 Christ the King Dayton OH 93 61 61 95 7 11 0 2
6 Christ the Redeemer Owensboro KY 22 12 10 25 2 6 0 0
7 Church of the Redeemer Wilson NC 35 10 9 17 1 0 0 0
8 Church of our Saviour Leesburg VA 129 91 91 96 8 11 0 3
9 Covenant Church Roanoke VA 20 20 19 11 0 0 0 1
10 Holy Cross Amelia VA 56 38 38 40 1 4 0 3
11 Holy Trinity Fairfax VA 77 67 60 45 4 80 0 2
12 St. Andrew's Asheboro NC 20 14 14 14 1 5 0 0
13 St. James Memphis TN 166 14 142 55 3 6 0 5
14 St. John's Chelsea AL 68 68 46 49 2 6 0 0
15 St. Jude's Richmond VA 80 74 70 64 2 10 0 0
16 St. Lazarus Mission Dayton OH 108 108 108 43 3 0 0 80
17 St. Paul's Lexington VA 32 28 27 30 0 0 0 0
18 Trinity Church Connersville IN 8 6 6 25 0 0 0 0
19 Trinity Church Evansville IN 56 56 47 33 2 0 0 1
20 Trinity Church Mason OH 39 35 30 37 1 0 0 0

1295 941 970 882 47 147 1 99
DNR=Did Not Report

Official Acts

Diocese of the Central States
The Rt. Rev. Peter Manto, Ordinary

------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
State of the Church

--------------------------------------------------------------------- 
5G - 2



ALL ADULT
Total Members Communicants Communicants Average Sunday Baptisms Confirmations Marriages Burials

Parish City State as of 12/31/2022 as of 12/31/2022 as of 12/31/2022 Attendance 2021-2022 2021-2022 2021-2022 2021-2022

1 All Saints Shreveport LA 60 60 47 47 5 0 0 1
2 Anglican Church of the Epiphany La Mirada CA 43 26 26 41 3 15 2 1
3 Chapel of the Cross Dallas TX 128 91 75 112 13 13 2 3
4 Iglesia Santa Cruz Dallas TX Reported under Chapel of the Cross
5 Christ's Chapel Riverside CA 50 44 31 40 8 16 2 1
6 Christ the King Grover Beach CA 28 16 16 20 0 0 1 0
7 Christ the King (in formation) Covington LA 5 4 4 11 0 0 0 0
8 Church of the Blessed Trinity Alpine CA 27 12 12 14 3 0 0 1
9 Church of our Savior Joplin MO 13 6 6 22 1 0 0 0
10 Covenant Church Greenville MI 64 21 21 65 8 3 0 0
11 Covenant Church Heber Springs AR 45 37 30 35 0 0 0 2
12 Good Shepherd Tyler TX 223 149 145 178 7 17 0 1
13 Good Shepherd Fellowship (in formation) Colorado Springs CO 23 9 13 28 1 0 0 0
14 Holy Communion Dallas TX 415 358 332 192 13 20 1 15
15 Iglesia Holy Communion (in formation) Dallas TX Reported under Holy Communion 55 21 27 0 1
16 Holy Cross Alpine TX 49 40 38 30 6 3 0 2
17 Holy Cross Oratory (in formation) Colorado Springs CO 1 1 1 50 1 4 1 0
18 Holy Trinity Houston TX 115 115 82 48 3 4 0 0
19 Holy Trinity Webster Groves MO 46 42 37 28 1 9 0 1
20 Living Word Courtenay, BC CANADA 43 31 28 18 0 0 0 0
21 Mariners Church Detroit MI DNR
22 Providence Corpus Christi TX 54 31 29 25 5 2 0 1
23 Resurrection Crosby TX 95 82 82 50 1 3 1 0
24 St. Andrew's Tinley Park IL 119 121 78 65 5 6 0 3
25 St. Andrew's Chester CA 26 22 19 17 1 2 0 0
26 St. Andrew's Glendale AZ 42 17 14 32 2 10 3 1
27 St. Barnabas Bellville TX 23 23 22 17 2 6 1 1
28 St. Barnabas (in formation) Lansing MI 12 6 5 20 3 0 0 0
29 St. Benedict's Rockwall TX 105 105 90 90 6 14 0 0
30 St. Mark the Evangelist Waxahachie TX 46 35 30 32 0 70 0 1
31 St. Mark's on the Plain Canyon TX 26 18 15 13 0 0 0 0
32 St. Matthias Katy TX 67 55 54 51 14 4 1 2
33 Iglesia San Matias (in formation) Katy TX Reported under St. Matthias 32
34 St. Michael's Tulsa OK 22 22 22 20 0 0 0 3
35 St. Paul's Baton Rouge LA 41 34 31 30 0 0 0 0
36 St. Paul's Houston TX 47 45 40 40 3 4 1 3
37 St. Stephen's Flowood MS 129 129 104 71 2 7 0 2
38 St. Stephen's Montrose CO 63 54 49 35 0 0 0 2
39 St. Thomas of Canterbury Houston TX 139 117 91 70 1 2 0 1
40 St. Timothy's Jonesboro AR 44 40 40 12 0 3 1 0
41 Trinity Pagosa Springs CO 26 25 25 13 0 0 0 1

-
2504 2043 1784 1769 139 264 17 50

DNR=Did Not Report

Official Acts

Diocese of Mid-America
The Rt. Rev. Ray Sutton, Ordinary

The Rt. Rev. Walter Banek, Suffragan

------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
State of the Church

--------------------------------------------------------------------- 
5G - 3



ADULT
Total Members Communicants Communicants Average Sunday Baptisms Confirmations Marriages Burials

Parish City State as of 12/31/2022 as of 12/31/2022 as of 12/31/2022 Attendance 2021-2022 2021-2022 2021-2022 2021-2022

1 Bishop Cummins Catonsville MD 122 119 117 67 2 0 1 1
2 Church of the Atonement Philadelphia PA 34 28 27 15 1 1 0 0
3 Church of Our Redeemer Jersey City NJ 45 45 45 30 0 0 0 2
4 Covenant Chapel Basking Ridge NJ 33 33 32 30 0 2 0 0
5 Emmanuel Pipersville PA 57 43 40 29 6 6 0 0
6 Emmanuel Somerville NJ 41 41 36 32 0 0 0 3
7 Faith Church Baltimore MD 54 51 41 42 0 3 0 1
8 Good Shepherd Harrisburg PA 30 26 26 23 0 4 0 0
9 Good Shepherd West Bridgewater MA 79 66 65 47 2 0 0 1
10 Grace Church Collingdale PA 94 65 47 37 2 5 0 0
11 Grace Church Havre-de-grace MD 39 35 33 8 0 0 2 3
12 Grace Church Scranton PA 30 29 15 50 1 2 0 0
13 Jesus the Good Shepherd Brooklyn NY DNR
14 St. Alban's New York NY 39 39 39 24 0 0 0 0
15 St. George's Hamilton, Ontario CANADA 84 73 71 50 4 3 0 8
16 St. John's by-the-sea Ventnor NJ 45 45 43 30 0 2 0 0
17 St. Luke's New Providence NJ 8 8 8 8 0 0 0 0
18 St. Luke's/Bishop Hoffman Philadelphia PA 11 11 11 10 0 0 0 3
19 St. Mark's Rydal PA 120 94 90 89 3 2 1 1
20 St. Matthew's Havertown PA 71 58 57 40 4 3 1 4
21 St. Patrick's Norristown PA DNR
22 St. Paul's Oreland PA DNR
23 St. Peters Elkton MD 45 45 45 20 0 0 0 1
24 St. Stephen's Eldersburg MD 169 169 169 133 7 8 3 6
25 St. Timothy's Mt. Laurel NJ 17 15 11 11 0 1 3 2

1493 1138 1068 825 32 42 11 36
DNR=Did Not Report

Diocese of the Northeast & Mid-Atlantic
The Rt. Rev. Charles Gillin, Ordinary

The Rt. Rev. William Jenkins, Coadjutor

Official Acts

------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
State of the Church

--------------------------------------------------------------------- 
5G - 4



ADULT
Total Members Communicants Communicants Average Sunday Baptisms Confirmations Marriages Burials

Parish City State as of 12/31/2022 as of 12/31/2022 as of 12/31/2022 Attendance 2021-2022 2021-2022 2021-2022 2021-2022

1 All Saints Greenville SC 37 35 32 30 0 1 0 2
2 Atonement Mt. Pleasant SC 17 17 17 15 0 0 0 1
3 Bethlehem Moncks Corner SC 38 38 38 25 0 0 0 0
4 Calvary St. Stephen SC 72 72 65 12 5 0 2 4
5 Christ's Church Johns Island SC 37 35 33 25 3 5 0 2
6 Christ the King Marietta GA 235 49 43 186 16 27 5 0
7 Emmanuel Alvin SC 25 25 25 20 0 0 1 3
8 Emmanuel Spartanburg SC 41 11 10 30 2 11 1 0
9 Good Shepherd Bonneau SC 40 40 40 7 1 0 1 8
10 Grace Moncks Corner SC 241 192 140 175 9 0 0 3
11 Holy Comforter Moncks Corner SC 72 47 38 30 0 0 0 5
12 Holy Rock Mt. Carmel SC 42 35 35 25 0 0 0 3
13 Holy Trinity Charleston SC 29 27 27 13 0 0 0 0
14 Immanuel Cross SC 62 62 61 45 0 0 0 2
15 Intercession Wando SC 27 27 25 16 0 0 0 0
16 Liberty Jamestown SC 69 69 50 25 3 2 0 1
17 Messiah Pineville SC 48 48 48 33 0 0 0 3
18 Mt. Carmel Goose Creek SC 32 32 31 19 0 1 0 1
19 Mt. Olivet Ravenel SC 82 82 82 60 7 0 0 1
20 Nazareth Moncks Corner SC 178 108 99 51 1 0 0 7
21 New Bethel North Charleston SC 156 121 121 63 0 0 0 7
22 New Israel Charleston SC 148 115 105 65 0 0 0 5
23 New St. Thomas Columbia SC 43 43 41 20 0 2 0 2
24 Promiseland Johns Island SC 14 14 14 7 0 0 1 2
25 Redeemer Pineville SC 159 154 134 125 2 0 0 8
26 St. Andrew's Savannah GA 52 51 51 23 0 0 2 2
27 St. John's Charleston SC 118 112 107 78 8 4 3 17
28 St. Luke's Charleston SC 95 85 80 60 2 0 0 5
29 St. Matthew's North Charleston SC DNR
30 St. Michael's St. Stephen SC 24 23 23 15 0 0 0 2
31 St. Paul's Moncks Corner SC 41 41 36 29 2 0 0 1
32 St. Thomas Moncks Corner SC 15 15 15 8 0 0 1 1
33 Zion Edisto Island SC 21 21 21 12 2 1 0 1

2310 1846 1687 1347 63 54 17 99
DNR=Did Not Report

Official Acts

Diocese of the Southeast
The Rt. Rev. Willie Hill, Ordinary 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
State of the Church

--------------------------------------------------------------------- 
5G - 5





Memorials  5H - 1 

57th General Council- Committee on Memorials Report 
2021 -2022 

 “I AM the resurrection and the life, saith the Lord: he that believeth in me, though he were dead, yet 
shall he live: and whosoever liveth and believeth in me shall never die.”   (St. John 11: 25, 26)   

Diocese of the Southeast  

• e Rev. Namon Perkins Jr. 
Born: September 5, 1948- Died June 27, 2021 

Rev. Namon Perkin Jr entered into eternal rest on June 27, 2023. He loved God, and His Church 
and had a heart for ministry and service. At an early age, he was confirmed as a communicant 
member at Redeemer Reformed Episcopal Church. Where he served as a Sunday school teacher, Lay 
Reader, and Bible Quiz Coach.   Rev. Perkins was a 1982 Diploma of eology degree graduate of 
Cummins Memorial eological Seminary. He earned his Bachelor’s degree from South Carolina 
State University in 2000 and was awarded the Master of Divinity degree in 2002 from Cummins 
Memorial eological Seminary. 

He was ordained to the Orders of Deacon and Presbyter under Bishop William S. H. Jerdan and 
began his formal ministry at Messiah Reformed Episcopal Church, Pineville SC under the 
leadership of Rev. John A. Perkins. His 40+ years of ministry in the Diocese of the Southeast as a 
Rector/Pastor include Atonement Church, Mt. Pleasant, SC, Bethlehem Church, Moncks Corner, 
SC, and 29 years at Mt. Olivet Church, Ravenell, SC until his death.  He faithfully as Secretary of 
the Synod, member of the Board of Trustees, member of the Intercessory Prayer Committee, past 
member of the Committee on Nominations, President of the Cummins Memorial eological 
Seminary Alumni Association, and pastor, preacher/teacher extraordinaire, the indefatigable 
Reverend Namon “Buck” Perkins, Jr.; To God be the Glory for the great things He worked through 
this man of God.  

• Mrs. Doris omas Handy 
Born: August 22, 1937- Died November 15, 2021 

Mrs. Doris omas Handy, the widow of the Rev. omas Jerome Handy went to be with the Lord 
on November 15, 2021. She was a member of Grace Reformed Episcopal Church, Moncks Corner, 
SC under the leadership of Rev. Paul Nesbit. She loved the Lord with all of her heart and loved 
praying and singing praises to him aloud. Mrs. Handy, a faithful servant of God, served as treasurer 
of the Minister’s Wives and Widow Alliance, President of the Missionary Convention, and Director 
and Business Manager of Bishop Jerdan Conference Center. 

• Mrs. Arlene S. Grant Jenkins 
Born: November 18, 1961- Died August 31, 2021 

Mrs.  Arlene S. Jenkins, the wife of Rev. Mikle Jenkins, entered into her eternal rest on August 31, 
2021. She was a member of Messiah Reformed Episcopal Church, Pineville, SC.  She served 
faithfully with her husband in ministry in several organizations and capacities as the Sunday 
School Superintendent/ Teacher, Women of the Church, Youth Choir Director, Missionary Society, 
Minister Wives and Widow Alliance, and the Diocese Mass Choir.  

 
  



Memorials  5H - 2 

Diocese of Northeast and Mid-Atlantic  
 

• The Rev. Barton L. Craig 
Born:  1936 – Died: August 27, 2021 

The Rev. Barton L. Craig, 85, of Bensalem, PA went home to be with His Lord on Friday, August 27, 
2021. Barton was the loving husband of Ronell Craig and the late Barbara A. Craig, and the loving 
father of Stephen Craig and his wife Shelly.  He will also be sadly missed by his grandchildren, 
Douglas Craig, Corey Lord, Justine Cooper, stepchild Terry Cooper, sister-in-law Florie Craig, 
nephew Matt Craig, other relatives, and dear friends.  
 
Barton worked as a printer for many years and was an ordained minister.  He enjoyed 
woodworking, gardening, working with his computer, watching old westerns, and traveling, 
especially in his camper with his wife Ronell. His service was held on Wednesday, September 1, 
2021, at St. Mark’s Reformed Episcopal Church, Jenkintown, PA.  Barton was laid to rest in 
Arlington Cemetery, Pennsauken, NJ with his first wife Barbara. 

• Danae L. Smith  
Born: October 4, 1938 –Died: September 10, 2021 

Danae was a long-time faithful member of St. Matthew’s Church in Havertown, PA, having 
transferred her membership, along with her husband Rudy, from Christ Memorial Church in 
Philadelphia, PA, in November of 1977. Danae contributed richly to the life of the parish 
responding to any need that arose that would further extend the Gospel. She worked at the 
Reformed Episcopal Seminary from June of 1988 until her retirement in May of 2009. At RES, she 
served in many capacities including bookkeeper, assistant to the Librarian, Registrar, and various 
administrative assistant duties. She was also a faithful member of the Looney-Hoffman Board. She 
will be sorely missed. e legacy of her unwavering faith and trust in the Lord Jesus will live on to 
serve as an example for every life she touched. “Well done, thou good and faithful servant! – St. 
Matthew 25:21 

• e Rev. Ronald Bretherick 
Born: 1940 Died October 14, 2021 

The Rev. Ronald D. Bretherick, 71, of Ventnor, passed into the presence of his Lord and Savior 
from complications of Covid-19 on Thursday, October 14, 2021. Ron grew up in Glenolden, PA, 
and is a graduate of Interboro High School, St. Joseph’s University, and The Reformed Episcopal 
Seminary. Ron was the Rector of St. John’s By-The-Sea Reformed Episcopal Church where he 
served for 35 years until retiring in 2016. He also served the Lord on various boards of directors 
including The Atlantic Christian School & Hope Pregnancy Center and was an instructor for the 
Reformed Bible Institute. He was a former baseball/softball umpire for ACUA and was a school 
crossing guard for Ventnor City. Ron is survived by his wife, Sue; daughters, Rebekah Rudolph & 
Laura Bretherick along with the joys of his life, his grandchildren; Evelyn & Jonah; brothers: Jack 
(Marilyn), Alan (Hope), David (Dori) and sister Betty Ann Verity. Ron is predeceased by his parents 
John & Anna Bretherick and infant daughter Sarah Elizabeth. 

  



Memorials  5H - 3 

• e Rt. Rev. Daniel Gilbert Cox 
Born: November 15, 1931- Died: October 16, 2021.  

Bishop Daniel Gilbert Cox, a retired bishop of the Reformed Episcopal Church, and the longtime 
pastor of Bishop Cummins Church in Catonsville, MD, departed this earthly life and entered the 
presence of his Lord on October 16, 2021, a month short of his 90th birthday.  

Daniel was born to Newton and Irene Cox on November 15, 1931, in Abington Township, PA. He 
was raised in the Cox family home in Roslyn, PA, along with his older siblings Irene (Sis) and 
Newton, Jr. (Newt). Seven years later, my younger brother Alfred (Al) arrived, completing the 
household. Daniel, or “Danny”, as his family affectionately called him, attended the Abington 
Township School from grade 1 till his high school graduation in 1949. During his high school years, 
he sang bass in “e Four Flats”, a barbershop quartet that gained fame on campus and beyond. 
Daniel retained a life-long love of music, playing the cornet, singing in church choirs, and fostering 
excellent music programs throughout his parish ministry.  

Raised in a devout home, Daniel felt called to Christian ministry early in life. After high school, he 
entered the eological Seminary of the Reformed Episcopal Church in Philadelphia, from which he 
graduated in 1952. at same year he moved to Baltimore, was ordained a deacon and began 
ministering at Koontz Memorial Chapel (now Faith Church) in the Armistead Gardens community 
of East Baltimore. 1954 was an eventful year for Daniel, as he married Patricia Stiemly and was 
ordained a presbyter. roughout the 1950s he continued to serve at Koontz Chapel, 
supplementing his modest income by working on a Brinks armored truck. He also attended the 
Johns Hopkins Evening School, from which he received a BS in social sciences. In 1960, Daniel 
accepted a call to pastor Bishop Cummins Memorial Church, which was in the process of relocating 
from West Baltimore to Catonsville. During the early years at Cummins, he was assisted by the 
financial acumen of then-Baltimore City Councilman William Donald Schaefer, who served as 
church treasurer and with whom he maintained a lifelong friendship. Governor Schaefer would 
later award Daniel the Governor’s Citation in 1990. ough Daniel did not engage in political 
activism, Schaefer was not the only well-known political figure with whom he had an association. 

In July of 1974, Daniel was the officiant at the wedding of Michael Ford, son of then Vice President 
Gerald Ford, who would assume the presidency within months. In 1984, Daniel was consecrated a 
bishop in the Reformed Episcopal Church. He served as an assistant Bishop in the Diocese of the 
Northeast and Mid-Atlantic while continuing as Rector of Bishop Cummins Church. Both of these 
ecclesiastical roles enabled him to focus on one of his top priorities: the encouragement of young 
people in their Christian life, especially those who felt the call to enter the ministry, like he had so 
many years before. To this day, numerous men and women who were mentored by Bishop Cox 
remains active in various fields of Christian service, including Joni Eareckson Tada, whose 
inspirational writings were among those he turned to the most, especially in the time of his failing 
health. 

In the 1980s, Bishop Cummins Church began assisting in the relocation of Ethiopian and Eritrean 
refugees to the Baltimore area. During that period, Bishop Cox established deep friendships with 
members of the local Ethiopian and Eritrean communities. He supported the formation of the 
Tewahido Mekane Selam Eyesus Ethiopian Orthodox Church, which held services at Bishop 
Cummins before moving into its own church building in Gwynn Oak. Bishop Cox was also actively 
involved in the Billy Graham crusade held at Baltimore Memorial Stadium in 1981, delivering the 
invocation at one evening’s rally. 



Memorials  5H - 4 

Bishop Cox retired from active ministry in 1996. He came out of retirement briefly two years later, 
to serve as Interim Pastor of St. Stephen’s Reformed Episcopal Church in Eldersburg, which he had 
helped to found in the early 1980s as a mission of Bishop Cummins. Even after concluding his stint 
at St. Stephen’s, he remained active in service, making occasional episcopal visits to parishes 
throughout the diocese, performing confirmations, and encouraging others in a multiplicity of 
ways. After he became physically limited in his later years, he spent countless hours on the 
telephone, advising younger clergy and offering spiritual support to those in need of it. To the 
surprise of all he took up texting and enjoyed exchanging messages with his nieces and nephews 
scattered throughout the country, and especially his little brother Al, who now lives in Broken 
Arrow, OK. 

More than anything else, Daniel Cox wanted to be remembered as a follower of Jesus Christ. e 
desire “to depart and be with Christ” took possession of him in his last days. 

• e Rev. Dr. Hans Eugene Josephsen, III,  
Born: December 19, 1934 –Died: October 1, 2021 

e Rev. Dr. Hans Eugene Josephsen, III, December 19, 1934 – October 1, 2021, was welcomed 
into the presence of the Lord on October 1, 2021.  He graduated from Reformed Episcopal 
Seminary with a diploma in 1957 and received a Bachelor of Divinity degree in 1976.  He had 
served Reconciliation Reformed Episcopal Church in Philadelphia and later planted Prince of Peace 
RE Church in Midlothian Virginia while Virginia was still part of this Diocese. Hans retired in 2001.  
He is survived by his wife Charlotte, sons Eric and Leif, and daughter, Karen. 

 
• The Revd. Canon Jack Clark 

Born: May 5, 1948- Died June 2, 2022 
 

The Revd. Canon Jack Clark of Davenport, FL passed into the loving arms of his  heavenly Father 
on June 2, 2022, of complications related to pancreatic cancer. Jack was born May 5, 1948, the 
second child of six siblings born to the late Robert and Betty7 Clark of Santa Ana, CA. 

 
Fr. Jack attended Taylor University but completed his BS in Management and Organizational 
Development at Mount Olive. He also earned a Master’s in Divinity, Pastoral Counseling, and 
recently Sports Psychology in 2021.  

 
Fr. Jack was ordained in the Reformed Episcopal Church where he became the first Priest and 
Rector of St. Peter’s Anglican Church in Elkton, MD. He helped plant the new church in an 
abandoned church building, negotiated the price, built the altar and railing, assisted the Vestry, 
and supported the congregation there for ten years. 

 
• The Rev. Edward Allatt 

Born: January 12, 1928- Died: April 14, 2022 
 

The Rev. Edward Allatt was born on January 12, 1928, and died on April 14, 2022, at the age of 74. 
Ed had been a clergyman in our diocese, and a member of St. Luke's & Bishop Hoffman RE 
Church in Philadelphia. He was also a graduate of the Reformed Episcopal Seminary in 
Philadelphia.  

 

https://rec-nema.us3.list-manage.com/track/click?u=f1d05132ba87cd09ed6ca3292&id=d041ffa8ac&e=76396ba845
https://rec-nema.us3.list-manage.com/track/click?u=f1d05132ba87cd09ed6ca3292&id=d041ffa8ac&e=76396ba845


Memorials  5H - 5 

Diocese of Mid-America REC 

• e Rev. Robert Blaine Kemendo  
Born: May 21, 1954 – Died: February 1, 2022 

Father Blaine Kemendo was a Harvard-trained Architect. Even with a prolific architecture career, 
nobody would ever confuse his vocation with his calling as a minister of Christ. Proven through his 
works, Blaine embodied the foundational conviction of his faith, rooted in the faith of his father 
Frank, and mother Virginia. Although he was ordained a priest later in life, Blaine brought his 
ministry forward through 40 years of children’s church, his generosity to the indigent and homeless, 
and his work ethic and dedication to his craft. Blaine is survived by his only son Andrew, and three 
grandchildren. Blaine’s funeral was held on February 12th at St. Matthias Anglican Church, 4142 
Dayflower Drive, Katy, TX 77449. 

• e Rev. Tom Vestal  
Born: July 31, 1938 –Died: August 8, 2022 

Fr. Tom Vestal passed away peacefully on August 8, 2022. He was born in Sherman, Texas on July 
31, 1938, to Mildred and Harold Vestal. He was a life-long educator in the Louisiana public schools 
teaching students as well as adult professionals. Following retirement, he attended Cranmer 
Theological Seminary. He was ordained into the priesthood of the Reformed Episcopal Church in 
2005. He is survived by his wife, Judith Carson Vestal. A Memorial Service was held on Saturday, 
September 10, 2022, at All Saints Anglican Church, 9051 Youree Dr, Shreveport, LA 71115.  May 
he rest in peace.  

• The Very Rev. Jerry D. Kistler 
Born: March 21, 1966 – Died: January 10, 2023) 

The Very Rev’d Jerry D. Kistler was born March 21, 1966, and at the age of 57 met his Lord and 
Savior on Tuesday, January 10, 2023, after a short but fierce battle with lung cancer. Fr. Jerry was 
Rector of St. Stephen’s Anglican Church in Montrose for 16 years and also the Dean of the Western 
Convocation of the Diocese of Mid-America of the Reformed Episcopal Church (REC). He was a 
beloved pastor and Bible teacher for 25 years and served three congregations – St. Stephens Anglican 
in Montrose, CO, All Saints REC in Vacaville, CA, and St. Michael’s REC in Broken Arrow, OK. Jerry 
graduated from Concordia University, Irvine, earned his MA in Religion from Westminster Seminary 
in Escondido, California, and received his MDiv from Cranmer Theological House. Jerry was married 
to his wife, Danielle Kistler, for 21 years. They have three children: Katherine, Andrew, and 
Elizabeth. A lover of theological conversations, music, Nascar, baseball, scotch, and dogs, Jerry spent 
many hours with family and friends talking theology, playing and composing songs on his guitar or 
piano, watching the Rockies or Nascar while drinking a glass of fine scotch, and petting his dog, 
Maryann. Jerry was preceded in death by his parents, Carolyn and Jack Kistler. He is survived by his 
wife and three children, sister, Cheryl (Jim) Sisco, brother, Dan Kistler, and many other family 
members. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 
e Rev. Dr. Julius Barnes 
Committee Chairman 





 
Committee on Materials & REC History  5J - 1 

REPORT of the COMMITTEE  
On MATERIALS for REFORMED EPISCOPAL 

CHURCH HISTORY 
 

This committee continues to collect, archive, and study historical materials related to the 
Reformed Episcopal Church, its seminaries, parishes, and auxiliary organizations. Please send in 
any bulletins, letters, pictures, articles, minutes, and other archival materials relating to the 
history of the Reformed Episcopal Church in its broadest sense. A set of archival materials 
should be kept by each local diocese. Please also send materials directly to me at: 

 
The Rev. Canon Dr. Jonathan S. Riches 
213 Olive Ave. 
Horsham, PA 19044 
Attention: Materials for RE Church History 

 
Materials will be processed and stored as part of the denominational archives.  This past 
triennium we were able to secure various rare original documents including many letters from 
and notes from the first twenty-five years of the church’s history thanks to special donations for 
that purpose made to Reformed Episcopal Seminary.  Individuals, committees, and churches are 
reminded to please save materials for the historical record, as materials get older, they can be 
very expensive to acquire on the open market.  If you have leads on pertinent materials for sale, 
please let us know.   The committee hopes to collect more material and do more research into the 
dioceses, people, and institutions of the Reformed Episcopal Church. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
The Rev. Canon Dr. Jonathan S. Riches 





 
Theological Education  5L - 1 

REPORT of the THEOLOGICAL COMMISSION 
 

The primary function of the Theological Commission is to oversee the Master of Divinity 
programs of our seminaries and approve the graduates to be awarded that degree.  The Commission is 
pleased to report 19 expected MDiv graduates for the past triennium, 7 from Cranmer Theological 
House, 3 from Cummins Theological Seminary, and 9 from Reformed Episcopal Seminary. 
The Theological Commission under the direction of the Most Rev. Ray Sutton, worked toward 
improving and unifying theological education in the Reformed Episcopal Church.  A Subcommittee for 
Unifying Theological Education (SCUTE) was established.  SCUTE was formed in September 2020 “for 
the purpose of researching and proposing to our church a way to unify theological education in the REC 
to the greatest extent possible.”  The desire was and is to continue to build upon the strong 
commitments and programs that the church has had with regard to theological education and to meet 
the needs of a diverse and growing church.   

The executive committee was formed to analyze and discuss different ways to achieve a high 
level of unity that would meet the greatest needs of the whole church and then to make initial proposals 
to the Theological Commission.   

The committee began by looking at in-depth profiles of our three fine institutions of theological 
education: Cranmer Theological House Seminary, Cummins Seminary, and Reformed Episcopal 
Seminary.  It was noted that each institution had its own distinct and valuable identity and niche, while 
all had a common core, purpose, and history.   

As the executive committee began its deliberations, our existing seminaries and their identities, 
REC100 and church planting, distance education, and the accreditation that Reformed Episcopal 
Seminary has achieved were all important factors that were discussed.  There was a consensus that it 
was essential to provide the traditional biblical Anglican Theological Education in keeping with II 
Timothy 1:1-18.  This commitment to theological training that is grounded in biblical fidelity has been 
integral to the identities and growth of the REC.  The desire is to make this education and equipping 
available to as many people as possible in various contexts and methods.  There was also agreement that 
the identities, missions, and niches of our three seminaries is important to this goal.   

Further the executive committee concurred that accreditation and the benefits that it gives is 
important and valuable in extending and improving the delivery of theological education to more people 
and equipping more leaders to serve the church.  Three options with regard to accreditation and unity 
were discussed and analyzed:  1) Individual Institution Accreditation – Each seminary achieves full 
accreditation on its own, 2) One National Seminary Operating Three Campuses – Our Institutions 
merge together into one Seminary under the Department of Education of one State, 3) One Accredited 
Seminary Offering Courses at All Three Campuses. Further discussion and brainstorming occurred in 
terms of how these options would be enacted and the details that would need to be worked out amongst 
the institutions and ecclesiastical and government authorities for each one.  Initially the subcommittee 
and the Theological Commission chose to pursue the third option.   The benefit of this model was seen 
to be that it would allow a combination of faculty and course offerings from the one accredited seminary 
in multiple places while allowing each institution to maintain its individual identity and serve its 
constituency.  If this method could be enacted a student could take up to 50% of credits needed to earn 



 
Theological Education  5L - 2 

a degree through RES courses offered at a location other than the home campus of Reformed Episcopal 
Seminary.  Students could earn additional credits through RES distance education and could also use 
transfer credits to earn a degree.  There were still many details that would need to be worked out in 
order to bring such a plan to fruition.  Our seminaries continue to strive to improve their theological 
programs and offerings and increase their financial stability.  While the Theological Commission 
continues to work on finding the best ways to improve and unify theological education in the church, 
our seminaries are producing graduates. 

Respectfully submitted, 

The Very Rev. Canon Dr. Jonathan S. Riches 



REFORMED EPISCOPAL CHURCH INTERCESSORS

Report to the 57th General Council of the Reformed Episcopal Church
June 7-9, 2023

Dear Brothers and Sisters:

Our Deaconesses, Deaconess Candidates, and Daughters of the Holy Cross Chapters in the
REC would like to remind our clergy and deaconesses that we are a resource for you whenever a
need for special prayer arises. The protocols we have in place for the Intercessors allow anyone
requesting prayer to designate the level of privacy they feel necessary. 

Even though the Intercessors have not met as a group during the period of time since General
Council last met, we have been actively praying for a number of specific requests for clergy, clergy
families, and other special needs of our clergy and deaconesses. Please be reminded to keep us
updated as prayer needs change, and let us know when those needs have been resolved that we may
offer thanksgiving. 

A single email address to the RECI, intercessors@rechurch.org, will direct prayer requests
to Dss. Teresa and Dss. Canon Annette. These will be filtered to the appropriate members of the
intercessory team as directed by the one making the request in accordance with our privacy
protocols.

Respectfully submitted,

Dss. Canon Annette M. Johnson, M.A.R.
Co-chair, REC Intercessors

-------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Reformed Episcopal Intercessors

-------------------------------------- 
5N - 1

mailto:intercessors@rechurch.org,



	0-ProgramCommittee
	0A-Welcome
	0B-Instructions.pdf
	0C-OrderOfBusiness.pdf
	0D-RulesOfOrder

	1A-Credentials
	1C-CorrespondingMembers
	1D-Elections
	1F-PresidingBishopStatistical
	2A-REC100
	3A-BFM-President
	3B-BFM-Treasurer
	3Ba-BFM-TreasurerNotes
	3B-BFM-Treasurer
	FP
	Activities
	ProgramServices


	3C-WOC-President
	3D-WOC-Treasurer
	3E-Deaconess
	3F-ChristianEducation
	3Fa-ChristianEd
	3Fb-AnglicanSchoolAssociation

	4A-General Committee
	4C-SustentationTreasurer
	4Ca-SustentationTreasurer.pdf
	4Cb-REC100Treasurer.pdf

	4E-PensionsPubSoc-Treasurer
	4E-PensionsTreasurerNotes
	4E-PensionsTreasurer
	Sheet1


	4F-DoctrineWorship
	4G-StandingLiturgical
	4H-ConstitutionCanons
	TITLE II: ECCLESIASTICAL DISCIPLINE
	CANON 25 Of Amenability, Citation, [Counsel,] and Attendance
	CANON 26 Of Offenses
	CANON 27 Of the Establishment of Courts and Their Jurisdiction
	CANON 28 (no changes, included for reference) Of the Membership of the Courts
	CANON 29 Of the Rules of Procedure of Courts
	CANON 30 Of Diocesan Boards of Inquiry
	CANON 31 Of Special Procedures for Presentments Charging Particular Acts
	CANON 32 Of Sentences [and Other Forms of Discipline]
	CANON 33 (no changes, included for reference) Of the Dissolution of the Pastoral Relation
	CANON 34 Of the Solemnization of Holy Matrimony
	CANON 35 Of Regulations Respecting the Laity
	Rule 1: Application and Scope of Rules.
	Rule 2: Institution of Actions.
	Rule 3: Service and Filing of Pleadings and Other Papers.
	Rule 4: General Rules of Pleading.
	Rule 5: Defenses and Objections.
	Rule 6: Amended and Supplemental Pleadings.
	Rule 7: Voluntary Disclosures, Discovery.
	Rule 8: Taking of Testimony.
	Rule 9. Summary Judgment.
	Rule 10. Trials.
	Rule 11: Judgment.

	4I-Nominations
	5A-CentralStates
	5Aa-DCS-Ordinary
	5Ab-DCS-StandingCommittee

	5B-MidAmerica
	5Ba-DMA-Ordinary.pdf
	5Bb-DMA-StandingCommittee.pdf

	5C-Northeast
	5Ca-NEMA-Ordinary
	5Cb-NEMA-StandingCommittee
	To the Fifty-seventh General Council of the Reformed Episcopal Church


	5E-Armed Forces
	5G-StateOfChurch
	Totals
	DCS
	DMA
	DNEMA
	DSE

	5H-Memorials
	5J-History
	5L-TheologicalCommission
	5N-Intercessors
	Business Session Instructions
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	5B-MidAmerica.pdf
	5Ba-DMA-Ordinary.pdf
	5Bb-DMA-StandingCommittee.pdf




